Neuroscience Bulletin

The Official Journal of The Chinese Neuroscience Society

Volume 31 Number 2 April 2015

Special Issue on Prefrontal Cortical Functions

🖄 Springer

www.neurosci.cn

SIBS .

NEUROSCIENCE BULLETIN (Bimonthly)

April 1, 2015 Vol. 31 No. 2

Contents

Special Issue on Prefrontal Cortical Functions

Editorial

161 A step forward in the understanding of prefrontal cortical functions. *Bao-Ming Li, Shintaro Funahashi*

Reviews

- 164 Prefrontal cortical dopamine from an evolutionary perspective. Young-A Lee, Yukiori Goto
- 175 Prefrontal cortex and sensory cortices during working memory: quantity and quality. *Yixuan Ku, Mark Bodner, Yong-Di Zhou*
- 183 Dopaminergic modulation of synaptic plasticity in rat prefrontal neurons. *Satoru Otani, Jing Bai, Kevin Blot*
- 191 Contribution of NMDA receptors to dorsolateral prefrontal cortical networks in primates. *Min Wang, Amy F T Arnsten*
- 198 Exploring prefrontal cortex functions in healthy humans by transcranial electrical stimulation. *Min-Fang Kuo, Michael A. Nitsche*
- 207 Prefrontal cortex and the dysconnectivity hypothesis of schizophrenia. *Yuan Zhou, Lingzhong Fan, Chenxiang Qiu, Tianzi Jiang*
- 220 What can atypical language hemispheric specialization tell us about cognitive functions? *Qing Cai, Lise Van der Haegen*
- 227 Prefrontal cortical α_{2A}-adrenoceptors and a possible primate model of attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder. *Chao-Lin Ma, Xuan Sun, Fei Luo, Bao-Ming Li*
- 235 Prefrontal dysfunction and a monkey model of schizophrenia. *Ping Mao, Ding Cui, Xu-Dong Zhao, Yuan-Ye Ma*

Research Highlight

242 Learning to memorize: shedding new light on prefrontal functions. *Ning-long Xu*

* * * * * *

Original Article

245 Single-nucleotide polymorphisms and haplotypes of non-coding area in the CP gene are correlated with Parkinson's disease. *Na Zhao, Jianqiu Xiao, Zhiyong Zheng, Guoqiang Fei, Feng Zhang, Lirong Jin, Chunjiu Zhong*

Review

257 Novel drug-delivery approaches to the blood-brain barrier. *Xiaoqing Wang, Xiaowen Yu, William Vaughan, Mingyuan Liu, Yangtai Guan*

Method

265 Preserving GABAergic interneurons in acute brain slices of mice using the N-methyl-*D*-glucamine-based artificial cerebrospinal fluid method. *Geng Pan, Yue Li, Hong-Yan Geng, Jian-Ming Yang, Ke-Xin Li, Xiao-Ming Li*

Letter to the Editor

271 Dose-dependent regulation of oligodendrocyte specification by β-catenin signaling. *Shuhui Sun, Wei Guo, Zunyi Zhang, Mengsheng Qiu, Zhong-Min Dai*

About the Cover

It is generally believed that there is an integral link between a person's personality and the functions of the prefrontal cortex (PFC), such as the regulation of attention, working memory, thinking, execution, and decisionmaking. In this special issue, we present a collection of articles that discuss current knowledge of how these functions are regulated in the PFC. On the cover image, artistically illustrated terms for the main PFC functions swirl through the cortical folds. Cover art by Dr. Yefei Li.

·Editorial·

A step forward in the understanding of prefrontal cortical functions

Bao-Ming Li^{1,*}, Shintaro Funahashi²

¹Institute of Life Science, Nanchang University, Nanchang 330031, China ²Kokoro Research Center, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606-8501, Japan

*Guest Editor of the Special Issue. E-mail: bmli@ncu.edu.cn

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

The prefrontal cortex (PFC) is an integrative area that guides behaviors and thoughts^[1-3]. During the past century, a great many studies have been performed on PFC functions, using a variety of technical approaches such as anatomy, lesion, neuropsychology, electrophysiology, and functional imaging^[2, 3]. It is well known that the PFC plays an essential role in inhibitory control of behavior, regulation of attention, working memory, decision-making, and behavioral organization^[1-6].

In October 2013, the 4th International Conference on Prefrontal Cortex was held in Nanchang University (Nanchang, China), co-organized by Bao-Ming Li (Nanchang University, China), Shintaro Funahashi (Kyoto University, Japan), Yong-Di Zhou (East China Normal University, China), and Satoru Otani (Ryotokuji University, Japan). A group of scientists from China, Japan, the USA, Germany, and Brazil comprehensively introduced their studies and extensively discussed progress in the understanding of PFC functions. This special issue covers the reviews and reports by the speakers at the conference.

Evolutionarily, the PFC is the last-emerged structure of the brain. It is unknown how it has evolved into such a complex system in humans. The mesocortical dopamine projection into the PFC is essential for its cognitive functions. Lee and Goto propose a hypothesis that the mesocortical dopamine projection is one of the biological substrates involved in PFC evolution, and that this evolutionary process may result in the emergence of psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia^[7].

Working memory refers to the cognitive process of maintaining information for seconds for subsequent goal-

directed actions. Persistent neuronal firing in the sensory cortex and the PFC during the delay period in a working memory task has been considered to be the neuronal substrate for working memory maintenance. However, the role of the delay activity in the sensory cortex is thought to differ from that in the PFC. Ku *et al.* propose that the delay activities in the sensory cortex and the PFC reflect the quality and quantity of representations in working memory, respectively^[8].

In addition to maintaining working memory information, the PFC is thought to store memory traces for "rules" or "strategies" that determine the temporal structure of behavior, and this kind of memory might be served by synaptic plasticity in the PFC. Otani *et al.* review the induction of long-term synaptic plasticity in the medial PFC of rats, with special emphasis on the regulation of synaptic plasticity by dopamine. They conclude that synaptic plasticity in the PFC is powerfully modulated by dopamine in an inverted-U-shaped, dose-dependent manner^[9].

Cognitive disorders such as schizophrenia are associated with dysfunction of the PFC, and with changes in N-methyl-*D*-aspartate receptors (NMDARs). The dorsolateral PFC, which is highly evolved in primates, subserves the higher cognitive functions especially affected in mental disorders such as schizophrenia. Wang and Arnsten review new evidence that demonstrates a key role of NR2B-containing NMDARs in the cognitive functions of the dorsolateral PFC, especially spatial working memory^[10].

Imaging techniques such as functional magnetic resonance imaging, positron emission tomography, and encephalography have been widely used to reveal the changes in brain activity associated with functions. However, it is difficult to draw conclusion about the causal relationships between them. Non-invasive electrical stimulation with direct or alternating currents allows the manipulation of brain activity and excitability and helps to uncover the causal relationships between brain activities and functions. Kuo and Nitsche review the principal mechanism of this approach and its application in exploring PFC functions^[11].

It is hypothesized that schizophrenia results from disrupted brain connectivity. It is important to know whether there is anatomical and functional dysconnectivity between the PFC and other brain regions, and how such dysconnectivity is linked to schizophrenia. Imaging techniques, such as diffusion tensor imaging and functional magnetic resonance imaging, make it possible to explore these issues. Zhou *et al.* review the recent progress in understanding the anatomical and functional dysconnectivity of the PFC in humans and their implications in schizophrenia^[12].

Much is understood about the interactions between cognitive functions, from language to cognitive control, from attention to memory. However, it has been difficult to dissociate these functions because their representative cortical regions are located in close proximity. Cai and Van der Haegen review a series of studies investigating the relationship between language and other cognitive functions by examining their functional lateralization. The authors argue that the hemispheric lateralization of language and its link with handedness could offer an appropriate starting point to shed light on the relationships between different cognitive functions^[13].

It is known that there is a close relationship between PFC dysfunctions and the symptoms of schizophrenia. In addition to typical features such as hallucinations, delusions, and withdrawal from social activities, schizophrenic patients present with many forms of cognitive disorders. For many years, there has been no suitable non-human primate model of schizophrenia. Mao *et al.* report a monkey model of this disease, which is induced by treatment with phencyclidine, a non-specific competitive NMDAR antagonist, and the symptoms of schizophrenia can be ameliorated by atypical antipsychotic drugs such as clozapine^[14].

Attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a syndrome characterized by inattention, impulsivity, and/or hyperactivity, and seriously affects the cognitive development of children. The lack of suitable animal models limits the development of new medications for ADHD. Ma *et al.* review the previous studies in nonhuman primates showing that blockade of PFC α 2A adrenoceptors mimics the major symptoms of ADHD, providing new insights for developing novel animal models, and contributing to the understanding of the neurobiological basis of ADHD^[15].

This special issue also includes a Research Highlight^[16], introducing the work published in *Science* by Chengyu Li's laboratory at the Institute of Neuroscience, Chinese Academy of Sciences^[17]. As noted above, working memory involves a short-term interval of retention termed the 'delay period'. It is known that neurons in the medial PFC of rodents (thought to be homologous to the dorsolateral PFC in monkeys) demonstrate elevated delayperiod activity, but its functional significance is unclear. Li's group optogenetically suppressed or enhanced the delay activity of pyramidal neurons in the medial PFC of mice. They found that behavioral performance was impaired during the learning stage of the working memory task (olfactory delayed-nonmatch-to-sample go/no-go task), but not after the mice were well-trained, indicating that the delay-period medial PFC activity is involved in learning the task, but not in the maintenance of working memory information. They conclude that properly-regulated delay-period medial PFC activity is critical for information retention when mice are learning the working memory task, but not for working memory maintenance after the animals are well-trained^[17].

We anticipate that this special issue will provoke further studies, providing a better understanding of the cognitive functions of the prefrontal cortex, and eventually lead to more effective treatments of prefrontal cortical cognitive disorders.

REFERENCES

 Goldman-Rakic PS. Circuitry of primate prefrontal cortex and regulation of behavior by representational memory. In: Plum F (Ed.). Handbook of Physiology: The Nervous System: Higher Functions of the Brain, Vol. 5, Sect. 1. Bethesda, MD: American Physiological Society, 1987: 373–417.

- [2] Fuster JM. The Prefrontal Cortex. 4th ed. New York: Academic Press, 2008.
- [3] Luria AR. Higher Cortical Functions in Man. New York: Basic Books, 1966.
- [4] Funahashi S, Bruce CJ, Goldman-Rakic PS. Mnemonic coding of visual space in the monkey's dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. J Neurophysiol 1989, 61: 331–349.
- [5] Fuster JM, Alexander GE. Neuron activity related to shortterm memory. Science 1971, 173: 652–654.
- [6] Miller EK, Erickson CA, Desimone R. Neural mechanisms of visual working memory in prefrontal cortex of the macaque. J Neurosci 1996, 16: 5154–5167.
- [7] Lee YA, Goto Y. Prefrontal cortical dopamine from an evolutionary perspective. Neurosci Bull 2015, 31: 164–174.
- [8] Ku YX, Bodner M, Zhou YD. Prefrontal cortex and sensory cortices during working memory: quantity and quality. Neurosci Bull 2015, 31: 175–182.
- [9] Otani S, Bai J, Blot K. Dopaminergic modulation of synaptic plasticity in rat prefrontal neurons. Neurosci Bull 2015, 31: 183–190.
- [10] Wang M, Arnsten AFT. Contribution of NMDA receptors to dorsolateral prefrontal cortical networks in primates. Neurosci

Bull 2015, 31: 191-197.

- [11] Kuo MF, Nitsche MA. Exploring prefrontal cortex functions in healthy humans by transcranial electrical stimulation. Neurosci Bull 2015, 31: 198–206.
- [12] Zhou Y, Fan L, Qiu C, Jiang T. Prefrontal cortex and the dysconnectivity hypothesis of schizophrenia. Neurosci Bull 2015, 31: 207–219.
- [13] Cai Q, Van der Haegen L. What can atypical language hemispheric specialization tell us about cognitive functions? Neurosci Bull 2015, 31: 220–226.
- [14] Mao P, Cui D, Zhao XD, Ma YY. Prefrontal dysfunction and a monkey model of schizophrenia. Neurosci Bull 2015, 31: 235–241.
- [15] Ma CL, Sun X, Luo F, Li BM. Prefrontal cortical α_{2A} adrenoceptors and a possible primate model of attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder. Neurosci Bull 2015, 31: 227–234.
- [16] Xu N. Learn to memorize: shedding new light on prefrontal functions. Neurosci Bull 2015, 31: 242–244.
- [17] Liu D, Gu X, Zhu J, Zhang X, Han Z, Yan W, *et al.* Medial prefrontal activity during delay period contributes to learning of a working memory task. Science 2014, 346: 458–463.

·Review·

Prefrontal cortical dopamine from an evolutionary perspective

Young-A Lee¹, Yukiori Goto²

¹Department of Food Science and Nutrition, Catholic University of Daegu, Gyeongsan, South Korea ²Kyoto University Primate Research Institute, Inuyama, Aichi 484-8506, Japan Corresponding author: Yukiori Goto. E-mail: goto.yukiori.5c@kyoto-u.ac.jp

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

In this article, we propose the hypothesis that the prefrontal cortex (PFC) acquired neotenic development as a consequence of mesocortical dopamine (DA) innervation, which in turn drove evolution of the PFC into becoming a complex functional system. Accordingly, from the evolutionary perspective, decreased DA signaling in the PFC associated with such adverse conditions as chronic stress may be considered as an environmental adaptation strategy. Psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder may also be understood as environmental adaptation or a by-product of such a process that has emerged through evolution in humans. To investigate the evolutionary perspective of DA signaling in the PFC, domestic animals such as dogs may be a useful model.

Keywords: neurodevelopment; neoteny; psychiatric disorder; stress; animal model; synaptic plasticity; environmental adaptation

Introduction

The prefrontal cortex (PFC) is one of the central brain regions that mediate higher cognitive and affective functions^[1, 2]. Extensive investigations have unveiled the mechanisms of neuronal network information-processing as well as the genetic and molecular machinery underlying PFC functions. The PFC is also suggested to be evolutionarily the latest component of brain structure, and therefore it plays the most important role in organizing human-specific behavioral traits^[1, 3, 4]. Nonetheless, how the PFC evolved into the complex system in humans remains unclear.

The mesocortical dopamine (DA) projection into the PFC from the ventral tegmental area of the midbrain is essential for PFC functions (for an extensive review, see Seamans and Yang^[5]). In this article, we propose the hypothesis that the mesocortical DA projection into the PFC is one of the biological substrates involved in the evolution of the PFC. Moreover, this evolutionary process may have resulted in the emergence of psychiatric disorders such as

schizophrenia and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD).

Mesocortical DA Regulation of PFC Development

DA innervation of the cortex is more restricted than those of serotonin (5HT) and norepinephrine (NE). NE projections arising from the locus coeruleus and 5HT projections from the dorsal raphe cover almost the entire cortex, from the frontal cortical area to the posterior parts including the visual cortex^[6]. In contrast, DA projections are distributed primarily to the frontal and temporal cortex, and other cortical areas lack this innervation^[7].

The development and maturation of the cortical areas innervated by DA appear to be slower than other cortical areas lacking DA innervation. A human imaging study has shown that development of the frontal and temporal cortex continues into young adulthood, much later than in other cortical areas^[8]. Accordingly, DA receptor expression (both D1 and D2) changes dynamically until early adulthood^[9], and this coincides with maturation of the PFC. Such

PFC DA receptor expression dynamics may impact PFC development (e.g. delaying developmental processes if DA signaling affects developmental timing or rate). In addition, the N-methyl-*D*-aspartate (NMDA) receptor has also been suggested to play an important role in neuronal development^[10]. Recent studies have shown that the DA receptor is functionally and physically^[11, 12] coupled to the NMDA receptor. Thus, lower DA receptor expression during early development could also influence NMDA receptor-dependent developmental processes. Such observations provide the insight that there may be a relationship between delayed cortical development/maturation and the DA projection to the cortex.

Several lines of evidence suggest that DA signaling influences PFC development. First, Lumbe and colleagues examined the development of DA and serotonin (5HT) projections into the PFC in non-human primates at different ages using immunohistological staining to assess the density of fibers containing tyrosine hydroxylase and 5HT that contact PFC pyramidal neurons^[13]. They found that the DA projection does not fully mature until early adulthood. In contrast, the 5HT projection is already mature at an early developmental stage. These findings suggest that DA development is an important factor that may determine the timing of PFC development and maturation.

Studies have also investigated the effects of neonatal DA depletion by 6-hydroxydopamine injection into the PFC of rodents. Kalsbeek and colleagues reported that PFC pyramidal neurons in adult rats with neonatal DA depletion are smaller with shorter dendritic lengths^[14]. Such morphological changes can be interpreted in two ways: one is that the morphology of mature PFC pyramidal neurons in adult animals that develop without DA signaling resembles that of immature neurons; and the other is that such morphological changes may indicate atrophy of the fully mature form of neurons. However, the latter interpretation is unlikely, since DA depletion is given in the neonatal period before the proliferative growth of neurons. In addition, the PFC volume in rats with neonatal DA depletion is larger than that of normal rats^[15], contradictory to the case of atrophy in which shrinkage of neurons and thereby smaller volume are expected, although such enlargement of the volume may be attributed to the proliferation of glial cells, not neurons.

Decreased mesocortical DA transmission has been suggested in the pathophysiology of ADHD^[16]. Then, if DA signaling affects PFC development, alterations of its developmental rate would be expected in ADHD children. A magnetic resonance imaging study of ADHD children^[17] has revealed that development of the gray matter volume in the PFC is significantly delayed compared to controls. This finding further supports the hypothesis that DA is a biological substrate that promotes PFC development.

Several studies have shown that DA and stimulation of DA receptors facilitate neuronal growth^[18-20]. However, these studies used striatal neurons; so, such molecular mechanisms of DA-dependent facilitation of neuronal growth may not necessarily be applicable to PFC neurons. Nevertheless, these studies still support the idea that DA signaling is involved in the regulation of neuronal development.

Collectively, mesocortical DA may play an important role in the PFC developmental process, particularly in regulation of the timing and rate of development and maturation. Thus, PFC development and maturation may be delayed as a consequence of DA innervation, which does not mature until adulthood (Fig. 1). On the other hand, the cortical areas lacking DA innervation develop and mature faster than the PFC. However, this does not mean that DA is the sole determinant of developmental processes in the PFC. Indeed, it is possible that other neurotransmitters are also involved.



Fig. 1. Schematic illustrating delayed PFC development and maturation in terms of synaptogenesis and elimination of pyramidal neurons with mesocortical DA signaling. In PFC pyramidal neurons, the synapse number increases with growth. Then, during adolescence, synaptic elimination takes place to refine the neuronal networks^[22]. This process is delayed with DA innervation, which continues in the PFC until adulthood.

Neotenic PFC Development with DA Signaling

Based on the above evidence, we propose the hypothesis that mesocortical DA signaling is an important biological substrate for evolution of the PFC, enabling neotenic development.

Neoteny is the retention of juvenile traits in adults, and is thought to be an important factor in evolution, as it provides greater flexibility in adapting to the environment by delaying the development of organs for specific functions^[21]. Indeed, the sexual maturation of humans takes up to two decades, much longer than in any other animal^[22].

The development and maturation of the PFC in terms of synaptic spine density on dendrites of pyramidal neurons have been shown to continue until early adulthood in humans^[23], non-human primates^[24], and rodents^[25]. A more recent study has suggested that the maturational process of the PFC could be even longer, continuing until the thirties in humans^[26]. Therefore, neotenic development is one of the most characteristic features of the PFC. Such delayed development may have enabled the PFC to evolve into a highly complex system to mediate an assortment of cognitive and affective functions.

In order to establish this hypothesis, an intrinsic correlation between evolutionary and developmental processes is required. Indeed, it has been suggested that evolution and development have strong relationships, as reflected in the field of evolutionary developmental biology or "evo-devo"^[27]. One of the key concepts of evo-devo is heterochrony, which refers to changes in the timing and rate of development of organisms, including neoteny. Genetic (e.g. homeobox genes) and morphological evidence that supports the critical roles of such heterochronic processes in evolution has been reported^[28-33].

Reduced PFC DA Signaling as an Environmental Adaptation Strategy in Evolution

Our hypothesis predicts that mesocortical DA signaling plays an important role in neotenic development, and thereby the evolution of the PFC, especially when DA signaling is lower than normal. In this regard, it is important to note that although decreased DA signaling is usually considered deficient and abnormal from the perspective of conventional neuroscience, it could be advantageous from the evolutionary perspective. How could decreased DA signaling in the PFC, which has been shown to cause cognitive and affective dysfunction ^[5, 34], be advantageous?

Stress alters DA release in the PFC in rodents and primates^[35]. Although brief, acute stress temporarily increases DA release in the PFC^[36], more severe, chronic stress decreases basal DA tone regardless of the stress type (e.g. restraint^[37] or cold^[38]) in adult animals. However, the effects of chronic stress on PFC DA release in the adult brain may differ from that in the developing brain. For instance, Giovanoli and colleagues^[39] recently reported that exposure of adolescents to chronic stress affects 5HT, but not DA, in the PFC. This study provides additional insights into our hypothesis. First, this study assessed the content but not the release of DA and 5HT in the PFC. The absence of a change in DA concentration in the PFC with stress suggests that chronic stress affects the release but not the synthesis of DA. In addition, in this study, the effects of chronic stress in adolescence were examined in adulthood; but the effects of stress may not be persistent, but could be reversible and recover with time. Therefore, delayed PFC development with decreased DA release may be evident only when organisms are under chronic stress, and once the situation improves, the developmental rate may return to normal. Finally and most importantly, this study used variable stress procedures (5 different stressors, applied on alternate days, between postnatal day 30 and 40). Stressinduced changes often differ depending on the environment in which stress is generated. For instance, chronic restraint but not unpredictable stress induces amygdala-dependent brain and behavioral changes^[40]. This suggests that the environment in which stress is generated determines how the stress-induced changes take place, whereas stress (e.g., stress hormones) and associated changes such as decreased DA release may rather signal or trigger subsequent environment-dependent changes. The unpredictable stress procedure was probably developed for animal studies, given that animals tend to show habituation against repeated exposure to identical stressors, making unpredictable stress more convenient in the experimental setting. However, it is important to note that it is uncommon in real life (both in humans and animals) for stressful environments to change rapidly from day to day. In our hypothesis, an adaptation process would take place under

a particular environment that causes stress for a prolonged period. Therefore, even if the stress exposure is sufficiently long, adaptation may not occur when the environment is rapidly changing.

Many studies have been conducted to reveal *how* chronic stress decreases DA signaling in the PFC (i.e. Tinbergen's proximate view, which questions a mechanism of function of a system^[41]), and many of the molecular and cellular mechanisms underlying this process are known^[34]. In contrast, *why* DA signaling is decreased in the PFC by chronic stress (i.e. Tinbergen's ultimate view, which questions an evolutionary origin of function of a system^[41]) has not yet been explored. However, there must be a reason that DA signaling in the PFC is decreased by chronic stress.

Rodents and primates are estimated to have diverged ~100 million years ago^[42]. Given that chronic stress induces similar, if not identical, cognitive and affective deficits as well as associated brain changes such as decreased DA signaling both in rodents and primates, these "disadvantageous" phenotypes were already present in mammals before this divergence, and have been maintained for >100 million years. Darwinian evolutionary theory (natural selection)^[43] suggests that, if the chronic stress-induced decrease in DA signaling in the PFC and the consequent changes in PFC-dependent cognitive and affective processes were disadvantageous for survival, such phenotypes should have vanished. Therefore, even though decreased DA signaling and altered PFC function have major disadvantages in the normal environment, such phenotypes may still be advantageous for survival in specific environments that cause chronic stress.

If decreased DA release delays PFC development, then chronic stress during development would also delay PFC maturation. There is no direct evidence to support this idea, and further investigation is needed. However, there are reports that children exposed to stress due to family problems exhibit delayed physical^[44] and mental^[45] development, indirectly supporting our hypothesis.

If chronic stress and associated brain changes have played a role in the evolution of the brain, such stress-induced alterations should be inheritable. A brief report of transgenerational inheritance of stress-induced alterations appeared in 1970^[46]. However, this study was largely ignored until recently when the transgenerational inheritance of epigenetic changes was confirmed. Behavioral changes caused by neonatal^[47] or adult^[48] exposure to stress have been recently reported again, confirming that stress-induced changes are inheritable. It appears that the inheritance of these environmentallyinduced (or acquired) phenotypes involves epigenetic mechanisms^[47, 48]. Since these studies have followed two or three generations at most, it is still unclear whether such stress-induced epigenetic changes can be translated into equivalent genetic changes for inheritance across generations. Nevertheless, domestication processes in chicken^[49] and silkworm^[50] have been reported to involve epigenetic inheritance. Importantly, these studies raise the question of why stress-induced changes, which are thought to be "deficits" and therefore disadvantageous phenotypes, are inherited and the biological mechanisms mediating them are still found in organisms.

Taken together, chronic stress could be a driving force for PFC evolution, and the consequent decrease of DA signaling may provide greater flexibility to the PFC for developing into a more complex system with neotenic development to adapt to or overcome severe environmental conditions (Fig. 2).

Psychiatric Disorders Associated with Lower PFC DA Signaling

Decreased PFC DA release has been implicated in psychiatric disorders such as ADHD^[51] and schizophrenia^[52]. The third implication of our hypothesis is that such disorders may not necessarily be considered deficits, but could rather be understood as an environmental adaptation strategy (i.e. ADHD) or a by-product of adaptation (i.e. schizophrenia) that has emerged through evolution in humans.

ADHD

ADHD is one example of a psychiatric condition that could illustrate the beneficial effects of decreased DA signaling in the PFC. ADHD is a childhood-onset condition with core symptoms consisting of hyperactivity, impulsivity, and attention deficit (short attention span). These behaviors have been associated with decreased DA release in the PFC in animal studies^[53-55]. Although these symptoms



Fig. 2. Diagrams illustrating the process that, from an evolutionary perspective, lower mesocortical DA may play a beneficial role in the PFC. A: Schematic of the extension of delayed PFC development and maturation expected with lower DA signaling during the developmental process. B: Flowchart of the hypothetical evolutionary process of the PFC with mesocortical DA signaling driven by severe, chronic stress.

are problematic in modern human society such as school life, and therefore have to be treated, they still yield clear advantages for survival in severely stressful environmental conditions where life is threatened^[56]. Hyperactivity enables constant exploration of the environment for the faster detection of threats. Similarly, attention deficit with inability to sustain attention to a particular target enables shifting of attention and scanning from one object to another to monitor threats. Impulsivity also allows rapid responses to escape from dangers.

How delayed maturation with decreased DA signaling in the PFC is associated with ADHD is still unclear. For instance, in animals living in the wild, faster maturation appears to be advantageous to escape from predators. Nevertheless, ADHD-like behavioral changes with decreased DA release in the PFC can be considered as a trade-off mechanism, such that delayed maturation exposes animals to more dangers, but ADHD-like behavioral changes reduces them.

Schizophrenia

Reduced DA function in the PFC has been suggested in schizophrenia^[52]. In addition, stress appears to be an important factor, such that stress exposure often precedes the first episode of symptoms as well as exacerbating or precipitating symptoms^[57, 58].

Various environmental and social conditions can be sources of stress. From the conventional viewpoint, environmental and social enrichment is usually considered beneficial, whereas a poor environment and social isolation are deficient for social organisms. However, it is important to note that exaggerated environmental and social enrichment can also be stressful. For instance, people living in cities, where the environmental complexity is great, are exposed to stronger stress than those living in rural areas^[59]. Commuters during rush hours also suffer high-intensity stress^[60]. Therefore, crowding within a group can be stressful to social organisms. Stress with excessive social crowding is particularly interesting, since it can generate evolutionary pressure to cope with such conditions, by developing an adaptation strategy to better assess the behavior or mental states of others, i.e. a theory of mind (ToM)^[61, 62]. Indeed, PFC activity has been shown to be associated with ToM^[63]. Mirror neurons, which become active during both motor action and the observation of such action by others, are found in the PFC^[64]. The mirror neuron circuit, involving the PFC and DA release in this region, plays an important role in understanding the behavior and emotional states of others^[65]. Therefore, one scenario is that stress with overcrowding in a tribe may cause decreased DA release in the PFC, which is a signal or trigger to develop a strategy, ToM, as an adaptation to this specific stressful environment through evolution.

In this process, decreased DA may be just a signal or trigger for adaptation by delaying development, and thereby providing a longer adaptation period. Therefore, delayed development by itself does not yield specific adaptation. How adaptation takes places depends on the specific environment, such that adaptation could involve as many changes as there are stressful environments to which organisms are required to adapt. Indeed, stress is associated with various environmental factors (sych as social isolation, social crowding, social defeat, physical pain, and restraint), such that adaptation to stressful environments does not involve only one change, but can include as many changes as there are different stressful environments. How the system changes for adaptation depends on the types of stressors. Therefore, adaptation to stressful environments can vary, and the psychiatric conditions that emerge from such processes could also be variable and different. The evolution of such an adaptation strategy most likely needs multiple generations. Thus, this argument does not imply that organisms with decreased PFC DA release immediately develop advantageous strategies, including ToM, as adaptive responses to stressful environments.

ToM deficits have been reported in schizophrenia^[66, 67] and autism^[61]. Nevertheless, the bases of these deficits may differ between the disorders. Crespi and Badcock have suggested that schizophrenia and autism are diametrically opposite psychiatric conditions, autism associated with underdeveloped ToM, and schizophrenia associated with overdeveloped ToM, and schizophrenia associated with explain the positive symptoms of schizophrenia such as paranoia and delusions. Schizophrenic patients often claim that they are controlled by TV, or neighbors are spying on them. These claims illustrate that patients peculiarly find that inorganic objects have minds like living organisms, or have a distorted understanding of the mental state of others.

Some of the schizophrenic symptoms may emerge as a by-product of the evolutionary process of ToM function as an adaptation strategy for stress associated with overcrowding within a group. This speculation is also consistent with the evolutionary psychiatric hypotheses proposed by Burns that schizophrenia emerged as a byproduct in the evolution of human social behavior^[69], by Stevens and Price that schizophrenia is an advantageous evolutionary phenotype playing the role of splitting a group when the population becomes too large^[70], and by Saugstad that the less clear cerebral lateralization in schizophrenia is associated with late, slow maturation of the cortex^[71]. On the other hand, social isolation can also be stressful, which could generate an evolutionary pressure for an adaptation strategy against isolation. Such evolutionary pressure may be the basis of the autistic phenotype.

Predictions and Experimental Approaches

Predictions Based on the Hypothesis

Our hypothesis suggests that cortical areas such as the

visual cortex where DA innervation does not develop mature faster than cortical areas such as the PFC with DA innervation, since mesocortical DA signaling is involved in the development of the PFC neuronal network, but the mesocortical DA system does not mature until adulthood. Development of the PFC consequently continues until adulthood when the mesocortical DA system also matures. Our hypothesis therefore predicts that PFC development and maturation are accelerated by the augmentation of mesocortical DA signaling (e.g. pharmacological treatment such as psychostimulants). In contrast, PFC development and maturation are extraordinarily delayed by the attenuation of mesocortical DA signaling (e.g. pathological changes suggested in ADHD delayed development of the PFC^[17] or DA fiber depletion by 6-OHDA).

Such a prediction appears to be partly supported by recent studies suggesting that addictive drugs that increase DA release accelerate aging^[72-77]. These studies have shown that chronic abusers of amphetamines, cocaine, and alcohol exhibit cognitive decline and greater cortical atrophy indicative of accelerated aging. A study by Cheng and colleagues has shown that heroin abusers exhibit lower telomerase activity, which results in shorter telomeres, the biological marker of aging. Moreover, such lower telomerase activity is correlated with PFC gray and white matter thickness in abusers^[78]. The possibility of accelerated aging by DA agonists is also interesting in relation to ADHD treatments in which DA agonists such as methylphenidate have been used. Given that ADHD may involve delayed development^[17], the therapeutic effects of DA agonists in ADHD may be achieved not only by increased DA transmission, but also by accelerating aging. Indeed, development and aging could be distinct processes, and therefore the mechanisms involved in aging may not necessarily be similar to the mechanisms involved in neuronal development and maturation.

Empirical Approach

Several experimental approaches may confirm or refute the hypothesis. Many studies have already investigated the effects of physical, pharmacological, and psychological manipulations that alter PFC DA release on PFC function. However, very few have examined the impact of these manipulations on PFC development. Thus, investigations focusing on changes in the developmental trajectory of PFC neuronal networks (timing and speed of synaptic growth and pruning, which could be measured by dendritic spine quantification^[79] or expression of synapseassociated molecules such as synaptophysin^[80]) caused by manipulations such as local DA depletion with microinfusion of 6-OHDA into the PFC, chronic exposure to stress (e.g. maternal deprivation^[81]), and repeated psychostimulant administration given at an early stage of development in animals, would be promising for testing the hypothesis.

Domestic Animals: a Model of PFC Evolution with DA

An alternative approach to investigating the evolutionary role of mesocortical DA in the PFC may lie in the use of domestic animals.

Domestication is a process of selective breeding that reduces aggression and facilitates sociality in animals due to decreased intra- and inter-species competition for resources. Such domestication is not necessarily achieved by human hands only, but could be a self-generated, i.e. self-domestication, as has been suggested in bonobos^[82]. In particular, domesticated animals exhibit neotenic features (delayed development, maintaining juvenile morphological features into adulthood) and higher cognitive function and sociality, which are associated with PFC activity, than wild animals^[82]. In particular, domesticated animals include laboratory rodents (e.g. ICR mice, Sprague-Dawley rats), which are commonly used in biomedical research. It is possible that PFC function and associated DA transmission in the PFC differ significantly between laboratory mice/ rats and wild rodents (e.g. MSM mice). Comparison between laboratory and wild rodents for associations between cognitive function and social behavior and PFC neuronal network morphology, plasticity, volume, and DA levels would be promising. In support of this approach, a recent study by Takahashi and colleagues has reported differences in social behavior between laboratory and wild mice^[83].

The use of dogs as a model for understanding human social behavior has been proposed^[84, 85]. The advantages are as follows. Individuals diagnosed with psychiatric disorders are considered to have abnormal social relationships partly because they are a minority within the population, and do not fit into a society where the majority of (normal) individuals lack phenotypes associated with

disorders. A similar relationship can be applied to domestic and wild animals. In particular, the social behavior of dogs is quite distinct from that of wild animals. Such social behavior in dogs that appear to have evolved as human companions may be considered as "abnormal" behaviors from the viewpoint of wild animals.

Dogs also vary in their neotenic features. Some breeds such as huskies and corgis in adulthood have a less neotenic appearance and look closer to the wildtypes such as jackals and coyotes, whereas other breeds such as Saint Bernards and Great Pyrenees exhibit a stronger neotenic appearance, maintaining a juvenile-like appearance as adults^[86]. In particular, neotenic appearance and cerebral DA level are correlated in dogs^[86, 87]. Thus, breeds close to the wild-type and displaying a less neotenic appearance have higher cerebral DA levels than those with a more neotenic appearance^[86, 87], further supporting our hypothesis of a relationship between lower DA levels and neoteny. Another advantage of using dogs for investigation is that they have a clear phylogeny, which enables investigators to follow their evolution relatively easily.

It is also interesting to note that unlike in humans, spontaneously-occurring neurological disorders such as Alzheimer's disease or Parkinson's disease are extremely rare, if they occur at all, in wild animals including non-human primates without artificial genetic or pharmacological manipulation. Dogs are an exception. They show spontaneously and endogenously-occurring Alzheimer's disease-like alterations in their brains^[88] which, although not necessarily related to neotenic development of the PFC with DA signaling, illustrate that dogs have acquired a brain system that is closer to that of humans than other wild animals through evolution by domestication. Therefore, dogs could be a good model to understand how evolutionary change pertains to the emergence of humanspecific brain disorders^[89].

Conclusions

We have proposed a hypothesis that mesocortical DA plays a specific role in the development and evolution of the PFC. However, our hypothesis has several limitations. For instance, DA transmission in the PFC is regulated by brain areas such as limbic structures^[90] and diencephalic nuclei including the habenula^[91]. These structures and other parts of the brain that regulate PFC DA release are relatively conserved across species (i.e. evolutionarily old brain areas), suggesting that, although this possibility cannot be excluded, decreased DA levels in the PFC may not be a consequence of altered regulatory mechanisms by other brain structures, but is more likely the result of an intrinsic change within the PFC selected through evolution. In addition, since our hypothesis is based on disorder models such as ADHD, schizophrenia, and chronic stress, it may be that these disorders involve brain mechanisms other than DA and PFC. However, this problem may be partly overcome by using multiple disease models. Thus, each disorder involves various mechanisms, and the differences between these mechanisms may create different conditions in the disorders, although one mechanism is common across the disorders (e.g. ADHD involves mechanisms A, B, and C, whereas schizophrenia involves mechanisms A, D, and E, and chronic stress involves mechanisms A, C, and F...). If the argument (i.e. role of DA in PFC development) is supported by all of these different conditions of disorders, then, the mechanism in this argument is most likely the one that is common across the disorders (i.e. DA change in the PFC), but not other mechanisms.

In conclusion, an evolutionary perspective for understanding the role of neurochemicals such as DA and their relation to brain disorders may open a new venue in neuroscience.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This review was supported by Kyoto University, the Ito Chubei Foundation, the Ichiro Kanehara Foundation, and the Institute of Life & Seizon, Japan.

Received date: 2014-06-04; Accepted date: 2014-10-28

REFERENCES

- Fuster JM. Frontal lobe and cognitive development. J Neurocytol 2002, 31: 373–385.
- [2] Funahashi S. Neuronal mechanisms of executive control by the prefrontal cortex. Neurosci Res 2001, 39: 147–165.
- [3] Roth G, Dicke U. Evolution of the brain and intelligence. Trends Cogn Sci 2005, 9: 250–257.
- [4] Teffer K, Semendeferi K. Human prefrontal cortex: evolution, development, and pathology. Prog Brain Res 2012, 195: 191–218.

- [5] Seamans JK, Yang CR. The principal features and mechanisms of dopamine modulation in the prefrontal cortex. Prog Neurobiol 2004, 74: 1–58.
- [6] Morrison JH, Foote SL, Molliver ME, Bloom FE, Lidov HG. Noradrenergic and serotonergic fibers innervate complementary layers in monkey primary visual cortex: an immunohistochemical study. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1982, 79: 2401–2405.
- [7] Lewis DA. The organization of chemically-identified neural systems in monkey prefrontal cortex: afferent systems. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 1990, 14: 371–377.
- [8] Gogtay N, Giedd JN, Lusk L, Hayashi KM, Greenstein D, Vaituzis AC, et al. Dynamic mapping of human cortical development during childhood through early adulthood. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004, 101: 8174–8179.
- [9] Andersen SL, Thompson AT, Rutstein M, Hostetter JC, Teicher MH. Dopamine receptor pruning in prefrontal cortex during the periadolescent period in rats. Synapse 2000, 37: 167–169.
- [10] Scheetz AJ, Constantine-Paton M. Modulation of NMDA receptor function: implications for vertebrate neural development. FASEB J 1994, 8: 745–752.
- [11] Lee FJ, Xue S, Pei L, Vukusic B, Chery N, Wang Y, et al. Dual regulation of NMDA receptor functions by direct proteinprotein interactions with the dopamine D1 receptor. Cell 2002, 111: 219–230.
- [12] Ladepeche L, Dupuis JP, Bouchet D, Doudnikoff E, Yang L, Campagne Y, et al. Single-molecule imaging of the functional crosstalk between surface NMDA and dopamine D1 receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013, 110: 18005– 18010.
- [13] Lambe EK, Krimer LS, Goldman-Rakic PS. Differential postnatal development of catecholamine and serotonin inputs to identified neurons in prefrontal cortex of rhesus monkey. J Neurosci 2000, 20: 8780–8787.
- [14] Kalsbeek A, Matthijssen MA, Uylings HB. Morphometric analysis of prefrontal cortical development following neonatal lesioning of the dopaminergic mesocortical projection. Exp Brain Res 1989, 78: 279–289.
- [15] Krasnova IN, Betts ES, Dada A, Jefferson A, Ladenheim B, Becker KG, *et al.* Neonatal dopamine depletion induces changes in morphogenesis and gene expression in the developing cortex. Neurotox Res 2007, 11: 107–130.
- [16] van Gent T, Heijnen CJ, Treffers PD. Autism and the immune system. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1997, 38: 337–349.
- [17] Shaw P, Eckstrand K, Sharp W, Blumenthal J, Lerch JP, Greenstein D, et al. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder is characterized by a delay in cortical maturation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007, 104: 19649–19654.
- [18] Todd RD. Neural development is regulated by classical

neurotransmitters: dopamine D2 receptor stimulation enhances neurite outgrowth. Biol Psychiatry 1992, 31: 794– 807.

- [19] Reinoso BS, Undie AS, Levitt P. Dopamine receptors mediate differential morphological effects on cerebral cortical neurons in vitro. J Neurosci Res 1996, 43: 439–453.
- [20] Schmidt U, Beyer C, Oestreicher AB, Reisert I, Schilling K, Pilgrim C. Activation of dopaminergic D1 receptors promotes morphogenesis of developing striatal neurons. Neuroscience 1996, 74: 453–460.
- [21] Shea BT. Heterochrony in human evolution: The case for neoteny reconsidered. Am J Phys Anthropol 1989, 32: 69– 101.
- [22] Sengupta P. The laboratory rat: relating its age with human's. Int J Prev Med 2013, 4: 624–630.
- [23] Huttenlocher PR. Synaptic density in human frontal cortex
 developmental changes and effects of aging. Brain Res 1979, 163: 195–205.
- [24] Lewis DA. Development of the prefrontal cortex during adolescence: insights into vulnerable neural circuits in schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 1997, 16: 385– 398.
- [25] Van Eden CG, Uylings HB. Cytoarchitectonic development of the prefrontal cortex in the rat. J Comp Neurol 1985, 241: 253–267.
- [26] Petanjek Z, Judas M, Simic G, Rasin MR, Uylings HB, Rakic P, et al. Extraordinary neoteny of synaptic spines in the human prefrontal cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011, 108: 13281–13286.
- [27] Hall BK. Evo-devo or devo-evo--does it matter. Evol Dev 2000, 2: 177–178.
- [28] Dolle P, Dierich A, LeMeur M, Schimmang T, Schuhbaur B, Chambon P, et al. Disruption of the Hoxd-13 gene induces localized heterochrony leading to mice with neotenic limbs. Cell 1993, 75: 431–441.
- [29] Parsons KJ, Sheets HD, Skulason S, Ferguson MM. Phenotypic plasticity, heterochrony and ontogenetic repatterning during juvenile development of divergent Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*). J Evol Biol 2011, 24: 1640–1652.
- [30] Schmidt K, Starck JM. Developmental plasticity, modularity, and heterochrony during the phylotypic stage of the zebra fish, Danio rerio. J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol 2010, 314: 166– 178.
- [31] Heyland A, Hodin J. Heterochronic developmental shift caused by thyroid hormone in larval sand dollars and its implications for phenotypic plasticity and the evolution of nonfeeding development. Evolution 2004, 58: 524–538.
- [32] Denoel M, Joly P. Neoteny and progenesis as two heterochronic processes involved in paedomorphosis in *Triturus alpestris* (Amphibia: Caudata). Proc Biol Sci 2000,

267: 1481-1485.

- [33] Wakahara M. Heterochrony and neotenic salamanders: possible clues for understanding the animal development and evolution. Zoolog Sci 1996, 13: 765–776.
- [34] Arnsten AF. Stress signalling pathways that impair prefrontal cortex structure and function. Nat Rev Neurosci 2009, 10: 410–422.
- [35] Arnsten AF. Stress impairs prefrontal cortical function in rats and monkeys: role of dopamine D1 and norepinephrine alpha-1 receptor mechanisms. Prog Brain Res 2000, 126: 183–192.
- [36] Kalivas PW, Duffy P. Similar effects of daily cocaine and stress on mesocorticolimbic dopamine neurotransmission in the rat. Biol Psychiatry 1989, 25: 913–928.
- [37] Mizoguchi K, Yuzurihara M, Ishige A, Sasaki H, Chui DH, Tabira T. Chronic stress induces impairment of spatial working memory because of prefrontal dopaminergic dysfunction. J Neurosci 2000, 20: 1568–1574.
- [38] Gresch PJ, Sved AF, Zigmond MJ, Finlay JM. Stress-induced sensitization of dopamine and norepinephrine efflux in medial prefrontal cortex of the rat. J Neurochem 1994, 63: 575–583.
- [39] Giovanoli S, Engler H, Engler A, Richetto J, Voget M, Willi R, et al. Stress in puberty unmasks latent neuropathological consequences of prenatal immune activation in mice. Science 2013, 339: 1095–1099.
- [40] Vyas A, Chattarji S. Modulation of different states of anxietylike behavior by chronic stress. Behav Neurosci 2004, 118: 1450–1454.
- [41] Tinbergen N. On aims and methods of ethology. Zeitschrift fur Tierpsychologie 1963, 20: 410–433.
- [42] Li WH, Gouy M, Sharp PM, O'HUigin C, Yang YW. Molecular phylogeny of Rodentia, Lagomorpha, Primates, Artiodactyla, and Carnivora and molecular clocks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990, 87: 6703–6707.
- [43] Darwin C. On the Origin of Species. London: John Murray, 1859.
- [44] Montgomery SM, Bartley MJ, Wilkinson RG. Family conflict and slow growth. Arch Dis Child 1997, 77: 326–330.
- [45] Cameron SA, Robert OR. Stress in families of school-aged children with delayed mental development. Can J Rehab 1989, 2: 137–144.
- [46] Wehmer F, Porter RH, Scales B. Pre-mating and pregnancy stress in rats affects behaviour of grandpups. Nature 1970, 227: 622.
- [47] Franklin TB, Russig H, Weiss IC, Graff J, Linder N, Michalon A, et al. Epigenetic transmission of the impact of early stress across generations. Biol Psychiatry 2010, 68: 408–415.
- [48] Dietz DM, Laplant Q, Watts EL, Hodes GE, Russo SJ, Feng J, et al. Paternal transmission of stress-induced pathologies. Biol Psychiatry 2011, 70: 408–414.

- [49] Natt D, Rubin CJ, Wright D, Johnsson M, Belteky J, Andersson L, et al. Heritable genome-wide variation of gene expression and promoter methylation between wild and domesticated chickens. BMC Genomics 2012, 13: 59.
- [50] Xiang H, Li X, Dai F, Xu X, Tan A, Chen L, et al. Comparative methylomics between domesticated and wild silkworms implies possible epigenetic influences on silkworm domestication. BMC Genomics 2013, 14: 646.
- [51] Arnsten AF. Stimulants: Therapeutic actions in ADHD. Neuropsychopharmacology 2006, 31: 2376–2383.
- [52] Weinberger DR, Berman KF, Chase TN. Mesocortical dopaminergic function and human cognition. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1988, 537: 330–338.
- [53] Bubser M, Schmidt WJ. 6-Hydroxydopamine lesion of the rat prefrontal cortex increases locomotor activity, impairs acquisition of delayed alternation tasks, but does not affect uninterrupted tasks in the radial maze. Behav Brain Res 1990, 37: 157–168.
- [54] Puumala T, Sirvio J. Changes in activities of dopamine and serotonin systems in the frontal cortex underlie poor choice accuracy and impulsivity of rats in an attention task. Neuroscience 1998, 83: 489–499.
- [55] Granon S, Passetti F, Thomas KL, Dalley JW, Everitt BJ, Robbins TW. Enhanced and impaired attentional performance after infusion of D1 dopaminergic receptor agents into rat prefrontal cortex. J Neurosci 2000, 20: 1208–1215.
- [56] Jensen PS, Mrazek D, Knapp PK, Steinberg L, Pfeffer C, Schowalter J, et al. Evolution and revolution in child psychiatry: ADHD as a disorder of adaptation. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1997, 36: 1672–1679; discussion 1679–1681.
- [57] Walker EF, Diforio D. Schizophrenia: a neural diathesisstress model. Psychol Rev 1997, 104: 667–685.
- [58] Rabkin JG. Stressful life events and schizophrenia: a review of the research literature. Psychol Bull 1980, 87: 408–425.
- [59] Lederbogen F, Kirsch P, Haddad L, Streit F, Tost H, Schuch P, et al. City living and urban upbringing affect neural social stress processing in humans. Nature 2011, 474: 498–501.
- [60] Koslowsky M. Commuting stress: problems of difinition and variable identification. Applied Psychol 1997, 46: 153–173.
- [61] Frith U. Mind blindness and the brain in autism. Neuron 2001, 32: 969–979.
- [62] Povinelli DJ, Preuss TM. Theory of mind: evolutionary history of a cognitive specialization. Trends Neurosci 1995, 18: 418– 424.
- [63] Stone VE, Baron-Cohen S, Knight RT. Frontal lobe contributions to theory of mind. J Cogn Neurosci 1998, 10: 640–656.
- [64] Schulte-Ruther M, Markowitsch HJ, Fink GR, Piefke M. Mirror neuron and theory of mind mechanisms involved in

face-to-face interactions: a functional magnetic resonance imaging approach to empathy. J Cogn Neurosci 2007, 19: 1354–1372.

- [65] Skuse DH, Gallagher L. Dopaminergic-neuropeptide interactions in the social brain. Trends Cogn Sci 2009, 13: 27–35.
- [66] Harrington L, Langdon R, Siegert RJ, McClure J. Schizophrenia, theory of mind, and persecutory delusions. Cogn Neuropsychiatry 2005, 10: 87–104.
- [67] Pickup GJ, Frith CD. Theory of mind impairments in schizophrenia: symptomatology, severity and specificity. Psychol Med 2001, 31: 207–220.
- [68] Crespi B, Badcock C. Psychosis and autism as diametrical disorders of the social brain. Behav Brain Sci 2008, 31: 241– 261; discussion 261–320.
- [69] Burns J. The social brain hypothesis of schizophrenia. World Psychiatry 2006, 5: 77–81.
- [70] Stevens A, Price J. Evolutionary psychiatry: A new beginning. London, UK: Routledge, 2000.
- [71] Saugstad LF. Mental illness and cognition in relation to age at puberty: a hypothesis. Clin Genet 1989, 36: 156–167.
- [72] Reece AS. Evidence of accelerated ageing in clinical drug addiction from immune, hepatic and metabolic biomarkers. Immun Ageing 2007, 4: 6.
- [73] Nakama H, Chang L, Fein G, Shimotsu R, Jiang CS, Ernst T. Methamphetamine users show greater than normal agerelated cortical gray matter loss. Addiction 2011, 106: 1474– 1483.
- [74] Ersche KD, Jones PS, Williams GB, Robbins TW, Bullmore ET. Cocaine dependence: a fast-track for brain ageing? Mol Psychiatry 2013, 18: 134–135.
- [75] Noonberg A, Goldstein G, Page HA. Premature aging in male alcoholics: "accelerated aging" or "increased vulnerability"? Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1985, 9: 334–338.
- [76] Holden KL, McLaughlin EJ, Reilly EL, Overall JE. Accelerated mental aging in alcoholic patients. J Clin Psychol 1988, 44: 286–292.
- [77] Boutros NN, Reid MC, Petrakis I, Campbell D, Torello M, Krystal J. Similarities in the disturbances in cortical information processing in alcoholism and aging: a pilot evoked potential study. Int Psychogeriatr 2000, 12: 513–525.
- [78] Cheng GL, Zeng H, Leung MK, Zhang HJ, Lau BW, Liu YP, et al. Heroin abuse accelerates biological aging: a novel insight from telomerase and brain imaging interaction. Transl Psychiatry 2013, 3: e260.
- [79] Jacobs B, Schall M, Prather M, Kapler E, Driscoll L, Baca S, et al. Regional dendritic and spine variation in human cerebral cortex: a quantitative golgi study. Cereb Cortex 2001, 11: 558–571.
- [80] Wiedenmann B, Franke WW. Identification and localization

of synaptophysin, an integral membrane glycoprotein of Mr 38,000 characteristic of presynaptic vesicles. Cell 1985, 41: 1017–1028.

- [81] Lyons DM, Parker KJ, Schatzberg AF. Animal models of early life stress: Implications for understanding resilience. Dev Psychobiol 2010, 52: 402–410.
- [82] Hare B, Wobber V, Wrangham R. The self-domestication hypothesis: evolution of bonobo psychology is due to selection against aggression. Animal Behaviour 2012, 83: 573–585.
- [83] Takahashi A, Tomihara K, Shiroishi T, Koide T. Genetic mapping of social interaction behavior in B6/MSM consomic mouse strains. Behav Genet 2010, 40: 366–376.
- [84] Miklosi A, Topal J, Csanyi V. Big thoughts in small brains? Dogs as a model for understanding human social cognition. Neuroreport 2007, 18: 467–471.
- [85] Udell MA, Dorey NR, Wynne CD. What did domestication do to dogs? A new account of dogs' sensitivity to human actions. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 2010, 85: 327–345.
- [86] Coppinger R, Schneider R. Evolution of working dogs. In: Serpell J (Ed.). The Domestic Dog: Its Evolution, Behaviour and

Interactions with People. Cambridge University Press, 1995.

- [87] Arons CD, Shoemaker WJ. The distribution of catecholamines and beta-endorphin in the brains of three behaviorally distinct breeds of dogs and their F1 hybrids. Brain Res 1992, 594: 31–39.
- [88] Bosch MN, Pugliese M, Gimeno-Bayon J, Rodriguez MJ, Mahy N. Dogs with cognitive dysfunction syndrome: a natural model of Alzheimer's disease. Curr Alzheimer Res 2012, 9: 298–314.
- [89] Overall KL. Natural animal models of human psychiatric conditions: assessment of mechanism and validity. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2000, 24: 727–776.
- [90] Peleg-Raibstein D, Pezze MA, Ferger B, Zhang WN, Murphy CA, Feldon J, et al. Activation of dopaminergic neurotransmission in the medial prefrontal cortex by N-methyl-d-aspartate stimulation of the ventral hippocampus in rats. Neuroscience 2005, 132: 219–232.
- [91] Lecourtier L, Defrancesco A, Moghaddam B. Differential tonic influence of lateral habenula on prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens dopamine release. Eur J Neurosci 2008, 27: 1755–1762.

175

Prefrontal cortex and sensory cortices during working memory: quantity and quality

Yixuan Ku¹, Mark Bodner², Yong-Di Zhou^{3, 4}

¹Key Laboratory of Brain Functional Genomics, Ministry of Education, Shanghai Key Laboratory of Brain Functional Genomics, Institute of Cognitive Neuroscience, School of Psychology and Cognitive Science, East China Normal University, Shanghai 200062, China

²MIND Research Institute, Irvine, California, USA

³Department of Neurosurgery, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland, USA

⁴NYU-ECNU Institute of Brain and Cognitive Science at NYU Shanghai, Shanghai 200122, China

Corresponding authors: Yixuan Ku. E-mail: yixuanku@gmail.com

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

The activity in sensory cortices and the prefrontal cortex (PFC) throughout the delay interval of working memory (WM) tasks reflect two aspects of WM—quality and quantity, respectively. The delay activity in sensory cortices is fine-tuned to sensory information and forms the neural basis of the precision of WM storage, while the delay activity in the PFC appears to represent behavioral goals and filters out irrelevant distractions, forming the neural basis of the quantity of task-relevant information in WM. The PFC and sensory cortices interact through different frequency bands of neuronal oscillation (theta, alpha, and gamma) to fulfill goal-directed behaviors.

Keywords: working memory; prefrontal cortex; capacity limit; memory precision; neuronal oscillations

Introduction

Working memory (WM) refers to the cognitive processes of maintaining and storing information in the short term (usually seconds) for subsequent goal-directed action^[1-3]. Persistent activity in both sensory cortices and association areas (especially the prefrontal cortex, PFC) throughout the delay interval of a WM task after sensory stimulus presentation (sample) are usually considered to be critical for WM maintenance, and to bridge the temporal gap between the sample and the subsequent contingent response (see reviews ^[4,5]). However, with regard to WM the role of the delay activity in sensory cortices has been thought to differ from that of the PFC. The former has been thought to represent and store selective sensory information and the latter has been considered to exert attentional bias and cognitive control over the former (see reviews ^[6,7]).

Despite the vast storage in human long-term memory, WM has been demonstrated to have a capacity limited by the number of items^[8,9] and this is strongly correlated with general cognitive ability^[10,11]. Recent advances in studying visual WM have shown a precision limit of representations in WM besides the capacity limit^[12-16].

Combined with the above findings, we propose that delay activity in the sensory cortices and PFC reflect the quality and quantity of representations in WM, respectively. Specifically, in this review, quantity refers to how many items/slots are stored in working memory, and quality refers to how precisely the features of each item/slot are represented in WM.

Sensory Cortices and the Quality of Working Memory

Neurons in the PFC have been shown to respond to sensory stimuli in WM tasks^[17,18]. Compared with those PFC neurons, neurons in sensory cortices appear to be more selectively tuned to stimulus features in WM tasks and consequently to maintain high-fidelity representations of stimulus information in the service of WM^[19].

Some human imaging as well as neurophysiological studies in non-human primates have indicated an absence of persistent activity in early sensory regions^[20-24]. However, other primate studies have revealed persistent modulation of neuronal activity in the primary visual cortex during the delay period of a WM task, which additionally correlates with the monkeys' memory performance^[25]. Furthermore, Zhou and Fuster found that single units in monkey primary somatosensory cortex (SI) show sustained firing during the retention period of a tactile WM task^[26] (Fig. 1A).

Recent advances in neuroimaging have shown the possibility of accurately decoding the representations of minds (see reviews ^[27,28]). Multivariate pattern analysis (MVPA) has been applied to the analysis of neural activity patterns in visual regions, and has revealed content-specific representations during WM^[29,30]. Harrison and Tong have shown that even if the overall delay activity is low in human visual cortices, orientations held in WM can still be clearly decoded from the activity patterns^[29]. This coincides with the neurophysiological data from monkey SI cortex during the delay period of a tactile WM task noted above^[26]. Furthermore, recent neuroimaging studies have shown that trial-specific stimulus information can be decoded from sensory cortices but not from the PFC^[31-33].

Not only do sensory cortices represent fine-tuned modality-specific sensory information during WM, but they can also be tuned to other sensory modalities (crossmodality) after associative training. Zhou and Fuster have shown that the sustained delay activity of SI neurons in monkeys is selective for visual stimuli in a visual-tactile cross-modal WM task^[34] (Fig. 1B). Applying to humans a paradigm similar to that used in monkeys, Ku and colleagues have found that the source of delay activity localized in human SI is modulated by cross-modal associations at the early stage of the delay (100-200 ms after the onset of sample stimuli) and the modulation exhibits a bottom-up pattern^[35]. Our recent transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) study has further shown that SI plays a causal role in performance in tactile-visual cross-modal WM^[36] (Fig. 1C). Interestingly, using MVPA, Christophel and Haynes have decoded motion patterns not only from visual areas, but also from SI, even if the task is a pure visual WM task and the visual-spatial pattern is without any association with touch^[37]. They have suggested that the tactile cross-modal representations are specific to complex dynamic stimuli^[37].

As the contents of WM can be decoded from sensory cortices but not the PFC^[31-33], we propose here that, compared with the PFC, sensory cortices represent more precise information about the memorandum, and in this way serve as quality assurance in WM.

Prefrontal Cortex and WM Quantity

Compared with relatively few studies on sustained delay activity in sensory cortices in WM tasks, the elevated delay activity in the PFC has long been recognized^[38]. At first, this PFC activity was interpreted as encoding the sensory features of WM items^[3]. However, growing evidence places more emphasis on is role in providing top-down control over the more posterior regions where information is primarily stored^[39,40].

In psychological studies, the quantity limit of WM for human has long been characterized as approximately 7 verbal items^[8] or 4 visual items^[9]. This limit has been attributed to activity in parietal areas^[41-43]. However, further studies have shown that high-capacity individuals are more efficient at filtering out irrelevant items, while low-capacity individuals cannot efficiently filter out such distractions^[44]. This filtering ability seems to be particularly critical since the high- and low-capacity groups tend to have similar capacity limits counting the number of both targets and distractors^[44]. The PFC has been shown to control accesses to WM^[45,46] and can then guarantee the quantity of task-relevant items in WM.

A similar quantity limitation has also been revealed in monkey neurophysiological studies^[46,47]. In addition, studies have shown that neurons in the PFC of numerically naive monkeys tune to a preferred numerosity^[48], independent of sensory modality^[49]. These neurons may potentially subserve the neuronal mechanisms underlying WM quantity.

The persistent delay activity in the PFC during WM has been demonstrated to be critical for maintaining behavioral goals and the means to achieve those goals (see review ^[6]). The number of goals simultaneously maintained, considering a goal/rule as an item/slot, can be regarded as the other aspect of WM quantity, the capacity of the central executive. This format of quantity is even more



Fig. 1. (A) A primary somatosensory (SI) unit is activated differentially by touch and retention of the vertical edges (the sample stimulus). The receptive field of the unit is indicated in a diagram of the monkey's hand, and the location of the unit is marked by a triangle in a brain section diagram. In the study, the tactile stimuli used in a delayed matching-to-sample task are a pair of objects that differ in the direction of edges (vertical *versus* horizontal) on their surface (modified from ^[20]). (B) An SI unit favors the horizontal visual cue in the cue period as well as the horizontal ridges in the tactile choice. A pair of icons is used as visual cues in a visual-tactile cross-modal working memory (WM) task; they are black-and-white patterns of parallel stripes, vertical in one icon and horizontal in the other (modified from ^[25]). (C) A possible model of cross-modal WM proposed in a transcranial magnetic stimulation study. The early storage of tactile information is processed and briefly maintained in the contralateral SI, and the information is later transferred to the posterior parietal cortex and PFC^[36]. (D) Schematic showing the representation of sensory input in sensory cortices reflects the quality aspect of WM, and the prefrontal top-down control activity reflects the quantity aspect of WM. The sensory cortices are synchronized in gamma cycles, and interact with the PFC to fulfill the needs of goal-directed behavior. Theta and alpha oscillations serve the interaction between sensory cortices and the PFC.

severely limited. Charron and Koechlin have proposed that the frontal lobes in the two hemispheres represent two concurrent goals^[50]. Similar hemispheric limitation has

also been proposed through neurophysiological data from non-human primates^[47]. Further, the frontal lobe in each hemisphere can be subdivided according to the abstraction of processed goals, which may result in different capacity limits for each hierarchy^[51]. Although the quantity of the capacity limitation for the central executive in WM is still not well-defined, as pointed out above, the quantity property of WM does exist in the PFC.

Neural Oscillations Serve the Interaction between PFC and Sensory Cortices

A complete WM function requires the combination of quantity and quality, which relies on the coordination of the PFC and sensory cortices. It has been suggested that oscillatory synchronization underlies inter-cortical communications^[52]. In this review, we mainly focus on three frequency bands that are important to WM performance in humans as well as non-human primates: theta (4-8 Hz), alpha (8–13 Hz), and gamma (>30 Hz).

Cortical theta rhythms are probably generated in hippocampal-cortical feedback loops^[53]. Frontal theta occurs during WM in both humans and non-human primates^[46,53-55]. The theta power increases during WM encoding, maintenance, and retrieval, compared with its baseline level^[56]. Theta power is modulated proportionally to the number of memoranda^[57,58], which represents the quantity of WM. Long-range theta coupling between the PFC and sensory cortices serves communication between these areas and can also influence behavior, as it has been shown that theta coupling between V4 (sensory association cortex) and the PFC predicts WM performance^[59].

Alpha oscillations have been known to be the most dominant rhythm in scalp electroencephalography since its discovery almost a century ago^[60]. The alpha rhythm was originally associated with an idling mental state, but has recently been found to play a functional inhibitory role in attention and WM (see review ^[61]). The cortical alpha rhythm is thought to be generated *via* thalamocortical and cortico-cortical loops^[62]. It has also been shown to increase with the number of items to be remembered in different sensory domains^[63,64], and might represent the quantity of WM. Jensen and colleagues have proposed a model that the magnitude of alpha oscillations actually determines how many representations are processed^[65]. However, the oscillations may mainly serve to protect the information of WM memoranda from distractions^[66,67], as alpha power also goes up when the number of distractors increases^[66]. A recent TMS study has shown that frontal-parietal alpha oscillations can be modulated by PFC activity^[69], which implies that alpha oscillations could also be a working band for communication between the PFC and sensory cortices during WM. Besides the above studies linking alpha oscillations with WM quantity, two new studies have indicated their role in WM precision^[70,71], so it cannot be ruled out that alpha oscillations are also correlated with WM quality. Future studies to disentangle the roles of alpha power and phase would help to answer this question, since it has been shown that the phase-locked and non-phase-locked parts of alpha oscillations are related to different processes during WM^[72].

Gamma synchronization was first found to subserve perceptual binding^[73,74]. Recently, this synchronization has been suggested to be critical to WM (see reviews^[75,76]). Although there is no direct evidence linking gamma oscillations to WM precision, their functional role in mentally representing objects^[77] and predicting successful memory encoding^[78] has led us to propose a role of gamma oscillations in WM quality. It should also be noted that a large number of studies link WM load to the amplitude of gamma oscillations^[79-82]. However, as the number of memoranda (WM load) increases, more feature information regarding the memoranda needs to be remembered to successfully perform WM tasks. In addition, gamma activity has been suggested to be more important in sensory binding or even in multisensory integration^[83]. It therefore seems that it is a more plausible assumption to connect gamma oscillations to their role in WM quality. Future studies to disentangle the contribution of the number of items/slots or features to the modulation of gamma oscillations will be of interest.

Taken together, these works suggest that WM quality is likely maintained in higher-frequency oscillations, as in the gamma cycle, or to some extent in the alpha band, and WM quantity is related to lower-frequency oscillations, such as theta and alpha. In a recent review, Roux and Uhlhaas have proposed that the cross-frequency coupling of theta-gamma or alpha-gamma codes for distinct WM information: sequentially verbal or visuo-spatial information, respectively^[84]. Therefore, gamma activity likely represents objects in certain phases of theta and alpha activity, in which the PFC and sensory cortices communicate with each other to accomplish WM performance.

Some Topics Not Completely Covered in This Review

Given space limitations, we could not cover every aspect of the topic of quality and quantity in WM. However, several important issues merit brief consideration.

The posterior parietal cortex (PPC) also plays an important role in WM and is critical for the capacity limit^[43]. Recent studies have suggested that inferior and superior portions of the PPC represent different types of WM information during the delay period, the inferior portion indicating the binding between spatial locations and memoranda, and the superior portion specifying the complexity of sample stimuli^[41,85,86]. Therefore, the PPC may be involved in both the quantity and quality aspects of WM.

Besides the roles of theta, alpha, and gamma oscillations in WM, beta oscillations (20–30 Hz) recorded at frontal sites have also been shown to be parametrically modulated in WM by sensory stimuli^[64,67,87-89]. Therefore, the beta rhythm might be another candidate for representing WM quality.

Drawn from a plethora of studies, we propose here that the WM quality is represented in sensory cortices and the WM quantity is represented in the PFC. However, the opposite cannot be ruled out. It is notable that the quality of representation decoded from sensory cortices declines with increasing quantity of memoranda^[32]. On the other hand, as suggested above, frontal beta oscillations represent parametric sensory information^[64,67,87-89]. Future work on the bi-directional influence between quality and quantity would be helpful to disentangle these intertwined factors.

Concluding Remarks

Here, we propose a framework with the fine-tuned sensory representation in sensory cortices, which reflects the quality aspect of WM and is carried on by higher-frequency neural oscillations (gamma, beta/alpha), and the prefrontal topdown control activity that reflects the quantity aspect of WM and is carried on by lower-frequency neural oscillations (theta/alpha). As quality and quantity are intertwined and essential parts of WM, activity in the sensory cortices and PFC during WM interacts to fulfill the requirements of goaldirected behavior, and higher- *versus* lower-frequency oscillations might serve as the communication frequency to synchronize both intra- and inter-area activities (Fig. 1D). Future work to assess neuronal activity simultaneously in both the PFC and sensory cortices in WM tasks will be of great interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This review was supported by the National Basic Research Development Program (973 Program) of China (2013CB329501), a Scientific Project of the Science and Technology Commission of Shanghai Municipality, China (11140900600), the Shanghai Committee of Science and Technology (15ZR1410600), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31100742), and funds from the MIND Research Institute, Irvine, CA, USA.

Received date: 2014-10-01; Accepted date: 2014-11-10

REFERENCES

- Baddeley A. Working memory: theories, models, and controversies. Annu Rev Psychol 2012, 63: 1–29.
- [2] Baddeley A. Working memory: looking back and looking forward. Nat Rev Neurosci 2003, 4: 829–839.
- [3] Goldman-Rakic PS. Cellular basis of working memory. Neuron 1995, 14: 477–485.
- [4] Curtis CE, D'Esposito M. Persistent activity in the prefrontal cortex during working memory. Trends Cogn Sci 2003, 7: 415–423.
- [5] Sreenivasan KK, Curtis CE, D'Esposito M. Revisiting the role of persistent neural activity during working memory. Trends Cogn Sci 2014, 18: 82–89.
- [6] Miller EK, Cohen JD. An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. Annu Rev Neurosci 2001, 24: 167–202.
- [7] Ruff CC. Sensory processing: who's in (top-down) control? Ann NY Acad Sci 2013, 1296: 88–107.
- [8] Miller GA. The magical number seven, plus or minus two: some limits on our capacity for processing information. Psychol Rev 1956, 63: 81.
- [9] Cowan N. The magical number 4 in short-term memory: a reconsideration of mental storage capacity. Behav Brain Sci 2001, 24: 87–114.
- [10] Engle RW, Tuholski SW, Laughlin JE, Conway ARA. Working memory, short-term memory, and general fluid intelligence: A latent-variable approach. J Exp Psychol Gen 1999, 128: 309–331.
- [11] Johnson MK, McMahon RP, Robinson BM, Harvey AN, Hahn B, Leonard CJ, et al. The relationship between

working memory capacity and broad measures of cognitive ability in healthy adults and people with schizophrenia. Neuropsychology 2013, 27: 220–229.

- [12] Zhang W, Luck SJ. Discrete fixed-resolution representations in visual working memory. Nature 2008, 453: 233–235.
- [13] Bays PM, Husain M. Dynamic shifts of limited working memory resources in human vision. Science 2008, 321: 851–854.
- [14] Fukuda K, Awh E, Vogel EK. Discrete capacity limits in visual working memory. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2010, 20: 177–182.
- [15] Luck SJ, Vogel EK. Visual working memory capacity: from psychophysics and neurobiology to individual differences. Trends Cogn Sci 2013, 17: 391–400.
- [16] Ma WJ, Husain M, Bays PM. Changing concepts of working memory. Nat Neurosci 2014, 17: 347–356.
- [17] Romo R, Salinas E. Flutter discrimination: neural codes, perception, memory and decision making. Nat Rev Neurosci 2003, 4: 203–218.
- [18] Miller EK, Erickson CA, Desimone R. Neural mechanisms of visual working memory in prefrontal cortex of the macaque. J Neurosci 1996, 16: 5154–5167.
- [19] Pasternak T, Greenlee MW. Working memory in primate sensory systems. Nat Rev Neurosci 2005, 6: 97–107.
- [20] Offen S, Schluppeck D, Heeger DJ. The role of early visual cortex in visual short-term memory and visual attention. Vis Res 2009, 49: 1352–1362.
- [21] Bisley JW, Zaksas D, Droll JA, Pasternak T. Activity of neurons in cortical area MT during a memory for motion task. J Neurophysiol 2004, 91: 286–300.
- [22] Romo R, Brody CD, Hernández A, Lemus L. Neuronal correlates of parametric working memory in the prefrontal cortex. Nature 1999, 399: 470–473.
- [23] Salinas E, Hernández A, Zainos A, Romo R. Periodicity and firing rate as candidate neural codes for the frequency of vibrotactile stimuli. J Neurosci 2000, 20: 5503–5515.
- [24] Luna R, Hernández A, Brody CD, Romo R. Neural codes for perceptual discrimination in primary somatosensory cortex. Nat Neurosci 2005, 8: 1210–1219.
- [25] Super H, Spekreijse H, Lamme VA. A neural correlate of working memory in the monkey primary visual cortex. Science 2001, 293: 120–124.
- [26] Zhou YD, Fuster JM. Mnemonic neuronal activity in somatosensory cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996, 93: 10533–10537.
- [27] Haynes JD, Rees G. Decoding mental states from brain activity in humans. Nat Rev Neurosci 2006, 7: 523–534.
- [28] Davis T, Poldrack RA. Measuring neural representations with fMRI: practices and pitfalls. Ann NY Acad Sci 2013, 1296: 108–134.
- [29] Harrison SA, Tong F. Decoding reveals the contents of visual

working memory in early visual areas. Nature 2009, 458: 632-635.

- [30] Serences JT, Ester EF, Vogel EK, Awh E. Stimulus-specific delay activity in human primary visual cortex. Psychol Sci 2009, 20: 207–214.
- [31] Riggall AC, Postle BR. The relationship between working memory storage and elevated activity as measured with functional magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosci 2012, 32: 12990–12998.
- [32] Emrich SM, Riggall AC, LaRocque JJ, Postle BR. Distributed patterns of activity in sensory cortex reflect the precision of multiple items maintained in visual short-term memory. J Neurosci 2013, 33: 6516–6523.
- [33] Lee SH, Kravitz DJ, Baker CI. Goal-dependent dissociation of visual and prefrontal cortices during working memory. Nat Neurosci 2013, 16: 997–999.
- [34] Zhou YD, Fuster JM. Visuo-tactile cross-modal associations in cortical somatosensory cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000, 97: 9777–9782.
- [35] Ku Y, Ohara S, Wang L, Lenz FA, Hsiao SS, Bodner M, et al. Prefrontal cortex and somatosensory cortex in tactile crossmodal association: an independent component analysis of ERP recordings. PLoS One 2007, 2: e771.
- [36] Ku Y, Zhao D, Hao N, Hu Y, Bodner M, Zhou YD. Sequential roles of primary somatosensory cortex and posterior parietal cortex in tactile-visual cross-modal working memory: a singlepulse transcranial magnetic stimulation (spTMS) study. Brain Stimul 2015, 8: 88–91.
- [37] Christophel TB, Haynes JD. Decoding complex flow-field patterns in visual working memory. Neuroimage 2014, 91: 43–51.
- [38] Fuster JM, Alexander GE. Neuron activity related to shortterm memory. Science 1971, 173: 652–654.
- [39] D'Esposito M, Detre JA, Alsop DC, Shin RK, Atlas S, Grossman M. The neural basis of the central executive system of working memory. Nature 1995, 378: 279–281.
- [40] Smith EE, Jonides J. Storage and executive processes in the frontal lobes. Science 1999, 283: 1657–1661.
- [41] Xu Y, Chun MM. Dissociable neural mechanisms supporting visual short-term memory for objects. Nature 2006, 440: 91–95.
- [42] Vogel EK, Machizawa MG. Neural activity predicts individual differences in visual working memory capacity. Nature 2004, 428: 748–751.
- [43] Todd JJ, Marois R. Capacity limit of visual short-term memory in human posterior parietal cortex. Nature 2004, 428: 751– 754.
- [44] Vogel EK, McCollough AW, Machizawa MG. Neural measures reveal individual differences in controlling access to working memory. Nature 2005, 438: 500–503.

- [45] McNab F, Klingberg T. Prefrontal cortex and basal ganglia control access to working memory. Nat Neurosci 2008, 11: 103–107.
- [46] Reinhart RMG, Heitz RP, Purcell BA, Weigand PK, Schall JD, Woodman GF. Homologous mechanisms of visuospatial working memory maintenance in macaque and human: properties and sources. J Neurosci 2012, 32: 7711–7722.
- [47] Buschman TJ, Siegel M, Roy JE, Miller EK. Neural substrates of cognitive capacity limitations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011, 108: 11252–11255.
- [48] Viswanathan P, Nieder A. Neuronal correlates of a visual "sense of number" in primate parietal and prefrontal cortices. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013, 110: 11187–11192.
- [49] Nieder A. Supramodal numerosity selectivity of neurons in primate prefrontal and posterior parietal cortices. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012, 109: 11860–11865.
- [50] Charron S, Koechlin E. Divided representation of concurrent goals in the human frontal lobes. Science 2010, 328: 360– 363.
- [51] Badre D. Cognitive control, hierarchy, and the rostro-caudal organization of the frontal lobes. Trends Cogn Sci 2008, 12: 193–200.
- [52] Varela F, Lachaux JP, Rodriguez E, Martinerie J. The brainweb: phase synchronization and large-scale integration. Nat Rev Neurosci 2001, 2: 229–239.
- [53] Klimesch W. EEG alpha and theta oscillations reflect cognitive and memory performance: a review and analysis. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 1999, 29(2-3): 169–195.
- [54] Jensen O, Lisman JE. An oscillatory short-term memory buffer model can account for data on the Sternberg task. J Neurosci 1998, 18: 10688–10699.
- [55] Kahana MJ, Seelig D, Madsen JR. Theta returns. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2001, 11: 739–744.
- [56] Raghavachari S, Kahana MJ, Rizzuto DS, Caplan JB, Kirschen MP, Bourgeois B, *et al.* Gating of human theta oscillations by a working memory task. J Neurosci 2001, 21: 3175–3183.
- [57] Gevins A, Smith ME, McEvoy L, Yu D. High-resolution EEG mapping of cortical activation related to working memory: effects of task difficulty, type of processing, and practice. Cereb Cortex 1997, 7: 374–385.
- [58] Jensen O, Tesche CD. Frontal theta activity in humans increases with memory load in a working memory task. Eur J Neurosci 2002, 15: 1395–1399.
- [59] Liebe S, Hoerzer GM, Logothetis NK, Rainer G. Theta coupling between V4 and prefrontal cortex predicts visual short-term memory performance. Nat Neurosci 2012, 15: 456–62, S1–2.
- [60] Berger H. Über das Elektrenkephalogramm des Menschen. Archiv f Psychiatrie 1929, 87: 527–570.

- [61] Palva S, Palva JM. New vistas for alpha-frequency band oscillations. Trends Neurosci 2007, 30: 150–158.
- [62] da Silva FL. EEG and MEG: relevance to neuroscience. Neuron 2013, 80: 1112–1128.
- [63] Jensen O, Gelfand J, Kounios J, Lisman JE. Oscillations in the alpha band (9-12 Hz) increase with memory load during retention in a short-term memory task. Cereb Cortex 2002, 12: 877–882.
- [64] Spitzer B, Fleck S, Blankenburg F. Parametric alpha- and beta-band signatures of supramodal numerosity information in human working memory. J Neurosci 2014, 34: 4293–4302.
- [65] Jensen O, Gips B, Bergmann TO, Bonnefond M. Temporal coding organized by coupled alpha and gamma oscillations prioritize visual processing. Trends Neurosci 2014, 37: 357– 369.
- [66] Haegens S, Osipova D, Oostenveld R, Jensen O. Somatosensory working memory performance in humans depends on both engagement and disengagement of regions in a distributed network. Hum Brain Mapp 2010, 31: 26–35.
- [67] Spitzer B, Blankenburg F. Supramodal parametric working memory processing in humans. J Neurosci 2012, 32: 3287– 3295.
- [68] Bonnefond M, Jensen O. Alpha oscillations serve to protect working memory maintenance against anticipated distracters. Curr Biol 2012, 22: 1969–1974.
- [69] Capotosto P, Babiloni C, Romani GL, Corbetta M. Frontoparietal cortex controls spatial attention through modulation of anticipatory alpha rhythms. J Neurosci 2009, 29: 5863–5872.
- [70] Anderson DE, Serences JT, Vogel EK, Awh E. Induced Alpha rhythms track the content and quality of visual working memory representations with high temporal precision. J Neurosci 2014, 34: 7587–7599.
- [71] Myers NE, Stokes MG, Walther L, Nobre AC. Oscillatory brain state predicts variability in working memory. J Neurosci 2014, 34: 7735–7743.
- [72] Freunberger R, Fellinger R, Sauseng P, Gruber W, Klimesch W. Dissociation Between phaselocked and nonphase-locked alpha oscillations in a working memory task. Hum Brain Mapp 2009, 30: 3417–3425.
- [73] Eckhorn R, Bauer R, Jordan W, Brosch M, Kruse W, Munk M, et al. Coherent oscillations: A mechanism of feature linking in the visual cortex? Biol Cybern 1988, 60: 121–130.
- [74] Singer W, Gray CM. Visual feature integration and the temporal correlation hypothesis. Annu Rev Neurosci 1995, 18: 555–586.
- [75] Jensen O, Kaiser J, Lachaux JP. Human gamma-frequency oscillations associated with attention and memory. Trends Neurosci 2007, 30:317–324.
- [76] Buzsáki G, Wang XJ. Mechanisms of gamma oscillations.

Annu Rev Neurosci 2012, 35: 203-225.

- [77] Tallon-Baudry C, Bertrand O. Oscillatory gamma activity in humans and its role in object representation. Trends Cogn Sci 1999, 3: 151–162.
- [78] Osipova D, Takashima A, Oostenveld R, Fernández G, Maris E, Jensen O. Theta and gamma oscillations predict encoding and retrieval of declarative memory. J Neurosci 2006, 26: 7523–7531.
- [79] Howard MW, Rizzuto DS, Caplan JB, Madsen JR, Lisman J, Aschenbrenner-Scheibe R, *et al.* Gamma oscillations correlate with working memory load in humans. Cereb Cortex 2003, 13: 1369–1374.
- [80] Palva JM, Monto S, Kulashekhar S, Palva S. Neuronal synchrony reveals working memory networks and predicts individual memory capacity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010, 107: 7580–7585.
- [81] Palva S, Kulashekhar S, Hamalainen M, Palva JM. Localization of cortical phase and amplitude dynamics during visual working memory encoding and retention. J Neurosci 2011, 31: 5013–5025.
- [82] Roux F, Wibral M, Mohr HM, Singer W, Uhlhaas PJ. Gammaband activity in human prefrontal cortex codes for the number of relevant items maintained in working memory. J Neurosci

2012, 32: 12411-12420.

- [83] Senkowski D, Talsma D, Grigutsch M, Herrmann CS, Woldorff MG. Good times for multisensory integration: Effects of the precision of temporal synchrony as revealed by gamma-band oscillations. Neuropsychologia 2007, 45: 561–571.
- [84] Roux F, Uhlhaas PJ. Working memory and neural oscillations: alpha-gamma versus theta-gamma codes for distinct WM information? Trends Cogn Sci 2014, 18: 16–25.
- [85] Xu Y. The role of the superior intraparietal sulcus in supporting visual short-term memory for multifeature objects. J Neurosci 2007, 27: 11676–11686.
- [86] Xu Y. Distinctive neural mechanisms supporting visual object individuation and identification. J Cogn Neurosci 2009, 21: 511–518.
- [87] Spitzer B, Wacker E, Blankenburg F. Oscillatory correlates of vibrotactile frequency processing in human working memory. J Neurosci 2010, 30: 4496–4502.
- [88] Spitzer B, Blankenburg F. Stimulus-dependent EEG activity reflects internal updating of tactile working memory in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011, 108: 8444–8449.
- [89] Spitzer B, Gloel M, Schmidt TT, Blankenburg F. Working memory coding of analog stimulus properties in the human prefrontal cortex. Cereb Cortex 2014, 24: 2229–2236.

183

Dopaminergic modulation of synaptic plasticity in rat prefrontal neurons

Satoru Otani^{1,2}, Jing Bai², Kevin Blot³

¹Center for Medical Education, Faculty of Health Sciences, Ryotokuji University, Chiba, Japan ²Chinese Medicine Research Laboratory, Juntendo University Medical School, Tokyo, Japan ³Pathophysiology Department, University of Paris 6, Paris, France Corresponding author: Satoru Otani. E-mail: otani@ryotokuji-u.ac.jp

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

The prefrontal cortex (PFC) is thought to store the traces for a type of long-term memory – the abstract memory that determines the temporal structure of behavior often termed a "rule" or "strategy". Long-term synaptic plasticity might serve as an underlying cellular mechanism for this type of memory. We therefore studied the induction of synaptic plasticity in rat PFC neurons, maintained *in vitro*, with special emphasis on the functionally important neuromodulator dopamine. First, the induction of long-term potentiation (LTP) was facilitated in the presence of tonic/background dopamine in the bath, and the dose-dependency of this background dopamine followed an "inverted-U" function, where too high or too low dopamine levels could not facilitate LTP. Second, the induction of long-term depression (LTD) by low-frequency stimuli appeared to be independent of background dopamine, but required endogenous, phasically-released dopamine during the stimuli. Blockade of dopamine receptors during the stimuli and exaggeration of the effect of this endogenously-released dopamine by inhibition of dopamine transporter activity both blocked LTD. Thus, LTD induction also followed an inverted-U function in its dopamine-dependency. We conclude that PFC synaptic plasticity is powerfully modulated by dopamine through inverted-U-shaped dose-dependency.

Keywords: prefrontal cortex; synaptic plasticity; long-term memory

Introduction to Synaptic Plasticity and the Prefrontal Cortex

The prefrontal cortex (PFC), the cortical area most developed in humans, is known to serve for higher cognitive or executive functions^[1]. Deficits in the PFC are thought to underlie the cognitive disturbances seen in psychiatric disorders including schizophrenia, depression, drug addiction, and attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder^[2]. Therefore, understanding the physiological and pathophysiological bases of PFC neuronal function helps to understand the cellular basis of higher cognitive abilities and their disturbance. In this regard, it should be noted that the PFC receives innervation from dopaminergic fibers from the ventral tegmental area^[3], and that rat PFC neurons

express dopamine (DA) receptors in different layers^[4]. This dopaminergic projection is important for diverse cognitive functions including working memory, goal-direction, and other executive functions^[5,6].

Working memory has attracted much attention as a major example of PFC executive functions. Indeed, revealing the cellular basis of working memory is a major accomplishment of neuroscience research^[7]. The reasons that working memory research attracts attention are that working memory is clearly a critical component of higher mental activity and that its impairment is a core feature of the cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia^[8].

It is well known that working memory is the short-term maintenance of a retrieved/acquired memory about facts and objects. Given the tight association between this shortterm memory and PFC function, the role of the PFC in longterm memory has often been overlooked. But it is clear that the functions of the PFC include a long-term memory component^[1], and the cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia also include deficits in long-term memory^[9].

The long-term memory we suggest to be attributable to the PFC is a higher-order, abstract memory labelled as "temporal organization of behavior", "rule", "strategy", or "planning"; that is, a memory that determines the sequence of outputs of concrete actions/ideas^[2]. We propose that the traces for this type of long-term memory are at least partly stored in neurons of the PFC in the form of long-term synaptic plasticity^[2]. Indeed, injection of a protein synthesis inhibitor known to block the maintenance of synaptic plasticity into the prelimbic area (rodent PFC) severely impairs the acquisition of goal-directed action sequences^[10].

Based on this important relationship between longterm memory and the PFC, here we review long-term synaptic plasticity, i.e. long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD), two of the cellular mechanisms for memory encoding and storage, in rodent PFC neurons (the prelimbic area). Our particular interest is the induction mechanisms of LTP and LTD with special emphasis on DA, an important neuromodulator of PFC function.

LTP in PFC Neurons and Dopamine

LTP and Background Dopamine

LTP is typically induced by trains of high-frequency stimuli delivered to presynaptic fibers. So, we applied stimuli at 50 Hz (4 or 6 trains of 100 pulses, delivered at 10-s intervals) to layer I-II presynaptic fibers in rat PFC slices, and monitored the changes in the excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSPs) recorded from layer V pyramidal neurons. The frequency 50 Hz is within the range of functionally important γ -band activity in the PFC^[11]. In addition, all main experiments were conducted in the presence of the GABA-A receptor antagonist bicuculline so that inhibitory postsynaptic potentials were largely eliminated.

We found that while hippocampal neurons readily show LTP after such 50-Hz stimulation, in PFC neurons, the stimuli either induce no plasticity (trains delivered 4 times; Fig. 1A) or induce LTD (delivered 6 times; Fig. 1B). These results are in contrast to the result obtained in the rat PFC *in vivo*, where high-frequency afferent stimuli always induce LTP^[12].

An important difference between *in vivo* and *in vitro* preparations is that in the latter, the extracellular DA level is very low, perhaps to a degree that is non-physiological. In the PFC *in vivo*, in contrast, background DA is maintained even under anesthesia by the tonic spontaneous activity of midbrain dopaminergic neurons^[13]. Therefore, in an attempt to mimic the *in vivo* condition in the slice preparation, we added to the bathing medium a low concentration of DA (3 µmol/L) as background, continuously for 40 min before the delivery of the identical 50-Hz stimulation. Under this condition, the delivery of trains 4 and 6 times both induced clear LTP (Fig 1C, D)^[14,15]. Thus, the background DA secured the induction of LTP.

The concentration of 3 µmol/L was chosen because it is about the lowest concentration of exogenous DA that elicits detectable changes in the EPSP under our recording condition (i.e. slight reductions or slight augmentations of the responses). In behaving animals, however, the DA concentration, in the nucleus accumbens for example, estimated by voltammetry is ~1 µmol/L or less, even at the peak^[16]. Compared with this, 3 µmol/L may appear high. However, the probe used in the voltammetry has a diameter of ≤10 µm, which is as large as the diameter of a cell body. The real concentration near a synapse is likely to be much higher, possibly reaching the mmol/L range^[17].

Constraints on LTP Facilitation by Background Dopamine

We discovered two functionally important constraints in the LTP facilitation by background DA described above. First, the level of the background DA has to be within a certain range: too high (10 µmol/L) or too low (1 µmol/ L) a concentration does not facilitate LTP^[17]. This finding indicates that the dose-dependency of LTP induction on the background DA follows an inverted-U dose-response curve, reminiscent of the relationship between the level of DA in the PFC and its modulatory action on PFC-dependent cognitive functions^[2, 6]. Second, the background DA, even at an appropriate level (3 µmol/L in our case), has to be present long enough to facilitate LTP. Thus, the 3 µmol/L DA facilitated LTP after 40 min bath-application, but not after 12.5 min^[14]. This is reminiscent of the fact that background DA is continuously present in the PFC *in vivo*. In addition,



Fig. 1. Effect of high-frequency stimuli on the EPSP recorded from layer V pyramidal neurons in rat prelimbic cortex slices. A. Delivery of 50-Hz stimuli (100 pulses, 4 trains at 10-sec intervals) to layer I-II presynaptic fibers in prelimbic slices induces no lasting changes in the EPSP. B. The stimuli were delivered 6 times. In this case, clear LTD is induced. The insets are the averaged EPSP recorded just before (1) and 40 min after stimulation (2). C. Delivery of 50-Hz stimuli 4 times (as in A) after 40 min perfusion with 3 µmol/L background dopamine results in LTP (black triangles). The insets are the averaged EPSP recorded just before (1) and 40 min after stimulation (2). The 3-µmol/L background dopamine itself does not modify the EPSP (grey squares). D. Delivery of 50-Hz stimuli 6 times (as in B) after 40 min perfusion with 3 µmol/L background dopamine converts the LTD to LTP (black squares). The insets are the averaged EPSP recorded just before (1) and 40 min after stimulation (2). The 3-µmol/L background dopamine converts the LTD to LTP (black squares). The insets are the averaged EPSP recorded just before (1) and 40 min after stimulation (2). The 3-µmol/L background dopamine converts the LTD to LTP (black squares). The insets are the averaged EPSP recorded just before (1) and 40 min after stimulation (2). The 3-µmol/L background dopamine itself does not modify the EPSP (grey circles). Scales in B–D: vertical 10 mV, horizontal 50 ms. Adapted from Kolomiets *et al.* (2009)^[16], with permission.

DA acts on both D1 and D2 receptors to facilitate LTP^[15].

Mechanisms Underlying the Action of Background Dopamine

The above results indicate that LTP is induced in the PFC only when the physiological conditions are mimicked: thus, an appropriate level of background DA (3 µmol/L in our case) must be present for a certain time (40 min in our case) in order to successfully facilitate LTP.

What, then, is the molecular mechanism underlying this DA effect? Our analysis indicated that it is the activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK1/2). We first confirmed that LTP requires the postsynaptic activation of ERK^[15]. We then quantified the phosphorylated ERK level in the PFC by western blot analysis and found that ERK phosphorylation increases slowly in the presence of 3 µmol/L DA^[15]. More precisely, a significant increase in the phosphorylated ERK occurs after 40 min perfusion

(LTP condition) but not after 12.5 min perfusion (non-LTP condition). Equally, in two other non-LTP conditions (40 min perfusion of 1 or 10 μ mol/L DA) no increased ERK phosphorylation is seen. Moreover, under the condition where the increased ERK phosphorylation by 40-min perfusion of 3 μ mol/L DA is lowered to the control level by a brief bath-application of ERK inhibitor PD98059, LTP induction is also blocked, suggesting a causal relation between the slow increase of ERK phosphorylation and LTP induction.

Apart from the above inverted-U dose-response activation of ERK, however, little is known as to how the background DA regulates LTP through the inverted U-fashion. For example, background DA does not affect N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated synaptic transmission^[15], unlike the previous report^[18]. One candidate for the underlying mechanism is a dose-dependent, D1mediated increase of neuronal excitability^[19]. Indeed, background DA does enhance the postsynaptic depolarization during LTP-inducing high-frequency input^[15]. However, this enhancement does not follow an inverted-U curve, since 1 or 10 µmol/L DA, which does not facilitate LTP, still enhances the depolarization^[15]. Also, unlike the report by Chen *et al*.^[19], this enhanced postsynaptic depolarization persists in the presence of the ERK inhibitor PD98059^[15]. Thus, while it is likely that the enhanced postsynaptic depolarization by background DA contributes to the induction of DA-facilitated LTP, other cellular processes must co-exist to realize the inverted-U, dosedependent regulation of LTP.

LTP and Phasic Dopamine

As well as the tonic/background DA, which is maintained by the spontaneous, basal firing of DA neurons, eventrelated phasic release of DA, which is correlated with a transient, event-related high-frequency discharge of DA neurons *in vivo*, is functionally important^[20]. This phasic DA, when occurring in temporal conjunction with glutamatergic synaptic activity, facilitates LTP in the PFC *in vivo*^[12]. In our case, equally, the same conditioning stimuli activated both glutamatergic and dopaminergic axon terminals in PFC slices. The functional importance of this timing between dopaminergic and glutamatergic inputs has also been shown in a recent report by Yagishita *et al.*^[21] in striatal neurons. We thus also examined how phasic DA is involved in LTP induction *in vitro*.

First, blockade of D1 or D2 receptors by the specific antagonist SCH23390 (2 µmol/L) or sulpiride (20 µmol/L), respectively, only during the delivery of 50-Hz stimulation, reliably blocks LTP in the presence of 3 µmol/L background DA (Fig. 2A). This indicates that endogenous, stimulusevoked phasic release of DA is required for LTP (note that there is a remote possibility that the brief absence of tonic DA action while the antagonists are present causes the LTP blockade). In PFC slices, the axons of dopaminergic neurons are severed, but the residual axon terminals release DA upon repetitive stimulation and induce plasticity^[22]. Indeed, the superficial layers of the rat PFC receive dopaminergic innervation^[23], and rat frontal pyramidal neuron dendrites co-express D1 and D2 receptors^[4]. Second, the LTD induced by delivery of 50-Hz stimulation 6 times in the absence of background DA (see Fig. 1B) is also blocked by SCH23390 or sulpiride (Fig. 2B), indicating that this LTD also depends on phasic endogenous DA. Note that in Fig. 2B, a small LTP appears when either D1 or D2 receptors are blocked. Such LTP does not occur when D1 and D2 receptors are simultaneously blocked^[15]. This indicates that without background DA (an abnormal condition) an imbalance of stimulation between these two receptor classes can give rise to response potentiation through as yet unknown mechanisms.

Thus, the phasic DA released upon 50-Hz stimulation can induce either LTP or LTD through the co-activation of D1 and D2 receptors, which might result in the synergistic



Fig. 2. Induction of LTP and LTD by 50-Hz stimulation requires phasic dopamine release. A. Brief bath-application of the D1 receptor antagonist SCH23390 (2 μmol/L; black triangles) or the D2 receptor antagonist sulpiride (20 μmol/L; grey circles) during LTPinducing 50-Hz stimulation (6 times) after 40 min perfusion with 3 μmol/L background dopamine (see Fig. 1D) blocks the induction of LTP. B. The identical application of SCH23390 or sulpiride as in A during LTD-inducing stimulation (delivery of 50-Hz stimulus train 6 times without background dopamine) blocks the induction of LTD. Adapted from Kolomiets *et al.* (2009)^[15] with permission.

activation of phospholipase C^[4]. These opposite effects of DA suggest that its phasic release serves as a "trigger" for plasticity but it does not determine the direction of the plasticity (i.e. LTP or LTD); the direction of plasticity is determined by the level of background DA. Thus, when the level of background DA is appropriate (3 µmol/L in our case), the phasic DA triggers LTP (Fig 1C, D); but when the level is low (1 µmol/L) or high (10 µmol/L), the phasic DA cannot trigger LTP. When the level is extremely low (absence of background DA in our case; see Fig. 1B), the same phasic DA now triggers LTD. Our additional data^[14,24,25] suggest that when the level of background DA is extremely high (100 µmol/L), the phasic DA also triggers LTD. These relationships between phasic and background DA in terms of plasticity induction are graphically presented in Figure 3.

LTD in PFC Neurons and Dopamine

Induction of LTD by Low-Frequency Repetitive Stimuli

In the PFC, the induction of LTD by low-frequency repetitive stimulation has been demonstrated in mouse brain slices^[26]



Fig. 3. Schematic representation of the relation between phasically-released dopamine upon high-frequency input and tonic/background dopamine in terms of plasticity induction in the PFC. The stimulus-evoked phasic dopamine serves as a "trigger" for plasticity, but does not determine the direction of plasticity. The direction (i.e. potentiation or depression) is determined by the level of tonic/background dopamine. The phasic dopamine only triggers LTP at appropriate levels of tonic/background dopamine. Under very low or very high levels of tonic/ background dopamine, the phasic dopamine triggers LTD, which we term as "aberrant LTD". Adapted from Goto *et al.* (2010)^[2] with slight modifications. but had never been shown in rat preparations. Therefore, we first determined whether low-frequency stimuli (3 Hz for 15 min)^[26] delivered to layer I-II afferent fibers induces LTD in rat PFC slices. We found that the 3-Hz stimulation successfully induces LTD of the EPSP (Fig. 4A)^[27], monitored in this case by an extracellular microelectrode in layers I-II^[28].

This LTD by 3 Hz stimulation was induced even in the presence of 3 μ mol/L background DA (data not shown). This is in sharp contrast to the LTD induced by 50 Hz, which converts to LTP when 3 μ mol/L DA is added to the bath (Fig 1B, D). This difference may indicate that LTD induced by 3 Hz stimulation is a physiologically relevant form of synaptic depression that persists in the presence of background DA^[27].

Inhibition of Dopamine Transporter Activity and LTD

LTD by 3 Hz stimuli is blocked by the D1 receptor antagonist SCH23390 (2 μ mol/L) or the D2 receptor antagonist sulpiride (20 μ mol/L) applied during the 3 Hz stimulation (Fig. 4B1 and 4B2). Thus, this LTD depends on endogenously-released DA acting on both D1 and D2 receptors; that is, levels of receptor activation by phasicallyreleased DA that are too low are insufficient for LTD. Is this LTD then inhibited by levels of phasic DA that are too high, forming an inverted-U dose-response curve?

To test this possibility, we elevated the extracellular DA level by inhibiting the DA transporter (DAT) using selective blockers. Since the DAT is inhibited by cocaine, this study is also important with regard to the molecular mechanisms of drug addiction. Cocaine also inhibits the norepinephrine and serotonin transporters, but the reinstatement of cocaine addiction occurs specifically through the drug's action on the DAT in the PFC^[29,30].

From the functional aspect, the involvement of DAT inhibition in the PFC in the reinstatement of cocaine addiction predicts that LTD in the PFC would be impaired by DAT inhibitors. This is because reinstatement is the condition where behavioral flexibility is diminished by reexposure to cocaine so that the individual becomes unable to suppress the old goal-direction, i.e. cocaine-seeking. Since the main function of LTD in the PFC is to guarantee behavioral flexibility by suppressing old goal-directions^[31], the inhibition of DAT in the PFC, which diminishes behavioral flexibility, should inhibit LTD.

As predicted, the highly-selective DAT inhibitor GBR12909 (1–200 nmol/L) or GBR12935 (100 nmol/L),



Fig. 4. Blockade of dopamine transporter activity impairs LTD induced by low-frequency repetitive stimulation. A. Delivery of single stimuli at 3 Hz (for 15 min) to layer I-II presynaptic fibers induces stable LTD of the EPSP recorded extracellularly from layers I-II. The insets are the averaged EPSPs recorded just before (left) and 40 min after stimulation. Scales: vertical, 0.3 mV; horizontal, 6 ms. B1. LTD induced by 3 Hz stimuli is blocked by the D1 antagonist SCH23390 (2 µmol/L) applied during stimulation (grey triangles). B2. LTD induced at 3 Hz is blocked by the D2 antagonist sulpiride (20 µmol/L) applied during stimulation (grey circles).
C. Augmentation of the extracellular dopamine level by bath-application of the DAT inhibitor GBR12909 (white triangles, 1–5 nmol/L; white diamonds, 50 nmol/L; crosses, 200 nmol/L) during LTD-inducing 3-Hz stimulation blocks the induction of LTD. The insets are averaged EPSPs recorded just before (left) and 40 min after stimulation (right) in the 1–5 nmol/L group. Adapted from Bai *et al.* (2014)^[27] with permission.

bath-applied during 3-Hz stimulation, significantly impairs LTD (Fig. 4C)^[27]. This impairment appears to be due to an over-stimulation of D1 receptors, since counteracting D1 receptor stimulation by co-applying a low level of SCH23390 (1 μ mol/L) together with GBR12909 cancels the blocking action of GBR12909 on LTD^[27]. Such blockade is not seen when a low level of sulpiride (10 μ mol/L) is co-applied with GBR12909. Since 10 μ mol/L sulpiride itself is insufficient to block LTD^[27], the persistent blockade of LTD with sulpiride + GBR12909 is not because the sulpiride blocked LTD; rather, it is likely that the D2 antagonist sulpiride does not counteract the LTD-blocking action of GBR12909^[27].

Taken together, these results indicate that DA controls LTD induction also through an inverted-U dose-response manner. This dependency on DA appears to be critically determined by the level of D1 receptor stimulation.

Molecular Mechanism of LTD Impairment by Dopamine Transporter Inhibition

What is the molecular mechanism of LTD impairment by DAT inhibition? According to our western blot analysis, it involves over-activation of ERK1/2, a class of messengers also necessary for LTD by $DA^{[27]}$. First, ERK activity in the prelimbic area significantly increases in the LTD-impaired condition, i.e. 3-Hz stimulation in the presence of GBR12909. This ERK increase is not seen when LTD impairment is blocked, i.e. when SCH23390 (1 µmol/L) is copresent with GBR12909. Second, when the ERK increase seen with 3-Hz stimulation + GBR12909 is counteracted by simultaneous application of a low concentration of the ERK inhibitor PD98059 (5 µmol/L; 1/10 of the IC_{50} value^[32]), the

LTD blockade by GBR12909 is also counteracted. Third, the allosteric positive modulator of mGluR5 (metabotropic glutamate receptor 5), CDPPB (3-cyano-N-(1,3-diphenyl-1H-pyrazol-5-yl)benzamide), which we found cancels the impairment of LTD by GBR12909, also cancels the over-activation of ERK by GBR12909.

Thus, we suggest that over-stimulation of DA (D1) receptors during GBR12909 application leads to overactivation of ERK1/2, which results in LTD impairment. The detailed molecular mechanism as to how the ERK overactivation occurs and how it impairs LTD remains to be clarified. It is also still unknown how CDPPB downregulates ERK activity. In addition, the over-activation of ERK1/2 under hyper-dopaminergic conditions seems inconsistent with our earlier data showing that 10 µmol/L background DA does not increase ERK1/2 activity, while 3 µmol/L does. This inconsistency is currently unexplained, although it may be related to the difference between the bath application of background DA and its stimulus-evoked endogenous release. Whatever the case, over-activation of ERK1/2 has also been shown with cocaine intake in rodents ^[33].

LTD and Background Dopamine

A major difference between LTP and LTD in our model system is that LTD can be induced even without background DA^[27]. Functionally, this may indicate that the physiological role of LTD (suppression of old goal-directions^[30]), persists even under extremely low levels of background DA. But under such a pathophysiological condition, LTP, unlike LTD, either cannot be induced (Fig. 1A) or converts to LTD (Fig. 1B). This latter LTD induced by LTP-inducing high-frequency stimulation under hypo-dopaminergic conditions should be termed "aberrant LTD" and separated from the physiological LTD induced by low-frequency stimulation. Aberrant LTD can be seen also with high-frequency stimulation in the presence of very high DA (100 µmol/L)^[24,25]. Thus, when the concentration of background DA deviates greatly from the normal range, synaptic efficacy in the PFC neuronal network might be abnormally low.

Conclusion

Both LTP and LTD in rat PFC glutamatergic synapses show dependence on the DA level, characterized by the inverted-U shape function. LTP even converts to LTD if the background DA level is very low, as may occur in the PFC of chronically-stressed individuals or schizophrenic patients. Under these conditions, physiological LTD may still persist. As a result, synaptic efficacy in the PFC network might overly lower. The level of background DA may also be influenced by the emotional state, where acute aversive conditions appear to give rise to PFC extracellular DA levels more effectively than appetitive conditions^[34-36]. Such an acute state may set the background DA at an optimal level to promote LTP, as shown in the hippocampus^[37], and this may lead to better memory encoding as known empirically.

On the other hand, the psychoactive drug cocaine may exaggerate the action of stimulus-evoked, phasic DA release and impair physiological LTD. This action may lead to an impaired behavioral flexibility. The positive allosteric modulator of mGluR5 may serve as a treatment option for this cocaine-induced rigid goal-direction.

Received date: 2014-06-15; Accepted date: 2014-11-18

REFERENCES

- Fuster JM. Memory in the Cerebral Cortex. Boston: A Bradford Book. The MIT Press, 1995.
- [2] Goto Y, Yang CR, Otani S. Functional and dysfunctional synaptic plasticity in prefrontal cortex: roles in psychiatric disorders. Biol Psychiatry 2010, 67: 199–207.
- [3] von Bohlen und Halbach O, Dermietzel R. Neurotransmiters and Neuromodulators. 2nd ed. Weinheim, Germany: WILEY-VCH Verlag Gmbh & Co., 2006.
- [4] Lee SP, So CH, Rashid AJ, Varghese G, Cheng R, Lança AJ, et al. Dopamine D1 and D2 receptor co-activation generates a novel phospholipase-mediated calcium signal. J Biol Chem 2004, 279: 35671–35678.
- [5] Seamans JK, Yang CR. The principal features and mechanisms of dopamine modulation in the prefrontal cortex. Prog Neurobiol 2004, 74: 1–57.
- [6] Goto Y, Otani S, Grace AA. The Yin and Yang of dopamine release: a new perspective. Neuropharmacology 2007, 53: 583–587.
- [7] Funahashi S. Space representation in the prefrontal cortex. Prog Neurobiol 2013, 103: 131–155.
- [8] Lett TA, Voineskos AN, Kennedy JL, Levine B, Daskalakis ZJ. Treating working memory deficits in schizophrenia: a review of the neurobiology. Biol Psychiatry 2014, 75: 361–370.
- [9] Barch DM, Dowd EC. Goal representations and motivational drive in schizophrenia: the role of prefrontal-striatal interactions. Schizophr Bull 2010, 36: 919–934.
- [10] Touzani K, Puthanveettil SV, Kandel ER. Consolidation of learning strategies during spatial working memory task requires protein synthesis in the prefrontal cortex. Proc Natl

Acad Sci U S A 2007, 104: 5632–5637.

- [11] Keil A, Muller MM, Ray WJ, Gruber T, Elbert T. Human gamma band activity and perception of a gestalt. J Neurosci 1999, 19: 7152–7161.
- [12] Gurden H, Tassin JP, Jay TM. Integrity of the mesocortical dopaminergic system is necessary for complete expression of *in vivo* hippocampal-prefrontal cortex long-term potentiation. Neuroscience 1999, 94: 1019–1027.
- [13] Takahata R, Moghaddam B. Target-specific glutamate regulation of dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area. J Neurochem 2000, 75: 1775–1778.
- [14] Matsuda Y, Marzo A, Otani S. The presence of background dopamine signal converts long-term depression to potentiation in rat prefrontal cortex. J Neurosci 2006, 26: 4803–4810.
- [15] Kolomiets B, Marzo A, Caboche J, Vanhoutte P, Otani S. Background dopamine concentration dependently facilitates long-term potentiation in rat prefrontal cortex through postsynaptic activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases. Cereb Cortex 2009, 19: 2708–2718.
- [16] Roitman MF, Stuber GD, Phillips PE, Wightman RM, Carelli RM. Dopamine operates as a subsecond modulator of food seeking. J Neurosci 2004, 24: 1265–1271.
- [17] Garris PA, Ciolkowski EL, Pastore P, Wightman RM. Efflux of dopamine from the synaptic cleft in the nucleus accumbens of the rat brain. J Neurosci 1994, 14: 6084–6093.
- [18] Seamans J, Durstewitz D, Christie BR, Stevens CF, Sejnowski TJ. Dopamine D1/D2 receptor modulation of excitatory synaptic inputs to layer V prefrontal cortex neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001, 98: 301–306.
- [19] Chen L, Bohanick JD, Nishihara M, Seamans JK, Yang CR. Dopamine D1/5 receptor-mediated long-term potentiation of intrinsic excitability in rat prefrontal cortical neurons: Ca2+dependent intracellular signaling. J Neurophysiol 2007, 97: 2448–2464.
- [20] Schultz W. Multiple dopamine functions at different time courses. Annu Rev Neurosci 2007, 30: 259–288.
- [21] Yagishita S, Hayashi-Takagi A, Ellis-Davies GC, Urakubo H, Ishii S, Kasai H. A critical time window for dopamine actions on the structural plasticity of dendritic spines. Science 2014, 345: 1616–1620.
- [22] Young CE, Yang CR. Dopamine D1-like receptor modulates layer and frequency-specific short-term synaptic plasticity in rat prefrontal cortical neurons. Eur J Neurosci 2005 21: 3310–3320.
- [23] Van Eden CG, Hoorneman EM, Buijs RM, Matthijssen MA, Geffard M, Uylings HB. Immunocytochemical localization of dopamine in the prefrontal cortex of the rat at the light and electron microscopical level. Neuroscience 1987, 22: 849–862.
- [24] Otani S, Blond O, Desce JM, Crépel F. Dopamine facilitates long-term depression of glutamatergic transmission in rat prefrontal cortex. Neuroscience 1998, 85: 669–676.

- [25] Otani S, Auclair N, Desce JM, Roisin MP, Crépel F. Dopamine receptors and groups I and II mGluRs cooperate for long-term depression induction in rat prefrontal cortex through converging postsynaptic activation of MAP kinases. J Neurosci 1999, 19: 9788–9802.
- [26] Huang YY, Simpson E, Kellendonk C, Kandel ER. Genetic evidence for the bidirectional modulation of synaptic plasticity in the prefrontal cortex by D1 receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004, 101: 3236–3241.
- [27] Bai J, Blot K, Tzavara E, Nosten-Bertrand M, Giros B, Otani S. Inhibition of dopamine transporter activity impairs long-term depression in rat prefrontal cortex through over-stimulation of D1 receptors. Cereb Cortex 2014, 24: 945–955.
- [28] Morris SH, Knevett S, Lerner EG, Bindman LJ. Group I mGluR agonist DHPG facilitates the induction of LTP in rat prelimbic cortex *in vitro*. J Neurophysiol 1999, 82: 1927–1933.
- [29] Sanchez CJ, Bailie TM, Wu WR, Liand N, Sorg BA. Manipulation of dopamine D1-like receptor activation in the rat medial prefrontal cortex alters stress- and cocaineinduced reinstatement of conditioned place preference behavior. Neuroscience 2003, 119: 497–505.
- [30] Schmidt HD, Pierce RC. Systemic administration of a dopamine, but not a serotonin or norepinephrine, transporter inhibitor reinstates cocaine seeking in the rat. Behav Brain Res 2006, 175: 189–194.
- [31] Nicholls RE, Alarcon JM, Malleret G, Carroll RC, Grody M, Vronskaya S, et al. Transgenic mice lacking NMDARdependent LTD exhibit deficits in behavioral flexibility. Neuron 2008, 58: 104–117.
- [32] Alessi DR, Cuenda A, Cohen P, Dudley DT, Saltiel AR. PD 098059 is a specific inhibitor of the activation of mitogenactivated protein kinase kinase *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Biol Chem 1995, 270: 27489–27494.
- [33] Valjent E, Pagès C, Hervé D, Girault JA, Caboche J. Addictive and non-addictive drugs induce distinct and specific patterns of ERK activation in mouse brain. Eur J Neurosci 2004, 19: 1826–1836.
- [34] Feenstra MGP, Teske G, Botterblom MHA, De Bruin JPC. Dopamine and noradrenaline release in the prefrontal cortex of rats during classical aversive and appetitive conditioning to a contextual stimulus: interference by novelty effects. Neurosci Lett 1999, 272: 179–182.
- [35] Feenstra MGP. Dopamine and noradrenaline release in the prefrontal cortex in relation to unconditioned and conditioned stress and reward. Prog Brain Res 2000, 126: 133–163.
- [36] Mingote S, de Bruin JP, Feenstra MG. Noradrenaline and dopamine efflux in the prefrontal cortex in relation to appetitive classical conditioning. J Neurosci 2004, 24: 2475–2480.
- [37] Korz V, Frey JU. Bidirectional modulation of hippocampal long-term potentiation under stress and no-stress conditions in basolateral amygdala-lesioned and intact rats. J Neurosci 2005, 25: 7393–7400.

·Review·

Contribution of NMDA receptors to dorsolateral prefrontal cortical networks in primates

Min Wang, Amy F T Arnsten

Department of Neurobiology, Yale Medical School, New Haven, CT 06510, USA Corresponding author: Min Wang. E-mail: Min.wang@yale.edu

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

Cognitive disorders such as schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease are associated with dysfunction of the highly evolved dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (dIPFC), and with changes in glutamatergic N-methyl-*D*-aspartate receptors (NMDARs). Recent research on the primate dIPFC discovered that the pyramidal cell circuits that generate the persistent firing underlying spatial working memory communicate through synapses on spines containing NMDARs with NR2B subunits (GluN2B) in the post-synaptic density. This contrasts with synapses in the hippocampus and primary visual cortex, where GluN2B receptors are both synaptic and extrasynaptic. Blockade of GluN2B in the dIPFC markedly reduces the persistent firing of the Delay cells needed for neuronal representations of visual space. Cholinergic stimulation of nicotinic α 7 receptors within the glutamate synapse is necessary for NMDAR actions. In contrast, α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors have only subtle effects on the persistent firing of Delay cells, but contribute substantially to the firing of Cue and Response cells. Systemic administration of the NMDAR antagonist ketamine reduces the persistent firing produced by ketamine may explain why this drug can mimic or worsen the cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia. Similar actions in the medial PFC circuits representing the emotional aspects of pain may contribute to the rapid analgesic and anti-depressant actions of ketamine.

Keywords: glutamate; Alzheimer's disease; schizophrenia; depression; ketamine

Introduction

Glutamate acts at a variety of ionotropic receptors, including α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPARs), kainate receptors, and N-methyl-*D*-aspartate receptors (NMDARs)^[1]. NMDARs have been of particular interest due to their unique properties: they require depolarization to relieve their Mg⁺⁺ block, and are permeable to Ca⁺⁺ that can initiate second-messenger signaling events, such as mediating neuroplasticity or negative feedback through Ca⁺⁺-sensitive K⁺ channels. NMDARs contain an NR1 subunit and a mixture of NR2A–D subunits that alter the functional properties of the receptor, e.g. NMDARs with NR2A subunits (GluN2A) are more sensitive and have faster kinetics, while those with NR2B subunits (GluN2B) have slower kinetics and can produce increased levels of calcium influx^[2]. As NMDARs are altered in cognitive disorders such as schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease, there has been increasing research on these receptors^[3, 4]. The highly-evolved dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (dIPFC) is only found in primates^[5] and subserves higher cognitive functions, especially those affected in these mental disorders^[6, 7]. The following review briefly summarizes new data demonstrating the key role of GluN2B receptors in the primate dIPFC, and how their actions in the dIPFC appear to differ from classical findings in the sensory cortex and hippocampus.

NMDAR and AMPAR Actions in Visual Cortex and Hippocampus

There have been extensive studies on the glutamate

NMDAR and AMPAR mechanisms underlying long-term synaptic plasticity in the primary visual cortex and in CA1 neurons of the hippocampus^[8-10]. Long-term plasticity is powerfully regulated by the levels of AMPAR expression: the number of AMPARs inserted into the post-synaptic density can mediate the degree of spine depolarization and thus the NMDAR opening. AMPAR membrane insertion leads to structural synaptic changes such as enlarging the spine head and shortening/thickening of the spine neck^[11, 12] to create a stable, mushroom-shaped spine and enduring strengthening of a synaptic connection^[13], and/ or the addition of new spines and synapses^[11]. Synaptic plasticity in the mature visual cortex appears to be governed by GluN2A subunits, which have faster kinetics than GluN2B. GluN2B receptors are expressed in synapses early in development, but many move to extra-synaptic locations in the mature visual cortex and hippocampus^[14]. In the hippocampus, there is some evidence that longterm potentiation (LTP) is mediated by synaptic GluN2A, while long-term depression is mediated by extrasynaptic GluN2B receptors^[8]. However, this finding is controversial. For example, there is increasing evidence that GluN2B receptors are also important for LTP in hippocampal neurons^[15-17]. In the mature visual cortex, long-term plastic changes in synapses appear to rely heavily on GluN2A, e.g. a selective GluN2A antagonist inhibits LTP induction, while neither a GluN2B antagonist^[18] nor the over-expression of GluN2B^[19] alters LTP in the visual cortex. The faster kinetics of GluN2A is well-suited to the rapid processing of continuous visual inputs and more faithful neuronal firing to sensory stimulation. Thus, it is appropriate that GluN2A actions predominate in visual cortical synapses.

NMDARs in Primate Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex

In contrast to sensory cortex, the dIPFC generates mental representations in the absence of sensory stimulation and these are the foundation of abstract thought. The dIPFC subserves working memory: the ability to keep information in mind and use these representations to provide top-down guidance of behavior, thought, and emotion. Working memory is active and relevant only for a short period of time, usually on the scale of seconds. This capability is a basic building block for more complex dIPFC cognitive operations. Working memory contrasts with long-term memory consolidation: it is a momentary, ever-changing pattern of recurrent activation of relatively stable architectural networks, while long-term memory consolidation retains events as structural changes in synapses. It is not surprising that the circuitry and modulation of working memory differ from those of longterm memory consolidation.

The visuo-spatial working memory operations of the dIPFC in monkeys are among the best understood. Much of the data arose from studies using a spatial working memory task termed the oculomotor delayed response (ODR) (Fig. 1). In this task, the monkey fixates on a center spot, while a cue appears briefly in one of eight possible locations. The monkey must remember the cue location over a delay period of several seconds. At the end of the delay period, the monkey makes an eye movement to the remembered location to receive a juice reward. The location of the cue randomly changes from trial to trial, thus requiring constant updating of the contents of working memory. The dIPFC is needed to perform this working memory task, and even small lesions in this area can produce permanent deficits in performance^[20]. Neuronal recordings from the dIPFC in monkeys performing a spatial working memory task have found neurons that fire to the Cue and/or to the Response, but also neurons that are able to maintain spatially-tuned, persistent activity across the delay period^[21]. This delayrelated persistent activity has been considered to be the neuronal mechanism of working memory due to the following features^[22]: first, this neuronal activity persists during the time period when a representation needs to be remembered; second, sustained neuronal activity ceases when a memory-guided response has been generated and the representation is no longer needed; third, when activity does not persist throughout the delay period, behavioral performance is compromised; and fourth, the persistent activity is direction-selective. The pioneering work of Goldman-Rakic revealed that this persistent memory-related activity is generated by the recurrent excitation of pyramidal cells interconnecting on dendritic spines in deep layer III of the dIPFC^[23]. Computational models have predicted that this persistent memoryrelated activity requires stimulation of NMDARs rather than AMPARs^[24], and that the slow kinetics of GluN2B receptors is particularly well-suited to persistent dIPFC network firing in the absence of sensory stimulation^[25]. In



Fig. 1. The actions of NMDARs on the dIPFC neuronal circuitry underlying spatial working memory in primates. A. The spatial oculomotor delayed response (ODR) task. Trials begin when the monkey fixates on a central point for 0.5 s. A cue is presented in 1 of 8 possible locations for 0.5 s, followed by a 2.5-s delay period. When the fixation point is extinguished, the monkey makes a saccade to the location of the remembered cue. The position of the cue changes on each trial in a quasi-random manner, thus requiring the constant updating of working memory stores. B. The region of monkey dIPFC where recordings were made. PS, principal sulcus; AS, arcuate sulcus. C. The deep layer III microcircuits subserving spatially-tuned, persistent firing during the delay period. B, GABAergic basket cell. D. Working model of a glutamate synapse on a spine in layer III of the dIPFC. Glutamate stimulates NMDAR-NR2B receptors in the post-synaptic density, while AMPARs have only subtle actions. Permissive, depolarizing effects for NMDAR actions appear to be mediated by cholinergic stimulation of nicotinic (nic)-α7Rs, which are also localized in the synapse. Ca⁺⁺ entry through NMDAR-NR2B may provide negative feedback by facilitating internal Ca⁺⁺ release from the spine apparatus (asterisk); feedforward Ca⁺⁺-cAMP signaling opens nearby K⁺ channels to weaken synaptic efficacy and reduce firing. E. An example of an individual dIPFC Delay cell under control conditions and following iontophoresis of the NMDAR antagonist MK801 (25 nA). The rasters and histograms show firing patterns of the neuron's preferred direction and the non-preferred direction opposite to it. Iontophoresis of MK801 markedly reduced task-related firing, which returned towards control levels when delivery of MK801 was stopped (Recovery; P <0.05). F. Average responses showing the mean + SEM firing patterns of 15 dIPFC Delay cells for their preferred versus non-preferred directions under control conditions (blue) and following iontophoresis of MK801 (red). MK801 markedly suppressed task-related firing, especially for the neurons' preferred direction.

contrast, the faster kinetics of AMPARs leads to dynamic instability and network collapse^[24]. Consistent with computational predictions, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have found a prominent role of GluN2B neuronal firing in the PFC. Recordings from rat brain slices have shown

more extensive expression of GluN2B in the medial PFC than in the primary visual cortex^[26]. A more recent study of the primate dIPFC revealed GluN2B in synapses and that the GluN2B receptor mediates the persistent firing of dIPFC networks in monkeys performing a spatial working
memory task^[27]. Immunoelectron microscopy demonstrated that GluN2B is localized exclusively within the postsynaptic densities of layer III dIPFC excitatory synapses on spines, with no evidence of extra-synaptic labeling. Singleunit recordings coupled with iontophoresis in monkeys performing the ODR task showed that the persistent activity of dIPFC neurons is highly dependent on NMDARs, including GluN2B. Iontophoretic blockade of all NMDARs using the antagonist MK801 completely suppresses taskrelated neuronal firing (Fig. 1). Similarly, blocking GluN2B receptors by iontophoresis of Ro25-6981 produces a marked loss of persistent neuronal firing, and blockade of GluN2A receptors also reduces firing. In contrast, blockade of AMPARs with CNQX/NBQX has only subtle effects on memory-related firing, reducing persistent firing in a small portion of the delay period. AMPAR blockade does alter the firing of sensory neurons in the dIPFC, i.e. it reduces the firing of Cue cells and Post-saccadic Response "feedback" cells. However, the neurons that generate representations of visual space are much more affected by NMDAR than by AMPAR blockade. Interestingly, systemic administration of the NMDAR antagonist ketamine reduces the firing of Delay cells, but increases the firing of Post-saccadic Response neurons (ibid). These results are consistent with the reliance of Delay cells on NMDARs, while the Post-

If AMPARs have little effect on dIPFC Delay neurons, what depolarizes the membrane and relieves the Mg⁺⁺ block in NMDARs? In the primate dIPFC, these permissive actions appear to be mediated by cholinergic stimulation of nicotinic α 7 receptors (nic- α 7Rs), rather than AMPARs. Nic-a7Rs are localized in and next to the postsynaptic density in glutamate synapses on spines, and blockade of nic-α7Rs prevents the excitatory actions of NMDA^[28]. As acetylcholine is released during wakefulness but not deep sleep, nic-a7R stimulation may permit conscious thought in the waking state. Thus, in the dIPFC, neuronal networks communicate based on arousal state, while in sensory cortex and the hippocampus, NMDAR actions are based on levels of circuit activity, i.e. glutamate release onto AMPARs. Thus, deficits in either NMDAR or nic-α7R signaling weaken dIPFC function.

saccadic Response cells have a large AMPAR influence.

Finally, Ca⁺⁺ entry through activated NMDARs may contribute to negative feedback to prevent seizures in

recurrent excitatory networks. As schematically illustrated in Figure 1, many spines in layer III of the dIPFC contain a spine apparatus, the Ca⁺⁺-storing endoplasmic reticulum extended into the spine that is elaborated near the synapse. Accumulating evidence indicates that feedforward Ca⁺⁺-cAMP signaling opens nearby K⁺ channels on dendritic spines to decrease synaptic efficacy and reduce neuronal firing (reviewed in ^[29]). Future research is needed to determine whether high levels of Ca⁺⁺ entry through GluN2B receptors activate these intracellular pathways.

Relevance to Mental Illness

A variety of cognitive disorders are associated with altered NMDAR signaling. For example, NMDARs are internalized by β -amyloid oligomers in Alzheimer's disease, and this effect occurs in association with nic-a7Rs^[30]. Schizophrenia is also linked to genetic insults that weaken NMDAR^[31, 32] and nic-α7R^[33] signaling. Post-mortem studies have indicated altered GluN2B expression and trafficking^[3, 34], including links between allelic changes in GluN2B and impaired reasoning in patients with schizophrenia^[35]. There is also accumulating evidence that genetic insults to NMDAR and NMDAR-related synaptic proteins are associated with an increased risk of schizophrenia^[32, 36, 37]. The NMDAR antagonist ketamine has been used to model the cognitive deficits of schizophrenia, reducing the blood oxygenation level-dependent response during the delay period of a working memory task in healthy human individuals^[38, 39] similar to that seen in patients with schizophrenia^[40]. In contrast, the hyperglutamate theories of schizophrenia based on rodent models^[41] likely relate to the increased Post-saccadic Response "feedback" cell firing induced by the systemic administration of NMDA antagonists.

In contrast to schizophrenia, where ketamine worsens the symptoms^[42], acute ketamine treatment rapidly ameliorates the symptoms in some patients with treatmentresistant depression^[43-46], bringing relief within minutes following intra-nasal application^[47, 48]. The positive response to ketamine in severely depressed patients has been related to their anterior cingulate response to fearful faces before treatment^[49]. Neurons in the anterior cingulate of monkeys have been shown to represent negative emotions

such as symbolic punishment^[50], as well as loss of expected rewards^[51]. Thus, it is possible that ketamine treatment is helpful in treating depressive symptoms by reducing the firing of NMDAR-dependent, recurrent excitatory circuits in the anterior cingulate and/or in other ventromedial PFC circuits (e.g. Brodmann's area 25^[52]) that represent negative emotions and instigate mental suffering. Interrupting the activity of these circuits might underlie the immediate beneficial effects of ketamine in some patients, prior to the regrowth of dendritic spines^[53] that may underlie more prolonged beneficial actions. Decreased firing of neurons in the anterior cingulate and area 25 may also underlie the rapid relief of pain by intranasal ketamine (within 5-25 min)^[54], as these medial PFC areas are part of the circuits that process the emotional response to painful events^[55, 56]. Since intra-nasal ketamine relieves physical pain within minutes^[54, 57, 58], it thus may relieve "psychic pain" as well. More research is needed to determine whether NMDARs mediate medial PFC circuits in primates similar to their actions in the dIPFC circuits representing visual space.

Conclusion

New research on the primate dIPFC indicates that GluN2B receptors play a prominent role in the generation of mental representations needed for abstract thought. The data suggest that cholinergic actions at nic- α 7Rs are permissive for NMDA synaptic activity, and for the dIPFC network representation of visual space. These data underscore why changes in NMDAR or nic- α 7R signaling in diseases such as schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease have such devastating effects on higher cognition. The unique properties of these dIPFC circuits must be considered in order to design effective treatments for cognitive disorders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This review was supported by the National Institutes of Health, USA (R01 MH 09335401 and PO1 AG030004), and a New Investigator Research Grant from the Alzheimer's Association.

Received date: 2014-06-07; Accepted date: 2014-09-20

REFERENCES

[1] Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, Traynelis SF. The

glutamate receptor ion channels. Pharmacol Rev 1999, 51: 7-61.

- [2] Erreger K, Dravid SM, Banke TG, Wyllie DJ, Traynelis SF. Subunit-specific gating controls rat NR1/NR2A and NR1/ NR2B NMDA channel kinetics and synaptic signalling profiles. J Physiol 2005, 563: 345–358.
- [3] Kristiansen LV, Bakir B, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff JH. Expression of the NR2B-NMDA receptor trafficking complex in prefrontal cortex from a group of elderly patients with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2010, 119: 198–209.
- [4] Kurup P, Zhang Y, Xu J, Venkitaramani DV, Haroutunian V, Greengard P, et al. Abeta-mediated NMDA receptor endocytosis in Alzheimer's disease involves ubiquitination of the tyrosine phosphatase STEP61. J Neurosci 2010, 30: 5948–5957.
- [5] Preuss T. Do rats have prefrontal cortex? The Rose-Woolsey-Akert program reconsidered. J Cogn Neurosci 1995, 7: 1–26.
- [6] Goldman-Rakic PS. Working memory dysfunction in schizophrenia. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 1994, 6: 348–357.
- [7] Lim HK, Juh R, Pae CU, Lee BT, Yoo SS, Ryu SH, et al. Altered verbal working memory process in patients with Alzheimer's disease: an fMRI investigation. Neuropsychobiology 2008, 57: 181–187.
- [8] Liu L, Wong TP, Pozza MF, Lingenhoehl K, Wang Y, Sheng M, et al. Role of NMDA receptor subtypes in governing the direction of hippocampal synaptic plasticity. Science 2004, 304: 1021–1024.
- [9] Cho KK, Khibnik L, Philpot BD, Bear MF. The ratio of NR2A/ B NMDA receptor subunits determines the qualities of ocular dominance plasticity in visual cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009, 106: 5377–5382.
- [10] Lüscher C, Malenka RC. NMDA receptor-dependent longterm potentiation and long-term depression (LTP/LTD). Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2012, 4: pii: a005710.
- [11] Yuste R, Bonhoeffer T. Morphological changes in dendritic spines associated with long-term synaptic plasticity. Annu Rev Neurosci 2001, 24: 1071–1089.
- [12] Tashiro A, Yuste R. Regulation of dendritic spine motility and stability by Rac1 and Rho kinase: evidence for two forms of spine motility. Mol Cell Neurosci 2004, 26: 429–440.
- [13] Araya R, Jiang J, Eisenthal KB, Yuste R. The spine neck filters membrane potentials. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006, 103: 17961–17966.
- [14] Goebel-Goody SM, Davies KD, Alvestad Linger RM, Freund RK, Browning MD. Phospho-regulation of synaptic and extrasynaptic N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors in adult hippocampal slices. Neuroscience 2009, 158: 1446–1459.
- [15] Baez MV, Oberholzer MV, Cercato MC, Snitcofsky M, Aguirre AI, Jerusalinsky DA. NMDA receptor subunits in the adult

rat hippocampus undergo similar changes after 5 minutes in an open field and after LTP induction. PLoS One 2013, 8: e55244.

- [16] Shipton OA, Paulsen O. GluN2A and GluN2B subunitcontaining NMDA receptors in hippocampal plasticity. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 2013, 369: 20130163.
- [17] Dupuis JP, Ladépêche L, Seth H, Bard L, Varela J, Mikasova L, et al. Surface dynamics of GluN2B-NMDA receptors controls plasticity of maturing glutamate synapses. EMBO J 2014, 33: 842–861.
- [18] Liu XB, Murray KD, Jones EG. Switching of NMDA receptor 2A and 2B subunits at thalamic and cortical synapses during early postnatal development. J Neurosci 2004, 24: 8885– 8895.
- [19] Philpot BD, Weisberg MP, Ramos MS, Sawtell NB, Tang YP, Tsien JZ, et al. Effect of transgenic overexpression of NR2B on NMDA receptor function and synaptic plasticity in visual cortex. Neuropharmacology 2001, 41: 762–770.
- [20] Goldman PS, Rosvold HE. Localization of function within the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of the rhesus monkey. Exp Neurol 1970, 27: 291–304.
- [21] Funahashi S, Bruce CJ, Goldman-Rakic PS. Mnemonic coding of visual space in the monkey's dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. J. Neurophysiology 1989, 61: 331–349.
- [22] Goldman-Rakic PS. The "psychic cell" of Ramón y Cajal. Prog Brain Res 2002, 136: 427–434.
- [23] Goldman-Rakic PS. Cellular basis of working memory. Neuron 1995, 14: 477-485.
- [24] Wang XJ. Synaptic basis of cortical persistent activity: the importance of NMDA receptors to working memory. J Neurosci 1999, 19: 9587–9603.
- [25] Wang XJ. Synaptic reverberation underlying mnemonic persistent activity. Trends in Neurosci 2001, 24: 455–463.
- [26] Wang H, Stradtman GGr, Wang XJ, Gao WJ. A specialized NMDA receptor function in layer 5 recurrent microcircuitry of the adult rat prefrontal cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008, 105: 16791-16796.
- [27] Wang MJ, Yang Y, Wang CJ, Gamo NJ, Jin LE, Mazer JA, et al. NMDA receptors subserve working memory persistent neuronal firing In dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Neuron 2013, 77: 736–749.
- [28] Yang Y, Paspalas CD, Jin LE, Picciotto MR, Arnsten AFT, Wang M. Nicotinic α7 receptors enhance NMDA cognitive circuits in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 2013, 110: 12078–83.
- [29] Arnsten AFT, Wang MJ, Paspalas CD. Neuromodulation of thought: Flexibilities and vulnerabilities in prefrontal cortical network synapses. Neuron 2012, 76: 223–239.
- [30] Snyder EM, Nong Y, Almeida CG, Paul S, Moran TH, Choi EY, *et al.* Regulation of NMDA receptor trafficking by

amyloid-beta. Nat Neurosci 2005, 8: 1051-1058.

- [31] Javitt DC. Glutamatergic theories of schizophrenia. Isr J Psychiatry Relat Sci 2010, 47: 4–16.
- [32] Banerjee A, Macdonald ML, Borgmann-Winter KE, Hahn CG. Neuregulin 1-erbB4 pathway in schizophrenia: From genes to an interactome. Brain Res Bull 2010, 30: 132–139.
- [33] Martin LF, Freedman R. Schizophrenia and the alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. Int Rev Neurobiol 2007, 78: 225–246.
- [34] Kristiansen LV, Patel SA, Haroutunian VH, Meador-Woodruff JH. Expression of the NR2B-NMDA receptor subunit and its Tbr-1/CINAP regulatory proteins in postmortem brain suggest altered receptor processing in schizophrenia. Synapse 2010, 64: 495–502.
- [35] Weickert CS, Fung SJ, Catts VS, Schofield PR, Allen KM, Moore LT, et al. Molecular evidence of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor hypofunction in schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 2013, 18: 1185–1192.
- [36] Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. Biological insights from 108 schizophreniaassociated genetic loci. Nature 2014, 511: 421–427.
- [37] Fromer M, Pocklington AJ, Kavanagh DH, Williams HJ, Dwyer S, Gormley P, *et al*. De novo mutations in schizophrenia implicate synaptic networks. Nature 2014, 506: 179–184.
- [38] Driesen NR, McCarthy G, Bhagwagar Z, Bloch MH, Calhoun VD, D'Souza DC, et al. The impact of NMDA receptor blockade on human working memory-related prefrontal function and connectivity. Neuropsychopharmacology 2013, 38: 2613–2622.
- [39] Anticevic A, Gancsos M, Murray JD, Repovs G, Driesen NR, Ennis DJ, et al. NMDA receptor function in large-scale anticorrelated neural systems with implications for cognition and schizophrenia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012, 109: 16720–16725.
- [40] Driesen NR, Leung HC, Calhoun VD, Constable RT, Gueorguieva R, Hoffman R, et al. Impairment of working memory maintenance and response in schizophrenia: functional magnetic resonance imaging evidence. Biol Psychiatry 2008, 64: 1026–1034.
- [41] Jackson ME, Homayoun H, Moghaddam B. NMDA receptor hypofunction produces concomitant firing rate potentiation and burst activity reduction in the prefrontal cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004, 101: 8467–8472.
- [42] Malhotra AK, Pinals DA, Adler CM, Elman I, Clifton A, Pickar D, et al. Ketamine-induced exacerbation of psychotic symptoms and cognitive impairment in neuroleptic-free schizophrenics. Neuropsychopharmacology 1997, 17: 141–150.
- [43] Berman RM, Cappiello A, Anand A, Oren DA, Heninger GR, Charney DS, et al. Antidepressant effects of ketamine in

depressed patients. Biol Psychiatry 2000, 47: 351-354.

- [44] Zarate CAJ, Singh JB, Carlson PJ, Brutsche NE, Ameli R, Luckenbaugh DA, et al. A randomized trial of an N-methyl-Daspartate antagonist in treatment-resistant major depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2006, 63: 856–864.
- [45] Murrough JW, Iosifescu DV, Chang LC, Al Jurdi RK, Green CE, Perez AM, et al. Antidepressant efficacy of ketamine in treatment-resistant major depression: a two-site randomized controlled trial. Am J Psychiatry 2013, 170: 1134–1142.
- [46] Murrough JW, Perez AM, Pillemer S, Stern J, Parides MK, aan het Rot M, et al. Rapid and longer-term antidepressant effects of repeated ketamine infusions in treatment-resistant major depression. Biol Psychiatry 2013, 74: 250–256.
- [47] Clark P. Treatment-refractory depression: A case of successful treatment with intranasal ketamine 10%. Ann Clin Psychiatry 2014, 26: 145.
- [48] Lapidus KA, Levitch CF, Perez AM, Brallier JW, Parides MK, Soleimani L, et al. A randomized controlled trial of intranasal ketamine in major depressive disorder. Biol Psychiatry 2014, 76: 970–976.
- [49] Salvadore G, Cornwell BR, Colon-Rosario V, Coppola R, Grillon C, Zarate CAJ, et al. Increased anterior cingulate cortical activity in response to fearful faces: a neurophysiological biomarker that predicts rapid antidepressant response to ketamine. Biol Psychiatry 2009, 65: 289–295.
- [50] Seo H, Lee D. Behavioral and neural changes after gains and losses of conditioned reinforcers. J Neurosci 2009, 29: 3627–3641.

- [51] Rushworth MF, Behrens TE. Choice, uncertainty and value in prefrontal and cingulate cortex. Nat Neurosci 2008, 4: 389–397.
- [52] Mayberg HS, Lozano AM, Voon V, McNeely HE, Seminowicz D, Hamani C, et al. Deep brain stimulation for treatmentresistant depression. Neuron 2005, 45: 651–660.
- [53] Li N, Lee BT, Liu RJ, Banasr M, Dwyer JM, Iwata M, et al. mTOR-dependent synapse formation underlies the rapid antidepressant effects of NMDA antagonists. Science 2010, 329: 959–964.
- [54] Andolfatto G, Willman E, Joo D, Miller PL, Wong WB, Koehn M, et al. Intranasal ketamine for analgesia in the emergency department: a prospective observational series. Acad Emerg Med 2013, 20: 1050–1054.
- [55] Vogt BA, Sikes RW. The medial pain system, cingulate cortex, and parallel processing of nociceptive information. Prog Brain Res 2000, 22: 223–235.
- [56] Bushnell MC, Ceko M, Low LA. Cognitive and emotional control of pain and its disruption in chronic pain. Nat Rev Neurosci 2013, 14: 502–511.
- [57] Yeaman F, Meek R, Egerton-Warburton D, Rosengarten P, Graudins A. Sub-dissociative-dose intranasal ketamine for moderate to severe pain in adult emergency department patients. Emerg Med Australas 2014, 26: 237–242.
- [58] McCarty EC, Mencio GA, Walker LA, Green NE. Ketamine sedation for the reduction of children's fractures in the emergency department. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2000, 82-A: 912–918.

·Review·

Exploring prefrontal cortex functions in healthy humans by transcranial electrical stimulation

Min-Fang Kuo, Michael A. Nitsche

Department of Clinical Neurophysiology, University Medical Center, Georg-August-University, Goettingen 37075, Germany Corresponding author: Michael A. Nitsche. E-mail: mnitsch1@gwdg.de

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

The prefrontal cortex is involved in a multitude of cognitive, emotional, motivational, and social processes, so exploring its specific functions is crucial for understanding human experience and behavior. Functional imaging approaches have largely contributed to the enhancement of our understanding, but might have limitations in establishing causal relationships between physiology and the related psychological and behavioral processes. Non-invasive electrical stimulation with direct or alternating currents can help to enhance our understanding with regard to specific processes, and might provide future protocols able to improve them in case of malfunctions. We review the current state of the field, and provide an outlook for future developments.

Keywords: affective disorders; brain stimulation; frontal lobe

Introduction

The prefrontal cortex is a compartment of the human brain involved in highly diverse processes, ranging from cognition, motivation, emotion, and complex motor activity to social interactions^[1-6]. Disturbances of prefrontal functions are involved in a multitude of neuropsychiatric diseases, including depression, schizophrenia, addiction, dementia, and Parkinson's disease^[7-11]. Thus understanding the complexity of prefrontal physiology is of crucial importance to understand human experience and behavior in health and disease.

Non-invasive imaging approaches, such as functional magnetic resonance tomography, positron emission tomography, and encephalographic (EEG) techniques, have largely facilitated our understanding of human prefrontal functions in the last years. These methods allow identification of cortical activity and excitability changes associated with functions. However, with these techniques it is often difficult to draw conclusions about the causal relationships between the respective processes. To this end, a combination of functional imaging and methods that modulate physiology, such as cortical excitability, activity,

plasticity, and oscillations, might be helpful. If modulation of physiological processes results in functional alterations, a causal relationship can be assumed. In the last years, a couple of such stimulation protocols have become available, allowing non-invasive modulation of brain activity and excitability, and thus are principally suited to serve this aim^[12-15]. In this review, we give an overview of the principal mechanisms of the tools, and their applications for the exploration of prefrontal functions.

Physiology of Transcranial Electrical Stimulation

Transcranial direct current and alternating-current stimulation (tDCS and tACS) refer to the application of relatively weak currents to the brain *via* scalp electrodes. Specifically, tDCS is the tonic application of constant direct current, and tACS refers to symmetrical oscillatory stimulation. In the case of tDCS, the resulting current flow in the brain induces a subthreshold alteration of neuronal resting membrane potentials, which alters cortical excitability and activity, dependent on the direction of current flow. In the model of the human motor cortex, anodal tDCS enhances, while cathodal tDCS reduces excitability^[16-18]. Whereas the effects of brief stimulation lasting for a few seconds seem to be solely based on membrane potential changes, longer-lasting stimulation for a few minutes induces lasting changes in cortical excitability, which can be stable for about one hour or even longer. These neuroplastic after-effects are assumed to be caused by a change in the strength of glutamatergic synapses, are calcium-dependent^[19,20], and thus share some similarities with long-term potentiation and depression, as found in animal studies^[21].

The primary mechanism of tACS is assumed to be similar to that of tDCS, namely a sub-threshold alteration of resting membrane potential, whose direction depends on the direction of current flow. Different from tDCS, tACS has no major plasticity-inducing effect^[22], although recent studies suggest that exceptions do exist^[23]. Modelling and animal and human studies have shown that relatively focal AC stimulation can lead to widespread entrainment of oscillatory activity at the induced frequency^[24,25]. The main effect of tACS in humans is a modulation of oscillatory frequency bands in the EEG, if these match the stimulation frequency. For instance, tACS at alpha frequency enhances activity in the visual cortex, and results in excitability alterations^[26,27]. Thus the main functional effect of tACS seems to be a modulation of cortical oscillations. In this way, tACS is qualitatively different from tDCS.

Cognitive Functions in the Context of Prefrontal

Processing

Working Memory

The dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) is critically involved in working memory, as suggested by task-related activation of this area during performance^[28]. In particular, the left DLPFC is relevant for verbal working memory, as explored by testing performance in an *n*-back task with excitability-enhancing anodal tDCS over the left DLPFC. In accordance with the hypothesis, tDCS improved performance, as compared to sham stimulation^[29]. In a related working memory task, the beneficial effects of anodal tDCS on performance accuracy developed during stimulation, and were stable for up to 30 min after the completion of stimulation^[30]. Zaehle and co-workers^[31] described similar positive effects of left prefrontal anodal tDCS on response accuracy in an *n*-back working memory task, while cathodal tDCS disturbed performance. Interestingly, anodal tDCS enhanced alpha and theta activity in parallel, while cathodal tDCS had opposite effects, thus offering a plausible physiological substrate for the effects of tDCS on performance.

While the above studies report accuracy enhancements by prefrontal stimulation, other studies have reported only improvement of reaction time in related tasks^[32,33], possibly due to different stimulation protocols (tDCS applied before task performance), or ceiling effects. Recent studies suggest that the specific effects also depend in a non-linear fashion on stimulation intensity^[34], interindividual anatomical and demographic differences^[35-37], and task phase (learning versus overlearned^[38]), and that left prefrontal anodal tDCS can also improve performance in other working memory tasks^[39]. Given the performancerelated alteration of oscillatory activity^[31,40], the contribution of theta activity to working memory performance was explored in subsequent studies. Left dorsolateral prefrontal oscillatory stimulation within the theta frequency range, as well as bilateral stimulation of the DLPFC, improved working memory^[40,41]. Moreover, Polania and co-workers have described task-related synchronization in the theta range in the left parietal and prefrontal areas during an n-back task. Testing the causal relevance of this synchronization to performance, they showed that synchronized tACS in both areas improved, but desynchronized activation impaired performance (Fig. 1). This effect is specific for the theta frequency band^[40]. Therefore it can be concluded that synchronized activity in the theta frequency range between task-related activated areas is critical for working memory performance. A recent study has elucidated more closely the specific contribution of oscillatory activity in the prefrontal cortex to working memory performance, showing that decoding of oscillatory activity in the gamma frequency range allows the identification of stored information^[42].

Apart from working memory, the prefrontal cortex also participates in many other cognitive processes such as attention, long-term memory, complex problem-solving, and decision-making. However, the number of studies exploring the contribution of the prefrontal cortex to these functions *via* tDCS/tACS is limited so far.

Attention

Excitability-enhancing tDCS of the left DLPFC has been



shown to improve performance in the Stroop task^[39]. Thus this area seems to be involved in attentional setshifting. In addition, tDCS of the DLPFC seems to have beneficial effects on sustained attention^[43]. A recent study showed that anodal tDCS has heterogeneous effects on set-shifting in a parametric Go/No-Go test with regard to the carrier status of the catechol-O-methyltransferase Val158Met polymorphism^[44], which provides for the first time evidence for state-dependence of the effect of prefrontal activation on performance.

Long-Term Memory

With regard to long-term memory processes, Javadi and Walsh^[45] have described the role of the left DLPFC in word memorization: anodal tDCS improves encoding and trend-wise recognition, whereas cathodal stimulation impairs recognition. In accord, anodal tDCS of this area



Fig. 1. Prefrontal-parietal interaction during working memory performance. (A) Participants performed an *n*-letter back task. (B) Activity in the theta frequency band increased ~200 ms after stimulus presentation in the left parietal and prefrontal cortices, as shown by the weighted phase-lag index (WPLI). (C) Theta phase synchronization between both areas for one trial. (D) Synchronized tACS of the left parietal and prefrontal cortices reduced reaction time relative to sham stimulation, while desynchronized tACS prolonged it. (E) This effect was not present for a stimulation frequency of 35 Hz. Error bars represent SEM; 'P <0.05, "P <0.01 (adapted with permission from Polanía *et al.*, Curr Biol^[40]).

improves the re-consolidation of learned verbal material^[46], and improves performance when applied during word retrieval^[47]. These results propose an involvement of the DLPFC in different phases of long-term memory formation and the retrieval of learned material.

Problem-Solving

Some tDCS studies have suggested an involvement of the prefrontal cortex in problem-solving. For example, Cerruti and Schlaug^[48] described an improving effect of anodal tDCS of the left DLPFC on complex verbal associative thought. Another study showed that solution recognition of difficult problems is improved by anodal tDCS over the same area^[49]. Interestingly, tDCS over the left DLPFC has a performance phase-specific effect in the Tower of London task, which involves strategic planning. In detail, cathodal tDCS improves task performance when applied during the

early acquisition phase, probably due to its reducing effect on distractive cortical noise, whereas anodal stimulation improves performance when applied in the later stages, presumably *via* its activity-enhancing effect on task-related neuronal activity^[50]. It has been suggested that prefrontal gamma activity is relevant for performance of this kind of task, and indeed tACS in the gamma frequency range seems to improve fluid intelligence^[51].

Decision-Making

Prefrontal areas also seem to be involved in decisionmaking. Bilateral activity modulation of the DLPFC by tDCS reduces risky behavior in a decision task, most probably by altering bihemispheric activity balance, because unilateral stimulation has no effect^[52]. In a related task, however, only anodal right/cathodal left stimulation improved performance^[53], which is compatible with a risk-avoiding impact of right prefrontal activity. In older participants however, the same electrode arrangement results in more risky behavior, which is possibly caused by age-dependent differences in prefrontal information-processing^[54]. The results of a related study conducted by Pripfl and coworkers^[55] show different effects of tDCS in risky decisionmaking dependent on the inclusion of emotional content and smoking state, which hints at the impact of task characteristics and personality factors on informationprocessing in the prefrontal cortex. In another risk-taking task, however, the same electrode arrangement did not modulate risky behavior, but enhanced confidence in the decision, which shows that evaluative aspects of a decision are also under prefrontal control^[56].

Social Cognition

The prefrontal cortex is also involved in social cognitive processes. Knoch and co-workers^[57] have explored the importance of the right DLPFC for performance in the ultimatum game. In this game, a fixed monetary reward has to be split between two participants, one of whom (the proposer) proposes how to split the amount of money, and the other (the responder) can accept or reject the offer. If the responder accepts the offer, he/she gets the money as proposed; if not, he/she gets nothing. The conflicting aspects involved in decision-making are the perception of unfairness and economic self-interest. In line with the hypothesis that the right DLPFC is associated with social decision-making, especially with regard to emotion-

based control processes, cathodal stimulation of the right prefrontal cortex, which is involved in the generation of negative emotions, increases the acceptance rate of unfair offers. Recently, the role of the right prefrontal cortex in decision-making was explored in a similar game from the perspective of the proposing participant^[58]. The results showed that anodal tDCS of this area improves normcompliant behavior, but cathodal stimulation selectively reduces it when unfair behavior is expected to be punished by a human counterpart. Interestingly, these behavioral changes are not accompanied by related changes in the rating of fairness, or expected punishment. In addition, these effects are substantially weaker in a non-social scenario version of the game, in which the counterpart is a computer, showing that these effects are specific for social norm-compliant behavior.

Taken together, the results of these studies underscore the role of the prefrontal cortex in a multitude of cognitive functions. So far, the DLPFC has been chosen most often as the target of stimulation, probably because it is relatively easily accessed by non-invasive brain stimulation and has been closely associated with many cognitive processes by functional imaging methods. Exactly how stimulation alters prefrontal information processing has not been explored in much detail so far, maybe with the exception of working memory, and is an important future endeavor. Interestingly, some studies have reported that identical stimulation protocols have distinct effects depending on demographic and personality factors, as well as task characteristics. Given the complex anatomy, physiology, and pharmacology of this brain area, this is not surprising. Closer identification of the contributions of these factors might help to unravel the mechanisms of prefrontal information processing in greater detail in future studies.

Emotional Processes

It is well established that the prefrontal cortex is part of the neuronal networks involved in mood and emotion processing. In healthy individuals, the ventromedial and inferior-medial prefrontal cortex seems to be prominently involved in self-referenced affective state^[59,60], whereas the DLPFC is more important for processing stimuli without self-referential emotional content, e.g. faces or visual scenes^[61-63]. However, this distinction seems to be gradual and might reflect the fact that the medial prefrontal cortex is generally more heavily involved in emotional, and the lateral prefrontal cortex in cognitive processing, but both functional properties substantially overlap^[60]. In addition, a hemispherical difference in the processing of positive and negative emotional content has been described. Happy mood and positive emotional stimuli induce predominant left DLPFC activity^[62,64,65]. Accordingly, lesions of the left prefrontal cortex by stroke, tumors, or epilepsy are often accompanied by depression, while lesions of the right prefrontal cortex are associated with elated mood^[66-68]. Also, clinical depression is associated with left DLPFC hypoactivity, while activity of the right prefrontal cortex might be increased^[69].

Some tDCS studies have been performed to disentangle the causal contribution of the prefrontal cortex to the experience of emotion, and emotion-related information processing in healthy humans. From their results, tDCS of the DLPFC does not modify mood in healthy individuals^[70,71]. With regard to information-processing that includes emotional content, however, the DLPFC seems to be involved. tDCS of the left DLPFC and the right frontopolar cortex improves identification of faces displaying nonneutral mimics independent of stimulation polarity, as compared to sham stimulation (Fig. 2)^[70]. Moreover, emotionally aversive faces are rated less unpleasant with anodal stimulation of the left DLPFC^[72]. The same stimulation protocol also reduces the emotional valence of negative pictures^[73,74]. In the latter studies, this was associated with higher beta and lower alpha EEG activity, and introversion was positively associated with the efficacy of stimulation. For positive affective stimuli, anodal stimulation of the left DLPFC also improves reaction times, and increases the amplitude of relevant event-related potentials^[75]. Beyond perceptual and evaluative emotionassociated information processing, the DLPFC seems also to be involved in emotion regulation. In a task in which the participants are instructed to downregulate or upregulate emotional responses to the presentation of negative or neutral pictures, anodal tDCS of the right DLPFC improves the amount of intended emotion regulation^[76]. Finally, anodal tDCS over the right DLPFC combined with left frontopolar cathodal tDCS applied in the re-consolidation phase of a fear-conditioning paradigm improves fear memories, which is in accord with an involvement of the prefrontal cortices in fear memory consolidation^[77].

In general, the results of these studies support the assumption that prefrontal areas are involved in the processing of emotional information at different levels of complexity, ranging from perception to memory. Further, some pilot studies suggest that relevant alterations are associated with physiological changes in event-related potentials and EEG activity. Most of the studies have been performed with regard to the contribution of the DLPFC. For ventromedial and frontobasal areas that might be more closely associated with emotion generation, no studies are available so far. While this might be due to the fact that these areas are less accessible to non-invasive brain stimulation techniques, this might nevertheless be an important future endeavor.

Concluding Remarks

The prefrontal cortex has been implicated in a multitude of psychological processes, including cognition and emotion. Since functional imaging and EEG approaches are in many cases not well-suited to establishing causal connections between physiological and psychological processes, brain stimulation is a potentially attractive approach to drawing conclusions. tDCS and tACS have been introduced to modulate task-dependent cortical activity and excitability changes. Indeed, many studies in healthy humans have shown that both tools can be used to modulate psychological functions and physiological processes. While the results of these studies have improved our knowledge of prefrontal functions, many questions are still unanswered, and these should be topics for future studies.

Most stimulation protocols so far have explored the functions of the DLPFC, most probably because it is relatively easy to access. The functions of other areas such as the ventromedial or orbitofrontal cortices in emotional processes are also worth studying. Modelling approaches might offer options to tackle these areas more selectively^[78]. A related potential shortcoming is the use of relatively large electrodes, and bipolar electrode montages, which limit the specificity of stimulation effects. Also, advanced stimulation protocols, e.g. using smaller stimulation electrodes, might be helpful^[79,80]. Moreover, combining measures of task performance with physiological outcome parameters *via*



Fig. 2. Alteration of emotion-based information-processing by prefrontal tDCS. (A) tDCS was applied to the left dorsolateral prefrontal and right frontopolar cortex. Polarity refers to the dorsolateral prefrontal electrode. Participants had to identify the position of a non-neutral facial emotional expression as rapidly as possible, and press the appropriate key repetitively before, during, and after anodal, cathodal, or sham tDCS (B). For positive (C), and negative (D) facial expressions, reaction times became faster during the course of the experiment, thus indicating learning of the task in all stimulation and emotional conditions. Under both real stimulation conditions and for both facial expressions, reaction time reductions became significantly faster than with placebo stimulation. For anodal tDCS, positive emotional facial expressions, anodal tDCS improved perception only during tDCS as compared to placebo stimulation. A minor effect can be seen for cathodal tDCS compared to placebo stimulation (p2 only). Filled symbols: significant reaction time differences relative to baseline values; asterisks: significant differences between anodal tDCS and placebo tDCS; hash symbols: significant differences between cathodal and placebo tDCS for a given time point (paired, two-tailed *t*-tests, *P* <0.05). Vertical bars indicate standard error of the mean. d, during; p1, immediately and 5 min; p2, 10 and 20 min; p3, 30 and 60 min after tDCS. Adapted with permission from Nitsche *et al.*, Front Psychiatry^[70].

simultaneous EEG, ERP, or functional imaging approaches, which is now technically possible, will further enhance our understanding of psychological-physiological interactions. In this connection, functional connectivity approaches might be especially helpful, since the respective psychological functions, and the effects of electrical stimulation, alter network functions^[40,81]. An emerging topic might be the elucidation of the foundation of inter-individual differences with regard to the efficacy of transcranial electric stimulation. Here, initial efforts have been made to explore trait- and state-dependency of the effects.

With regard to application aspects, it should be kept

in mind that the studies referred to in this review were not intended to induce maximally strong effects, but aimed to explore the contribution of certain cortical areas to psychological processes. So far, it is unknown to what degree tES can alter psychological functions. Likewise, the impact of tES on performance in a certain laboratory task does not necessarily imply that the same effects are achieved in everyday life, and – maybe more important – whether these effects would be meaningful. This applies also to clinical applications, where pathological changes of cortical excitability, activity, and pharmacology might alter the impact of brain stimulation as compared to healthy humans.

Received date: 2014-06-04; Accepted date: 2014-09-05

REFERENCES

- Briand LA, Gritton H, Howe WM, Young DA, Sarter M. Modulators in concert for cognition: modulator interactions in the prefrontal cortex. Prog Neurobiol 2007, 83: 69–91.
- [2] Courtin J, Bienvenu TC, Einarsson EÖ, Herry C. Medial prefrontal cortex neuronal circuits in fear behavior. Neuroscience 2013, 240: 219–242.
- [3] Diamond A. Biological and social influences on cognitive control processes dependent on prefrontal cortex. Prog Brain Res 2011, 189: 319–339.
- [4] Goto Y, Yang CR, Otani S. Functional and dysfunctional synaptic plasticity in prefrontal cortex: roles in psychiatric disorders. Biol Psychiatry 2010, 67: 199–207.
- [5] Langner R, Eickhoff SB. Sustaining attention to simple tasks: a meta-analytic review of the neural mechanisms of vigilant attention. Psychol Bull 2013, 139: 870–900.
- [6] Ray RD, Zald DH. Anatomical insights into the interaction of emotion and cognition in the prefrontal cortex. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2012, 36: 479–501.
- [7] Lett TA, Voineskos AN, Kennedy JL, Levine B, Daskalakis ZJ. treating working memory deficits in schizophrenia: a review of the neurobiology. Biol Psychiatry 2014, 75: 361–370
- [8] Luijten M, Machielsen MW, Veltman DJ, Hester R, de Haan L, Franken IH. Systematic review of ERP and fMRI studies investigating inhibitory control and error processing in people with substance dependence and behavioural addictions. J Psychiatry Neurosci 2013, 38: 130052.
- [9] Maillet D, Rajah MN. Association between prefrontal activity and volume change in prefrontal and medial temporal lobes in aging and dementia: a review. Ageing Res Rev 2013, 12: 479–489.
- [10] Narayanan NS, Rodnitzky RL, Uc EY. Prefrontal dopamine signaling and cognitive symptoms of Parkinson's disease. J

Psychiatry Neurosci 2013, 38: 130052

- [11] Trivedi MH, Greer TL. Cognitive dysfunction in unipolar depression: implications for treatment. J Affect Disord 2014, 152-154: 19–27.
- [12] Nitsche MA, Cohen LG, Wassermann EM, Priori A, Lang N, Antal A, *et al.*. Transcranial direct current stimulation: State of the art 2008. Brain Stimul 2008, 1: 206–223.
- [13] Nitsche MA, Paulus W. Transcranial direct current stimulation--update 2011. Restor Neurol Neurosci 2011, 29: 463–492.
- [14] Herrmann CS, Rach S, Neuling T, Strüber D. Transcranial alternating current stimulation: a review of the underlying mechanisms and modulation of cognitive processes. Front Hum Neurosci 2013, 7: 279.
- [15] Ziemann U, Paulus W, Nitsche MA, Pascual-Leone A, Byblow WD, Berardelli A, *et al.*. Consensus: Motor cortex plasticity protocols. Brain Stimul 2008, 1: 164–182.
- [16] Nitsche MA, Paulus W. Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. J Physiol 2000, 527: 633–639.
- [17] Nitsche MA, Paulus W. Sustained excitability elevations induced by transcranial DC motor cortex stimulation in humans. Neurology 2001, 57: 1899–1901.
- [18] Nitsche MA, Nitsche MS, Klein CC, Tergau F, Rothwell JC, Paulus W. Level of action of cathodal DC polarisation induced inhibition of the human motor cortex. Clin Neurophysiol 2003a, 114: 600–604.
- [19] Nitsche MA, Fricke K, Henschke U, Schlitterlau A, Liebetanz D, Lang N, et al.. Pharmacological modulation of cortical excitability shifts induced by transcranial direct current stimulation in humans. J Physiol 2003, 553: 293–301.
- [20] Nitsche MA, Jaussi W, Liebetanz D, Lang N, Tergau F, Paulus W. Consolidation of human motor cortical neuroplasticity by D-cycloserine. Neuropsychopharmacology 2004, 29: 1573– 1578.
- [21] Malenka RC, Bear MF. LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron 2004, 44: 5–21.
- [22] Antal A, Boros K, Poreisz C, Chaieb L, Terney D, Paulus W. Comparatively weak after-effects of transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS) on cortical excitability in humans. Brain Stimul 2008, 2: 97–105.
- [23] Antal A, Paulus W. Transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS). Front Hum Neurosci 2013, 7: 317.
- [24] Ali MM, Sellers KK, Fröhlich F. Transcranial alternating current stimulation modulates large-scale cortical network activity by network resonance. J Neurosci 2013, 27: 11262– 11275.
- [25] Helfrich RF, Schneider TR, Rach S, Trautmann-Lengsfeld SA, Engel AK, Herrmann CS. Entrainment of brain oscillations by transcranial alternating current stimulation. Curr Biol 2014, 24: 333–339.
- [26] Kanai R, Chaieb L, Antal A, Walsh V, Paulus W. Frequencydependent electrical stimulation of the visual cortex. Curr Biol

2008, 18: 1839–1843.

- [27] Zaehle T, Rach S, Herrmann CS. Transcranial alternating current stimulation enhances individual alpha activity in human EEG. PLoS One 2010, 5: e13766.
- [28] Mannie ZN, Harmer CJ, Cowen PJ, Norbury R. A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of verbal working memory in young people at increased familial risk of depression. Biol Psychiatry. 2010, 67: 471–477.
- [29] Fregni F, Boggio PS, Nitsche M, Bermpohl F, Antal A, Feredoes E, et al. Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation of prefrontal cortex enhances working memory. Exp Brain Res 2005, 166: 23–30.
- [30] Ohn SH, Park CI, Yoo WK, Ko MH, Choi KP, Kim GM, et al. Time-dependent effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on the enhancement of working memory. Neuroreport 2008, 19: 43–47.
- [31] Zaehle T, Sandmann P, Thorne JD, Jäncke L, Herrmann CS. Transcranial direct current stimulation of the prefrontal cortex modulates working memory performance: combined behavioural and electrophysiological evidence. BMC Neurosci 2011, 12: 2.
- [32] Mulquiney PG, Hoy KE, Daskalakis ZJ, Fitzgerald PB. Improving working memory: exploring the effect of transcranial random noise stimulation and transcranial direct current stimulation on the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011, 122: 2384–2389.
- [33] Teo F, Hoy KE, Daskalakis ZJ, Fitzgerald PB. Investigating the role of current strength in tdcs modulation of working memory performance in healthy controls. Front Psychiatry 2011, 2: 45
- [34] Hoy KE, Emonson MR, Arnold SL, Thomson RH, Daskalakis ZJ, Fitzgerald PB. Testing the limits: Investigating the effect of tDCS dose on working memory enhancement in healthy controls. Neuropsychologia 2013, 51: 1777–1784.
- [35] Berryhill ME, Jones KT. tDCS selectively improves working memory in older adults with more education. Neurosci Lett 2012, 521: 148–151.
- [36] Kim JH, Kim DW, Chang WH, Kim YH, Kim K, Im CH. Inconsistent outcomes of transcranial direct current stimulation may originate from anatomical differences among individuals: Electric field simulation using individual MRI data. Neurosci Lett 2014, 564C: 6–10.
- [37] Meiron O, Lavidor M. Unilateral prefrontal direct current stimulation effects are modulated by working memory load and gender. Brain Stimul 2013, 6: 440–447.
- [38] Lally N, Nord CL, Walsh V, Roiser JP. Does excitatory frontoextracerebral tDCS lead to improved working memory performance? Version 2. F1000Res. 2013, 2: 219.
- [39] Jeon SY, Han SJ. Improvement of the working memory and naming by transcranial direct current stimulation. Ann Rehabil Med 2012, 36585–36595.
- [40] Polanía R, Nitsche MA, Korman C, Batsikadze G, Paulus W. The importance of timing in segregated theta phase-coupling

for cognitive performance. Curr Biol 2012a, 22: 1314–1318.

- [41] Meiron O, Lavidor M. Prefrontal oscillatory stimulation modulates access to cognitive control references in retrospective metacognitive commentary. Clin Neurophysiol 2014, 125: 77–82.
- [42] Polanía R, Paulus W, Nitsche MA. Noninvasively decoding the contents of visual working memory in the human prefrontal cortex within high-gamma oscillatory patterns. J Cogn Neurosci 2012b, 24: 304–314.
- [43] Nelson JT, McKinley RA, Golob EJ, Warm JS, Parasuraman R. Enhancing vigilance in operators with prefrontal cortex transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). Neuroimage 2014, 85: 909–917.
- [44] Plewnia C, Zwissler B, Längst I, Maurer B, Giel K, Krüger R. Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) on executive functions: influence of COMT Val/Met polymorphism. Cortex 2013, 49: 1801–1807.
- [45] Javadi AH, Walsh V. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) of the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex modulates declarative memory. Brain Stimul 2012, 5: 231–241.
- [46] Javadi AH, Cheng P. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) enhances reconsolidation of long-term memory. Brain Stimul 2013, 6: 668–674.
- [47] Manenti R, Brambilla M, Petesi M, Ferrari C, Cotelli M. Enhancing verbal episodic memory in older and young subjects after non-invasive brain stimulation. Front Aging Neurosci 2013, 5: 49.
- [48] Cerruti C, Schlaug G. Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation of the prefrontal cortex enhances complex verbal associative thought. J Cogn Neurosci 2009, 21: 1980–1987.
- [49] Metuki N, Sela T, Lavidor M. Enhancing cognitive control components of insight problems solving by anodal tDCS of the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Brain Stimul 2012, 5: 110–115.
- [50] Dockery CA, Hueckel-Weng R, Birbaumer N, Plewnia C. Enhancement of planning ability by transcranial direct current stimulation. J Neurosci 2009, 29: 7271–7277.
- [51] Santarnecchi E, Polizzotto NR, Godone M, Giovannelli F, Feurra M, Matzen L, et al.. Frequency-dependent enhancement of fluid intelligence induced by transcranial oscillatory potentials. Curr Biol 2013, 23: 1449–1453.
- [52] Fecteau S, Pascual-Leone A, Zald DH, Liguori P, Théoret H, Boggio PS, *et al.*. Activation of prefrontal cortex by transcranial direct current stimulation reduces appetite for risk during ambiguous decision making. J Neurosci 2007a, 27: 6212–6218.
- [53] Fecteau S, Knoch D, Fregni F, Sultani N, Boggio P, Pascual-Leone A. Diminishing risk-taking behavior by modulating activity in the prefrontal cortex: a direct current stimulation study. J Neurosci 2007b, 27: 12500–12505.
- [54] Boggio PS, Campanhã C, Valasek CA, Fecteau S, Pascual-Leone A, Fregni F. Modulation of decision-making in a gambling task in older adults with transcranial direct current

stimulation. Eur J Neurosci 2010, 31: 593–597.

- [55] Pripfl J, Neumann R, Köhler U, Lamm C. Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on risky decision making are mediated by 'hot' and 'cold' decisions, personality, and hemisphere. Eur J Neurosci 2013, 38: 3778–3785.
- [56] Minati L, Campanhã C, Critchley HD, Boggio PS. Effects of transcranial direct-current stimulation (tDCS) of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) during a mixedgambling risky decision-making task. Cogn Neurosci 2012, 3: 80–88.
- [57] Knoch D, Nitsche MA, Fischbacher U, Eisenegger C, Pascual-Leone A, Fehr E. Studying the neurobiology of social interaction with transcranial direct current stimulation-the example of punishing unfairness. Cereb Cortex 2008, 18: 1987–1990.
- [58] Ruff CC, Ugazio G, Fehr E. Changing social norm compliance with non-invasive brain stimulation. Science 2013, 342: 482–484.
- [59] Phan KL, Wager T, Taylor SF, Liberzon I. Functional neuroanatomy of emotion: a meta-analysis of emotion activation studies in PET and fMRI. Neuroimage 2002, 16: 331–348.
- [60] Steele JD, Lawrie SM. Segregation of cognitive and emotional function in the prefrontal cortex: a stereotactic meta-analysis. Neuroimage. 2004, 21: 868–875.
- [61] Grimm S, Schmidt CF, Bermpohl F, Heinzel A, Dahlem Y, Wyss M, et al.. Segregated neural representation of distinct emotion dimensions in the prefrontal cortex-an fMRI study. Neuroimage 2006, 30: 325–340.
- [62] Sergerie K, Lepage M, Armony JL. A face to remember: emotional expression modulates prefrontal activity during memory formation. Neuroimage. 2005, 24: 580–585.
- [63] Ueda K, Okamoto Y, Okada G, Yamashita H, Hori T, Yamawaki S. Brain activity during expectancy of emotional stimuli: an fMRI study. Neuroreport 2003, 14: 51–55.
- [64] Habel U, Klein M, Kellermann T, Shah NJ, Schneider F. Same or different? Neural correlates of happy and sad mood in healthy males. Neuroimage 2005, 26: 206–214.
- [65] Herrington JD, Mohanty A, Koven NS, Fisher JE, Stewart JL, Banich MT, *et al.* Emotion-modulated performance and activity in left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Emotion 2005, 5: 200–207.
- [66] Belyi BI. Mental impairment in unilateral frontal tumours: role of the laterality of the lesion. Int J Neurosci 1987, 32: 799– 810.
- [67] Perini GE. Emotions and personality in complex partial seizures. Psychother Psychosom 1986, 45: 141–148.
- [68] Robinson RG, Lipsey JR. Cerebral localization of emotion based on clinical-neuropathological correlations: methodological issues. Psychiatr Dev 1985, 3: 335–347.
- [69] Schutter DJ van Honk J. A framework for targeting alternative brain regions with repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation

in the treatment of depression. J Psychiatry Neurosci 2005, 30: 91–97.

- [70] Nitsche MA, Koschack J, Pohlers H, Hullemann S, Paulus W, Happe S. Effects of frontal transcranial direct current stimulation on emotional state and processing in healthy humans. Front Psychiatry 2012, 3: 58.
- [71] Plazier M, Joos K, Vanneste S, Ost J, De Ridder D. Bifrontal and bioccipital transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) does not induce mood changes in healthy volunteers: a placebo controlled study. Brain Stimul 2012, 5: 454–461.
- [72] Boggio PS, Zaghi S, Fregni F. Modulation of emotions associated with images of human pain using anodal transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS). Neuropsychologia. 2009, 47: 212–217.
- [73] Maeoka H1, Matsuo A, Hiyamizu M, Morioka S, Ando H. Influence of transcranial direct current stimulation of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex on pain related emotions: a study using electroencephalographic power spectrum analysis. Neurosci Lett 2012, 512: 12–16.
- [74] Peña-Gómez C, Vidal-Piñeiro D, Clemente IC, Pascual-Leone Á, Bartrés-Faz D. Down-regulation of negative emotional processing by transcranial direct current stimulation: effects of personality characteristics. PLoS One 2011, 6: e22812.
- [75] Vanderhasselt MA, De Raedt R, Brunoni AR, Campanhã C, Baeken C, Remue J, *et al.* tDCS over the left prefrontal cortex enhances cognitive control for positive affective stimuli. PLoS One 2013, 8: e62219.
- [76] Feeser M, Prehn K, Kazzer P, Mungee A, Bajbouj M. Transcranial direct current stimulation enhances cognitive control during emotion regulation. Brain Stimul 2014, 7: 105– 112.
- [77] Mungee A, Kazzer P, Feeser M, Nitsche MA, Schiller D, Bajbouj M. Transcranial direct current stimulation of the prefrontal cortex: a means to modulate fear memories. Neuroreport 2014, 25: 480–484.
- [78] Edwards D, Cortes M, Datta A, Minhas P, Wassermann EM, Bikson M. Physiological and modeling evidence for focal transcranial electrical brain stimulation in humans: a basis for high-definition tDCS. Neuroimage 2013, 74: 266–275.
- [79] Bikson M, Rahman A, Datta A. Computational models of transcranial direct current stimulation. Clin EEG Neurosci 2012, 43176–43183.
- [80] Nitsche MA, Doemkes S, Karaköse T, Antal A, Liebetanz D, Lang N, *et al.*. Shaping the effects of transcranial direct current stimulation of the human motor cortex. J Neurophysiol 2007, 97: 3109–3117.
- [81] Polanía R, Nitsche MA, Paulus W. Modulating functional connectivity patterns and topological functional organization of the human brain with transcranial direct current stimulation. Hum Brain Mapp 2011, 32: 1236–1249

207

Prefrontal cortex and the dysconnectivity hypothesis of schizophrenia

Yuan Zhou^{1,2}, Lingzhong Fan^{3,4}, Chenxiang Qiu^{3,4}, Tianzi Jiang^{3,4,5,6}

¹Key Laboratory of Behavioral Science, Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100101, China

²Magnetic Resonance Imaging Research Center, Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100101, China

³Brainnetome Center, Institute of Automation, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100190, China

⁴National Laboratory of Pattern Recognition, Institute of Automation, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100190, China

⁵The Queensland Brain Institute, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD 4072, Australia

⁶Key Laboratory for NeuroInformation of the Ministry of Education, School of Life Science and Technology, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, Chengdu 610054, China

Corresponding author: Tianzi Jiang. E-mail: jiangtz@nlpr.ia.ac.cn

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

Schizophrenia is hypothesized to arise from disrupted brain connectivity. This "dysconnectivity hypothesis" has generated interest in discovering whether there is anatomical and functional dysconnectivity between the prefrontal cortex (PFC) and other brain regions, and how this dysconnectivity is linked to the impaired cognitive functions and aberrant behaviors of schizophrenia. Critical advances in neuroimaging technologies, including diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) and functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), make it possible to explore these issues. DTI affords the possibility to explore anatomical connectivity in the human brain *in vivo* and fMRI can be used to make inferences about functional connections between brain regions. In this review, we present major advances in the understanding of PFC anatomical and functional dysconnectivity and their implications in schizophrenia. We then briefly discuss future prospects that need to be explored in order to move beyond simple mapping of connectivity changes to elucidate the neuronal mechanisms underlying schizophrenia.

Keywords: prefrontal cortex; schizophrenia; anatomical connectivity; functional connectivity

Introduction

Schizophrenia is a debilitating mental disorder affecting ~1% of the general population, with disturbances of cognitive, social, and behavioral functions. A popular hypothesis for this disorder is that schizophrenia is a "dysconnection" disorder and its symptoms are thought not to be due to a single, regionally-specific pathophysiology but to abnormal interactions between regions^[1-5]. Recent MRI studies have provided further evidence for this opinion^[6-8]. Among the regions implicated in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, the prefrontal cortex (PFC) has always been of interest^[9].

due to changes in neurodevelopment processes, abnormalities in anatomy and function, and its role in the cognitive functions that are impaired in schizophrenia^[10]. Recent network analyses based on graph theory have also revealed that the PFC is one of the hub regions affected in schizophrenia^[11]. However, no area of the brain acts in isolation. To understand the implications of the involvement of the PFC in schizophrenia, we need to understand the PFC in the context of the brain as a whole. In this review, we summarize the major advances in the anatomical and functional connectivity of the PFC in schizophrenia to generate a clear picture of how PFC dysconnection relates to this disorder. Then, we discuss current challenges and future research directions.

A Brief Introduction to the PFC

The PFC plays an essential role in the organization and control of goal-directed thought and behavior^[12]. Specifically, the lateral PFC is critical for the selection, monitoring, and manipulation of cognitive task sets; the medial PFC is critical for updating these sets; and the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) is critical for assigning social and emotional meaning to these sets in order to better guide goal-directed behavior^[12] (see reference^[12] for a detailed introduction to the specific function of each PFC area). Furthermore, the extensive reciprocal connections between the PFC and nearly all cortical and subcortical structures, especially the limbic regions, place it in a unique position to orchestrate a wide range of cognitive and affective neuronal functions^[12]. The architectonic subdivisions of the PFC and the major PFC white-matter tracts involved in schizophrenia are illustrated in Figure 1.

Based on the unique role of the PFC in normal

functioning, research has linked it with schizophrenia. The major findings in schizophrenia include: spine loss and dendritic atrophy of PFC neurons; smaller PFC grey matter volume; profound dysfunction of the PFC (including deficits in working memory); and changes in gene expression (for review, see^[15]). Among these, the changes in microcircuits of the PFC in schizophrenia suggest the possibility of altered connectivity between the PFC and other regions^[15].

Anatomical Dysconnectivity of the PFC in Schizophrenia

Evidence from myelin pathology in postmortem brain tissue and gene expression profiling has shown that anatomical connectivity might be pathologically changed in schizophrenia^[16]. Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), a new and powerful tool, affords the possibility to explore the anatomical connectivity in the human brain *in vivo*. By measuring the degree of anisotropy in the random motion of water molecules, DTI can quantify and visualize whitematter fiber tracts^[17]. Fractional anisotropy (FA) is the mostcommonly used DTI index^[18] to examine white matter



Fig. 1. Architectonic subdivisions of the PFC (a, b, c) and the major PFC white matter tracts involved in schizophrenia (d)^[13, 14]. Dorsolateral PFC: lateral area 8, lateral area 9, and area 46; ventrolateral PFC: areas 44, 45, and 47; rostral PFC: area 10; orbitofrontal cortex: areas 11 (11m and 11l), 13 (13a, 13b, 13m, and 13l), 14 (14r and 14c), 10 (10p, 10o), and 47/12 (47/12r, 47/12m, 47/12l, and 47/12s); medial PFC: medial areas 8, 9, 10, 32, 24, and 25. The major white-matter tracts linking the PFC and other brain regions are the cingulum bundle (CB), inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus (IFOF), anterior thalamic radiation (ATR), uncinate fasciculus (UF), fornix, and arcuate fasciculus (AF), all of which are implicated in schizophrenia.

integrity. Since the seminal work^[19] in which DTI was first applied to schizophrenia, studies have repeatedly found white-matter pathology in schizophrenia by region of interest (ROI) measures to define the fiber tracts, by voxelbased analysis, and by fiber tractography^[20]. A systematic meta-analysis of voxel-based DTI FA studies of patients with schizophrenia revealed significant reductions in the left frontal and left temporal deep white matter^[21]. The region in the left frontal deep white matter is traversed by tracts interconnecting the frontal lobe, thalamus, and cingulate gyrus. The region in the temporal lobe is traversed by tracts interconnecting the frontal lobe, insula, hippocampus, amygdala, and temporal and occipital lobes^[21]. Similar findings were obtained when analyzing studies on patients with first-episode schizophrenia, in whom reduced FA in the white matter of the right deep frontal and left deep temporal lobes was found^[22]. Fiber tracking showed that the main tracts involved are the cingulum bundle (CB), the left inferior longitudinal fasciculus, the left inferior frontooccipital fasciculus, and the interhemispheric fibers running through the corpus callosum^[22]. All of these findings provide evidence for disrupted anatomical connections in the frontolimbic circuitry, even at the early stages of schizophrenia. Therefore, we focus on several major white-matter tracts linking the PFC and limbic regions, the CB, uncinate fasciculus (UF), and arcuate fasciculus (AF) to understand the clinical correlates of PFC anatomical dysconnectivity in schizophrenia.

Cingulum Bundle

The CB connects paralimbic-neocortical regions and also interconnects limbic structures including the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), cingulate gyrus, parahippocampal gyrus, and amygdala^[20]. The CB is involved in a number of functions, including emotion, self-monitoring, and spatial orientation and memory. By placing ROIs on the CB, Kubicki and coworkers reported reduced FA in the CB in schizophrenic patients compared with controls^[23]. This finding has been repeatedly replicated by different methods including ROI analysis, voxel-based analysis, and fiber tractography^[23-29]. Decreased FA in the CB has been linked with various cognitive dysfunctions in schizophrenia, such as errors in executive functions relevant to performance monitoring^[23], poor general intelligence and working memory^[30], impaired Stroop

performance^[31], and increased saccadic latency^[32]. In addition, higher FA in the left CB and left fronto-occipital fasciculus is associated with lower within-individual variability for speed on a computerized neurocognitive battery in healthy controls, but not in patients with schizophrenia^[33].

Uncinate Fasciculus

The UF is a bidirectional, long-range white-matter tract that connects the lateral OFC and Brodmann area 10 with the anterior temporal lobes^[34]. One would expect that the UF connecting limbic regions to OFCs might be structurally impaired in schizophrenia. However, a recent review of the DTI literature indicates that findings on FA in the UF in schizophrenia are mixed. The UF appears to play either a small role, or no role, in this disorder^[34]. Clinical heterogeneity combined with small sample sizes may account for the contradictory results. It is possible that the integrity of the UF is correlated with specific symptoms of schizophrenia. Two studies have shown that the FA values in the left UF of schizophrenic patients with deficit syndromes (such as flattened affect and lack of social engagement) are lower than those of non-deficient patients and controls^[35, 36]. In addition, the severity of deficit symptoms is strongly correlated with disruption of the same tract in a group of patients with first-episode schizophrenia^[36].

Arcuate Fasciculus

The AF bidirectionally connects the caudal temporal and inferior parietal cortices to the frontal lobe. Due to the fact that this tract connects Wernicke's and Broca's areas, the AF is the major language-processing tract in the brain. Therefore, the integrity of the AF is often linked with the language and thought disturbances in schizophrenia^[37]. Although mixed findings have been reported^[37, 38], more consistently a reduced FA value in the AF has been found in schizophrenic patients with auditory verbal hallucinations^[39-41]. Several studies have also suggested that changes in the integrity of the AF may be relevant to the risk of developing psychosis; decreased axonal or fiber integrity has been reported in the AF of siblings of patients diagnosed with schizophrenia^[42, 43]. The disrupted integrity in the AF is consistent with the evidence of language deficits in those at familial or a clinically increased risk for schizophrenia^[42].

Several other white-matter tracts connecting the PFC and other regions have also been investigated. These tracts include the fornix, a tract connecting the hippocampus with other regions including the PFC. This tract is important in spatial learning and memory, which are disrupted in schizophrenia. Disrupted integrity of the fornix has been found in a group of patients with schizophrenia, who also showed disrupted functional connectivity between the hippocampus and other regions implicated in episodic memory, such as the medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC)^[44]. Another tract that shows FA reduction in schizophrenia is the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus (IFOF), which connects the occipital, posterior temporal, and orbitofrontal areas^[45]. Decreased FA in the left IFOF predicts worse neurocognitive performance both in never-medicated chronic schizophrenia^[46] and in adolescents with earlyonset schizophrenia^[47], as well as predicting empathic impairments in patients with schizophrenia^[48]. Other whitematter fiber tracts related to the PFC in schizophrenia include the anterior limb of the internal capsule, the medial portion of which includes the anterior thalamic radiation linking the thalamus and the PFC^[49, 50], the genu of the corpus callosum linking the bilateral PFCs^[51, 52], and deep white matter within the PFC^[53].

In addition, globally exploring changes across the entire brain using graph-based network analyses provides a means of searching for possible lesions or alterations in the anatomical connectivity network^[17]. By examining networks derived from diffusion imaging data, a longer average path-length and corresponding reduction in global communication efficiency have been found in patients with schizophrenia^[11]. Node-level investigation has further revealed altered connectivity centered on frontal association regions^[8]. And regional efficiencies in the frontal association cortex are negatively correlated with the severity of symptoms as measured by the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale^[8].

Functional Dysconnectivity Related to the PFC in Schizophrenia

Resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and task-based fMRI are often used to make inferences about the connections between brain regions^[54]. Using

different functional connectivity (FC) analyses, researchers can investigate the PFC-related networks based on single ROIs, specific networks, and whole-brain networks. Abnormal functional interactions between the PFC and widely-distributed regions, such as the parietal cortex, temporal regions, and regions in the default mode network, have been found in schizophrenia both during rest and during several cognitive tasks such as working memory tasks, continuous performance tasks, and reaction-choice tasks (for review, see ^[55]). Here, we focus on selected networks to illustrate how functional dysconnectivity of the PFC is linked with the impaired cognitive functions and/or the psychotic symptoms of schizophrenia.

Frontostriatal Circuit

Functional dysconnectivity between the PFC and dopamine-regulating regions in the basal ganglia (BG) has been hypothesized to account for two core features of schizophrenia, cognitive deficits and psychosis, based on the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia^[56], which has been tested in several recent studies^[57-59]. Using restingstate fMRI, Salvador et al. found increased connectivity between the DLPFC and the BG across low-, medium-, and high-frequency bands, indicating that DLPFC-BG functional dysconnectivity is an abnormal part of the frontostriatal loop in schizophrenia^[57]. Yoon *et al.* found task-evoked hyperactivity in the substantia nigra that occurred in association with hypoactivity of the right inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) and the bilateral caudate during a working memory task in a schizophrenic group^[58]. They further found decreased FC between the PFC (localized to the right inferior/middle frontal gyrus) and BG regions (substantia nigra and caudate) in patients with schizophrenia while they were performing a working memory task. Similarly, decreased performance-related FCs between the ventrolateral PFC and the bilateral putamen were found during a working memory task, suggesting that weaker frontostriatal connectivity underpins the impaired information retrieval in schizophrenia during working memory performance^[59]. Although these studies revealed an abnormality in the frontostriatal circuit in schizophrenia, it is worthy of note that the pattern of abnormality is incompatible: increased FC in the frontostriatal circuit during rest but decreased FC during the task. In order to understand the link between the two types of functional

dysconnectivity, studies measuring resting-state FC and task-state FC in the same individual need to be performed.

Frontotemporal Functional Connectivity

Frontotemporal dysconnectivity has been proposed as a mechanism leading to the psychotic symptoms, especially auditory hallucinations, in schizophrenia. Since the first study suggesting that reduced FC between the left DLPFC and the left superior temporal gyrus was linked to auditory hallucinations in schizophrenia^[60], several studies have verified the relationship between frontotemporal functional disconnectivity and auditory hallucinations during different tasks, suggesting a source-monitoring impairment (for review, see^[61]). Resting-state FC studies suggest that elevated frontotemporal FC makes auditory hallucinations worse, especially indicated by positive correlations between the reality of hallucinations and the strength of the FC between the left IFG (including Broca's region) and the auditory cortex, posterior temporal lobe, ventral striatum, and anterior cingulate cortex^[62]. Based on their recent studies, Hoffman and colleagues proposed a complex functional loop, which includes Wernicke's area and its right homologue, the left IFG, and the putamen, to interpret the generation of auditory verbal hallucinations. In this model, intact FC between Wernicke's area and the left IFG and FC between the left IFG and putamen appeared to allow hyperconnectivity between the putamen and Wernicke's area to be expressed as conscious hallucinations of speech^[61]. However, whether the restingstate frontotemporal FC is decreased or increased in schizophrenic patients with auditory hallucinations compared to patients without such hallucinations or healthy participants remains to be determined.

Frontoparietal Functional Connectivity

Functional interactions between the dorsal frontal and parietal regions are engaged by a wide range of higherlevel cognitive tasks and are thought to be involved in adaptive task control^[63, 64]. In general, greater FC between the dorsal frontal and parietal regions predicts better performance. Disrupted dorsal fronto-parietal FC may account for the impaired executive function and cognitive control in schizophrenia, especially the well-known working memory deficit (for review, see^[55, 65]). In addition, the dysfunctional connectivity of the dorsal frontal-parietal network has been correlated with psychotic symptoms such as disorganization^[66, 67], which may be due to the disrupted executive function and cognitive control in schizophrenia.

PFC-Hippocampus Functional Connectivity

Disturbed interactions between the PFC and hippocampus have also been proposed to account for the cognitive deficits related to working memory in schizophrenia^[68]. Meyer-Lindenberg and colleagues reported persistent undiminished FC between the right DLPFC and left hippocampus in the context of a working memory task in schizophrenia^[69]. Benetti and colleagues found that the normal pattern of effective connectivity from the right posterior hippocampus to the right IFG is significantly decreased in both first-episode patients and individuals at high risk for psychosis during a delayed matching-to-sample task, suggesting that a disruption of bottom-up hippocampal–prefrontal integration may be correlated with increased vulnerability to psychosis rather than an effect of chronic illness or its treatment^[70].

Medial PFC and the Default Mode Network

The functional connectivity of the MPFC is also involved in psychosis and the cognitive deficits in schizophrenia, due to its role in self-referential mental activity and the organization of thoughts and actions according to internal goals^[71]. Hyperconnectivity between the MPFC, a region with reduced task-related suppression during a working memory task, and other regions of the default mode network during both rest and working memory tasks is correlated with the more serious positive symptoms in schizophrenic patients^[72]. Moreover, the hyperactivity in the MPFC (reduced task-related suppression) and the hyperconnectivity between the MPFC and the regions of the default mode network during a working memory task are correlated with inferior working memory performance both in schizophrenic patients and their unaffected relatives^[72]. These findings suggest that the abnormal MPFC FC may contribute to the disturbances of thought in schizophrenia, impaired working memory performance, and to the risk for the illness^[72]. Besides its implications for working memory, the altered MPFC FC is also involved in other cognitive functions. For example, dysconnectivity between the MPFC and the left superior temporal gyrus during a self-other source monitoring task is implicated in the impaired reality monitoring in schizophrenia^[73]. And decreased negative connectivity between the MPFC and medial-temporal

regions during perspective-taking has been reported in patients with schizophrenia, and this deficit fully mediates the behavioral impairments in theory of mind in patients^[74]. However, similar to other PFC regions, inconsistent findings also exist in the MPFC FC patterns. For example, contrary to hyperconnectivity, a study using an ROI in the ventral MPFC showed decreased resting-state FC between the ventral MPFC and the default mode network regions (such as the anterior MPFC, right middle temporal lobe, hippocampus, parahippocampus, and amygdala) in chronic schizophrenic patients. And the decreased FC between the ventral MPFC and right medial-temporal regions has been correlated with the poorer regulation of emotion^[75]. The inconsistency may result from the differences in FC analysis methodology (such as the selection of ROI) and the heterogeneity of schizophrenia.

In general, decreased FCs related to the PFC in schizophrenia are often found when a task is performed; however, both decreased and increased PFC functional dysconnectivities are found in schizophrenia during rest. Most of these abnormal FCs are related to the dorsal PFC, although different circuits are involved. These abnormal PFC connectivities have been implicated in the pathophysiology and pathopsychology of schizophrenia, especially the psychotic symptoms and impaired cognitive functions (such as impaired working memory) (Table 1).

Perspectives

Despite the current knowledge on the clinical correlates of PFC dysconnectivity in schizophrenia, many challenges

still exist. Here, we list some challenges and express our opinions about how to address these challenges in order to move beyond simple mapping of connectivity changes to elucidate the underlying neuronal mechanisms of the pathogenesis and pathophysiology of schizophrenia.

Fine-Grained Parcellation of the PFC

The PFC has a heterogeneous cytoarchitecture and functions. It is composed of several cytoarchitectonically different subregions involved in a variety of functions and this suggests the existence of functional subregions, such as the superior frontal gyrus^[50]. Even though Brodmanndefined brain areas have their unique internal structure, such as the frontal pole (i.e. Brodmann area 10), functional subregions are also suggested due to the distinct anatomical and functional connectivity patterns^[46]. Based on the cytoarchitecture, the distribution patterns of multireceptor, co-activation patterns, and anatomical and/or functional connectivity, each of the PFC regions (DLPFC, ventrolateral PFC, MPFC, OFC, and frontal pole) has been parcellated into subregions^[76-82]. These finer parcellation patterns have important implications for identifying the specific functional role of each subdivision in the PFC.

Despite the complexity of functional regions/ subregions of the PFC, the existing studies often selected a roughly-defined PFC region to investigate the differences in connection patterns between schizophrenic patients and healthy controls, or interpreted their findings in a way lacking detailed information on the PFC subregions. There is no doubt that new knowledge on PFC dysconnectivity in schizophrenia will be warranted by the next generation of brain atlases, such as the Brainnetome atlas⁽⁸³⁾, which has

Region-region	Resting-state FC	Task-state FC	Clinical implications
PFC-BG	↑	Ļ	Impaired working memory
IFG-temporal lobe	unclear	Ļ	Reality of auditory hallucination
DLPFC-parietal lobe	$\uparrow \downarrow$	Ļ	Deficits in executive function and cognitive control (e.g., working memory);
			psychotic symptoms
DLPFC-hippocampus	unclear	Ļ	Impaired working memory; psychosis
MPFC-DMN	$\uparrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \downarrow$	Impaired working memory, reality-monitoring, theory of mind; psychosis

Table 1. Major findings of PFC functional dysconnectivity in schizophrenia

BG, basal ganglia; DLPFC, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; DMN, default-mode network; FC, functional connectivity; IFG, inferior frontal gyrus; MPFC, medial prefrontal cortex; ↑increase; ↓decrease.

finer parcellation of the PFC and other brain regions^[84-87]. On one hand, using a more fine-grained PFC parcellation scheme as a reference for reporting localization results in future studies will be helpful in reducing the confusion in the nomenclature (e.g., lateral PFC, dorsolateral PFC) and make it easier to compare results from different studies, and so will be useful for advancing our understanding of PFC pathophysiology in schizophrenia. On the other hand, it will be possible to identify the neuronal correlates of a specific Symptom or an impaired cognitive function with a specific PFC subregion and thus may generate a symptom classification atlas, providing insights into the etiology and pathogenesis of schizophrenia.

However, it needs to be noted that inconsistency exists in the parcellation results obtained by different criteria, methodologies, and imaging modalities. For example, area 44 of Broca's region in the left inferior frontal avrus can be parcellated into 5 subregions based on its coactivation pattern across different fMRI studies^[77], but into 2 subregions based on the distribution pattern of multiple receptors^[76], resting-state fMRI-based parcellation^[88], and diffusion-weighted tractography-based parcellation^[80]. Even using the same methodology, inconsistent findings can be obtained, such as the frontal pole parcellation based on anatomical connectivity obtained by diffusionweighted tractography^[78, 82]. One possible reason for such inconsistency is that there is no standardized protocol to manually identify ROIs of the PFC as targets of the parcellation scheme^[55]. Studies are urgently needed to examine the relationships among different parcellation criteria and distinct imaging modalities, and finally achieve a reliable and reproducible map of the human PFC.

Anatomical Basis of Abnormalities in PFC Functional Connectivity in Schizophrenia

The anatomical substrate of functional connectivity has been an active topic of research. By measuring restingstate FC using fMRI and anatomical connectivity using DTI tractography in the same individuals, spatial consistency between anatomical and functional connectivity has been reported in some networks, such as the defaultmode network (e.g., between the MPFC and the posterior cingulate cortex), the salience-processing network, and bilateral parietal–frontal task-activation networks in healthy populations^[89-91]. Critically, connections among a spatially distributed and topologically central collective called the "rich club" are central to the integration of information among the different functional networks of the human brain^[89]. These studies showed that FC is constrained by anatomical connectivity; however, they are not isomorphic. In general, FC is more prevalent than anatomical connectivity. And FC is context-dependent and easily changed, but anatomical connectivity is relatively stable^[92]. Researchers have also begun to seek to understand the anatomical basis of aberrant FC in schizophrenia by combining DTI with fMRI. Both decreased and increased FC have been found in patients who show impaired integrity of white-matter tracts or altered structural network topology (for review, please see [92-94]). Decreased structural interconnectivity among rich club hubs (including the bilateral precuneus, superior frontal cortex, superior parietal cortex, and insula) may underlie the broad range of functional network abnormalities in patients with schizophrenia^[95], and this may result in the altered functional dynamics and impaired global brain functioning. Although these findings are important, some open questions remain, such as whether anatomical dysconnectivity and functional dysconnectivity in schizophrenia share common biological substrates (e.g., common genetic factors); whether anatomical dysconnectivity and concomitant changes in FC in schizophrenia develop with progression of the illness; how increased FC between regions along with deficits in anatomical connectivity in schizophrenia can be understood; and whether increased functional connectivity has implications for the pathophysiology of schizophrenia or merely results from artifacts in different analyses applied to DTI and fMRI. All of these questions need to be explored. In addition, technical challenges, such as how to resolve crossing fibers and how to better detect relatively small fiber bundles^[94], need to be solved.

Genetic Basis of the PFC Dysconnectivities in Schizophrenia

Impaired PFC function and structure have been found more frequently in unaffected relatives of schizophrenic patients, such as unaffected monozygotic twins, than in control individuals without such a family history^[96]. This suggests that dysfunction of the PFC in schizophrenia may be controlled by genetic factors. However, it is unclear that PFC dysconnectivity in schizophrenia is also influenced by genetic factors, due to the lack of twin and family studies that focus on functional or anatomical connectivity. Nevertheless, in healthy populations, pedigree studies have found evidence that genes control the functional and anatomical connectivity of the PFC^[97, 98]. For example, Karlsgodt et al. found that the integrity of several whitematter tracts related to the PFC (anterior limb of the internal capsule, CB, superior fronto-occipital fasciculus, and

superior longitudinal fasciculus) is heritable; furthermore, the integrity of the superior longitudinal fasciculus (a primary frontoparietal connection) shares genetic factors with performance of working memory, a heritable trait relevant to schizophrenia^[97]. This evidence suggests that PFC functional and anatomical connectivity may be candidate endophenotypes of schizophrenia^[99]. Therefore, some studies have sought to link PFC functional and anatomical connectivity with susceptibility genes for schizophrenia using a strategy called as imaging genetics. For instance, Liu et al. reported that the catechol O-methyltransferase (COMT) val158met polymorphism significantly modulates prefrontal-related FC within the default mode network because COMT plays a unique role in regulating prefrontal dopamine levels^[100]. Liu *et al.* found that the functional and anatomical connectivity of the thalamus to the prefrontal cortex is impacted by DISC1 (Disrupted-In-Schizophrenia 1) Ser704Cvs^[101]. Wang et al. found that carriers of the KIBRA (kidney and brain expressed protein) C-allele have a smaller gray-matter volume in the MPFC and bilateral dorsal anterior cingulate cortices and show higher functional synchronization in the same regions than T-allele homozygotes^[16]. Given the complexity of the molecular genetics of cognitive function subserved by the PFC and the complexity of the genetic etiology of schizophrenia, understanding the mechanisms by which genetic variations that are associated with risk for schizophrenia impact PFC functional and anatomical connectivity remains a clinically important challenge. Some efforts have been made by exploring how interactions of multiple genes from the same signaling pathway (e.g., COMT and DRD2 interaction^[102]) affect resting-state FC. However, more data from imaging genetics in patients are needed. In addition, studies with non-invasive neuroimaging technologies, such as fMRI and dMRI, cannot clearly elucidate whether PFC dysconnectivity is related to the etiology of schizophrenia and how genes, the brain, and the disorder interplay. Genetically-modified animals are considered good models for the solution of these issues and some efforts are in progress^[103]. By using genetically-modified mouse models of schizophrenia, researchers will be able to go beyond neuroimaging to look into the underlying mechanisms with disease-specific behavioral tests as well as gene-specific histological examinations, using interactive investigations that are not possible in human studies. Neuroimaging studies on genetically-modified mouse models of schizophrenia are likely to realize a relatively seamless translation of findings to this disorder, since neuroimaging allows the same biological target to be investigated in both humans and animals. Several novel genetic modification technologies have been developed recently. The CRISPR-Cas9 method is a breakthrough that can rapidly and efficiently generate transgenic mice with multiple modified alleles by direct injection of both single-guide RNA and mRNA encoding Cas9 into embryos^[104, 105]. Using this novel technology, known schizophrenia-associated mutations can be introduced into mice and their effects on the brain investigated. Several genome-conserved, specified, and verified genetic mutations associated with the PFC and schizophrenia, such as COMT(Val158Met) and *DISC1*(Ser704Cys), may be candidates for this novel technology.

PFC Connectivity-Guided Non-invasive Brain Stimulation for Schizophrenia

Non-invasive brain stimulation techniques, such as transcranial magnetic stimulation and transcranial directcurrent stimulation, have been shown to play a role in the non-invasive treatment of schizophrenia, especially for auditory hallucinations^[106]. However, researchers have always been concerned about the precision of these techniques and their influence on other brain regions or networks^[107]. A promising direction is to combine them with neuroimaging techniques in the context of the Brainnetome atlas. This atlas, with details of the subregions in the PFC and their connectivity patterns, will provide an accurate guide for the location of brain stimulation techniques and a priori knowledge of the possible effects of simulating a specific brain region. The combination of brain stimulation and neuroimaging techniques makes it possible to identify the causal effect of brain stimulation on brain activity of interest in the stimulated region, which has important consequences for the interpretation of the effects of such stimulation. And this combination also provides a particular window into the effects of focal brain stimulation on remote, functionally connected brain regions^[108]. In addition, armed with knowledge of the putative causal interactions among brain regions obtained by effective connectivity analyses (e.g., dynamic causal modelling^[109]), it is possible to test the behavioral relevance of an effective fMRI connectivity network underlying a cognitive process by using brain stimulation to stimulate the regions identified by effective connectivity^[107]. These advances will shed light on the causality behind the PFC dysconnection and symptoms/ impaired cognitive functions in schizophrenia, and provide objective valuation for the non-invasive treatment of schizophrenia.

In summary, the variability in the PFC dysconnectivity patterns across patients is associated with the severity of both cognitive impairments (such as impaired working memory) and cardinal symptoms (such as auditory verbal hallucinations), suggesting that these distinct patterns of connectivity might differentially contribute to schizophrenic symptoms. However, the current roughlydefined PFC subregions hamper precise location of these impairments and symptoms. Future studies with finegrained parcellation of the PFC may provide a clearer understanding of the PFC in schizophrenia. Furthermore, the anatomical and genetic bases of PFC dysconnectivity in schizophrenia need to be determined. The causality behind the PFC dysconnection and symptoms/impaired cognitive functions in schizophrenia needs to be clarified. Further understanding of the implications of PFC dysconnectivity for schizophrenia may benefit from the integrated knowledge in the Brainnetome atlas, multimodal imaging techniques, imaging genetics, and genetically-modified animal models in the framework of the Brainnetome^[83].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This review was supported by the National Basic Research Development Program (973 Program) of China (2011CB707800), the Strategic Priority Research Program of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (XDB02030300), and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (91132301 and 81371476).

Received date: 2014-06-05; Accepted date: 2014-11-20

REFERENCES

- Stephan KE, Baldeweg T, Friston KJ. Synaptic plasticity and dysconnection in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 2006, 59: 929–939.
- Pettersson-Yeo W, Allen P, Benetti S, McGuire P, Mechelli A. Dysconnectivity in schizophrenia: where are we now? Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2011, 35: 1110–1124.
- [3] Friston KJ, Frith CD. Schizophrenia: a disconnection syndrome? Clin Neurosci 1995, 3: 89–97.
- [4] Friston KJ. The disconnection hypothesis. Schizophr Res 1998, 30: 115–125.
- [5] Andreasen NC, Paradiso S, O'Leary DS. "Cognitive dysmetria" as an integrative theory of schizophrenia: a dysfunction in cortical-subcortical-cerebellar circuitry? Schizophr Bull 1998, 24: 203–218.
- [6] Liang M, Zhou Y, Jiang T, Liu Z, Tian L, Liu H, et al. Widespread functional disconnectivity in schizophrenia with resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging. Neuroreport 2006, 17: 209–213.
- [7] Liu Y, Liang M, Zhou Y, He Y, Hao Y, Song M, et al. Disrupted small-world networks in schizophrenia. Brain 2008, 131: 945–961.
- [8] Wang Q, Su TP, Zhou Y, Chou KH, Chen I, Jiang T, et al. Anatomical insights into disrupted small-world networks in schizophrenia. NeuroImage 2012, 59: 1085–1093.
- [9] Fallon JH, Opole IO, Potkin SG. The neuroanatomy of schizophrenia: circuitry and neurotransmitter systems. Clin Neurosci Res 2003, 3: 77–107.
- [10] Zhou Y, Liang M, Jiang T, Tian L, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Functional dysconnectivity of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in firstepisode schizophrenia using resting-state fMRI. Neurosci Lett 2007, 417: 297–302.
- [11] van den Heuvel MP, Fornito A. Brain networks in schizophrenia. Neuropsychol Rev 2014, 24: 32–48.
- [12] Szczepanski SM, Knight RT. Insights into human behavior from lesions to the prefrontal cortex. Neuron 2014, 83: 1002– 1018.
- [13] Brodmann K. Vergleichende lokalisationslehre der grosshirnrinde: in ihren principien dargestellt auf grund des zellenbaues. Leipzig, Germany: Johann Ambrosius Barth Verlag, 1909.
- [14] Ongur D, Ferry AT, Price JL. Architectonic subdivision of the human orbital and medial prefrontal cortex. J Comp Neurol 2003, 460: 425–449.
- [15] Arnsten AF. The neurobiology of thought: the groundbreaking discoveries of Patricia Goldman-Rakic 1937-2003. Cereb Cortex 2013, 23: 2269–2281.
- [16] Konrad A, Winterer G. Disturbed structural connectivity in schizophrenia primary factor in pathology or epiphenomenon?

Schizophr Bull 2008, 34: 72–92.

- [17] Zuo N, Cheng J, Jiang T. Diffusion magnetic resonance imaging for Brainnetome: a critical review. Neurosci Bull 2012, 28: 375–388.
- [18] Peters BD, Blaas J, de Haan L. Diffusion tensor imaging in the early phase of schizophrenia: what have we learned? J Psychiatr Res 2010, 44: 993–1004.
- [19] Buchsbaum MS, Tang CY, Peled S, Gudbjartsson H, Lu D, Hazlett EA, *et al.* MRI white matter diffusion anisotropy and PET metabolic rate in schizophrenia. Neuroreport 1998, 9: 425–430.
- [20] Shenton ME, Whitford TJ, Kubicki M. Structural neuroimaging in schizophrenia: from methods to insights to treatments. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2010, 12: 317–332.
- [21] Ellison-Wright I, Bullmore E. Meta-analysis of diffusion tensor imaging studies in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2009, 108: 3–10.
- [22] Yao L, Lui S, Liao Y, Du MY, Hu N, Thomas JA, et al. White matter deficits in first episode schizophrenia: an activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2013, 45: 100–106.
- [23] Kubicki M, Westin CF, Nestor PG, Wible CG, Frumin M, Maier SE, et al. Cingulate fasciculus integrity disruption in schizophrenia: a magnetic resonance diffusion tensor imaging study. Biol Psychiatry 2003, 54: 1171–1180.
- [24] Fujiwara H, Namiki C, Hirao K, Miyata J, Shimizu M, Fukuyama H, et al. Anterior and posterior cingulum abnormalities and their association with psychopathology in schizophrenia: a diffusion tensor imaging study. Schizophr Res 2007, 95: 215–222.
- [25] Abdul-Rahman MF, Qiu A, Sim K. Regionally specific white matter disruptions of fornix and cingulum in schizophrenia. PLoS One 2011, 6: e18652.
- [26] Qiu A, Tuan TA, Woon PS, Abdul-Rahman MF, Graham S, Sim K. Hippocampal-cortical structural connectivity disruptions in schizophrenia: an integrated perspective from hippocampal shape, cortical thickness, and integrity of white matter bundles. Neuroimage 2010, 52: 1181–1189.
- [27] Voineskos AN, Lobaugh NJ, Bouix S, Rajji TK, Miranda D, Kennedy JL, *et al.* Diffusion tensor tractography findings in schizophrenia across the adult lifespan. Brain 2010, 133: 1494–1504.
- [28] Segal D, Haznedar MM, Hazlett EA, Entis JJ, Newmark RE, Torosjan Y, et al. Diffusion tensor anisotropy in the cingulate gyrus in schizophrenia. Neuroimage 2010, 50: 357–365.
- [29] Wang F, Jiang T, Sun Z, Teng SL, Luo X, Zhu Z, et al. Neuregulin 1 genetic variation and anterior cingulum integrity in patients with schizophrenia and healthy controls. J Psychiatry Neurosci 2009, 34: 181–186.
- [30] Nestor PG, Kubicki M, Nakamura M, Niznikiewicz M,

McCarley RW, Shenton ME. Comparing prefrontal gray and white matter contributions to intelligence and decision making in schizophrenia and healthy controls. Neuropsychology 2010, 24: 121–129.

- [31] Takei K, Yamasue H, Abe O, Yamada H, Inoue H, Suga M, et al. Structural disruption of the dorsal cingulum bundle is associated with impaired Stroop performance in patients with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2009, 114: 119–127.
- [32] Manoach DS, Ketwaroo GA, Polli FE, Thakkar KN, Barton JJ, Goff DC, et al. Reduced microstructural integrity of the white matter underlying anterior cingulate cortex is associated with increased saccadic latency in schizophrenia. Neuroimage 2007, 37: 599–610.
- [33] Roalf DR, Ruparel K, Verma R, Elliott MA, Gur RE, Gur RC. White matter organization and neurocognitive performance variability in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2013, 143: 172– 178.
- [34] Von Der Heide RJ, Skipper LM, Klobusicky E, Olson IR. Dissecting the uncinate fasciculus: disorders, controversies and a hypothesis. Brain 2013, 136: 1692–1707.
- [35] Kitis O, Ozalay O, Zengin EB, Haznedaroglu D, Eker MC, Yalvac D, et al. Reduced left uncinate fasciculus fractional anisotropy in deficit schizophrenia but not in non-deficit schizophrenia. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2012, 66: 34–43.
- [36] Voineskos AN, Foussias G, Lerch J, Felsky D, Remington G, Rajji TK, et al. Neuroimaging evidence for the deficit subtype of schizophrenia. JAMA Psychiatry 2013, 70: 472–480.
- [37] Kubicki M, Westin CF, McCarley RW, Shenton ME. The application of DTI to investigate white matter abnormalities in schizophrenia. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2005, 1064: 134–148.
- [38] Melonakos ED, Shenton ME, Rathi Y, Terry DP, Bouix S, Kubicki M. Voxel-based morphometry (VBM) studies in schizophrenia-can white matter changes be reliably detected with VBM? Psychiatry Res 2011, 193: 65–70.
- [39] de Weijer AD, Neggers SF, Diederen KM, Mandl RC, Kahn RS, Hulshoff Pol HE, et al. Aberrations in the arcuate fasciculus are associated with auditory verbal hallucinations in psychotic and in non-psychotic individuals. Hum Brain Mapp 2013, 34: 626–634.
- [40] Catani M, Craig MC, Forkel SJ, Kanaan R, Picchioni M, Toulopoulou T, *et al.* Altered integrity of perisylvian language pathways in schizophrenia: relationship to auditory hallucinations. Biol Psychiatry 2011, 70: 1143–1150.
- [41] Hubl D, Koenig T, Strik W, Federspiel A, Kreis R, Boesch C, et al. Pathways that make voices: white matter changes in auditory hallucinations. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2004, 61: 658– 668.
- [42] Kubicki M, Shenton ME, Maciejewski PK, Pelavin PE, Hawley KJ, Ballinger T, et al. Decreased axial diffusivity within language connections: a possible biomarker of schizophrenia

risk. Schizophr Res 2013, 148: 67-73.

- [43] Boos HB, Mandl RC, van Haren NE, Cahn W, van Baal GC, Kahn RS, et al. Tract-based diffusion tensor imaging in patients with schizophrenia and their non-psychotic siblings. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2013, 23: 295–304.
- [44] Zhou Y, Shu N, Liu Y, Song M, Hao Y, Liu H, et al. Altered resting-state functional connectivity and anatomical connectivity of hippocampus in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2008, 100: 120–132.
- [45] Liu X, Lai Y, Wang X, Hao C, Chen L, Zhou Z, et al. A combined DTI and structural MRI study in medicated-naive chronic schizophrenia. Magn Reson Imaging 2014, 32: 1–8.
- [46] Liu X, Lai Y, Wang X, Hao C, Chen L, Zhou Z, et al. Reduced white matter integrity and cognitive deficit in never-medicated chronic schizophrenia: a diffusion tensor study using TBSS. Behav Brain Res 2013, 252: 157–163.
- [47] Epstein KA, Cullen KR, Mueller BA, Robinson P, Lee S, Kumra S. White matter abnormalities and cognitive impairment in early-onset schizophrenia-spectrum disorders. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2014, 53: 362–372 e362.
- [48] Fujino J, Takahashi H, Miyata J, Sugihara G, Kubota M, Sasamoto A, et al. Impaired empathic abilities and reduced white matter integrity in schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2014, 48: 117–123.
- [49] Levitt JJ, Alvarado JL, Nestor PG, Rosow L, Pelavin PE, McCarley RW, et al. Fractional anisotropy and radial diffusivity: diffusion measures of white matter abnormalities in the anterior limb of the internal capsule in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2012, 136: 55–62.
- [50] Mamah D, Conturo TE, Harms MP, Akbudak E, Wang L, McMichael AR, et al. Anterior thalamic radiation integrity in schizophrenia: a diffusion-tensor imaging study. Psychiatry Res 2010, 183: 144–150.
- [51] Penades R, Pujol N, Catalan R, Massana G, Rametti G, Garcia-Rizo C, et al. Brain effects of cognitive remediation therapy in schizophrenia: a structural and functional neuroimaging study. Biol Psychiatry 2013, 73: 1015–1023.
- [52] Shergill SS, Kanaan RA, Chitnis XA, O'Daly O, Jones DK, Frangou S, *et al.* A diffusion tensor imaging study of fasciculi in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 2007, 164: 467–473.
- [53] Kubicki M, McCarley R, Westin CF, Park HJ, Maier S, Kikinis R, et al. A review of diffusion tensor imaging studies in schizophrenia. J Psychiatr Res 2007, 41: 15–30.
- [54] Song M, Jiang T. A review of functional magnetic resonance imaging for Brainnetome. Neurosci Bull 2012, 28: 389–398.
- [55] Cox SR, Ferguson KJ, Royle NA, Shenkin SD, MacPherson SE, MacLullich AM, *et al.* A systematic review of brain frontal lobe parcellation techniques in magnetic resonance imaging. Brain Struct Funct 2014, 219: 1–22.

- [56] Howes OD, Kapur S. The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: version III--the final common pathway. Schizophr Bull 2009, 35: 549–562.
- [57] Salvador R, Martinez A, Pomarol-Clotet E, Sarro S, Suckling J, Bullmore E. Frequency based mutual information measures between clusters of brain regions in functional magnetic resonance imaging. Neuroimage 2007, 35: 83–88.
- [58] Yoon JH, Minzenberg MJ, Raouf S, D'Esposito M, Carter CS. Impaired prefrontal-basal ganglia functional connectivity and substantia nigra hyperactivity in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 2013, 74: 122–129.
- [59] Quide Y, Morris RW, Shepherd AM, Rowland JE, Green MJ. Task-related fronto-striatal functional connectivity during working memory performance in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2013, 150: 468–475.
- [60] Lawrie SM, Buechel C, Whalley HC, Frith CD, Friston KJ, Johnstone EC. Reduced frontotemporal functional connectivity in schizophrenia associated with auditory hallucinations. Biol Psychiatry 2002, 51: 1008–1011.
- [61] Hoffman RE, Hampson M. Functional connectivity studies of patients with auditory verbal hallucinations. Front Hum Neurosci 2011, 6: 6.
- [62] Raij TT, Valkonen-Korhonen M, Holi M, Therman S, Lehtonen J, Hari R. Reality of auditory verbal hallucinations. Brain 2009, 132: 2994–3001.
- [63] Dosenbach NU, Fair DA, Miezin FM, Cohen AL, Wenger KK, Dosenbach RA, *et al.* Distinct brain networks for adaptive and stable task control in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007, 104: 11073–11078.
- [64] Dosenbach NU, Fair DA, Cohen AL, Schlaggar BL, Petersen SE. A dual-networks architecture of top-down control. Trends Cogn Sci 2008, 12: 99–105.
- [65] Jiang T, Zhou Y. Brainnetome of schizophrenia: focus on impaired cognitive function. Shanghai Archives of Psychiatry 2012, 24: 3–10.
- [66] MacDonald AW, 3rd, Carter CS, Kerns JG, Ursu S, Barch DM, Holmes AJ, et al. Specificity of prefrontal dysfunction and context processing deficits to schizophrenia in nevermedicated patients with first-episode psychosis. Am J Psychiatry 2005, 162: 475–484.
- [67] Rotarska-Jagiela A, van de Ven V, Oertel-Knochel V, Uhlhaas PJ, Vogeley K, Linden DE. Resting-state functional network correlates of psychotic symptoms in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2010, 117: 21–30.
- [68] Weinberger DR, Berman KF, Suddath R, Torrey EF. Evidence of dysfunction of a prefrontal-limbic network in schizophrenia: a magnetic resonance imaging and regional cerebral blood flow study of discordant monozygotic twins. Am J Psychiatry 1992, 149: 890–897.
- [69] Meyer-Lindenberg AS, Olsen RK, Kohn PD, Brown T, Egan

MF, Weinberger DR, *et al.* Regionally specific disturbance of dorsolateral prefrontal-hippocampal functional connectivity in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2005, 62: 379–386.

- [70] Benetti S, Mechelli A, Picchioni M, Broome M, Williams S, McGuire P. Functional integration between the posterior hippocampus and prefrontal cortex is impaired in both first episode schizophrenia and the at risk mental state. Brain 2009, 132: 2426–2436.
- [71] Gusnard DA, Akbudak E, Shulman GL, Raichle ME. Medial prefrontal cortex and self-referential mental activity: relation to a default mode of brain function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001, 98: 4259–4264.
- [72] Whitfield-Gabrieli S, Thermenos HW, Milanovic S, Tsuang MT, Faraone SV, McCarley RW, *et al.* Hyperactivity and hyperconnectivity of the default network in schizophrenia and in first-degree relatives of persons with schizophrenia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009, 106: 1279–1284.
- [73] Wang L, Metzak PD, Woodward TS. Aberrant connectivity during self-other source monitoring in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2011, 125: 136–142.
- [74] Eack SM, Wojtalik JA, Newhill CE, Keshavan MS, Phillips ML. Prefrontal cortical dysfunction during visual perspectivetaking in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2013, 150: 491–497.
- [75] Fan FM, Tan SP, Yang FD, Tan YL, Zhao YL, Chen N, et al. Ventral medial prefrontal functional connectivity and emotion regulation in chronic schizophrenia: a pilot study. Neurosci Bull 2013, 29: 59–74.
- [76] Amunts K, Lenzen M, Friederici AD, Schleicher A, Morosan P, Palomero-Gallagher N, et al. Broca's region: novel organizational principles and multiple receptor mapping. PLoS Biol 2010, 8.
- [77] Clos M, Amunts K, Laird AR, Fox PT, Eickhoff SB. Tackling the multifunctional nature of Broca's region meta-analytically: co-activation-based parcellation of area 44. Neuroimage 2013, 83: 174–188.
- [78] Liu H, Qin W, Li W, Fan L, Wang J, Jiang T, et al. Connectivity-based parcellation of the human frontal pole with diffusion tensor imaging. J Neurosci 2013, 33: 6782–6790.
- [79] Sallet J, Mars RB, Noonan MP, Neubert FX, Jbabdi S, O'Reilly JX, et al. The organization of dorsal frontal cortex in humans and macaques. J Neurosci 2013, 33: 12255–12274.
- [80] Neubert FX, Mars RB, Thomas AG, Sallet J, Rushworth MF. Comparison of human ventral frontal cortex areas for cognitive control and language with areas in monkey frontal cortex. Neuron 2014, 81: 700–713.
- [81] Kahnt T, Chang LJ, Park SQ, Heinzle J, Haynes JD. Connectivity-based parcellation of the human orbitofrontal cortex. J Neurosci 2012, 32: 6240–6250.
- [82] Moayedi M, Salomons TV, Dunlop KA, Downar J, Davis KD. Connectivity-based parcellation of the human frontal polar

cortex. Brain Struct Funct 2014. doi: 10.1007/s00429-014-0809-6.

- [83] Jiang T. Brainnetome: A new –ome to understand the brain and its disorders. Neuroimage 2013, 80: 263–272.
- [84] Fan L, Wang J, Zhang Y, Han W, Yu C, Jiang T. Connectivitybased parcellation of the human temporal pole using diffusion tensor imaging. Cereb Cortex 2014, 24: 3365–3378.
- [85] Wang J, Fan L, Zhang Y, Liu Y, Jiang D, Zhang Y, et al. Tractography-based parcellation of the human left inferior parietal lobule. Neuroimage 2012, 63: 641–652.
- [86] Wang J, Yang Y, Fan L, Xu J, Li C, Liu Y, *et al.* Convergent functional architecture of the superior parietal lobule unraveled with multimodal neuroimaging approaches. Hum Brain Mapp 2015, 36: 238–257.
- [87] Zhang Y, Fan L, Zhang Y, Wang J, Zhu M, Zhang Y, et al. Connectivity-based parcellation of the human posteromedial cortex. Cereb Cortex 2014, 24: 719–727.
- [88] Goulas A, Uylings HB, Stiers P. Unravelling the intrinsic functional organization of the human lateral frontal cortex: a parcellation scheme based on resting state fMRI. J Neurosci 2012, 32: 10238–10252.
- [89] van den Heuvel MP, Sporns O. An anatomical substrate for integration among functional networks in human cortex. J Neurosci 2013, 33: 14489–14500.
- [90] Honey CJ, Sporns O, Cammoun L, Gigandet X, Thiran JP, Meuli R, et al. Predicting human resting-state functional connectivity from structural connectivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009, 106: 2035–2040.
- [91] Greicius MD, Supekar K, Menon V, Dougherty RF. Restingstate functional connectivity reflects structural connectivity in the default mode network. Cereb Cortex 2009, 19: 72–78.
- [92] van den Heuvel MP, Fornito A. Brain networks in schizophrenia. Neuropsychol Rev 2014, 24: 32–48.
- [93] Fitzsimmons J, Kubicki M, Shenton ME. Review of functional and anatomical brain connectivity findings in schizophrenia. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2013, 26: 172–187.
- [94] Zhou Y, Wang K, Liu Y, Song M, Song SW, Jiang T. Spontaneous brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging as a potential biomarker in neuropsychiatric disorders. Cognitive Neurodynamics 2010, 4: 275–294.
- [95] van den Heuvel MP, Sporns O, Collin G, Scheewe T, Mandl RC, Cahn W, et al. Abnormal rich club organization and functional brain dynamics in schizophrenia. JAMA Psychiatry 2013, 70: 783–792.
- [96] Tan HY, Callicott JH, Weinberger DR. Prefrontal cognitive systems in schizophrenia: towards human genetic brain mechanisms. Cogn Neuropsychiatry 2009, 14: 277–298.
- [97] Karlsgodt KH, Bachman P, Winkler AM, Bearden CE, Glahn DC. Genetic influence on the working memory circuitry:

behavior, structure, function and extensions to illness. Behav Brain Res 2011, 225: 610–622.

- [98] Glahn DC, Winkler AM, Kochunov P, Almasy L, Duggirala R, Carless MA, et al. Genetic control over the resting brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010, 107: 1223–1228.
- [99] Gottesman II, Gould TD. The endophenotype concept in psychiatry: etymology and strategic intentions. Am J Psychiatry 2003, 160: 636–645.
- [100] Liu B, Song M, Li J, Liu Y, Li K, Yu C, et al. Prefrontal-related functional connectivities within the default network are modulated by COMT val158met in healthy young adults. J Neurosci 2010, 30: 64–69.
- [101] Liu B, Fan L, Cui Y, Zhang X, Hou B, Li Y, et al. DISC1 Ser704Cys impacts thalamic-prefrontal connectivity. Brain Struct Funct 2015, 220: 91–100.
- [102] Buckner RL, Krienen FM, Yeo BT. Opportunities and limitations of intrinsic functional connectivity MRI. Nat Neurosci 2013, 16: 832–837.
- [103] Sigurdsson T, Stark KL, Karayiorgou M, Gogos JA, Gordon JA. Impaired hippocampal-prefrontal synchrony in a genetic mouse model of schizophrenia. Nature 2010, 464: 763–767.

- [104] Shen B, Zhang J, Wu H, Wang J, Ma K, Li Z, et al. Generation of gene-modified mice via Cas9/RNA-mediated gene targeting. Cell Res 2013, 23: 720–723.
- [105] Wang H, Yang H, Shivalila CS, Dawlaty MM, Cheng AW, Zhang F, et al. One-step generation of mice carrying mutations in multiple genes by CRISPR/Cas-mediated genome engineering. Cell 2013, 153: 910–918.
- [106] McClintock SM, Freitas C, Oberman L, Lisanby SH, Pascual-Leone A. Transcranial magnetic stimulation: a neuroscientific probe of cortical function in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 2011, 70: 19–27.
- [107] Sandrini M, Umilta C, Rusconi E. The use of transcranial magnetic stimulation in cognitive neuroscience: a new synthesis of methodological issues. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2011, 35: 516–536.
- [108] Reithler J, Peters JC, Sack AT. Multimodal transcranial magnetic stimulation: using concurrent neuroimaging to reveal the neural network dynamics of noninvasive brain stimulation. Prog Neurobiol 2011, 94: 149–165.
- [109] Friston KJ, Harrison L, Penny W. Dynamic causal modelling. Neuroimage 2003, 19: 1273–1302.

·Review·

What can atypical language hemispheric specialization tell us about cognitive functions?

Qing Cai¹, Lise Van der Haegen²

¹Key Laboratory of Brain Functional Genomics, Ministry of Education, Shanghai Key Laboratory of Brain Functional Genomics, School of Psychology and Cognitive Science, East China Normal University, Shanghai 200062, China ²Department of Experimental Psychology, Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, Ghent University, Belgium Corresponding author: Qing Cai. E-mail: qcai@psy.ecnu.edu.cn

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

Recent studies have made substantial progress in understanding the interactions between cognitive functions, from language to cognitive control, attention, and memory. However, dissociating these functions has been hampered by the close proximity of regions involved, as in the case in the prefrontal and parietal cortex. In this article, we review a series of studies that investigated the relationship between language and other cognitive functions in an alternative way — by examining their functional (co-)lateralization. We argue that research on the hemispheric lateralization of language and its link with handedness can offer an appropriate starting-point to shed light on the relationships between different functions. Besides functional interactions, anatomical asymmetries in non-human primates and those underlying language in humans can provide unique information about cortical organization. Finally, some open questions and criteria are raised for an ideal theoretical model of the cortex based on hemispheric specialization.

Keywords: functional lateralization; hemispheric specialization; language production; cognitive functions; co-lateralization

Introduction

Neuroimaging studies in the last years have defined many functionally-specialized brain regions. However, specialization alone cannot fully account for most aspects of brain function. Cognitive functions require the integration of distributed neuronal activity. One task may activate many cortical regions, and one region may be involved in many processes. For example, several important functions, such as attention, working memory, cognitive control, and language production, are critically dependent on the prefrontal cortex. Yet, anatomical architecture^[1] and functional experience seem to create regularities in cortical organization across subjects. Functional ontologies can chart the complex relationship between anatomy and function by depicting which sub-process causes the activation of which precise anatomical region and *vice* versa^[2], provided that both anatomical networks and task contexts are dynamic. Recently, a many-to-many approach was presented because functions not only seem to be rooted in distributed networks, but configured circuits also interact with each other^[3]. Some recent studies have modeled the brain as graphs consisting of different functional networks, and these studies converged on a set of fundamental attributes of human brain organization, in line with those found in nonhuman primates^[4,5]. We argue that the way the cortex is organized (be it according to a one-to-one, one-to-many, or many-to-many mapping between anatomy and function) can be uniquely investigated by looking at the anatomical and functional correlates of (a)typical lateralization of language. It is welldocumented how behavioral tasks and handedness can help identify subjects with (a)typical speech dominance, and there is a rich neuroimaging literature on the subprocesses of language. Moreover, language seems to be the most pronounced lateralized function so far. In this review, we further discuss studies that have used (a)typical speech dominance to explore the organization of other language-related and non-language functions. Subjects with atypical lateralization allow investigation of what consequences a shift in one function has for other networks that do not seem to be related at first sight. As such, anatomical and functional relationships that are otherwise difficult to dissociate can be mapped in a healthy population.

Functional Lateralization of Language and Handedness

The capacity for language is unique to human beings. Its well-documented lateralization makes it an even more intriguing function. Left hemisphere (LH) dominance for language production is a robust finding at the population level. In the 19th century, Marc Dax and Paul Broca first reported that speech problems are more likely to occur after injuries to the frontal part of the left hemisphere than after injuries to the right hemisphere (RH). Some early evidence for language dominance came from split-brain patients, whose corpus callosum was sectioned to control intractable epilepsy. The seizures were decreased by disconnecting the two hemispheres. Testing of each disconnected hemisphere in split-brain patients seems to show quite extensive language understanding in the isolated RH, but no speech output^[6]. These results therefore suggest the dominant role of the LH in language production, and this hemispheric specialization has been supported by a wealth of evidence from neuroimaging studies in the last two decades, for the great majority of individuals.

Similar to the population-level bias towards LH dominance for language, a strong bias towards the right hand at the population level has probably existed for more than ten thousand years^[7]. A popular way to define handedness is using questionnaires such as the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory^[8] or the Waterloo Handedness Questionnaire^[9], or a finger-tapping test^[10]. In such questionnaires, a handedness index is calculated based on the self-reported handedness in a list of common manual tasks. However, the nature of handedness is

so far unclear. An influential genetic model proposed by McManus^[11] suggests that hand preference is controlled by an allele, which can be either right-biased (the D variant) or not biased (the C variant). Individuals with DD alleles are assumed to be right-handed; the handedness of individuals with CC alleles is random; and those with DC alleles have a 75% chance of right-handedness. A good fit of the data is obtained when the proportion of the C variant in the population is estimated to be around 0.155. However, although a few candidate genes have been proposed, and recent twin studies have confirmed a significant genetic influence on handedness, the genetic effects are complex and small, which suggests a polygenic control of handedness rather than a single-gene model^[12].

The relationship between cerebral lateralization of language and handedness has been studied for years, and the link seems to be weak and indirect. On the other hand, left-handers are excluded from most cognitive studies in order to reduce variance in the data. Recently, a few studies suggested a weak but clear relationship between these two lateralized functions at the population level. For example, Knecht et al.[13] found that the likelihood of RH language dominance as measured with a word-generation task increases with the degree of lefthandedness: ~1-5% of right-handed individuals are rightlateralized for language, and so are ~10-25% of lefthanders. Given that LH language dominance cannot be generalized to the whole population, cognitive studies should take into account both left-handed and right-handed subjects^[14]. Not only looking at typically organized cortices but also investigating atypical lateralization can help to unravel cortical organization. A shift in the hemispheric specialization of one functional network can reveal how another network is associated with or dissociated from the first. Language might be an interesting first network to look at, because RH speech dominance is rare but can be found in healthy people, especially in left-handed individuals, and this inspired the series of studies outlined below.

Is Language Dominance Related to Other Cognitive Functions?

Based on the report by Knecht *et al.*^[13], Van der Haegen *et al.*^[15] carried out large-scale screening of 265 left-

handers and determined their language dominance. The left-handers first took part in a behavioral visual half-field experiment, and were classified as atypical RH- or typical LH-dominant for speech if they were fastest at naming pictures and words presented on the left or right half of the screen, respectively (because of the partial crossing of optic fibers visual information is sent to the contralateral hemisphere). Their speech lateralization was confirmed in an fMRI word-generation task, in which activity in the inferior frontal gyrus was compared between the left and right hemispheres.

Then the left and right speech-dominant subjects took part in a study on reading lateralization. This made it possible to determine whether reading is dominantly processed in the LH because of low-level processes such as visual spatial frequencies^[16,17] or because language subprocesses co-lateralize in order to optimize the integration of visual and phonological information. The lateralization indices based on activity in the ventral occipito-temporal (vOT – also termed the visual word form area^[18] as it responds to (pseudo)words invariantly of retinal location. case, or font) during lexical decision showed that right dominance for speech in frontal language regions is most often accompanied by right lateralization of word recognition^[19,20]. These results thus lend strong support to the hypothesis that vOT activity in word reading is adjusted 'top-down' by anterior language structures, instead of being automatically activated in a 'bottom-up' way. In other words, the vOT visual word recognition system is primarily a language system and not a visual processing system.

Although (a)typical functional lateralization can provide information on how language sub-processes interact, language does not exist in isolation from other cognitive functions such as memory and attention. For instance, a network has been shown to respond to different kinds of cognitive challenges^[21]. This network, sometimes referred to as the 'cognitive control network' or 'multi-demand system', involves a set of regions in the prefrontal and parietal cortex, including dorsolateral prefrontal regions (cortex in and around the posterior part of the inferior frontal sulcus), anterior insular and adjacent frontal operculum, pre-supplementary motor area and adjacent dorsal anterior cingulate cortex, and regions in and around the intraparietal sulcus. Recent studies have investigated whether and how this domain-general cognitive control network is engaged in language processing, and have shown that cognitive control plays an important role in language, at least in language production (e.g. using a missing-letter paradigm^[22] or verbal fluency^[23]). In contrast, other studies (e.g. using a sentence understanding task^[24]) found little or no response in language regions to non-language cognitive control. However, given that the regions involved in these functions are located in close proximity, especially in the prefrontal cortex, it is not easy to clearly separate them and draw conclusions. Again, this issue can be investigated via functional lateralization as an alternative approach. The research group that identified the (a)typical speechdominant group noted above also examined the relationship between language production and non-language cognitive control, and found that cognitive control in a non-language task-switching paradigm is highly co-lateralized to the dominant hemisphere for language production (Fig. 1B, Cai et al., unpublished data), which might indicate that the two functions share mechanisms. Apart from language production, visuospatial attention is the most salient lateralized cerebral function. Complementary specialization of language and visuospatial attention has been observed in the majority of the population. Does this complementary specialization have a causal origin (the lateralization of one function causes the opposite lateralization of the other for best parallel performance, as proposed by Kosslyn^[25]), or is it rather a statistical phenomenon (different functions lateralize independently)? By testing the two groups of left-handers with opposite hemispheric dominance, Cai et al.^[26] reported that right dominance of language is always accompanied by an atypical left-lateralized fronto-parietal network underlying visuospatial processing during a landmark task, both at the group and at the individual levels (Fig. 1A). These results clearly support the 'causal origin' hypothesis of complementary specialization, and we could speculate that this crossed lateralization has a longstanding evolutionary origin.

Furthermore, it has been reported that language and praxis (i.e., tool use) networks are highly overlapping and co-lateralize to the dominant hemisphere for language. This overlapping network involves the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, posterior parietal cortex, supplementary motor area, and dorsal and ventral premotor cortex^[27] (Fig. 1C).



Fig. 1. (A) Language production and visuospatial attention lateralize to different hemispheres, independent of the side of lateralization; overlapping activations for the two tasks only occur in the insula and the supplementary motor area (SMA). (B) Cognitive control in a non-language task-switching paradigm is lateralized to the dominant hemisphere for language production, independent of the side. (C) Left panel: Language production and tool-use pantomiming co-lateralize to the same hemisphere, with overlapping activations (depicted in purple marked out by squares) in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), dorsal premotor cortex (dPMC), ventral premotor cortex (vPMC), posterior parietal cortex (PPC) and SMA. Right panel: Co-lateralization within and between paradigms. The lateralization index (LI) of each region is listed inside the ellipses (typical/atypical lateralization group); black and gray connecting lines represent significant correlations between the LIs of the regions within and between paradigms. Note that these studies were conducted in left-handers. The figure is reproduced from Cai *et al.*, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013^[26] and Vingerhoets *et al.*, Cortex 2013^[27].

Both the direction and degree of lateralization during word generation correlate with the lateralization pattern during tool-use pantomiming. Most participants were left-handed, but the same pattern was found in one right-handed and one ambidextrous person. This indicates that handedness can only serve as an indirect selection criterion for models linking gestures and speech to explain the evolution of human language^[28]. Rather, the functional asymmetry of language or tool use can give new insights in this domain.

To conclude, functional lateralization studies seem to offer a different approach to investigate the relationship between different functions. Co-lateralization of different cognitive functions, or the dependency of their functional lateralization (i.e. complementary specialization), may suggest an interaction between the functions of interest, either online or during evolution/development. These studies could therefore add more evidence to our current research from a different point of view.

It should be noted, however, that these studies have so far been limited to pre-selected left-handers. Therefore, further studies are expected to confirm whether this conclusion can be generalized to the whole population, including both left- and right-handers. We should also note that many tasks widely used in current studies are not defined precisely enough, in the sense that they often involve cognitive functions other than the one of interest, such as memory retrieval, attention, and decision-making. Besides, a cognitive functional system, no matter which one, should not be considered as a whole, but rather a set of primitives (i.e. a 'parts list' of representational elements, as well as a list of elementary functions, from both the cognitive side and the neuroscience side^[29]). Knowing how distinct parts of a cognitive function co-lateralize within an individual offers much richer and more detailed information about the mechanism underlying this cognitive function.

Asymmetries in the Human Brain and in Our Primate Relatives

Although the hemispheric lateralization of language is a specific cortical feature of the human brain, it is now clear that asymmetries of brain and behavior exist not only in humans but also in vertebrates and invertebrates^[30-33]. Some of the asymmetries in animals parallel those in humans, probably serving as evolutionary precursors. It would therefore be unjust to argue that functional (language) lateralization studies in humans are the single best way to investigate cortical organization. Unique information for brain research can also be obtained by linking functional lateralization to the anatomical structure it is based in and

by looking at the evolution of functions.

Chimpanzees, our closest relatives, show both a bias towards right-handedness at the population-level^[30] and brain structural asymmetries in regions homologous with human language-relevant regions^[31]. Furthermore, the direction of hand preference for clapping explains a significant portion of the variability in asymmetries of the planum temporale and inferior frontal gyrus^[30]. In contrast, no significant population-level cerebral structural asymmetries have been reported in the macaque, except for the surface area of the superior temporal sulcus^[31]. The asymmetries in chimpanzees are therefore suspected to be a precursor of human language lateralization.

A recent work by Leroy et al.^[34] pointed out a robust human-unique asymmetry in the depth of the superior temporal sulcus (STS), which is deeper in the right than the left hemisphere. This asymmetry is systematically present in humans at all ages, but hardly detectable in chimpanzees and absent in macaques. Given that the STS region plays a crucial role in human linguistic functions, this asymmetry is suspected to be the spot underlying language lateralization. Nevertheless, the same study compared individuals with LH dominance for language and those with RH dominance, and found no significant difference in STS asymmetry between the two groups --- they both showed a deeper STS on the right side. That is, this human-unique asymmetry seems not to be correlated with the functional lateralization of language. The morphometric results from the same two populations also showed that functional lateralization is only subtly linked to anatomical asymmetry, with differences in the surface area of the insula, part of the planum temporale, and the $vOT^{\scriptscriptstyle [35]}\!.$ Similarly, a leftward asymmetry in the relative fiber density of the arcuate fasciculus - connecting frontal and temporo-parietal language areas - was found for left- and right-handers irrespective of their functional lateralization during verb generation^[36]. One study recently did find a relationship between the gyrification pattern of Heschl's gyrus involved in primary auditory processing and functional asymmetries during word listening, again irrespective of handedness^[37]. To conclude, only subtle anatomical asymmetries have been linked so far to clear (a)typical functional language lateralization (note that other studies did relate the degree of only leftward lateralization to anatomical variations, e.g. [38]).

Towards an Ideal Theory of Hemispheric Specialization for Different Functions

Studies on functional lateralization in recent years have already shed light on the relationship between different cognitive functions. Nevertheless, the nature of hemispheric specialization is still far from clear.

For further research, an ideal theory of cerebral functional lateralization is expected to fulfill these requirements: (1) to include as many lateralized modules/ functions as possible and take into account their colateralization; (2) to amplify research on the lateralization of functions other than speech so that they can serve as a starting point for lateralization research (i.e. comparing lateralization of sub-processes to the main function, charting the prevalence of (a)typical lateralization, and creating behavioral screening tasks to identify (a)typical subjects); (3) to better define distinctive (sub-)function systems involved in different cognitive functions, both theoretically and computationally, so that overlapping brain regions and networks can be optimally interpreted; (4) to clarify the link between functional lateralization and anatomical asymmetries including morphometric asymmetries and asymmetries in fiber pathways; (5) to take into account both left-handed and right-handed populations to be able to explain the probability and mechanism of atypical lateralization and handedness in some individuals; and (6) to associate the human model with human diseases, animal models, and genetic models.

Received date: 2014-06-08; Accepted date: 2014-11-28

REFERENCES

- Krienen FM, Yeo BT, Buckner RL. Reconfigurable taskdependent functional coupling modes cluster around a core functional architecture. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 2014, 369 (1653). pii: 20130526.
- [2] Price CJ, Friston KJ. Functional ontologies for cognition: The systematic definition of structure and function. Cogn Neuropsychol 2005, 22: 262–275.
- Behrmann M, Plaut DC. Distributed circuits, not circumscribed centers, mediate visual recognition. Trends Cogn Sci 2013, 17: 210–219.
- [4] Bullmore E, Sporns O. Complex brain networks: graph theoretical analysis of structural and functional systems. Nat Rev Neurosci 2009, 10: 186–198.

- [5] Power JD, Cohen AL, Nelson SM, Wig GS, Barnes KA, Church JA, *et al.* Functional Network Organization of the Human Brain. Neuron 2011, 72: 665–678.
- [6] Gazzaniga MS. Right-hemisphere language following brain bisection: A 20-yearperspective. Am Psychol 1983, 38: 525– 537.
- [7] Faurie C, Raymond M. Handedness frequency over more than ten thousand years. Proc R Soc Lond B (Suppl.) 2004, 271: S43–S45.
- [8] Oldfield RC. The assessment and analysis of handedness: The Edinburgh inventory. Neuropsychologia 1971, 9: 97–114.
- [9] Steenhuis RE, Bryden MP. Different dimensions of hand preference that relate to skilled and unskilled activities. Cortex 1989, 25: 289–304.
- [10] Mellet E, Jobard G, Zago L, Crivello F, Petit L, Joliot M, et al. Relationships between hand laterality and verbal and spatial skills in 436 healthy adults balanced for handedness. Laterality 2014, 19: 383–404.
- [11] McManus IC. Handedness, language dominance and aphasia: A genetic model. Psychol Med Monogr 1985, 8: 1–40.
- [12] Francks C. Understanding the genetics of behavioural and psychiatric traits will only be achieved through a realistic assessment of their complexity. Laterality 2009, 14: 11–16.
- [13] Knecht S, Dräger B, Deppe M, Bobe L, Lohmann H, Flöel A, et al. Handedness and hemispheric language dominance in healthy humans. Brain 2000, 123: 2512–2518.
- [14] Willems RM, Van der Haegen L, Fisher SE, Francks C. On the other hand: including left-handers in cognitive neuroscience and neurogenetics. Nat Rev Neurosci 2014, 15: 193–201.
- [15] Van der Haegen L, Cai Q, Seurinck R, Brysbaert M. Further fMRI validation of the visual half field technique as an indicator of language laterality: A large-group analysis. Neuropsychologia 2011, 49: 2879–2888.
- [16] Woodhead ZV, Wise RJ, Sereno M, Leech R. Dissociation of sensitivity to spatial frequency in word and face preferential areas of the fusiform gyrus. Cereb Cortex 2011, 21: 2307– 2312.
- [17] Seghier ML, Price CJ. Explaining left lateralization for words in the ventral occipitotemporal cortex. J Neurosci 2011, 31: 14745–14753.
- [18] Cohen L, Dehaene S, Naccache L, Lehéricy S, Dehaene-Lambertz G, Hénaff MA, *et al.* The visual word form area: Spatial and temporal characterization of an initial stage of reading in normal subjects and posterior split-brain patients. Brain 2000, 123: 291–307.
- [19] Van der Haegen L, Cai Q, Brysbaert M. Colateralization of Broca's area and the visual word form area in left-handers: fMRI evidence. Brain Lang 2012, 122: 171–178.

- [20] Cai Q, Lavidor M, Brysbaert M, Paulignan Y,Nazir TA. Cerebral lateralization of frontal lobe language processes and lateralization of the posterior visual word processing system. J Cogn Neurosci 2008, 20: 672–681.
- [21] Duncan J. An adaptive coding model of neural function in prefrontal cortex. Nat Rev Neurosci 2001, 2: 820–829
- [22] Kerns JG, Cohen JD, Stenger VA, Carter CS. Prefrontal cortex guides context-appropriate responding during language production. Neuron 2004, 43: 283–291.
- [23] Eickhoff SB, Heim S, Zilles K, Amunts K. A systems perspective on the effective connectivity of overt speech production. Philos Trans A Math Phys Eng Sci 2009, 367: 2399–2421.
- [24] Fedorenko E, Behr M, Kanwisher N. Functional specificity for high-level linguistic processing in the human brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2011, 108: 16428–16433.
- [25] Kosslyn SM.Seeing and imaging in the cerebral hemispheres: A computational approach. Psychol Rev 1987, 94: 148–175.
- [26] Cai Q, Van der Haegen L, Brysbaert M. Complementary hemispheric specialization for language production and visuospatial attention. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013, 110: E322–330.
- [27] Vingerhoets G, Alderweireldt AS, Vandemaele P, Cai Q, Van der Haegen L, Brysbaert M, *et al.* Praxis and language are linked: Evidence from co-lateralization in individuals with atypical language dominance. Cortex 2013, 49: 172–183.
- [28] Arbib MA. From monkey-like action recognition to human language: An evolutionary framework for neurolinguistics. Behav Brain Sci 2005, 28: 105–167.
- [29] Poeppel D. The maps problem and the mapping problem: Two challenges for a cognitive neuroscience of speech and language. Cognit Neuropsychol 2012, 29: 1–2, 34–55.
- [30] Meguerditchian A, Gardner MJ, Schapiro SJ, Hopkins WD. The sound of one-hand clapping: Handedness and

perisylvian neural correlates of a communicative gesture in chimpanzees. Proc Biol Sci 2012, 279: 1959–1966.

- [31] Bogart SL, Mangin JF, Schapiro SJ, Reamer L, Bennett AJ, Pierre PJ, et al. Cortical sulci asymmetries in chimpanzees and macaques: a new look at an old idea. Neuroimage 2012, 61: 533–541.
- [32] Letzkus P, Ribi WA, Wood JT, Zhu H, Zhang SW, Srinivasan MV. Lateralization of olfaction in the honeybee *Apismellifera*. Curr Biol 2006, 16: 1471–1476.
- [33] Rogers LJ, Vallortigara G, Andrew RJ. Divided brains: the biology and behaviour of brain asymmetries. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2013.
- [34] Leroy F, Cai Q, Bogart SL, Dubois J, Coulon O, Monzalvo K, et al. New human-specific brain landmark: the depth asymmetry of superior temporal sulcus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015, 112: 1208–1213.
- [35] Greve DN, Van der Haegen L, Cai Q, Stufflebeam S, Sabuncu MR, Fischl B, *et al.* A surface-based analysis of language lateralization and cortical asymmetry. J Cogn Neurosci 2014, 25: 1477–1492.
- [36] Vernooij MW, Smits M, Wielopolski PA, Houston GC, Krestin GP, van der Lugt A. Fiber density asymmetry of the arcuate fasciculus in relation to functional hemispheric language lateralization in both right- and left-handed healthy subjects: a combined fMRI and DTI study. Neuroimage 2007, 35: 1064–1076.
- [37] Tzourio-Mazoyer N, Marie D, Zago L, Jobard G, Perchey G, Leroux G, et al. Heschl's gyrification pattern is related to speech-listening hemispheric lateralization: FMRI investigation in 281 healthy volunteers. Brain Struct Funct 2014.
- [38] Josse G, Mazoyer B, Crivello F, Tzourio-Mazoyer N. Left planum temporale: an anatomical marker of left hemispheric specialization for language comprehension. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res 2003, 18: 1–14.

Prefrontal cortical α_{2A} -adrenoceptors and a possible primate model of attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder

Chao-Lin Ma, Xuan Sun, Fei Luo, Bao-Ming Li

Center for Neuropsychiatric Disorders, Institute of Life Science, Nanchang University, Nanchang 330031, China Corresponding author: Chao-Lin Ma. E-mail: chaolin.ma@gmail.com

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

Attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), a prevalent syndrome in children worldwide, is characterized by impulsivity, inappropriate inattention, and/or hyperactivity. It seriously afflicts cognitive development in childhood, and may lead to chronic under-achievement, academic failure, problematic peer relationships, and low self-esteem. There are at least three challenges for the treatment of ADHD. First, the neurobiological bases of its symptoms are still not clear. Second, the commonly prescribed medications, most showing short-term therapeutic efficacy but with a high risk of serious side-effects, are mainly based on a dopamine mechanism. Third, more novel and efficient animal models, especially in nonhuman primates, are required to accelerate the development of new medications. In this article, we review research progress in the related fields, focusing on our previous studies showing that blockade of prefrontal cortical α_{2A} -adrenoceptors in monkeys produces almost all the typical behavioral symptoms of ADHD.

Keywords: prefrontal cortex; α_{2A} -adrenoceptors; cognitive functions; attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder; animal models

Introduction

Attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is one of the most prevalent childhood neurodevelopmental conditions, affecting 3–5% of grade-school children worldwide^[1]. It is characterized by inappropriate levels of inattention, impulsivity, and/or hyperactivity^[2-4]. These symptoms develop in childhood, and can persist into adolescence and adulthood^[5]. ADHD seriously affects cognitive development^[6-8], and, without appropriate treatment, has consequences for the risk of anxiety, substance abuse, and depression in adulthood^[2, 5, 9].

The neurobiological bases of ADHD symptoms are still not clear^[10]. Clarifying them can help better understand the biological vulnerabilities that may underlie ADHD in a specific patient and how to modulate the responses to treatment, thereby contributing to better and more effective therapy.

It has been suggested that the symptoms involve a dopaminergic mechanism in the prefrontal cortex (PFC)

and striatum^[11, 12]. Experimentally decreased dopamine (DA) release in the PFC results in ADHD-like symptoms^[13, 14]. To date, DA dysregulation is thought to be central to the neurobiology of ADHD, and its pharmacological treatment, such as methylphenidate (MPH, i.e. Ritalin)^[15-17], levels the DA concentration in the synapse and extrasynaptic space in the PFC as a blocker of the DA transporter. MPH ameliorates inappropriate inattention^[18-20], decreases impulsivity^[21], and enhances inhibitory control^[22]. However, as MPH is a prescription psychostimulant, there are strong concerns over drug dependence, paranoia, schizophrenia, and behavioral sensitization that might be caused by long-term therapy, similar to other stimulants^[23-25].

Converging evidence indicates that the pathophysiology of ADHD has multiple origins^[26-32]; for instance, norepinephrine (NE) has long been implicated^[33, 34]. In this paper, we review research progress in the relevant fields, focusing on the potential relationship between prefrontal α_{2A} -adrenoceptors and ADHD in nonhuman primates^[35-39].

Prefrontal Cognitive Dysfunctions in ADHD

The PFC plays a key role in cognitive functions such as working memory, the regulation of attention, and behavioral inhibition. Imaging and neuropsychological studies have shown that patients with ADHD have poor PFC functions, including poor attention regulation^[40], limited working memory^[41], and inability to inhibit inappropriate motor activity^[42].

Working memory is a fundamental higher-order function, underlies a wide range of executive functional processes^[43, 44], and is primarily controlled by the PFC^[45, 46]. It has been shown that ADHD patients have altered architecture and less activation in the PFC^[47-49]. Persistent working-memory problems are the main cognitive deficit in ADHD^[40, 41, 50, 51].

Attention brings sensory or mental stimuli to the forefront of awareness^[40, 52], and plays a pivotal role in mediating the executive functions of the PFC. During distracted states, the capacity to diminish the awareness of relevant stimuli is compromised. Compared to normal peers, ADHD patients show attention deficits in detecting invalidly-cued targets with slower speed and less accuracy^[53, 54].

Inhibitory control of behavior is one of the most important functions of the PFC^[55]; ablation or lesion of the frontal cortex in monkeys induces locomotor hyperactivity^[56-58]. Perhaps the most fundamental deficit in ADHD is the lack of response inhibition^[52]. In laboratory studies of tasks that measure inhibitory control, children with ADHD often perform more poorly than both normal controls and children with other psychiatric disorders^[59, 60]. Schulz *et al.* reported that response inhibition in adolescents diagnosed with ADHD is primarily mediated by fronto-striatal circuitry^[61, 62].

Prefrontal α_{2A}-Adrenoceptor Blockade Produces ADHD Phenotypes

ADHD has been posited to be caused by hypofunctional catecholamine systems^[63] in multiple brain regions including the PFC^[64-66] and striatum^[67]. Implicated in this are NE projections that originate primarily from neurons in the locus coeruleus and send projections to multiple regions, including the PFC^[68]. There are many subtypes of adrenergic receptors in the PFC, including the α_{2A} subtype.

The α_{2A} -adrenoceptors are localized at both pre- and postsynaptic NE terminals^[69]. However, studies in rodents, monkeys, and humans have shown that lower to moderate levels of NE have a beneficial influence on prefrontal cognitive functions through action at post-synaptic α_{2A} adrenoceptors^[64, 70].

ADHD symptoms can be mimicked by blockade of α_{2A} -adrenoceptors in the PFC. To investigate the role of prefrontal α_{2A} -adrenoceptors in the inhibitory control of behavior, we trained two monkeys to perform a go/no-go task, and the α_{2A} -adrenergic antagonist vohimbine was infused bilaterally and chronically into the dorsolateral PFC with mini-osmotic pumps. We found that blockade of the α_{2A} -adrenoceptors selectively impaired the "no-go" performance of monkeys, leaving the "go" performance intact. In quite a few cases, the monkeys should have kept their hands still and not touch the screen (no-go), but they made a response to the screen^[38]. Infusion of saline at the same cortical locations did not affect the nogo performance, indicating that the yohimbine-induced impulse was not because of nonspecific factors such as infusion-induced cortical damage (Fig. 1A). Our previous work provided the first behavioral evidence that α_{2a} adrenocepters in the dorsolateral PFC are involved in the inhibitory control of behavior.

In addition, the monkeys' locomotor activity was monitored before, during and after yohimbine infusion into the dorsolateral PFC. Compared to that before administration, the daily locomotor activity increased dramatically during the 8-day administration of yohimbine; this gradually returned to normal after the infusion was stopped (Fig. 1B). Infusion of saline at the same location did not cause locomotor hyperactivity^[39]. This work suggests that the α_{2A} -adrenoceptors in the dorsolateral PFC are associated with locomotor activity, and the dorsolateral PFC dysfunction of α_{2A} -adrenergic transmission could be one of the main causes of the impulsive behaviors and hyperactivity in children with ADHD.

Due to the limitations of working on nonhuman primates, we also implemented similar experiments on rats to assess the dose-dependent and age effects of yohimbine at a homological cortical site, the medial PFC. The results showed that yohimbine infused into the medial PFC dose-dependently induced hyperactivity in rats of different ages, and the trends showed that the younger the rats, the more hyperactivity



Fig. 1. Yohimbine infused bilaterally and chronically into the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex impairs impulse control and induces locomotor hyperactivity (adapted from Ma CL *et al.*, Neuroreport, 2003^[38] and Biol Psychiatry, 2005^[39]). (A) Yohimbine impairs "no-go" performance but has no effect on "go" performance. In several cases, the monkeys should not touch the screen (no-go), but they make a response. (B) Daily locomotor activity increases during administration of yohimbine. Each trace is a daily recording from 06:00 to 18:00. Inset: Reconstructed sites for chronic administration of yohimbine and saline. Filled symbols, yohimbine infusion; open symbols, saline infusion; as, arcuate sulcus; ps, principal sulcus.

presented at the same dose (unpublished data). All these results showed that dysfunction of the PFC α_{2A} -adrenoceptors results in the behavioral problems seen in ADHD.

ADHD symptoms can also be induced in humans by reducing the stimulation of α_{2A} -adrenoceptors. Kopeckova *et al.* investigated a polymorphism in the promoter region of the gene encoding DA beta-hydroxylase, an enzyme that reduces NE synthesis, and found that the affected children had poor sustained attention, weaker impulse control, and impaired executive function^[71]. Genetic alterations in α_{2A} -adrenoceptors also impair PFC executive function, and lead to conditions seen in ADHD^[72]. Thus, prefrontal α_{2A} -adrenoceptors are required for attention and behaviors in humans too.

Prefrontal α_{2A}-Adrenoceptor Stimulation Ameliorates Cognitive Dysfunctions in ADHD

Behavioral, pharmacological, and electrophysiological

research has shown that stimulation of α_{2A} -adrenoceptors has a beneficial influence on PFC cognitive functions. Arnsten *et al.* found that systemic administration of the α_{2A} -adrenergic agonist guanfacine improves working memory in monkeys^[73]. Steere demonstrated that systemic administration of guanfacine improves visual object discrimination reversal performance in aged rhesus monkeys^[74]. Our work showed that both systemic administration and local infusion of guanfacine into the PFC improve visuomotor associative learning^[70, 75]. Using an iontophoretic technique, stimulation of α_{2A} -adrenoceptors in the PFC was found to increase the spiking activity associated with working memory in behaving monkeys^[37, 76].

Neuronal activity in the PFC associated with working memory can be enhanced by α_{2A} -adrenoceptor stimulation through cAMP-HCN signaling pathways^[76, 77]. Our work suggested that under normal physiological conditions, the α_{2A} -adrenoceptors in pyramidal cells can be activated through Gi-cAMP-HCN signaling^[78]. On the other hand,
under stress, activation of α_{2A} -adrenoceptors to protect PFC functions might occur *via* the Gi-cAMP-PKA-CaMKII-AMPAR signaling pathway^[76]. Both mechanisms together optimize the synaptic inputs to pyramidal neurons and determine the synaptic outputs for PFC cognitive functions. Indeed, it has been reported that guanfacine at relatively high doses suppresses evoked excitatory postsynaptic currents, and has no enhanced effect or even suppresses delay-related activity^[76].

New Insights to Develop a Primate Model of ADHD

As noted above, most of the commonly-prescribed medications for ADHD are psychostimulants, which are reported to have short-term therapeutic efficacy but with a high risk of serious adverse effects with long-term treatment. It is urgent to find new medications with high therapeutic efficacy and low adverse effects for children with ADHD. The first step now is to develop novel animal models of ADHD. A good model should very nearly show the fundamental behavioral characteristics of ADHD, conform to a theoretical rationale for ADHD, account for the neurobiology, and respond to therapeutic interventions both behaviorally and pharmacologically^[79].

Currently, animal models of ADHD are genetic and non-genetic^[80]. The spontaneously-hypertensive rat (SHR), the most widely used model, is a genetic model^[81, 82]. SHRs exhibit hyperactivity^[83, 84], impulsivity/inattention^[82, 85], and poor learning and memory^[86]. They also have disturbances in glutamate, DA, and NE functions, which in parallel demonstrate that ADHD patients have defects in the neuronal circuits required for reward-guided associative learning and memory formation^[87]. Clearly, the SHR is a good model for the study of memory deficits in ADHD, primarily in the context of particular risk factors/ symptoms, responsiveness to specific drugs or other treatments or biomarkers for the diagnosis of ADHD, and for understanding the pathological mechanisms for the development of therapeutic approaches. However, SHRs do not fulfill all the behavioral and pharmacological profiles of an ADHD model; for example, ADHD-like behaviors in SHRs are not restricted to males^[88]. Hyperactive behavior in SHRs is ameliorated only by high doses of amphetamine or MPH^[84], unlike ADHD patients, whose behavioral deficits can be improved with low doses of MPH. Importantly, ADHD patients show reduced regional cerebral blood flow in the frontal cortex^[89], while SHRs do not^[90,91].

Our previous research with monkeys indicates that blockade of the prefrontal α_{2A} receptors induces locomotor hyperactivity, impulsivity, and poor attention regulation/ working memory. These results verify the feasibility and acceptability of treating ADHD by stimulating α_{2A} adrenoceptors in the PFC or up-regulating the NE concentration in synapses and extrasynaptic space in the PFC. Actually, the α_{2A} -adrenergic agonists guanfacine and clonidine have been used experimentally and clinically to treat ADHD^[92-97]. The selective inhibitor of the NE transporter atomoxetine (tomoxetine or LY139603) has also been reported to alleviate ADHD symptoms^[98]. All these medications have achieved much better therapeutic efficacy with less adverse effects^[99] than MPH and amphetamines, although there is controversy regarding the long-term effectiveness^[100, 101].

Thus, in the future, studies should focus on developing a novel ADHD model in nonhuman primates, by downregulating or blocking the α_{2A} -adrenoceptors in the dorsolateral PFC. This could be realized by chronic bilateral infusion of yohimbine. This kind of animal model could approximate the fundamental behavioral characteristics of ADHD, conform to a theoretical rationale for ADHD associated with prefrontal α_{2A} -adrenoceptors, and account for the neurobiology and therapeutic interventions in terms of both pharmacological and behavioral functions.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This review was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31460263, 30990263, and 31271171), and the National Basic Research Development Program (973 Program) of China (2013CB835101).

Received date: 2014-06-30; Accepted date: 2015-02-11

REFERENCES

- Graetz BW, Sawyer MG, Hazell PL, Arney F, Baghurst P. Validity of DSM-IVADHD subtypes in a nationally representative sample of Australian children and adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2001, 40: 1410–1417.
- [2] Mannuzza S, Klein RG, Bessler A, Malloy P, LapadulaM. Adult outcome of hyperactive boys educational-

achievement, occupational rank, and psychiatric status. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993, 50: 565–576.

- [3] Steinhoff KW. Special issues in the diagnosis and treatment of ADHD in adolescents. Postgrad Med 2008, 120: 60–68.
- [4] Biederman J. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a selective overview. Biol Psychiatry 2005, 57: 1215–1220.
- [5] Kessler RC, Adler L, Barkley R, Biederman J, Conners CK, Demler O, *et al.* The prevalence and correlates of adult ADHD in the United States: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Am J Psychiatry 2006, 163: 716–723.
- [6] Huang-Pollock CL, Nigg JT, Carr TH. Deficient attention is hard to find: applying the perceptual load model of selective attention to attention deficit hyperactivity disorder subtypes. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2005, 46: 1211–1218.
- [7] Waldie KE, Hausmann M. Right fronto-parietal dysfunction in children with ADHD and developmental dyslexia as determined by line bisection judgements. Neuropsychologia 2010, 48: 3650–3656.
- [8] ter Huurne N, Onnink M, Kan C, Franke B, Buitelaar J, Jensen O. Behavioral consequences of aberrant alpha lateralization in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry 2013, 74: 227–233.
- [9] Wilens TE, Biederman J, Spencer TJ. Attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder across the lifespan. Annu Rev Med 2002, 53: 113–131.
- [10] Li JJ, Lee SS. Negative emotionality mediates the association of 5-HTTLPR genotype and depression in children with and without ADHD. Psychiatry Res 2014, 215: 163–169.
- [11] Levy F, Swanson JM. Timing, space and ADHD: the dopamine theory revisited. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2001, 35: 504–511.
- [12] Del Campo N, Chamberlain SR, Sahakian BJ, Robbins TW. The roles of dopamine and noradrenaline in the pathophysiology and treatment of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry 2011, 69: e145–157.
- [13] Bubser M SW. 6-Hydroxydopamine lesion of the rat prefrontal cortex increases locomotor activity, impairs acquisition of delayed alternation tasks, but does not affect uninterrupted tasks in the radial maze. Behav Brain Res 1990, 37: 157– 168.
- [14] Arnsten AF. Stimulants: Therapeutic actions in ADHD. Neuropsychopharmacology 2006, 31: 2376–2383.
- [15] Greenhill LL, Halperin JM, Abikoff H. Stimulant medications. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999, 38: 503–512.
- [16] Safer DJ, Malever M. Stimulant treatment in Maryland public schools. Pediatrics 2000, 106: 533–539.
- [17] Swanson J, Baler RD, Volkow ND. Understanding the effects of stimulant medications on cognition in individuals with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: a decade of progress.

Neuropsychopharmacology 2011, 36: 207-226.

- [18] Bellgrove MA, Barry E, Johnson KA, Cox M, Daibhis A, Daly M, et al. Spatial attentional bias as a marker of genetic risk, symptom severity, and stimulant response in ADHD. Neuropsychopharmacology 2008, 33: 2536–2545.
- [19] Nigg JT, Swanson JM, Hinshaw SP. Covert visual spatial attention in boys with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: lateral effects, methylphenidate response and results for parents. Neuropsychologia 1997, 35: 165–176.
- [20] Sheppard DM, Bradshaw JL, Mattingley JB, Lee P. Effects of stimulant medication on the lateralisation of line bisection judgements of children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1999, 66: 57–63.
- [21] Fallu A, Richard C., Prinzo R, Binder, C. Does OROSmethylphenidate improve core symptoms and deficits in executive function? Results of an open-label trial in adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Curr Med Res Opin 2006, 22: 2557–2566.
- [22] Mehta MA, Owen AM, Sahakian BJ, Mavaddat N, Pickard JD, Robbins TW. Methylphenidate enhances working memory by modulating discrete frontal and parietal lobe regions in the human brain. J Neurosci 2000, 20: RC65.
- [23] Kociancic T, Reed MD, Findling RL. Evaluation of risks associated with short- and long-term psychostimulant therapy for treatment of ADHD in children. Expert Opin Drug Saf 2004, 3: 93–100.
- [24] Pappadopulos E, Woolston S, Chait A, Perkins M, Connor DF, Jensen PS. Pharmacotherapy of aggression in children and adolescents: efficacy and effect size. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2006, 15: 27–39.
- [25] Brown RT, Amler RW, Freeman WS, Perrin JM, Stein MT, Feldman HM, *et al.* Treatment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: overview of the evidence. Pediatrics 2005, 115: e749–757.
- [26] Sharma A, Couture J. A review of the pathophysiology, etiology, and treatment of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Ann Pharmacother 2014, 48: 209–225.
- [27] Fusar-Poli P, Rubia K, Rossi G, Sartori G, Balottin U. Striatal dopamine transporter alterations in ADHD: pathophysiology or adaptation to psychostimulants? A meta-analysis. Am J Psychiatry 2012, 169: 264–272.
- [28] Bock J, Braun K. The impact of perinatal stress on the functional maturation of prefronto-cortical synaptic circuits: implications for the pathophysiology of ADHD? Prog Brain Res 2011, 189: 155–169.
- [29] Pasini A, D'Agati E. Pathophysiology of NSS in ADHD. World J Biol Psychiatry 2009, 10: 495–502.
- [30] Soros P. Tourette syndrome, ADHD, and the limbic system: investigating the pathophysiology. Dev Med Child Neurol 2008, 50: 486.

- [31] Donnelly CL. History and pathophysiology of ADHD. CNS Spectr 2006, 11: 4–6.
- [32] Jensen PS. ADHD: current concepts on etiology, pathophysiology, and neurobiology. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2000, 9: 557–572, vii-viii.
- [33] Zametkin AJ, Rapoport JL. Neurobiology of attention deficit disorder with hyperactivity: where have we come in 50 years? J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1987, 26: 676–686.
- [34] Arnsten AF, Steere JC, Hunt RD. The contribution of alpha 2-noradrenergic mechanisms of prefrontal cortical cognitive function. Potential significance for attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996, 53: 448– 455.
- [35] Li BM, Mei ZT. Delayed-responsedeficitinducedbylocalinjec tionofthe alpha-2 adrenergic antagonist yohimbine into the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in young adult monkeys. Behav Neural Biol 1994, 62: 134–139.
- [36] Li BM, Kubota K. Alpha-2 adrenergic modulation of prefrontal cortical neuronal activity related to a visual discrimination task with GO and NO-GO performances in monkeys. Neurosci Res 1998, 31: 83–95.
- [37] Li BM, Mao ZM, Wang M, Mei ZT. Alpha-2 adrenergic modulation of prefrontal cortical neuronal activity related to spatial working memory in monkeys. Neuropsychopharmacology 1999, 21: 601–610.
- [38] Ma CL, Qi XL, Peng JY, Li BM. Selective deficit in no-go performance induced by blockade of prefrontal cortical alpha 2-adrenoceptors in monkeys. Neuroreport 2003, 14: 1013– 1016.
- [39] Ma CL, Arnsten AFT, Li BM. Locomotor hyperactivity induced by blockade of prefrontal cortical alpha(2)-adrenoceptors in monkeys. Biol Psychiatry 2005, 57: 192–195.
- [40] Barkley RA. Behavioral inhibition, sustained attention, and executive functions: Constructing a unifying theory of ADHD. Psychol Bull 1997, 121: 65–94.
- [41] Martinussen R, Hayden J, Hogg-Johnson S, Tannock R. A meta-analysis of working memory impairments in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2005, 44: 377–384.
- [42] Oosterlaan J Logan GD, Sergeant JA. Response inhibition in ADHD, CD, comorbid ADHD+CD, anxious, and control children: a meta-analysis of studies with the stop task. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1998, 39: 411–425.
- [43] Roberts RJ, Pennington BF. An interactive framework for examining prefrontal cognitive processes. Dev Neuropsychol 1996, 12: 105–126.
- [44] Klingberg T, Fernell E, Olesen PJ, Johnson M, Gustafsson P, Dahlstrom K, et al. Computerized training of working memory in children with ADHD - A randomized, controlled trial. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2005, 44: 177–186.

- [45] D'Esposito M, Detre JA, Alsop DC, Shin RK, Atlas S, Grossman M. The neural basis of the central executive system of working memory. Nature 1995, 378: 279–281.
- [46] Smith EE, Jonides J, Marshuetz C, Koeppe RA. Components of verbal working memory: evidence from neuroimaging. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998, 95: 876–882.
- [47] Rubia K, Overmeyer S, Taylor E, Brammer M, Williams SC, Simmons A, et al. Hypofrontality in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder during higher-order motor control: a study with functional MRI. Am J Psychiatry 1999, 156: 891– 896.
- [48] Yeo RA, Hill DE, Campbell RA, Vigil J, Petropoulos H, Hart B, et al. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy investigation of the right frontal lobe in children with attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2003, 42: 303–310.
- [49] Dickstein SG, Bannon K, Castellanos FX, Milham MP. The neural correlates of attention-deficit=hyperactivity disorder: an ALE metaanalysis. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2006, 47: 1051–1062.
- [50] Rapport MD, Scanlan SW, Denney CB. Attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder and scholastic achievement: a model of dual developmental pathways. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1999, 40: 1169–1183.
- [51] Biederman J, Monuteaux MC, Doyle AE, Seidman LJ, Wilens TE, Ferrero F, et al. Impact of executive function deficits and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) on academic outcomes in children. J Consult Clin Psychol 2004, 72: 757– 766.
- [52] Barkley RA, Grodzinsky G, DuPaul GJ. Frontal lobe functions in attention deficit disorder with and without hyperactivity: A review and research report. J Abnorm Child Psychol 1992, 20:163–188.
- [53] Bellgrove MA, Eramudugolla R, Newman DP, Vance A, Mattingley JB. Influence of attentional load on spatial attention in acquired and developmental disorders of attention. Neuropsychologia 2013, 51: 1085–1093.
- [54] Bellgrove MA, Johnson KA, Barry E, Mulligan A, Hawi Z, Gill M, et al. Dopaminergic haplotype as a predictor of spatial inattention in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2009, 66: 1135–1142.
- [55] Iversen SD, Mishkin M. Perseverative interference in monkeys following selective lesions of the inferior prefrontal convexity. Exp Brain Res 1970, 11: 376–386.
- [56] French GM. Locomotor effects of regional ablations of frontal cortex in rhesus monkeys. J Comp Physiol Psychol 1959, 52: 18–24.
- [57] Gross CG. Locomotor activity following lateral frontal lesions in rhesus monkeys. J Comp Physiol Psychol 1963, 56: 232– 236.

- [58] Gross CG, Weiskrantz L. Some changes in behavior produced by lateral frontal lesions in the macaque. In: Warren JM, and Akert K (Eds.). The Frontal Granular Cortex and Behavior. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1964: 74–101.
- [59] Schachar RJ, Logan GD. Impulsivity and inhibitory control in normal development and childhood psychopathology. Dev Psychol 1990.
- [60] van der Meere J, Vreeling HJ, Sergeant J. A motor presetting study in hyperactive, learning disabled and control children. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1992, 33: 1347–1354.
- [61] Durston S, Tottenham NT, Thomas KM, Davidson MC, Eigsti IM, Yang YH, *et al.* Differential patterns of striatal activation in young children with and without ADHD. Biol Psychiatry 2003, 53: 871–878.
- [62] Schulz KP, Fan J, Tang CY, Newcorn JH, Buchsbaum MS, Cheung AM, et al. Response inhibition in adolescents diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder during childhood: an event-related FMRI study. Am J Psychiatry 2004, 161: 1650–1657.
- [63] Levy F. The dopamine theory of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Aust N Z J Psychiatry 1991, 25: 277–283.
- [64] Arnsten AF, Li BM. Neurobiology of executive functions: catecholamine influences on prefrontal cortical functions. Biol Psychiatry 2005, 57: 1377–1384.
- [65] Halperin JM, Schulz KP. Revisiting the role of the prefrontal cortex in the pathophysiology of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Psychol Bull 2006, 132: 560–581.
- [66] Arnsten AF. Toward a new understanding of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder pathophysiology: an important role for prefrontal cortex dysfunction. CNS Drugs 2009, 23 Suppl 1: 33–41.
- [67] Krause KH, Dresel SH, Krause J, la Fougere C, Ackenheil M. The dopamine transporter and neuroimaging in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2003, 27: 605–613.
- [68] Lynch CJ, Steer ML. Evidence for high and low affinity alpha 2-receptors. Comparison of [3H]norepinephrine and [3H] phentolamine binding to human platelet membranes. J Biol Chem 1981, 256: 3298–3303.
- [69] Hein L, Altman JD, Kobilka BK. Two functionally distinct alpha(2)-adrenergic receptors regulate sympathetic neurotransmission. Nature 1999, 402: 181–184.
- [70] Wang M, Ji JZ, Li BM. The alpha(2A)-adrenergic agonist guanfacine improves visuomotor associative learning in monkeys. Neuropsychopharmacology 2004, 29: 86–92.
- [71] Kopeckova M, Paclt I, Goetz P. Polymorphisms of dopaminebeta-hydroxylase in ADHD children. Folia Biol (Praha) 2006, 52: 194–201.
- [72] Comings DE, Gade-Andavolu R, Gonzalez N, Blake H, Wu S, MacMurray JP. Additive effect of three noradrenergic genes

(ADRA2a, ADRA2C, DBH) on attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and learning disabilities in Tourette syndrome subjects. Clin Genet 1999, 55: 160–172.

- [73] Arnsten AFT, Steere JC, Hunt RD. The contribution of α2 - noradrenergic mechanisms to prefrontal cortical cognitive function: Potential significance to attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996, 53: 448– 455.
- [74] Steere JC, Arnsten AF. The α2-noradrenergic receptor agonist guanfacine improves visual object discrimination reversal performance in aged rhesus monkeys. Behav Neurosci 1997, 111: 883–891.
- [75] Wang M, Tang ZX, Li BM. Enhanced visuomotor associative learning following stimulation of alpha(2A)-adrenoceptors in the ventral prefrontal cortex in monkeys. Brain Res 2004, 1024: 176–182.
- [76] Wang M, Ramos BP, Paspalas CD, Shu Y, Simen A, Duque A, et al. Alpha2A-adrenoceptors strengthen working memory networks by inhibiting cAMP-HCN channel signaling in prefrontal cortex. Cell 2007, 129: 397–410.
- [77] Ramos BP, Stark D, Verduzco L, van Dyck CH, Arnsten AFT. alpha 2A-adrenoceptor stimulation improves prefrontal cortical regulation of behavior through inhibition of cAMP signaling in aging animals. Learn Mem 2006, 13: 770–776.
- [78] Ji XH, Ji JZ, Zhang H, Li BM. Stimulation of alpha2adrenoceptors suppresses excitatory synaptic transmission in the medial prefrontal cortex of rat. Neuropsychopharmacology 2008, 33: 2263–2271.
- [79] Sagvolden T, Russell VA, Aase H, Johansen EB, Farshbaf M. Rodent models of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry 2005, 57: 1239–1247.
- [80] Russell VA. Overview of animal models of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Curr Protoc Neurosci 2011, Chapter 9: Unit9. 35.
- [81] Okamoto K, Aoki K. Development of a strain of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Jpn Circ J 1963, 27: 282–293.
- [82] Sagvolden T. Behavioral validation of the spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) as an animal model of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (AD/HD). Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2000, 24: 31–39.
- [83] Knardahl S, Sagvolden T. Open-field behavior of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Behav Neural Biol 1979, 27: 187–200.
- [84] Wultz B, Sagvolden T, Moser EI, Moser MB. The spontaneously hypertensive rat as an animal model of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: effects of methylphenidate on exploratory behavior. Behav Neural Biol 1990, 53: 88–102.
- [85] Sagvolden T, Pettersen MB, Larsen MC. Spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) as a putative animal model of

childhood hyperkinesis: SHR behavior compared to four other rat strains. Physiol Behav 1993, 54: 1047–1055.

- [86] Sagvolden T, Slatta K, Arntzen E. Low doses of methylphenidate (Ritalin) may alter the delay-ofreinforcement gradient. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 1988, 95: 303-312.
- [87] Meneses A, Perez-Garcia G, Ponce-Lopez T, Tellez R, Gallegos-Cari A, Castillo C. Spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) as an animal model for ADHD: a short overview. Rev Neurosci 2011, 22: 365–371.
- [88] Berger DF, Sagvolden T. Sex differences in operant discrimination behaviour in an animal model of attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder. Behav Brain Res 1998, 94: 73–82.
- [89] Lou HC, Henriksen L, Bruhn P, Borner H, Nielsen JB. Striatal dysfunction in attention deficit and hyperkinetic disorder. Arch Neurol 1989, 46: 48–52.
- [90] Jesmin S, Sakuma I, Togashi H, Yamaguchi T, Ueno K, Yoshioka M, et al. Altered expression of endothelin and its receptors in the brain of SHR-SP at malignant hypertensive stage. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2004, 44 Suppl 1: S11–15.
- [91] Jesmin S, Togashi H, Mowa CN, Ueno K, Yamaguchi T, Shibayama A, et al. Characterization of regional cerebral blood flow and expression of angiogenic growth factors in the frontal cortex of juvenile male SHRSP and SHR. Brain Res 2004, 1030: 172–182.
- [92] Chappell PB, Riddle MA, Scahill L, Lynch KA, Schultz R, Arnsten A, et al. Guanfacine treatment of comorbid attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder and Tourette's syndrome: Preliminary clinical experience. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1995, 34: 1140–1146.
- [93] Horrigan JP, Barnhill LJ. Guanfacine for treatment of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in boys. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol1995, 5: 215–223.
- [94] Hunt RD, Arnsten AF, Asbell MD. An open trial of guanfacine

in the treatment of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1995, 34: 50–54.

- [95] Scahill L, Chappell PB, Kim YS, Schultz RT, Katsovich L, Shepherd E, et al. A placebo-controlled study of guanfacine in the treatment of children with tic disorders and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Am J Psychiatry 2001, 158: 1067–1074.
- [96] Findling RL, McBurnett K, White C, Youcha S. Guanfacine extended release adjunctive to a psychostimulant in the treatment of comorbid oppositional symptoms in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 2014, 24: 245–252.
- [97] Connor DF, Arnsten AF, Pearson GS, Greco GF. Guanfacine extended release for the treatment of attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2014, 15: 1601–1610.
- [98] Bymaster FP, Katner JS, Nelson DL, Hemrick-Luecke SK, Threlkeld PG, Heiligenstein JH, et al. Atomoxetine increases extracellular levels ofnorepinephrine and dopamine in prefrontal cortex of rat: A potentialmechanism for efficacy in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 2002, 27: 699–711.
- [99] Wang Y, Zheng Y, Du Y, Song DH, Shin YJ, Cho SC, et al. Atomoxetine versus methylphenidate in paediatric outpatients with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a randomized, double-blind comparison trial. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2007, 41: 222–230.
- [100] Muller U, Clark L, Lam ML, Moore RM, Murphy CL, Richmond NK, et al. Lack of effects of guanfacine on executive and memory functions in healthy male volunteers. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005, 182: 205–213.
- [101] Jerie P. Clinical experience with guanfacine in long-term treatment of hypertension. Part II: adverse reactions to guanfacine. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1980, 10 Suppl 1: 157S-164S.

·Review·

Prefrontal dysfunction and a monkey model of schizophrenia

Ping Mao², Ding Cui³, Xu-Dong Zhao³, Yuan-Ye Ma^{1,3,4}

¹Yunnan Key Laboratory of Primate Biomedical Research, Kunming 650500, China

²Kunming General Hospital of Chengdu Military Command, Kunming 650032, China

³State Key Laboratory of Brain and Cognitive Science, Institute of Biophysics, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100101, China

⁴*Kunming Institute of Zoology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Kunming 650223, China* Corresponding author: Yuan-Ye Ma. E-mail: yuanma0716@vip.sina.com

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

The prefrontal cortex is implicated in cognitive functioning and schizophrenia. Prefrontal dysfunction is closely associated with the symptoms of schizophrenia. In addition to the features typical of schizophrenia, patients also present with aspects of cognitive disorders. Based on these relationships, a monkey model mimicking the cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia has been made using treatment with the non-specific competitive N-methyl-*D*-aspartate receptor antagonist, phencyclidine. The symptoms are ameliorated by atypical antipsychotic drugs such as clozapine. The beneficial effects of clozapine on behavioral impairment might be a specific indicator of schizophrenia-related cognitive impairment.

Keywords: prefrontal cortex; schizophrenia; monkey model

Introduction

One percent of the adult population, particularly young adults, are affected by schizophrenia. Schizophrenic patients typically present with hallucinations, delusions, withdrawal from social activities, loss of personal care skills, and flat or inappropriate emotional responses to situations^[1]. Although many factors have been associated with schizophrenia, including genetic factors, early environmental influences, and neurobiological, psychological, and sociological processes^[2-4] that are very important contributory factors, the mechanism underlying this disorder is unknown. Patient data are insufficient for understanding the pathology and etiology of schizophrenia. Further, direct experimentation on human subjects is ethically unacceptable. Thus, animal models have become an indispensable tool for pathological research. Unlike other neurological diseases such as stroke, epilepsy, and Parkinson's disease that can be easily replicated in animals, some of the symptoms of schizophrenia human patients, such as thinking disorders, delusions, and hallucinations, are difficult to replicate in animals. For many years, there has been no appropriate nonhuman primate model of schizophrenia. In addition to the typical features of schizophrenia, patients present with aspects of prefrontal cognitive disorders involving, e.g., working memory, selective attention, initiating movement, and planning. Based on these relationships, a monkey model of schizophrenia could be developed by mimicking its cognitive symptoms. In this review, we introduce schizophrenia and the prefrontal cortex (PFC) as well as their relationship and discuss the development of a monkey model of schizophrenia, including the methods and behavioral tests of the model.

The Prefrontal Cortex and Schizophrenia

The volume of the human brain is twice that of the chimpanzee, and the PFC, which is the most rostral component of the primate cortex, has expanded most in humans^[5,6]. In other species, the PFC functions in voluntary motor control, whereas in primates, it has developed

significantly to include other important functions such as

executive functions, conflicting-thought mediation, decisionmaking (e.g., distinctions of right *versus* wrong or good *versus* bad), prediction of future events, and government of social and emotional control. Further, the PFC in the human brain plays a central role in conscience, intelligence, and personality^[5-7]. The PFC has broad connections with many parts of the brain, particularly the sub-regions of the limbic system^[10]. The human PFC, which is better developed than in other primates, is the primary contributor to humans having unequalled abilities for planning and abstract reasoning^[6,8].

Prefrontal dysfunction plays a role in the expression of the cognitive deficits associated with schizophrenia^[9]. The relationship among the PFC, executive dysfunction, and schizophrenia symptoms has been studied, and several studies have shown the existence of abnormalities in the PFC. MRI studies have revealed a decrease in the volume of PFC in schizophrenic patients^[10-13], and a postmortem anatomical study found that the cortex of prefrontal area 46 is thinner and the density of neurons in this area is increased^[14-16]. In as early as 1986, to study the relationship between prefrontal dysfunction and schizophrenia, medication-free chronic schizophrenia patients and normal controls were used, and the regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) was measured during performance of a PFCspecific cognitive test, the Wisconsin Card Sorting (WCS) or a simple number-matching (NM) test as the control. During the WCS, there was a clear increase in PFC rCBF in the controls compared with the schizophrenic patients; the PFC was the only region that changed. This finding significantly distinguished patients from controls, whereas during the NM, no region differentiated patients from controls. Further, the PFC rCBF was positively associated with WCS performance in patients, suggesting that the better the PFC functions, the better patients perform^[9]. The decreased prefrontal rCBF in schizophrenic patients might be a manifestation of abnormal prefrontal neuronal activity. In addition, considerable effort has been directed at identifying specific neuronal factors that contribute to PFC dysfunction in schizophrenic patients. These findings are consistent with the hypothesis that schizophrenia is associated with complex alterations in the anatomy and function of multiple neuronal populations in the PFC. At the cellular and molecular levels, chronic stress exposure leads to spine loss in the PFC^[17,18], particularly in layer III, which harbors the recurrent microcircuits that are most affected in schizophrenia^[19]; the interconnection of precise microcircuits in the dorsolateral PFC appears to be associated with schizophrenia. Physiological studies in monkeys indicate that recurrent excitation between PFC pyramidal cells depends on the N-methyl-*D*-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, and several genes associated with NMDA transmission have been linked to schizophrenia^[20].

The monoamine system, particularly the dopamine (DA) system, is important for prefrontal cognitive function, so many PFC functions are related to the DA system^[21]. Dysfunction of the prefrontal monoamine system is associated with mental disorders such as schizophrenia, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, drug addiction, autism, and depression^[22-28]. Neurochemical analyses of DA and its metabolites provide evidence that mesoprefrontal DA neurons play a role in prefrontal dysfunction in schizophrenia and that the extent of decrease of DA turnover is directly associated with the severity of cognitive deficits^[29-32]. In addition, the density of D1-like receptors in the PFC is decreased in schizophrenic patients who show prefrontal cognitive impairments^[32]. On the contrary, DA agonists improve cognitive performance and cognitive activation of blood flow in the PFC of schizophrenic patients, which supports the hypothesis that hypofunction of the mesoprefrontal DA neurons contributes to schizophrenia^[21].

Based on these facts, Goldman-Rakic and some scientists suggested that prefrontal dysfunction, particularly the impairment of working memory, is a cause of schizophrenia^[14-16, 28-32, 50]. This suggestion led to the development of a novel monkey model of schizophrenia that mimics the cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia.

The Monkey Model of Schizophrenia

Based on this idea, in 1997, Jentsch *et al.* reported the development of a monkey model of schizophrenia using phencyclidine (PCP), a non-specific competitive NMDA receptor antagonist, in which the monkeys exhibit task performance deficits involving prefrontal cognitive function after PCP treatment twice a day for two weeks. In addition, they found that clozapine, an atypical antipsychotic drug, ameliorated the performance deficits. This study showed that the repetition of PCP treatment in monkeys might be

an effective method of studying psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia, which involves cognitive dysfunction and DA hypo-function in the PFC^[33].

Drugs for Developing an Animal Model of Schizophrenia

Three drugs are used for the development of a monkey model of schizophrenia, ketamine, PCP, and MK801. Here, we focus on ketamine and PCP.

Ketamine is an NMDA receptor antagonist that is predominantly used for the induction and maintenance of general anesthesia. Long-term treatment with ketamine can cause a number of impairments in cognitive function. The effects of ketamine are brief, and last no more than a few hours; its hallucinatory effects last ~1 h. At sub-anesthetic doses, ketamine induces a dissociative state^[34-38].

PCP is also an NMDA receptor antagonist. It is a synthetic dissociative drug originally developed as a general anesthetic. It is a partial agonist of dopamine D2 receptors, which might explain the psychotic symptoms caused by PCP. In humans, PCP can cause schizophrenialike symptoms, and it has become a useful tool for developing animal models of this disease^[39-43]. The short-term psychotic effects include: visual and auditory hallucinations; feelings of unreality and dissociation from the environment; distorted sense of body and time and space; distorted thinking; anxiety; paranoid thoughts; confusion and disorientation; intense feelings of alienation; depression; bizarre or hostile behavior; and grandiose delusions. The effects of long-term use are the following: chronic and severe anxiety and depression; social withdrawal and isolation; impaired memory; and persistent speech problems, such as stuttering. In monkeys, it is difficult to detect hallucinations with the PCP treatment. The effects of PCP in nonhuman primates include impairments in working memory and motor programming, as well as behavioral inhibition.

Possible Genetic Monkey Models of Schizophrenia in the Near Future

Besides drug models, studies involving twins have shown that schizophrenia is a heritable disorder and several schizophrenia-related genes have been revealed. For example, disrupted in schizophrenia 1 (*DISC1*) was one of the first genes discovered to be involved in schizophrenia. Anatomically, DISC1 knockin mice show increased lateral ventricle size, reduced cortical and hippocampal size like those found in schizophrenic patients^[51]. Also, the expression of several proteins changes in the brain of schizophrenic patients such as "dysbindin" encoded by the gene *DTNBP1*, which is thought to be one of the most promising candidate genes for schizophrenia^[52]. Another gene is *NRG1* which codes for a growth factor crucial to the development of the nervous system. Partial knockout of NRG1 in mice causes social interaction problems, reduced prepulse inhibition, and higher levels of spontaneous locomotion. These symptoms are reduced by clozapine^[51].

It used to be quite difficult to perform genetic manipulation in monkeys, but at present, these techniques are rapidly developing in nonhuman primates^[53,54]. Thus it will be possible to develop genetic monkey models for schizophrenia by genetic manipulation techniques in the near future.

Behavior Testing

The major prefrontal function is executive function, which includes planning and regulating, which are difficult to model in animals. Here, we describe two methods of detecting cognitive dysfunction in animal models.

The object retrieval detour (ORD) task The ORD task measures inhibitory control, which is a component of executive function. The main compartment of the test apparatus is put in front of the monkey. In the main compartment, there is a transparent plastic reward box that is open on one side. The open side of the box can be oriented directly toward, to the right side, or to the left side of the monkey, and the monkey can reach the box in all positions. This box can also be placed at the center or on the right or left side of the main compartment (Fig. 1). In this task, the monkey is required to retrieve food, which is placed in the reward box as a reward. The difficulty of the task performance is set up in the following three ways: the placement of the reward box within the main compartment, the orientation of the open side of the reward box, and the location of the food reward within the reward box (e.g., near or far from the opening). To perform this task, a monkey must inhibit the tendency to reach directly toward the food. To inhibit this tendency, several PFC functions are required. The motor performance in the ORD task is sensitive to impairments of the PFC and the dopamine system^[44-49].

The delayed-response (DR) task DR tasks are normally used to investigate working memory processes. Providing



Fig. 1. The object retrieval detour task consists of attempting to retrieve a food reward placed in a transparent box that has one open side. The open side can be oriented toward, to the right, or to the left of the monkey^[33].



Fig. 2. In the delayed-response task, the monkey watches an experimenter place a food morsel in one of two wells (left); both wells are then covered. Subsequently, a screen is lowered for an interval of a few seconds to several minutes (the delay) (middle). When the screen is raised, the monkey gets only one chance to uncover the well containing food and receive the reward (right)^[55].

different stimuli in different trials creates a task in which the test animal must remember varieties of the cue from trial to trial using working memory.

In a typical DR task, the monkey must choose from two wells, only one of which contains food (Fig. 2). With a delay (from a few seconds to several minutes) by lowering and raising a screen between the monkeys and the wells, the monkeys have only one chance to uncover the well to receive the reward after watching the placement of the food^[9].

The repetition of PCP administration induces behavioral and biological impairments similar to those of schizophrenia. It has been reported that clozapine ameliorates the symptoms of schizophrenic patients refractory to treatment. Thus, clozapine would have an effect on the behavioral improvement of animals previously treated with PCP. The beneficial effects of clozapine on behavioral impairment might be a "specific indicator" of schizophrenia-related cognitive impairment.

Conclusion

The PFC is implicated in cognitive functioning and schizophrenia, and there is a close relationship between prefrontal dysfunction and the symptoms of schizophrenia. In addition to the typical features of schizophrenia, patients present with aspects of cognitive disorders. Based on these relationships, a monkey model of schizophrenia could be developed by mimicking the cognitive symptoms, which are ameliorated by atypical antipsychotic drugs such as clozapine. The beneficial effects of clozapine on behavioral impairment might be a "specific indicator" of schizophreniarelated cognitive impairment.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This review was supported by National Basic Research Development Program (973 program) of China (2012CB825500, 2011CB707800), National Natural Science Foundation of China (31271168, 91132307/H09, 61178051) and Finnish-Chinese Joint Project of National Natural Science Foundation of China (813111172).

Received date: 2014-08-04; Accepted date: 2014-10-23

REFERENCES

[1] Insel T. Rethinking schizophrenia. Nature 2010, 468: 187-

193.

- [2] Akdeniz C1, Tost H, Meyer-Lindenberg A. The neurobiology of social environmental risk for schizophrenia: an evolving research field. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2014, 49: 507–517.
- [3] Schmitt A, Malchow B, Hasan A, Falkai P. The impact of environmental factors in severe psychiatric disorders. Front Neurosci 2014, 8: 19.
- [4] Bergen SE, O'Dushlaine CT, Lee PH, Fanous AH, Ruderfer DM, Ripke S, *et al.* Genetic modifiers and subtypes in schizophrenia: Investigations of age at onset, severity, sex and family history. Schizophr Res 2014, 154: 48–53.
- [5] Fuster JM. Frontal lobes. Curr Opin Neurobiol 1993, 3: 160– 165.
- [6] Fuster Joaquin M. The prefrontal cortex. Los Angeles, CA: Academic Press, 2008.
- [7] Goldman-Rakic PS. Topography of cognition: parallel distributed networks in primate association cortex. Annu Rev Neurosci 1988, 11: 137–156.
- [8] Neubert FX, Mars RB, Thomas AG, Sallet J, Rushworth MF. Comparison of human ventral frontal cortex areas for cognitive control and language with areas in monkey frontal cortex. Neuron 2014, 81: 700–713.
- [9] Weinberger DR, Berman KF, Zec RF. Physiologic dysfunction of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. I. Regional cerebral blood flow evidence. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1986, 43: 114–124.
- [10] Andreasen N, Nasrallah HA, Dunn V, Olson SC, Grove WM, Ehrhardt JC, *et al.* Structural abnormalities in the frontal system of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1986, 43: 136–144.
- [11] Andreasen NC, Flashman L, Flaum M, Arndt S, Swayze V 2nd, O'Leary DS, *et al.* Regional brain abnormalities in schizophrenia measured with magnetic resonance imaging. JAMA 1994, 272: 1763–1769.
- [12] Harvey I, Ron MA, Du Boulay G, Wicks D, Lewis SW, Murray RM. Reduction of cortical volume in schizophrenia on magnetic resonance imaging. Psychol Med 1993, 23: 591– 604.
- [13] Nopoulos PC, Flaum M, Andreasen NC, Swayze VW. Gray matter heterotopias in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res 1995, 61: 11–14.
- [14] Goldman-Rakic PS, Selemon LD. Functional and anatomical aspects of prefrontal pathology in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 1997, 23: 437–58.
- [15] Park S, Holzman PS, Goldman-Rakic PS. Spatial working memory deficits in the relatives of schizophrenic patients. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1995, 52: 821–828.
- [16] Park S, Holzman PS, Goldman-Rakic PS. Abnormally high neuronal density in the schizophrenic cortex. A morphometric

analysis of prefrontal area 9 and occipital area 17. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1995, 52: 805–818.

- [17] Radley JJ, Rocher AB, Janssen WG, Hof PR, McEwen BS, Morrison JH. Reversibility of apical dendritic retraction in the rat medial prefrontal cortex following repeated stress. Exp Neurol 2005, 196: 199–203.
- [18] Radley JJ, Rocher AB, Miller M, Janssen WG, Liston C, Hof PR, *et al.* Repeated stress induces dendritic spine loss in the rat medial prefrontal cortex. Cereb Cortex 2006, 16: 313–320.
- [19] Glantz LA, Austin MC, Lewis DA. Normal cellular levels of synaptophysin mRNA expression in the prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 2000, 48: 389–397.
- [20] Coyle JT, Tsai G. The NMDA receptor glycine modulatory site: a therapeutic target for improving cognition and reducing negative symptoms in schizophrenia. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2004, 174: 32–38.
- [21] Finlay JM. Mesoprefrontal dopamine neurons and schizophrenia: role of developmental abnormalities. Schizophrenia Bull 2001, 27: 431–442.
- [22] Robbins TW, Arnsten AF. The neuropsychopharmacology of fronto-executive function: monoaminergic modulation. Annu Rev Neurosci 2009, 32: 267–287.
- [23] Arnsten AF. Stress impairs prefrontal cortical function in rats and monkeys: role of dopamine D1 and norepinephrine alpha-1 receptor mechanisms. Prog Brain Res 2000, 126: 183–192.
- [24] Wang M, Ji JZ, Li BM. The alpha(2A)-adrenergic agonist guanfacine improves visuomotor associative learning in monkeys, Neuropsychopharmacology 2004, 29: 86–92.
- [25] Arnsten AF, Li BM. Neurobiology of executive functions: catecholamine influences on prefrontal cortical functions. Biol Psychiatry 2005, 57: 1377–1384.
- [26] Orellana G, Slachevsky A. Executive functioning in schizophrenia. Front Psychiatry 2013, 4: 35.
- [27] Goghari VM, Macdonald AW 3rd, Sponheim SR. Relationship between prefrontal gray matter volumes and working memory performance in schizophrenia: A family study. Schizophr Res 2014, 153: 113–121.
- [28] Wheeler AL, Chakravarty MM, Lerch JP, Pipitone J, Daskalakis ZJ, Rajji TK, et al. Disrupted prefrontal interhemispheric structural coupling in schizophrenia related to working memory performance. Schizophr Bull 2014, 40: 914–924.
- [29] van Kammen DP, van Kammen WB, Mann LS, Seppala T, Linnoila M. Dopamine metabolism in the cerebrospinal fluid of drug-free schizophrenic patients with and without cortical atrophy. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1986, 43: 978–983.
- [30] Weinberger DR. Schizophrenia and the frontal lobe. Trends Neurosci 1988, 11: 367–370.

- [31] Heritch AJ. Evidence for reduced and dysregulated turnover of dopamine in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Bull 1990, 16: 605–615.
- [32] Okubo Y, Suhara T, Suzuki K, Kobayashi K, Inoue O, Terasaki O, *et al.* Decreased prefrontal dopamine D1 receptors in schizophrenia revealed by PET. Nature 1997, 385: 634–636.
- [33] Jentsch JD, Redmond DE Jr, Elsworth JD, Taylor JR, Youngren KD, Roth RH. Enduring cognitive deficits and cortical dopamine dysfunction in monkeys after long-term administration of phencyclidine. Science 1997, 277: 953–955.
- [34] Giannini AJ, Underwood NA, Condon M. Acute ketamine intoxication treated by haloperidol: a preliminary study. Am J Ther 2000, 7: 389–391.
- [35] Liang HJ, Lau CG, Tang A, Chan F, Ungvari GS, Tang WK. Cognitive impairments in poly-drug ketamine users. Addict Behav 2013, 38: 2661–2666.
- [36] Tang WK, Liang HJ, Lau CG, Tang A, Ungvari GS. Relationship between cognitive impairment and depressive symptoms in current ketamine users. J Stud Alcohol Drugs 2013, 74: 460–468.
- [37] John D. Current MD. Pharmacology for Anesthetists. Mainz, Germany: PediaPress, 2011.
- [38] Bergman SA. Ketamine: review of its pharmacology and its use in pediatric anesthesia. Anesth Prog 1999, 46: 10–20.
- [39] Giannini AJ, Loiselle RH, Giannini MC, Price WA. Phencyclidine and the dissociatives. Psychiatr Med 1985, 3: 197–217.
- [40] Grayson B, Adamson L, Harte M, Leger M, Marsh S, Piercy C, et al. The involvement of distraction in memory deficits induced by NMDAR antagonism: Relevance to cognitive deficits in schizophrenia. Behav Brain Res 2014, pii: S0166-432800157-0.
- [41] Jodo E. The role of the hippocampo-prefrontal cortex system in phencyclidine-induced psychosis: a model for schizophrenia. J Physiol Paris 2013, 107: 434–440.
- [42] Zhang R, He J, Zhu S, Zhang H, Wang H, Adilijiang A, et al. Myelination deficit in a phencyclidine-induced neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia. Brain Res 2012, 1469: 136–143.
- [43] McKim WA, Hancock S. Drugs and Behavior. Cambridge: Pearson Publisher, 2013.
- [44] Eddins D, Hamill TG, Puri V, Cannon CE, Vivian JA, Sanabria-Bohórquez SM, et al. The relationship between glycine transporter 1 occupancy and the effects of the glycine transporter 1 inhibitor RG1678 or ORG25935 on object retrieval performance in scopolamine impaired rhesus monkey. Psychopharmacology (Berl). 2014, 231: 511–519.
- [45] Gray RA, Wilcox KM, Zink MC, Weed MR. Impaired performance on the object retrieval-detour test of executive function in the SIV/macaque model of AIDS. AIDS Res Hum

Retroviruses 2006, 22: 1031-5.

- [46] Jentsch JD, Roth RH, Taylor JR. Object retrieval/ detour deficits in monkeys produced by prior subchronic phencyclidine administration: evidence for cognitive impulsivity. Biol Psychiatry 2000, 48: 415–424.
- [47] Taylor JR, Roth RH, Sladek JR Jr, Redmond DE Jr. Cognitive and motor deficits in the performance of an object retrieval task with a barrier-detour in monkeys (Cercopithecus aethiops sabaeus) treated with MPTP: long-term performance and effect of transparency of the barrier. Behav Neurosci 1990, 104: 564–576.
- [48] Taylor JR, Elsworth JD, Roth RH, Sladek JR Jr, Redmond DE Jr. Cognitive and motor deficits in the acquisition of an object retrieval/detour task in MPTP-treated monkeys. Brain 1990, 113 (Pt 3): 617–637.
- [49] Simen AA, DiLeone R, Arnsten AF. Primate models of schizophrenia: future possibilities, Prog Brain Res 2009, 179: 117–125.
- [50] Funahashi S, Bruce CJ, Goldman-Rakic PS. Dorsolateral prefrontal lesions and oculomotor delayed-response

performance: evidence for mnemonic "scotomas". J Neurosci 1993, 13: 1479–1497.

- [51] Jones CA, Watson DJ, Fone KC. Animal models of schizophrenia. Br J Pharmacol 2011, 164: 1162–1194.
- [52] Wilson C, Terry AV Jr. Neurodevelopmental animal models of schizophrenia: role in novel drug discovery and development. Clin Schizophr Relat Psychoses 2010, 4 : 124–37.
- [53] Niu Y, Yu Y, Bernat A, Yang S, He X, Guo X, et al. Transgenic rhesus monkeys produced by gene transfer into earlycleavage-stage embryos using a simian immunodeficiency virus-based vector. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010, 107: 17663–17667.
- [54] Niu Y, Shen B, Cui Y, Chen Y, Wang J, Wang L, et al. Generation of gene-modified cynomolgus monkey via Cas9/ RNA-mediated gene targeting in one-cell embryos. Cell 2014, 156: 836–843.
- [55] Yang LC, Li MH, Wilson FA, Hu XT, Ma YY. Prefrontal attention and multiple reference frames during working memory in primates. Chin Sci Bull 2013, 58: 449–455.

·Research Highlight·

Learning to memorize: shedding new light on prefrontal functions

Ning-long Xu

Institute of Neuroscience, State Key Laboratory of Neuroscience, CAS Center for Excellence in Brain Science, Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shanghai 200031, China Corresponding author: Ning-long Xu. E-mail: xunl@ion.ac.cn

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

Working memory is one of the essential higher cognitive functions that actively holds behaviorally-relevant information essential for guiding subsequent actions. It includes subsystems that store and manipulate singlemode or multi-modal sensory information, e.g., spatial information, visual images, auditory scenes, olfactory objects, or any combination of these. In addition to merely holding a certain amount of information for a short period of time, as is generally believed, the cognitive processes involved are far more complex, including the executive and attentional control of short-term memory, permitting interim integration, and the processing, disposal, and retrieval of information. Evolution-wise, working memory is essential for the behavioral flexibility that allows humans and animals to quickly adapt to rapidly changing environments.

A wealth of studies have been conducted in attempts to understand the neuronal process underlying working memory, and have identified a number of brain regions as crucial, including the prefrontal cortex (PFC), posterior parietal cortex, anterior cingulate, and parts of the basal ganglia. Among these regions, the PFC has drawn most attention due to the striking finding that individual neurons show persistent activity during the memory-retention period^[1-3] (termed the delay period, a hallmark of working memory tasks): elevated activity persists after the sensory stimuli have been removed until the holding period is over (from seconds to tens of seconds) and the behavioral choice has been made. This raises the immediate question of whether the persistent activity in the PFC during the delay period encodes the contents of working memory (memory storage). This has been under debate for the last two decades^[4]. Some studies find that PFC activity increases when the number of items to be memorized increases. This seems to support the hypothesis that the PFC plays an important role in memory storage, as a straightforward explanation would be that increasing the demands of storage would be expected to increase the activity level in a region where representations are being actively stored. However, an equally plausible explanation would be that if PFC activity reflects top-down signals to control more posterior regions where the actual representations are stored, maintaining higher loads of information might require increased PFC input in order for retained information to survive delay and distraction. Therefore, it is not yet clear that the PFC is the site where the representations are stored. The fact that the PFC has been found to play important roles in executive functions^[4] implies that its role in working memory might be controlling attention, selecting strategies, and manipulating information, rather than information storage^[2, 5].

To resolve this debate, it is therefore necessary to achieve a deeper understanding of the causal role of the PFC in working memory tasks. This would require temporally precise perturbation of neuronal activity in specific regions of the PFC during the delay period of a working memory task and monitoring its effect on task performance. Technically, such manipulation has not yet been achieved in primate and human subjects due to technical difficulties. In rodents, however, the temporally and spatially precise manipulation of neuronal activity has been exceedingly successful thanks to the recent development of new tools such as optogenetics and genetic manipulation techniques^[6]. Meanwhile, choicebased and precisely controlled behavioral paradigms in rodents have also been developed, allowing a high degree of stimulus control, accurate behavioral readout, and precise measurement of neuronal activity^[7-9]. On top of these behavioral paradigms, imposing an additional delay period before choice allows precisely timed, memorybased brain processes to be investigated using rodents^[10, 11]. However, imposing a delay immediately before choice could confound the memory content with motor planning components^[10]. In order to determine whether PFC activity during the delay period is responsible for memory storage, a more desirable paradigm would try to retrieve the same sensory information following a delay period, such that decision or behavioral choice can be made only after the memory retrieval is finished.

In a recent study^[12], using head-fixed mice, Liu et al. developed an olfactory delayed-nonmatch-to-sample paradigm (DNMS), a standard working memory task that had only been used in primates before (Fig. 1). In this task, head-fixed mice were presented briefly, at the beginning of each trial, with one of two odorants, and after a 4-5 s delay period, a second odorant was presented. The animal needed to decide whether the second odorant was the same as or different from the first one. If the two odorants differ, the animal should respond by licking ("go" response) a lickport, otherwise, the animal should withhold licking ("no-go" response). Therefore, the animal had to retain the information of the first odorant for the entire delay period in order to compare it with the second one: a typical requirement in working memory tasks. Mice can readily learn this memory-based decision task in as few as 5 days, and the learning process can be monitored.

This new paradigm in mice has opened up a playground for a range of manipulation and recording techniques such as optogenetic tools and multi-electrode recording for dissecting the functional role of the PFC in working memory. By expressing channelrhodopsin-2 (ChR2) in inhibitory interneurons or Natronomonas halorhodopsin in excitatory pyramidal neurons in the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), Liu et al. silenced the mPFC using light stimulation only during the delay period and examined the DNMS task performance. The findings are rather striking: the activity in the mPFC during the delay period is only required during the learning phase, typically from day 1 to day 5, but not for well-trained animals. This can shed light on the role of the mPFC in memory storage during the working memory task, if one considers the difference between the underlying processes in different learning stages: during the learning phase, many novel, attention-demanding components could occur during the delay period in order for the subject to accomplish the task, while after becoming well-trained, memory storage becomes the major if not the only factor that matters during the delay period. It is therefore suggested that the delay-period mPFC activity is necessary only for a novel, attention-demanding working memory task, but not for the simple short-term storage of olfactory information in the well-trained stage. This provides new clues to the lasting debate on whether the mPFC is the location for memory storage or rather for conducting executive functions such as controlling attention, selecting strategies, and manipulating information.

Another question concerns the specificity of the persistent activity in the mPFC during the delay period, i.e., whether it requires a specific subpopulation of neurons in the mPFC to be activated, or a general elevation of



Fig. 1. Behavioral paradigm. A. Apparatus for head-fixed go/no-go paradigm using olfactory cues, compatible with optogenetic stimulation. B. Task structure for olfactory DNMS paradigm. Adapted from the reference^[12] with permission.

mPFC activity is sufficient. Instead of silencing it, Liu *et al.* activated the mPFC during the delay-period by expressing ChR2 in excitatory neurons and delivered blue light only during the delay period, which led to a general elevation of mPFC activity. Interestingly, this manipulation impaired, rather than improved, the task performance during learning stages, but not in the well-trained stage. Therefore, the working memory task during the learning stages requires the activation of a rather specific subpopulation of mPFC neurons, although their exact specificity requires further investigation.

An important question regarding the persistent activity in the mPFC is whether and how it evolves with learning, which was rarely addressed in earlier studies. In the study by Liu *et al.*, the authors monitored population activity in the mPFC throughout the course of learning a working memory task. Indeed, the population dynamics in the mPFC evolves with learning: the delay-period activity is more prominent and distinguishes the two odorant stimuli in the learning stages, but this diminishes in the well-trained stage, consistent with the optogenetic manipulation results. This provides another dimension of evidence that the mPFC is involved in the attention-demanding learning phase, rather than in a simple memory-storage process in the welltrained stage.

Liu *et al.* developed a standard working memory assay in mice, and combined it with temporally precise neuronal perturbation and recording techniques, from which the authors provided new evidence that could help resolve the long-standing debate over the functional role of the persistent prefrontal delay-period activity in working memory. It seems that at least part of the prefrontal region, the mPFC, is crucial for animals to accomplish novel, attention-demanding, and memory-based tasks, but is not required for memory storage *per se.* This suggests that future investigations should focus more on additional brain regions in memory storage in the working memory task; this storage may be distributed, involving multiple brain regions in the hierarchy, including the sensory areas of relevant modalities.

Received date: 2015-01-07; Accepted date: 2015-01-26

REFERENCES

- Funahashi S, Bruce CJ, Goldman-Rakic PS. Mnemonic coding of visual space in the monkey's dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. J Neurophysiol 1989, 61: 331–349.
- [2] Curtis CE, D'Esposito M. Persistent activity in the prefrontal cortex during working memory. Trends Cogn Sci 2003, 7: 415–423.
- [3] Romo R, Brody CD, Hernandez A, Lemus L. Neuronal correlates of parametric working memory in the prefrontal cortex. Nature 1999, 399: 470–473.
- [4] Kane MJ, Engle RW. The role of prefrontal cortex in workingmemory capacity, executive attention, and general fluid intelligence: an individual-differences perspective. Psychon Bull Rev 2002, 9: 637–671.
- [5] Postle BR. Working memory as an emergent property of the mind and brain. Neuroscience 2006, 139: 23–38.
- [6] Fenno L, Yizhar O, Deisseroth K. The development and application of optogenetics. Annu Rev Neurosci 2011, 34: 389–412.
- [7] Uchida N, Mainen ZF. Speed and accuracy of olfactory discrimination in the rat. Nat Neurosci 2003, 6: 1224–1229.
- [8] Komiyama T, Sato TR, O'Connor DH, Zhang YX, Huber D, Hooks BM, et al. Learning-related fine-scale specificity imaged in motor cortex circuits of behaving mice. Nature 2010, 464: 1182–1186.
- [9] Xu NL, Harnett MT, Williams SR, Huber D, O'Connor DH, Svoboda K, et al. Nonlinear dendritic integration of sensory and motor input during an active sensing task. Nature 2012, 492: 247–251.
- [10] Erlich JC, Bialek M, Brody CD. A cortical substrate for memory-guided orienting in the rat. Neuron 2011, 72: 330– 343.
- [11] Guo ZV, Li N, Huber D, Ophir E, Gutnisky D, Ting JT, et al. Flow of cortical activity underlying a tactile decision in mice. Neuron 2014, 81: 179–194.
- [12] Liu D, Gu X, Zhu J, Zhang X, Han Z, Yan W, et al. Medial prefrontal activity during delay period contributes to learning of a working memory task. Science 2014, 346: 458–463.

·Original Article·

Single-nucleotide polymorphisms and haplotypes of non-coding area in the *CP* gene are correlated with Parkinson's disease

Na Zhao^{1,*}, Jianqiu Xiao^{2,*}, Zhiyong Zheng^{3,*}, Guoqiang Fei¹, Feng Zhang², Lirong Jin¹, Chunjiu Zhong¹ ¹Department of Neurology, Zhongshan Hospital and Shanghai Medical College; State Key Laboratory of Medical

Neurobiology; Institute of Brain Science, Fudan University, Shanghai 200032, China

²School of Life Sciences, Fudan University, Shanghai 200433, China

³Xinxiang College of Medicine, Xinxiang 453003, China

*These authors contributed equally to this work.

Co-corresponding authors: Chunjiu Zhong and Lirong Jin. E-mail: zhongcj@163.com; jinlr99@163.com

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

ABSTRACT

Our previous studies have demonstrated that ceruloplasmin (CP) dysmetabolism is correlated with Parkinson's disease (PD). However, the causes of decreased serum CP levels in PD patients remain to be clarified. This study aimed to explore the potential association between genetic variants of the CP gene and PD. Clinical features, serum CP levels, and the CP gene (both promoter and coding regions) were analyzed in 60 PD patients and 50 controls. A luciferase reporter system was used to investigate the function of promoter single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). High-density comparative genomic hybridization microarrays were also used to detect large-scale copy-number variations in CP and an additional 47 genes involved in PD and/or copper/ iron metabolism. The frequencies of eight SNPs (one intronic SNP and seven promoter SNPs of the CP gene) and their haplotypes were significantly different between PD patients, especially those with lowered serum CP levels, and controls. However, the luciferase reporter system revealed no significant effect of the risk haplotype on promoter activity of the CP gene. Neither these SNPs nor their haplotypes were correlated with the Hoehn and Yahr staging of PD. The results of this study suggest that common genetic variants of CP are associated with PD and further investigation is needed to explore their functions in PD.

Keywords: Parkinson's disease; ceruloplasmin; single-nucleotide polymorphism; haplotype; copy-number variation

INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) is an age-related neurodegenerative disease characterized by the loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra^[1]. The presence of Lewy bodies in degenerating dopaminergic neurons seems to be the initial characterization of the pathology of PD. In the core of the Lewy body is the protein α -synuclein which binds iron. Iron seems to be a requisite for the deposition and accumulation of α -synuclein. Thus, iron might be deposited in a disorderly manner in extrapyramidal structures and result in the tissue damage in PD. However, little is known about the cause of iron deposition in PD.

Ceruloplasmin (CP) is a multi-copper enzyme with ferroxidase function and plays an important role in iron metabolism^[2]. CP oxidizes ferrous iron into the ferric form and thus keeps the intracellular level of dangerous ferrous iron to a minimum^[3, 4]. Hereditary aceruloplasminemia caused by mutation of the *CP* gene, resulting in the absence of circulating serum CP, presents with parkinsonism and retinal degeneration due to substantial iron accumulation in the basal ganglia and retina^[5]. Patel and colleagues have also demonstrated that increased iron accumulation and free-radical injury occur in the central nervous system of *Cp*^{-/-} mice^[6]. Thus, the association between CP and PD has been discussed since the ninth decade of the last century. It has been found that both the CP level and oxidative activity in serum and cerebrospinal fluid are significantly lower in PD patients than in age- and sex-matched healthy controls^[7-13]. In addition, lower serum CP levels are correlated with a younger age of PD onset^[14]. Furthermore, our previous studies and those of others have demonstrated that decreased serum CP level and oxidative activity specifically exacerbate nigral iron deposition in PD patients^[15-17]. However, the causes of the decreased serum CP level in PD remain to be clarified.

As PD often has a hereditary basis and the genetic predisposition is seen as a major contributor to the underlying cause, we carried out this study to elucidate whether *CP* gene variations are generally found in PD patients and contribute to the decreased levels of CP.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and Controls

Sixty PD patients were recruited from the Department of Neurology, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University. PD was diagnosed by two independent movement-disorder specialists (CJ Zhong and LR Jin) according to the criteria of the United Kingdom Parkinson's Disease Society Brain Bank for idiopathic PD^[19] and the modified version of Hoehn and Yahr^[20]. Briefly, 33% of the PD patients showed unilateral motor impairments only, corresponding to Hoehn and Yahr stage I, 47% presented bilateral or midline involvement without balance impairment (Hoehn and Yahr stage II), and 20% showed bilateral impairments with mild to moderate disability and postural reflex dysfunction (Hoehn and Yahr stage III). The PD patients were divided into three subgroups: primarily rigidity and bradykinesia with minimal tremor (PD_{AR} subgroup), primarily tremor with minimal bradykinesia and rigidity (PD_T subgroup), and mixed classic motor symptoms with propinguity proportion (PD_M subgroup) according to the ratio of average UPDRS III Tremor score of each PD patient (sum of items 20 and 21 divided by 4) to his/her average UPDRS akinetic/ rigid score (sum of items 22-27 and 31 divided by 15), as previously reported^[16]. Patients showing signs of upper and/ or lower motor neuron impairments, orthostatic hypotension within three years since PD onset, cognitive impairment assessed by the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE), and hepatic and/or renal dysfunction, were excluded from this study. Fifty control participants were recruited from the Xujiahui Community of Shanghai. No controls had a history of neurologic/psychiatric disorders and cognitive impairment as assessed by the MMSE (scores ≥28).

Serum CP levels were measured in both PD patients and controls using an immunonephelometry kit (N antiserum against human CP; Dade Behring, Marburg, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Accordingly, PD patients were further divided into two subgroups: those with lower serum CP (<0.20 g/L, PD_{LCP}) and those with normal serum CP (≥ 0.20 g/L, PD_{NCP}).

This study was approved by the Committee on Medical Ethics of Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, and all participants gave informed consent.

CP Gene Sequencing

Blood samples were collected into EDTA-containing tubes. A QIAamp DNA Blood Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) was used to extract genomic DNA from the white blood cell fraction. The sequences of all exons. intron-exon boundaries, and the DNase cluster region of the promoter in the CP gene were determined by aligning GenBank with genomic sequence records (NM 000096.1). The primers are shown in Table 1. CP amplicons were obtained by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification and purified by cutting out the DNA band from agarose gel electrophoresis. DNA sequencing was performed on an ABI3730XL automated sequencer, using version 3.1 of the Big Dye fluorescent method according to the manufacturer's instructions (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Sequence data were analyzed using VECTOR NTI Advance 11 software (Invitrogen Corp., Carlsbad, CA).

Plasmid Construction

To construct the *CP* promoter reporter plasmid, we designed primers that could amplify the 878-bp DNA fragment containing rs66508328(GG/AA), rs67870152(CC/TT), rs16861642(GG/AA), rs73020328(TT/GG), rs11708215(GG/ AA), rs73166855(AA/GG), and rs66953613(CC/TT) (Primer F: 5'-CTTGCCTGAGACCATTTTACATCC-3'; Primer R: 5'-CAACAGCACAGACTGGGGTTAG-3'). The wild-type and mutant DNA fragments were amplified from the genomic

PCR location	Oligonucleotide of primers	Size of PCR product (bp)	Annealing temperature (°C)	
Exon 1	F: 5'ACACGTTCTCTGCCCTCCTGGAA3'			
	R: 5'CGGAGATGCAGTTACGACCATGGGA3'	716	60	
Exon 2	F: 5'GGAGGCATCCCTACAACAGGCA3'			
	R: 5'TGTCTTATCCAGGAGAGAGAGTCCAC3'	482	62	
Exon 3	F: 5'TCAGACTCCCATACCATGACCCGA3'			
	R: 5'TCACCGTGGAGTGCCCTTTTGG3'	832	63	
Exon 4	F: 5'TGGTCAGTGGACATCCAGACACAGG3'			
	R: 5'ACCAGTTGGGGAACAAGTTTGGTGT3'	616	62	
Exon 5	F: 5'GGCAAGAATACCAGCATGTGTGCCA3'			
	R: 5'AACAGGGTGCTTTCCAGTGCAACA3'	706	63	
Exon 6	F: 5'CCAAGTGAAACCCCACAGAAACTGG3'			
	R: 5'TGCTGCTGAATCGTACAGTGCCA3'	758	63	
Exon 7	F: 5' TGAGTGGACTGGAACTGTCTGCT 3'			
	R: 5' GCCCATGGGAAGAGTAAACCAGCC 3'	364	58	
Exon 8	F: 5'TGACACACCTCCAGCCAACAGA3'			
	R: 5'GCGGTTTCCTTGGGAGTTCCTGC3'	592	61	
Exon 9	F: 5'CCAGGAGGAGGTTTAGAAG3'			
	R: 5'GAACATTGATTGGCTATTTG3'	633	55	
Exon 10	F: 5'TGTGCACATGGAAGTCTTCTGCT3'			
	R: 5'ATGAGCCTGTCATTTTTGAGCCA3'	652	60	
Exon 11	F: 5'GGTCCTGGAAAGTCTGTGA3'			
	R: 5'ATCTTGAGGAGCCTATGGA3'	547	55	
Exon 12	F: 5' AAAGGATGGATGGAGCAGG 3'			
	R: 5' AGCGGAAATGAATAAGGACAA 3'	532	57	
Exon 13	F: 5'AGTGACTAGCTGGAGGAAAT3'			
	R: 5'AAATGAAACCCATAGACATG3'	492	59	
Exon 14	F: 5'GGACTTTCAGGCCAAACCTCCCC3'			
	R: 5'ACAGACACCTCCTTGCATCCCCT3'	495	61	
Exon 15	F: 5'GCTTTGTGGTATGGCAAGTGGGTT3'			
	R: 5'TCAGTGGCTACCTGTGACCCACAA3'	633	62	
Exon 16	F: 5'AGCATCACCCACATGACCTACCT3'			
	R: 5'TGCTTTTCTAGGCACTTTGCACCA3'	696	60	
Exon 17	F: 5'TAATCCAAAACTAAGATTAAGGC3'			
	R: 5'AATCCACGGATATGAAGCA3'	490	56	
Exon 18	F: 5'GACAAACAGGCAAACCAGA3'	400	00	
	R: 5'ATCCCTCACCATTTAGCAG3'	631	55	
Evon 19		001	00	
Exon 15		858	55	
		000	55	
		947	57	
Promoter		047	51	
FIUIIIULEI		1260	60	
		1200	ου	
		400	65	
		420	00	
		33U	00	
		000	CO	

Table 1. Primers for the CP gene and conditions of PCR

DNA of controls and patients carrying mutant singlenucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), respectively. The DNA was constructed to the PGL3-Basic vector (Promega, San Luis Obispo, CA). All plasmids were verified by Sanger sequencing.

Cell Culture and Luciferase Assay

U251 and HepG2 cells were cultured in DMEM with 10% FBS. Then the cells were digested with trypsin and seeded in 24-well plates at 1×10^5 /well with 500 µL culture medium. After 24 h in culture, 500 ng of *CP* promoter reporter plasmids were co-transfected with 10 ng pRL-TK plasmid as a normalizing control using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. After 24 h in culture, the cells were lysed, and 20 µL of supernatant was used to assay the luciferase activity using the Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega). The relative reporter activity was normalized by firefly activity to *Renilla* activity. Each assay was performed at three independent experiments with four replications.

Comparative Genomic Hybridization Microarray Analysis

We designed a high-density oligonucleotide-based comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) microarray in the Agilent 8×60K format. Briefly, we first selected 48 candidate genes associated with PD or iron/copper metabolism. Using the Agilent eArray online system, we selected 52828 oligonucleotide probes for the 48 candidates and their 150kb flanking regions on both sides (Table S1). The genomic DNAs extracted from PD patients and sex-matched standard DNAs were fragmented via Alul and Rsal enzyme digestion. DNA was labeled using an Agilent SureTag DNA Labeling Kit (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA). Different fluorescent dyes were used for DNA labeling of patient DNA (Cy5-dUTP) and standard DNA (Cy3-dUTP). The labeled product from each patient was mixed with a standard product before being hybridized onto the Agilent CGH microarray (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA) for 24 h at 65°C. DNA processing, microarray handling, and scanning were conducted following the Agilent oligonucleotide CGH protocol (version 6.0). The microarray scanning profiles were processed by Agilent Feature Extraction 10.7.3.1. The extracted data were analyzed and plotted by Agilent Workbench 7.0. ADM-2 was selected

as the statistical algorithm with a threshold of 6.0 and the Fuzzy Zero turned on.

Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. The unpaired *t*-test, Mann-Whitney test, or Kruskal-Wallis test (for continuous variables), or the χ^2 and Fisher exact tests (for categorical variables) were used as the main methods of statistical analysis. Genotype frequency data were also tested for Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. Linkage disequilibrium (LD) of the *CP* gene variants was analyzed using SHEsis software (http://analysis.bio-x.cn/myAnalysis.php)^[21]. Spearman correlation analysis was used to evaluate correlations. The level of significance was assumed to be 5%, and all tests were two-sided. All the statistical analyses were performed with SPSS software (version 18.0).

RESULTS

Characteristics of Study Participants

The average age was 61.52 ± 1.25 years in PD patients and 72.82 ± 0.79 years in controls. The gender ratio was 52%male and 48% female in PD patients, and 40% male and 60% female in controls. There was a statistically significant difference in the serum CP levels between PD patients $(0.206 \pm 0.007 \text{ g/L})$ and normal controls $(0.224 \pm 0.006 \text{ g/L})$ (P = 0.043). The PD patients included 28 PD_{LCP} patients (age: 60.57 ± 1.83; gender: male 71%, female 29%; serum CP level 0.165 ± 0.003 g/L) and 32 PD_{NCP} patients (age: 62.34 ± 1.73; gender: male 38%, female 62%; serum CP level 0.248 ± 0.008 g/L). The age-difference between PD_{LCP} and PD_{NCP} patients was not statistically significant (P = 0.837). There as a dramatic difference in the gender distribution in PD_{LCP} cases compared with PD_{NCP} cases (P = 0.010). Male PD patients were more prone to present low serum CP than females.

CP Gene Variants in PD Patients

The distributions and genotypes of the *CP* gene SNPs in PD patients and controls are shown in Table 2. Genotype data were first tested for Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) before further genetic analysis. There was no significant deviation from the HWE in either the PD or control group (data not shown). Ten SNPs were found in the intronic and promoter regions of *CP*: two located at introns (rs3736282

SNP	Location	Genotype	e CTRL		PD			PD/CTRL		PD _{LCP} /CTRL
			<i>n</i> =50	Total <i>n</i> =60	PD _{NCP} n=32	PD _{LCP} <i>n</i> =28	Ρ	OR (95%CI)	Ρ	OR (95%CI)
rs3736282	Intron 1	CC+CT	26+22 (96%)	29+20 (81.7%)	16+11 (84.4%)	13+9 (78.6%)	0.03	5.39 (1.13-25.61)	0.02	6.55 (1.22-35.06)
		TT	2 (4%)	11 (18.3%)	5 (15.6%)	6 (21.4%)				
rs17847023	Intron 2	GG+AG	22+25 (94%)	23+26 (81.7%)	13+15 (87.5%)	10+11 (75%)	0.08	3.52 (0.92-13.41)	0.03	5.22 (1.23-22.21)
		AA	3 (6%)	11 (18.3%)	4 (12.5%)	7 (25%)				
rs17838831	Promoter	AA+AG	21+26 (94%)	27+21 (80%)	15+11 (81.3%)	12+10 (78.6%)	0.05	3.92 (1.04-14.78)	0.06	4.27 (0.98-18.69)
		GG	3 (6%)	12 (20%)	6 (18.7%)	6 (21.4%)				
rs66508328	Promoter	GG+AG	26+23 (98%)	30+21 (85%)	17+11 (87.5%)	13+10 (82.1%)	0.02	8.65 (1.06-70.85)	0.02	10.65 (1.18-96.52)
		AA	1 (2%)	9 (15%)	4 (12.5%)	5 (17.9%)				
rs67870152	Promoter	CC+CT	25+24 (98%)	30+21 (85%)	17+11 (87.5%)	13+10 (82.1%)	0.02	8.65 (1.06-70.85)	0.02	10.65 (1.18-96.52)
		TT	1 (2%)	9 (15%)	4 (12.5%)	5 (17.9%)				
rs16861642	Promoter	GG+AG	25+24 (98%)	30+21 (85%)	17+11 (87.5%)	13+10 (82.1%)	0.02	8.65 (1.06-70.85)	0.02	10.65 (1.18-96.52)
		AA	1 (2%)	9 (15%)	4 (12.5%)	5 (17.9%)				
rs73020328	Promoter	TT+TG	27+22 (98%)	32+19 (85%)	18+10 (87.5%)	14+9 (82.1%)	0.02	8.65 (1.06-70.85)	0.02	10.65 (1.18-96.52)
		GG	1 (2%)	9 (15%)	4 (12.5%)	5 (17.9%)				
rs11708215	Promoter	GG+AG	26+23 (98%)	32+19 (85%)	18+10 (87.5%)	14+9 (82.1%)	0.02	8.65 (1.06-70.85)	0.02	10.65 (1.18-96.52)
		AA	1 (2%)	9 (15%)	4 (12.5%)	5 (17.9%)				
rs73166855	Promoter	AA+AG	22+26 (96%)	27+21 (80%)	15+11 (81.3%)	12+10 (78.6%)	0.02	3.69 (0.75-18.27)	0.02	6.55 (1.22-35.06)
		GG	2 (4%)	12 (20%)	6 (18.7%)	6 (21.4%)				
rs66953613	Promoter	CC+CT	26+23 (98%)	32+19 (85%)	18+10 (87.5%)	14+9 (82.1%)	0.02	8.65 (1.06-70.85)	0.02	10.65 (1.18-96.52)
		TT	1 (2%)	9 (15%)	4 (12.5%)	5 (17.9%)				

Table 2. Distributions and genotypes of SNFS in FD cases and control	SNPs in PD cases and con	of SNPs in PD	genotypes	. Distributions and	Table 2.
--	--------------------------	---------------	-----------	---------------------	----------

Statistical analysis was performed using the Fisher exact test.

C>T and rs17847023 G>A) and the other eight at the promoter (rs17838831 A>G, rs66508328 G>A, rs67870152 C>T, rs16861642 G>A, rs73020328 T>G, rs11708215 G>A, rs73166855 A>G, and rs66953613 C>T). Moreover, the frequencies of eight SNPs (rs3736282 C>T, rs66508328 G>A, rs67870152 C>T, rs16861642 G>A, rs73020328 T>G, rs11708215 G>A, rs73166855 A>G and rs66953613 C>T) were significantly higher in the PD group than in the control group. Compared with controls, PD patients, especially PD_{LCP} patients, carried higher frequencies of homozygous mutant alleles of rs3736282 TT (P = 0.03 for PD, P = 0.02 for PD_{LCP}), rs66508328 AA (P = 0.02, P =0.02), rs67870152 TT (P = 0.02, P = 0.02), rs16861642 AA (P = 0.02, P = 0.02), rs73020328 GG (P = 0.02, P = 0.02), rs11708215 AA (P = 0.02, P = 0.02), rs73166855 GG (P = 0.02, P = 0.02), and rs66953613 TT (P = 0.02, P = 0.02).

To examine the combined effect of these eight SNPs in the *CP* gene, we performed haplotype analysis (Table 3), which revealed high LD between the eight SNPs (Fig.1). The results from haplotype analysis were generally consistent with those from single SNPs; the haplotype defined by the mutant alleles of these eight SNPs (TATAGAGT) was associated with risk for PD, especially PD_{LCP}. For example, the PD patients (15%), especially PD_{LCP} (17.8%), had higher frequencies of TATAGAGT/TATAGAGT than controls (2%) (P = 0.02, P = 0.02). The distributions of the other *CP* SNP haplotypes did not differ significantly between patients and controls (Table 3).

No Association of *CP* Gene Variants with Hoehn and Yahr Stage and Motor Phenotype

We also analyzed whether the frequencies of SNPs in the

Table 3. Haplotype analysis of the block of rs3736282, rs66508328, rs67870152, rs16861642, rs73020328, rs11708215, rs73166855, and rs66953613 in PD patients and controls

Haplotype block	rs3736282	rs66508328	28 rs67870152 rs16861642 rs73020328 rs11708215 rs73166855 rs66953613			rs66953613		
Haplotype	CTRL	PD		PD/CTRL PE		PD _{LCP} /0) _{LCP} /CTRL	
	<i>n</i> =50	Total n=60	PD _{NCP} n=32	PD _{LCP} n=28	Ρ	OR(95%CI)	Ρ	OR (95%CI)
CGCGTGAC/CGCGTGAC 00000000/00000000	22 (44%)	25 (41.7%)	14 (43.8%)	11 (39.3%)	0.84	0.91 (0.43-1.94)	0.81	0.82 (0.32-2.11)
CGCGTGAC/TATAGAGT 00000000/11111111	20 (40%)	16 (26.7%)	9 (28.1%)	7 (25%)	0.16	0.55 (0.24-1.22)	1.00	0.95 (0.32-2.88)
TATAGAGT/TATAGAGT	1 (2%)	9 (15%)	4 (12.5%)	5 (17.9%)	0.02	8.65 (1.06-70.85)	0.02	10.65 (1.18-96.52)
11111111/1111111								
TGCGTGAC/TATAGAGT	2 (4%)	2 (3.3%)	1 (3.1%)	1 (3.6%)	1.00	0.83 (0.11-6.10)	1.00	0.89 (0.08-10.27)
1000000/11111111								
CGCGTGAC/CGCGTGGC	3 (6%)	2 (3.3%)	1 (3.1%)	1 (3.6%)	1.00	0.65 (0.10-4.09)	1.00	0.58 (0.06-5.86)
0000000/00000010								
CGCGTGAC/CATATGAC	0 (0%)	1 (1.7%)	0 (0%)	1 (3.6%)	/	/	1	1
0000000/01110000								
CGCGTGAC/TGCGTGAC	0 (0%)	2 (3.3%)	1 (3.1%)	1 (3.6%)	/	/	1	1
0000000/1000000								
CGCGTGAC/TATATAAT	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	/	/	1	1
0000000/11110101								
CGCGTGGC/CGCGTGGC	0 (0%)	1 (1.7%)	1 (3.1%)	0 (0%)	/	/	1	1
0000010/00000010								
CGCGTGGC/TATAGAGT	0 (0%)	1 (1.7%)	0 (0%)	1 (3.6%)	/	/	1	/
00000010/11111111								
CGCGTGGC/TATATGGC	0 (0%)	1 (1.7%)	1 (3.1%)	0 (0%)	/	/	1	1
00000010/11110010								
TGCGTGAC/TGCGTGAC	1 (2%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	/	/	1	/
1000000/1000000								

0=major genotype, 1=minor genotype. Statistical analysis was performed using the Fisher exact test.

CP gene and/or haplotypes are correlated with disease severity and motor phenotypes. The results showed that the frequencies of the SNPs and haplotype did not differ significantly among the PD subgroups assayed by Hoehn and Yahr staging and by motor phenotype (Tables 4 and 5).

Promoter Activity of the CP Gene

Since seven of the eight significantly changed SNPs

were located in the promoter region of the *CP* gene, we investigated the function of the promoter SNPs/haplotypes of the *CP* gene using the luciferase reporter system in U251 and HepG2 cells. We found no significant difference in *CP* promoter activity between the WT haplotype (GCGTGAC/GCGTGAC) and the mutant haplotype (ATAGAGT/ATAGAGT) in both U251 and HepG2 cells (Fig. 2). Although the *in vitro* luciferase reporter assay



Fig. 1. Linkage disequilibrium (LD) test of *CP* gene polymorphisms (D', coefficient of LD; R², correlation coefficient of LD). The strength of the LD between SNPs is indicated by the color scheme. The number in each square indicates the magnitude of LD between respective pairs of SNPs. Dark red color indicating high D' and R²; light red color indicating low D' and R². The blocks of dark red represent SNPs that are all in high LD with each other and thus are all inherited together.



Fig. 2. Luciferase reporter assays in U251 (B) and HepG2 (C) cell lines. A. Schematic of the luciferase reporter construct with the seven SNPs represented by distinct symbols from the DNase cluster region of the *CP* gene promoter. No significant changes in *CP* promoter activity were found between the wild-type haplotype (GCGTGAC) and the mutant haplotype (ATAGAGT). Statistical analysis was performed using the unpaired *t*-test. Luciferase activity was normalized to the construct consisting of the wild-type haplotype (GCGTGAC).

Subjects	Hoehn and Yahr stage I (<i>n</i> =20)	Hoehn and Yahr stage II (<i>n</i> =28)	Hoehn and Yahr stage III (<i>n</i> =12)	Р
Age (years)	57.40±1.94	64.68±1.67	61.00±3.23	0.04
Gender	M: 11(55%)	M: 12(43%)	M: 9(75%)	
	F: 9(45%)	F: 16(57%)	F: 3(25%)	0.50
Serum CP (g/L)	0.20±0.01	0.22±0.01	0.23±0.03	0.66
Ratio of low serum CP (< 0.2g/L)	PD _{NCP} : 10(50%)	PD _{NCP} : 17(61%)	PD _{NCP} : 5(42%)	0.51
PD _{LCP} : 10(50%)	PD _{LCP} : 11(39%)	PD _{LCP} : 7(58%)		
rs3736282	CC+CT:18(90%)	CC+CT: 23(82.1%)	CC+CT: 8(66.7%)	0.26
	TT: 2(10%)	TT: 5(17.9%)	TT: 4(33.3%)	
rs17847023	GG+AG:18(60%)	GG+AG: 23(82.1%)	GG+AG: 8(66.7%)	0.26
	AA: 2(10%)	AA: 5(17.9%)	AA: 4(33.3%)	
rs17838831	AA+AG:18(90%)	AA+AG: 23(82.1%)	AA+AG: 7(58.3%)	0.09
	GG: 2(10%)	GG: 5(17.9%)	GG: 5(41.7%)	
rs66508328	GG+AG: 18(90%)	GG+AG: 25(89.3%)	GG+AG: 8(66.7%)	0.26
	AA: 2(10%)	AA: 3(10.7%)	AA: 4(33.3%)	
rs67870152	CC+CT: 18(90%)	CC+CT: 25(89.3%)	CC+CT: 8(66.7%)	0.26
	TT: 2(10%)	TT: 3(10.7%)	TT: 4(33.3%)	
rs16861642	GG+AG: 18(90%)	GG+AG: 25(89.3%)	GG+AG: 8(66.7%)	0.26
	AA: 2(10%)	AA: 3(10.7%)	AA: 4(33.3%)	
rs73020328	TT+TG:18(90%)	TT+TG: 25(89.3%)	TT+TG: 8(66.7%)	0.26
	GG: 2(10%)	GG: 3(10.7%)	GG: 4(33.3%)	
rs11708215	GG+GA: 18(90%)	GG+GA: 25(89.3%)	GG+GA: 8(66.7%)	0.26
	AA: 2(10%)	AA: 3(10.7%)	AA: 4(33.3%)	
rs73166855	AA+AG: 18(90%)	AA+AG: 23(82.1%)	AA+AG: 7(58.3%)	0.09
	GG: 2(10%)	GG: 5(11.9%)	GG: 5(41.7%)	
rs66953613	CC+CT: 18(90%)	CC+CT: 25(89.3%)	CC+CT: 8(66.7%)	0.26
	TT: 2(10%)	TT: 3(10.7%)	TT: 4(33.3%)	
TATAGAGT/TATAGAGT	2(10%)	3(10.7%)	4(33.3%)	0.14
1111111/1111111				

Table 4. Correlation between SNPs/haplotype and PD disease severity

0=major genotype; 1=minor genotype. Statistical analysis for age, gender and the serum CP concentration was performed using the Kruskal-Wallis tests; and for the others was performed using X^2 test.

did not reveal the function of the *CP* promoter haplotype (ATAGAGT), its potential involvement in gene expression cannot be readily excluded.

No Copy Number Variations of the *CP* gene in PD Patients Copy number variations (CNVs), including deletions and duplications, were investigated in 24 PD patients (12 PD_{LCP} and 12 PD_{NCP}) using high-density oligonucleotide CGH microarrays. Among the 48 candidate genes, we only found compound heterozygous deletions of the *PARK2* gene in one PD_{LCP} patient (Fig. 3E). No CNVs were identified in the other 47 candidate genes, including *CP*, *ATP7A*, *ATP7B*, and *ATOX1*, which are associated with iron/copper metabolism (Fig. 3A–D).

Subjects	PD _T subgroup (<i>n</i> =17)	PD _{AR} subgroup (<i>n</i> =28)	PD_{M} subgroup (<i>n</i> =15)	Р
Age (years)	60.41±7.86	59.79±9.57	66.00±10.93	0.11
Gender	M: 8(47%)	M: 13(46%)	M: 11(73%)	0.20
	F: 9(53%)	F: 15(54%)	F: 4(27%)	
Serum CP (g/L)	0.23±0.08	0.21±0.06	0.20±0.05	0.27
Ratio of low serum CP (<0.2 g/L)	PD _{NCP} : 12(71%)	PD _{NCP} : 14(50%)	PD _{NCP} : 6(40%)	0.20
	PD _{LCP} : 5(29%)	PD _{LCP} : 14(50%)	PD _{LCP} : 9(60%)	
rs3736282	CC+CT: 14(82.4%)	CC+CT: 25(89.3%)	CC+CT: 12(80%)	0.67
	TT: 3(17.6%)	TT: 3(10.7%)	TT: 3(20%)	
rs17847023	GG+AG: 13(76.5%)	GG+AG: 24(85.7%)	GG+AG: 11(73.3%)	0.60
	AA: 4(13.5%)	AA: 4(14.3%)	AA: 4(26.7%)	
rs17838831	AA+AG: 11(64.7%)	AA+AG: 23(82.1%)	AA+AG: 11(73.3%)	0.42
	GG: 6(35.3%)	GG: 5(17.9%)	GG: 4(26.7%)	
rs66508328	GG+AG: 14(82.4%)	GG+AG: 25(89.3%)	GG+AG: 12(80%)	0.78
	AA: 3(17.6%)	AA: 3(10.7%)	AA: 3(20%)	
rs67870152	CC+CT: 14(82.4%)	CC+CT: 25(89.3%)	CC+CT: 12(80%)	0.78
	TT: 3(17.6%)	TT: 3(10.7%)	TT: 3(20%)	
rs16861642	GG+AG: 14(82.4%)	GG+AG:25(89.3%)	GG+AG: 12(80%)	0.78
	AA: 3(17.6%)	AA:3(10.7%)	AA: 3(20%)	
rs73020328	TT+TG: 14(82.4%)	TT+TG: 25(89.3%)	TT+TG: 11(73.3%)	0.41
	GG: 3(17.6%)	GG: 3(10.7%)	GG: 4(26.7%)	
rs11708215	GG+GA: 14(82.4%)	GG+GA: 25(89.3%)	GG+GA: 11(73.3%)	0.41
	AA: 3(17.6%)	AA: 3(10.7%)	AA: 4(26.7%)	
rs73166855	AA+AG: 14(82.4%)	AA+AG: 23(82.1%)	AA+AG: 11(73.3%)	0.97
	GG: 3(17.6%)	GG: 5(17.9%)	GG: 4(26.7%)	
rs66953613	CC+CT: 14(82.4%)	CC+CT: 25(89.3%)	CC+CT: 11(73.3%)	0.41
	TT: 3(17.6%)	TT: 3(10.7%)	TT: 4(26.7%)	
TATAGAGT/TATAGAGT	3(17.6%)	4(14.3%)	2(13.3%)	0.98
1111111/111111				

Table 5. Correlation	between SNPs/hap	plotype and motor	phenotype in PD p	atients

0=major genotype; 1=minor genotype. Statistical analysis for age, gender and the serum CP concentration was performed using the Kruskal-Wallis tests; others were performed using X^2 test.

DISCUSSION

CP gene mutation of a 5-bp insertion at amino-acid 410 in exon 7 resulting in a frame-shift mutation and a truncated open reading frame was reported by Harris *et al.* in 1995^[5]. The patient presented with parkinsonism and had a total absence of circulating serum CP with

retinal and basal ganglia iron deposition caused by the genetic defect of the *CP* gene. Another nonsense mutation of this gene (Trp858ter) was reported by Miyajima in a patient who presented with cerebellar ataxia and hypoceruloplasminemia, as well as iron deposition in the basal ganglia^[22]. The presence of the mutation in conjunction with the clinical and pathologic findings



Fig. 3. CNV analysis. The CGH microarray results are shown for the *CP*, *ATP7A*, *ATP7B*, *ATOX1* and *PARK2* genes and their flanking regions.

demonstrated an essential role of CP in iron metabolism in the central nervous system. The fact that Cp-knockout mice develop parkinsonism and are rescued by iron chelation further demonstrates the role of CP in the pathogenesis of PD^[12].

Previous studies from our group and others also demonstrated that decreased serum CP levels are associated with movement disorders, including PD, by disturbing brain iron metabolism^[14, 15, 17, 23]. However. less is known about the cause of low serum CP levels in PD patients. In this study, we found that the CP gene in controls and PD patients had a number of SNPs located at the introns and promoter region, but no exonic SNPs were found. The frequencies of eight SNPs of the CP gene (rs3736282 C>T, rs66508328 G>A, rs67870152 C>T, rs16861642 G>A, rs73020328 T>G, rs11708215 G>A, rs73166855 A>G and rs66953613 C>T) and their haplotype (TATAGAGT/TATAGAGT) defined by the mutant alleles of these SNPs in PD patients, especially PD_{LCP} patients, were significantly higher than those in controls, implying a possible genetic risk for PD.

Hochstrasser and colleagues screened the entire coding region of the CP gene in 176 German patients with idiopathic PD and 180 ethnically-matched heathy individuals, and found six missense variants in the coding region: I63T, P477L, D544E, T551I, R793H, and T841R. The frequency of D544E differed significantly between PD patients and controls^[24]. Another study by Castiglioni et al. of 103 Italian PD patients revealed 24 nucleotide substitutions, of which 11 were in the coding region, one in the 3' UTR, and 12 in the introns. The D544E substitution, which was previously found to be associated with PD, was not significantly different from that reported in dbSNP of Pubmed and similar to the control population of 180 individuals reported by Hochstrasser. None of the other 23 CP gene variants seemed to be associated with PD in this study^[25]. In another study involving 21 Mexican PD patients and 13 healthy volunteers, Martinez-Hernandez et al. found no D544E mutation of the CP gene in the PD patients^[17]. Thus, the CP gene variants in PD patients are inconsistent in different reports. Compared with these studies, we did not find any exonic variants of the CP gene like those in Martinez-Hernandez's report, but two intronic SNPs (rs3736282 and rs17847023) consistent with Castiglioni's report^[25], as well as eight promoter SNPs. These differences may be explained by the different ethnicity and

location of the participants. Another important factor is the problem of our small sample size.

Genetic reporter systems are widely used to study eukaryotic gene expression and cellular physiology. Thus, we further explored the promoter activity of the *CP* gene using a dual luciferase reporter system transfected with the wild-type haplotype and mutant haplotype DNA fragments in U251 and HepG2 cells which have abundant *CP* gene expression, in order to verify the function of *CP* gene variants, especially the promoter haplotype. No significant ELECTRONIC difference was found in the promoter activity between the wild-type and mutant haplotype in both U251 and HepG2 cells. However, this luciferase reporter system was affected by the specificity of cells, thus it might not precisely reflect the fact of gene regulation *in vivo*. Thus, further investigation is needed to explore the association of *CP* gene variants and CP levels in PD.

Human genomic rearrangement can cause CNVs^[18]. Rare CNVs are important genetic causes of human diseases, especially neurological disorders including PD^[26-32]. Therefore, defining the genetic content and genomic location by high-resolution CNV breakpoint analysis is vital to elucidating the etiology of CNV-associated disorders. The PARK2 gene is a molecular diagnostic test for parkinsonism. Kay et al. reported that a total of 0.95% of controls and 0.86% of patients carry a heterozygous CNV mutation of the PARK2 gene^[30]. Thus, there is no compelling evidence for an association of heterozygous PARK2 gene CNV mutation with PD. The compound heterozygous deletions of the PARK2 gene found in one PD_{LCP} patient in our study did not indicate a relationship with the low CP level in PD. Although no CNVs of the CP gene were identified in this study and others, their potential involvement in low serum CP and/or PD cannot be readily excluded. Further studies in more human populations will be informative for revealing more genetic risk factors of PD.

In conclusion, this study demonstrated CP genetic variants associated with PD, especially in PD_{LCP} patients. To our knowledge, this is the first study to reveal such variants and their relation with serum CP levels in a Chinese population. More in-depth studies in larger populations from this and other ethnic groups are needed. In addition, further investigations of epigenetic changes, like aberrant methylation of cytosine residues in genomic DNA, are needed to explore their contribution to PD and

the decreased CP expression in PD patients. Furthermore, microRNAs that act as post-transcriptional regulators of gene expression have been recognized as contributors to pathological states in PD^[33-35]. For instance, miR-133b is involved in PD through regulating the expression of pairedlike homeodomain transcription factor 3 (Pitx3)^[36]. Further investigation of the expression of microRNAs that might regulate CP gene expression in PD patients is needed.

ELECTRONIC SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Supplementary material is available in the online version of this article at http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12264-014-1512-6.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81200973), the National Basic Research Development Program of China (2011CBA00400), and an Independent Scientific Research Project of Fudan University (20520133484).

Received date: 2014-06-06; Accepted date: 2014-08-25

REFERENCES

- [1] Jenner P, Olanow CW. Understanding cell death in Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 1998, 44: S72–84.
- [2] Vassiliev V, Harris ZL, Zatta P. Ceruloplasmin in neurodegenerative diseases. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 2005, 49: 633–640.
- [3] Osaki S, Johnson DA, Frieden E. The possible significance of the ferrous oxidase activity of ceruloplasmin in normal human serum. J Biol Chem 1966, 241: 2746–2751.
- [4] Lee GR, Nacht S, Lukens JN, Cartwright GE. Iron metabolism in copper-deficient swine. J Clin Invest 1968, 47: 2058–2069.
- [5] Harris ZL, Takahashi Y, Miyajima H, Serizawa M, MacGillivray RT, Gitlin JD. Aceruloplasminemia: molecular characterization of this disorder of iron metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995, 92: 2539–2543.
- [6] Patel BN, Dunn RJ, Jeong SY, Zhu Q, Julien JP, David S. Ceruloplasmin regulates iron levels in the CNS and prevents free radical injury. J Neurosci 2002, 22: 6578–6586.
- [7] Torsdottir G, Kristinsson J, Sveinbjornsdottir S, Snaedal J, Johannesson T. Copper, ceruloplasmin, superoxide dismutase and iron parameters in Parkinson's disease. Pharmacol Toxicol 1999, 85: 239–243.
- [8] Torsdottir G, Sveinbjornsdottir S, Kristinsson J, Snaedal J, Johannesson T. Ceruloplasmin and superoxide dismutase (SOD1) in Parkinson's disease: a follow-up study. J Neurol

Sci 2006, 241: 53-58.

- [9] Torsdottir G, Kristinsson J, Snaedal J, Sveinbjornsdottir S, Gudmundsson G, Hreidarsson S, *et al.* Case-control studies on ceruloplasmin and superoxide dismutase (SOD1) in neurodegenerative diseases: a short review. J Neurol Sci 2010, 299: 51–54.
- [10] Boll MC, Sotelo J, Otero E, Alcaraz-Zubeldia M, Rios C. Reduced ferroxidase activity in the cerebrospinal fluid from patients with Parkinson's disease. Neurosci Lett 1999, 265: 155–158.
- [11] Olivieri S, Conti A, Iannaccone S, Cannistraci CV, Campanella A, Barbariga M, *et al.* Ceruloplasmin oxidation, a feature of Parkinson's disease CSF, inhibits ferroxidase activity and promotes cellular iron retention. J Neurosci 2011, 31: 18568–18577.
- [12] Ayton S, Lei P, Duce JA, Wong BX, Sedjahtera A, Adlard PA, et al. Ceruloplasmin dysfunction and therapeutic potential for parkinson disease. Ann Neuol 2013, 73: 554–559.
- [13] Pal A, Kumar A, Prasad R. Predictive association of copper metabolism proteins with Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease: a preliminary perspective. Biometals 2014, 27: 25–31.
- [14] Bharucha KJ, Friedman JK, Vincent AS, Ross ED. Lower serum ceruloplasmin levels correlate with younger age of onset in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol 2008, 255: 1957–1962.
- [15] Jin L, Wang J, Zhao L, Jin H, Fei G, Zhang Y, et al. Decreased serum ceruloplasmin levels characteristically aggravate nigral iron deposition in Parkinson's disease. Brain 2011, 134: 50–58.
- [16] Jin L, Wang J, Jin H, Fei G, Zhang Y, Chen W, et al. Nigral iron deposition occurs across motor phenotypes of Parkinson's disease. Eur J Neurol 2012, 19: 969–976.
- [17] Martinez-Hernandez R, Montes S, Higuera-Calleja J, Yescas P, Boll MC, Diaz-Ruiz A, et al. Plasma ceruloplasmin ferroxidase activity correlates with the nigral sonographic area in Parkinson's disease patients: a pilot study. Neurochem Res 2011, 36: 2111–2115.
- [18] Zhang F, Gu W, Hurles ME, Lupski JR. Copy number variation in human health, disease, and evolution. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 2009, 10: 451–481.
- [19] Gelb DJ, Oliver E, Gilman S. Diagnostic criteria for Parkinson disease. Arch Neurol 1999, 56: 33–39.
- [20] Hoehn MM, Yahr MD. Parkinsonism: onset, progression and mortality. Neurology 1967, 17: 427–442.
- [21] Shi YY, He L. SHEsis, a powerful software platform for analyses of linkage disequilibrium, haplotype construction, and genetic association at polymorphism loci. Cell Res 2005, 15: 97–98.
- [22] Miyajima H, Kono S, Takahashi Y, Sugimoto M, Sakamoto M, Sakai N. Cerebellar ataxia associated with heteroallelic ceruloplasmin gene mutation. Neurology 2001, 57: 2205–2210.

- [23] Lirong J, Jianjun J, Hua Z, Guoqiang Fei, Yuhao Z, Xiaoli P et al. Hypoceruloplasminemia-related movement disorder without Kayser-Fleischer rings is different from Wilson disease and not involved in ATP7B mutation. Eur J Neurol 2009, 16: 1130–1137.
- [24] Hochstrasser H, Bauer P, Walter U, Behnke S, Spiegel J, Csoti I, et al. Ceruloplasmin gene variations and substantia nigra hyperechogenicity in Parkinson disease. Neurology 2004, 63: 1912–1917.
- [25] Castiglioni E, Finazzi D, Goldwurm S, Pezzoli G, Forni G, Girelli D, et al. Analysis of nucleotide variations in genes of iron management in patients of Parkinson's disease and other movement disorders. Parkinsons Dis 2010, 2011: 827693.
- [26] Chartier-Harlin MC, Kachergus J, Roumier C, Mouroux V, Douay X, Lincoln S, *et al.* Alpha-synuclein locus duplication as a cause of familial Parkinson's disease. Lancet 2004, 364: 1167–1169.
- [27] Ibanez P, Bonnet AM, Debarges B, Lohmann E, Tison F, Pollak P, *et al.* Causal relation between alpha-synuclein gene duplication and familial Parkinson's disease. Lancet 2004, 364: 1169–1171.
- [28] Singleton AB, Farrer M, Johnson J, Singleton A, Hague S, Kachergus J, *et al.* alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. Science 2003, 302: 841.
- [29] Miller DW, Hague SM, Clarimon J, Baptista M, Gwinn-Hardy K, Cookson MR, *et al.* Alpha-synuclein in blood and brain from familial Parkinson disease with SNCA locus triplication. Neurology 2004, 62: 1835–1838.
- [30] Kay DM, Stevens CF, Hamza TH, Montimurro JS, Zabetian CP, Factor SA, *et al.* A comprehensive analysis of deletions, multiplications, and copy number variations in PARK2. Neurology 2010, 75: 1189–1194.
- [31] Wang L, Nuytemans K, Bademci G, Jauregui C, Martin ER, Scott WK, et al. High-resolution survey in familial Parkinson disease genes reveals multiple independent copy number variation events in PARK2. Hum Mutat 2013, 34: 1071–1074.
- [32] Nuytemans K, Theuns J, Cruts M, Van Broeckhoven C. Genetic etiology of Parkinson disease associated with mutations in the SNCA, PARK2, PINK1, PARK7, and LRRK2 genes: a mutation update. Hum Mutat 2010, 31: 763–780.
- [33] Harraz MM, Dawson TM, Dawson VL. MicroRNAs in Parkinson's disease. J Chem Neuroanat 2011, 42: 127–130.
- [34] Filatova EV, Alieva A, Shadrina MI, Slominsky PA. MicroRNAs: possible role in pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Biochemistry (Mosc) 2012, 77: 813–819.
- [35] Mouradian MM. MicroRNAs in Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis 2012, 46: 279–284.
- [36] Kim J, Inoue K, Ishii J, Vanti WB, Voronov SV, Murchison E et al. A MicroRNA feedback circuit in midbrain dopamine neurons. Science 2007, 317: 1220–1224.

·Review·

Novel drug-delivery approaches to the blood-brain barrier

Xiaoqing Wang^{1,2,#}, Xiaowen Yu^{3,#}, William Vaughan⁴, Mingyuan Liu¹, Yangtai Guan¹

¹Department of Neurology, Changhai Hospital, ²Stem Cells and Medical Research Center, ³Department of Gerontology, Changhai Hospital, Second Military Medical University, Shanghai 200433, China

⁴Department of Genetics, Yale University, New Haven, CT 06519, USA

[#]These authors contributed equally to this review.

Corresponding authors: Yangtai Guan and Mingyuan Liu. E-mail: yangtaiguan@hotmail.com, liu.mingyuan@foxmail.com

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

The blood-brain barrier (BBB) maintains homeostasis by blocking toxic molecules from the circulation, but drugs are blocked at the same time. When the dose is increased to enhance the drug concentration in the central nervous system, there are side-effects on peripheral organs. In recent years, genetic therapeutic agents and small molecules have been used in various strategies to penetrate the BBB while minimizing the damage to systemic organs. In this review, we describe several representative methods to circumvent or cross the BBB, including chemical and physical strategies.

Keywords: drug delivery; blood-brain barrier; nanoparticles; focused ultrasound

Introduction

Treatment of central nervous system (CNS) diseases is challenged by the difficulty in drug delivery through the blood-brain barrier (BBB). Although drug mechanism research has become quite sophisticated in recent years, the vast majority of drugs are blocked by the BBB and thus fail to reach the brain, making it difficult to treat intracranial disease^[1].

The BBB has the function of selective permeability which prevents bacteria and other pathogenic microorganisms from entering the brain while at the same time allowing oxygen and other vital compounds to traverse from the blood to the brain. However, it also fends off drugs, and so is an obstacle to treating brain diseases.

Methods for drug delivery to the brain can be divided into two types: invasive and non-invasive. The invasive methods can achieve a high local drug concentrations by direct injection or intracerebroventricular delivery but also has side-effects such as infection or trauma. Besides, the drug concentration decreases exponentially as a function of distance from the injection site. It is also hard to deliver drugs repeatedly and patients hesitate to accept invasive treatments. For these reasons, we focus on the noninvasive drug-delivery strategies.

Structure of BBB

The BBB is a layer of endothelial cells on the basement membrane lining almost 99% of the brain capillary surface, continuously coupled with perivascular cells^[2], such as pericytes, smooth muscle cells, astrocytes, and microglia (Fig. 1)^[3]. Normally the BBB excludes ionic water-soluble drugs with a diameter >180 nm^[4].

Transplantation studies have shown that the properties of the endothelial cells that constitute the BBB are not innate^[5], but are induced in the special microenvironment of the CNS^[6]. The BBB is formed during embryogenesis when endothelial cells enter the CNS. One week before astrocyte formation, pericytes are recruited to the neonatal vessels and regulate the functions of the BBB, including the generation of tight junctions (TJs) and vesicle trafficking in brain microvascular endothelial cells (BMECs)^[7-9], a major component of the BBB^[10]. Pericytes are a prerequisite





Basement membrane

00

Blood

00

Pericvte

the basement membrane lining almost 99% of the brain capillary surface, continuously coupled with perivascular cells, such as pericytes, smooth muscle cells, astrocytes, and microglia.

for the formation of the BBB and determine part of its permeability by inhibiting the expression of molecules that increase BBB permeability and immune cell infiltration. However, they do not induce BBB-specific gene expression in CNS endothelial cells^[11, 12]. Astrocytes induce BBB formation after birth because of the close spatial relation between astrocytes and BMECs. The timing of BBB formation has been controversial. Laboratory mice with null and hypomorphic Pdgfrb alleles that have defects in pericyte generation illustrated that the interactions between pericytes and BMECs are critical in regulating BBB permeability. This effect is caused by the inhibition of specific proteins that can increase the permeability of the BBB^[13-15].

The permeability of the BBB in drug delivery remains a problem, although many drugs have been developed in an attempt to combat it. Several available strategies for the safe and effective delivery of drugs are described below.

A Drug-Delivery Approach to Bypassing the BBB

Intranasal delivery of drugs is a potential strategy to bypass the BBB^[16]. The effectiveness of intranasal delivery is determined by administration factors and physicochemical properties, such as the patient's head position, dosing device, drug volume, pH value, osmotic pressure, and drug solubility. Intranasal delivery has been highly regarded

because it is noninvasive, safe, and simple. Since its early use by William Ewart^[17] for the treatment of diphtheria, intranasal delivery has been confirmed as a promising route of administration. On the other hand, its use is relatively limited. However, the method has been modified by various additions such as penetration enhancers, adhesion agents, and nanoparticles, which can significantly increase the efficiency of drug delivery. Wu et al.[18] have successfully delivered stem cells using the intranasal approach as a therapy for experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in rats, an animal model of multiple sclerosis. Nasal glucagonlike peptide-1^[19] has already been used in patients. This is a promising development for patients with diabetes, and has the potential that insulin may be administered in a similar way. Future research is needed to further reveal the mechanisms of nasal drug delivery and at the same time improve the technology and solution preparation. This will achieve a better targeting, improved effectiveness, and higher drug concentrations.

New Drug-Delivery Approaches to Crossing the **BBB**

Relevant Carriers in Cerebral Microvascular Endothelia

Receptors on the surface membranes of cells can help drug delivery. Common carriers include medium-chain fattyacid carriers, neutral amino-acid carriers, a monocarboxylic carrier, cation transporters, and the adenosine purine carrier.

Exosomes^[20] Scientists at the University of Oxford have used protein carriers called exosomes to transport drug molecules to the brain cells of laboratory mice. Exosomes are membrane vesicles released by a variety of cells such as dendritic cells^[21,22]. They transport material back and forth through the BBB. Exosomes are first extracted from mice. Then, a CNS-specific rabies viral glycoprotein is attached to the acetylcholine receptor, and fused to the exosomes. Finally, an siRNA is placed in the exosomes and the complex is intravenously injected into mice. Experiments have confirmed that the siRNA is delivered to the brain and binds to its receptors on brain cells. This results in a 60% decline of β -secretase 1 (BACE1) expression, a gene associated with Alzheimer's disease^[23].

Adenosine receptor Researchers at Cornell University found that adenine nucleotide can transport large molecules into the brain. When the adenine nucleoside receptors on cells are activated, a channel can be established through the BBB^[24]. In the experiments, the team succeeded in passing large molecules (a β -amyloid protein antibody) through the BBB of transgenic mice and reported the adhesion of the antibody to β -amyloid plaques (mice with genetically-modified plaques that have a lower risk of Alzheimer's disease). Furthermore, the selective A2A adenosine receptor agonist Lexiscan can temporarily open BBB channels.

Transferrin receptor^[25] The transferrin receptor (TfR) is a key cell-surface molecule that regulates the uptake of ironbound transferrin^[26]. Plasma soluble TfR concentrations reflect the receptor density on cells and the number of cells expressing the receptor. Therefore, it is closely related to cellular iron demand and the erythroid proliferation rate. TfR is frequently overexpressed in cancer cells^[27]. Recently, transferrin-targeted conjugates have shown promise in reversing drug resistance in cancer cells, and transferrin immunotoxins with a diphtheria toxin mutant covalently bound to transferrin have shown promise for the treatment of glioblastoma in clinical trials^[28]. Thus, intracellular targeting by iron-saturated transferrin as a ligand for TfR-mediated endocytosis has become a focus of research. The natural receptor TfR has been used by Roche; therapeutic antibodies are attached to TfRs in a modified pattern, which they call a "Brain Shuttle Module". Monovalent binding to the TfR instead of bivalent binding, which causes lysosome sorting, can lead to a reduction of amyloid. This is a process of "receptor-mediated transcytosis".

Nanoparticles^[29]

Nanoparticles make up solid colloids composed of polymers or lipid particles of 10–1000 nm (usually 50–300 nm). A drug can be embedded within a particle's substrate or attached to its surface^[30]. Drugs are transported in a controlled time period to a targeted location *in vivo*. During this process, certain principles should be followed: nanoparticles used as drug carriers should be non-toxic, biodegradable, and biocompatible; have a diameter <100 nm and no aggregation reaction in blood, as well as an efficient production process^[31].

Poly-nanoparticles such as PBCA-NPs^[32-35] (butylcyanoacrylate), PEG^[36-40] (polyethylene glycol), liposomes^[41-43], P-gp (P-glycoprotein), and even superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles^[37] have been used for drug delivery.

To investigate the mechanisms behind nanoparticles, it must be recognized that materials on the nanoscale take on new biological and physical characteristics. For example, there may be a ubiquitous toxic effect on BMECs. A surfactant effect due to the solubilization of lipids in the endothelial cell membrane may lead to membrane fluidization and therefore enhanced drug permeability of the BBB.

Opening TJs between BMECs can allow drugs to pass through the BBB alone or with nanoparticles. Another option is receptor-mediated endocytosis followed by transcytosis into the CNS or drug release in endothelial cells^[31].

Adjustment of Tight Junctions^[44] between Endothelial Cells of the BBB

There are three means of barrier disruption (Table 1): osmotic, pharmacological, and mechanical (focused ultrasound (FUS) with microbubbles).

Many drugs are slow to exert an effect, as has been shown in *in vitro* studies^[51]. This is due to the low drug concentration caused by the BBB. The most direct way to increase drug permeability of the BBB is to open the TJs between endothelial cells. FUS can temporarily open the BBB and its efficiency is optimized when combined with microbubbles. FUS-induced BBB disruption occurs with sonication most of the time^[52]. Drug delivery by this method has been verified by extensive research^[53-57].

The mechanisms by which ultrasound opens the BBB rely on various physical characteristics and are closely associated with biological processes. Electron microscopy has confirmed that ultrasound causes enlarged biomembrane lacunae with no evident tissue damage both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. It has also been confirmed that after ultrasound irradiation, the capillary permeability increases, including endocytosis, opening of TJs, and free transportation through the endothelial lacunae^[58].

FUS is often used in oncotherapy, but it has not reached the same level of maturity in the field of BBBopening. FUS is noninvasive and precise, causes only local damage, is time-efficient, and is secure and repeatable in operation. A high dose of ultrasound has mild direct

	Osmotic	Pharmacological	Mechanical
Device	/	/	Focused ultrasound
Appearance	1970s ^[45]	1980s ^[46]	1940s
			for noninvasive ablation in brain ^[47]
Reagent	Hypertonic solution of 25% mannitol	Bradykinin ^[48]	Nano-microbubbles
		RMP-7 ^[49]	
Principal	Shrink endothelial cells and disrupt tight	Bind to receptors, temporarily	Physical effects of ultrasound
	junctions between them	increase Ca2+ inflow, activate	
		nitrogen oxidase, cytoskeletal	
		contraction	
Advantages	Effective in experimental and clinical	Used with antineoplastic drugs to	Noninvasive; volume of drug, extent and
	applications	amplify drug efficiency	degree of barrier disruption can be pre-
			established by parameter setting ^[50] ; drug-
			loaded microbubbles for better targeting.
Disadvantages	Risk of high-speed delivery into arterial	Mainly for brain-tumor barrier	Requires more trials on parameter setting.
	circulation of brain		

Table 1. Details of methods of barrier disruption

cytotoxic effects. Injuries mostly occur in blood vessels and epithelial cells resulting in a targeted zone of oxygen deficiency^[59]. Research is focused on adjusting the parameters of FUS to make it effective in drug delivery^[60].

Tunneling Nanotubes

The tunneling nanotube (TNT)^[61-65] is a new general communication method between mammal cells. TNTs are somewhat similar to the protoplasmic connections in plants, but they differ in structure and function. TNTs have already been used to transport particles outside or inside the BBB^[66]. In particular, mitochondria are the most common particles transported from one cell to another through TNT (Fig. 2)^[67-71].

Interestingly, researchers at UCLA's Jonsson Comprehensive Cancer Center found that RNA can be transported into mitochondria, but little is known about the mechanism. They found that polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPASE) protein^[72, 73] plays an important role in transporting RNA into mitochondria. When the expression of PNPASE is reduced, the amount of RNA entering mitochondria declines; PNPASE affects the RNAencoding process of the mitochondrial genome and the synthesis of proteins necessary to sustain electron transfer. When PNPASE expression is reduced, mitochondrial



Fig. 2. Diagram of formation of tunneling nanotube between two mammal cells. Red dots: mitochondria.

RNA accumulates, unprocessed protein translation is suppressed, and energy generation is hampered, leading to the arrest or inhibition of cell growth. According to the research, PNPASE mediates the transport of cytoplasmic RNA for energy production by mitochondria. However, no experiment using current detection methods has been able to confirm this theory. If we could combine TNTs with PNPASE-dependent RNA, import them into mitochondria, and transport mitochondria into BMECs^[74] transcending the TJs between them, a direct route to brain would be available.

Conclusion

The BBB impedes the entry of many drugs into the CNS. Although these drugs are somewhat effective, they have not been used in clinical treatments due to the low solubility, chemical instability, low bioavailability, and harmful sideeffects. These limitations restrict their clinical applications, leaving many CNS diseases poorly treated. Over the past 20 years, many experiments have been conducted to solve these problems. One main goal is to discover a way to deliver drugs across the BBB safely, effectively, and noninvasively.

Defects still exist in every drug-delivery strategy. For example, in nasal delivery, drug molecules can only stay in the nasal cavity for 15–20 min due to ciliary clearance, and are often not fully absorbed before clearance. In addition, nasal delivery may increase the circulating concentration through absorption by the respiratory or olfactory mucosa, causing decreased efficiency in brain targeting. Although the experiments described above are still in the initial stages and the data need to be verified, they inspire various possibilities for breakthroughs in the field of BBB permeability.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This review was supported by the National Natural Science Foundations of China (81200924 and 81230027), the Natural Science Foundation of Shanghai Municipality, China (12ZR1427400), the Key Scientific Research Project of Shanghai Municipality, China (11411950300), the Youth Fund of the Shanghai Health Bureau, China (2011), and the Innovation Research Program, Second Military Medical University, China (SCMRC1403 and SCMRC1410). Received date: 2014-06-23; Accepted date: 2014-07-21

REFERENCES

- Pardridge WM. Why is the global CNS pharmaceutical market so under-penetrated? Drug Discov Today 2002, 7: 5–7.
- [2] Hosoya K, Tachikawa M. The inner blood-retinal barrier: molecular structure and transport biology. Adv Exp Med Biol 2012, 763: 85–104.
- [3] Choi YK, Kim KW. Blood-neural barrier: its diversity and coordinated cell-to-cell communication. BMB Rep 2008, 41: 345–352.
- [4] Zlokovic BV. The blood-brain barrier in health and chronic neurodegenerative disorders. Neuron 2008, 57: 178–201.
- [5] Daneman R, Zhou L, Kebede AA, Barres BA. Pericytes are required for blood-brain barrier integrity during embryogenesis. Nature 2010, 468: 562–566.
- [6] Dyrna F, Hanske S, Krueger M, Bechmann I. The blood-brain barrier. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 2013, 8: 763–773.
- [7] Hawkins BT, Davis TP. The blood-brain barrier/neurovascular unit in health and disease. Pharmacol Rev 2005, 57: 173– 185.
- [8] Persidsky Y, Ramirez SH, Haorah J, Kanmogne GD. Bloodbrain barrier: structural components and function under physiologic and pathologic conditions. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 2006, 1: 223–236.
- [9] Bauer HC, Bauer H, Lametschwandtner A, Amberger A, Ruiz P, Steiner M. Neovascularization and the appearance of morphological characteristics of the blood-brain barrier in the embryonic mouse central nervous system. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 1993, 75: 269–278.
- [10] Lyck R RN, Moll AG, Steiner O, Cohen CD, Engelhardt B, et al. Culture-induced changes in blood-brain barrier transcriptome: implications for amino-acid transporters *in vivo*. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2009, 29: 1491–1502.
- [11] Butt AM, Jones HC, Abbott NJ. Electrical resistance across the blood-brain barrier in anaesthetized rats: a developmental study. J Physiol 1990, 429: 47–62.
- [12] Ek CJ, Dziegielewska KM, Stolp H, Saunders NR. Functional effectiveness of the blood-brain barrier to small water-soluble molecules in developing and adult opossum (Monodelphis domestica). J Comp Neurol 2006, 496: 13–26.
- [13] Hirase T, Staddon JM, Saitou M, Ando-Akatsuka Y, Itoh M, Furuse M, *et al.* Occludin as a possible determinant of tight junction permeability in endothelial cells. J Cell Sci 1997, 110 (Pt 14): 1603–1613.
- [14] Kniesel U, Risau W, Wolburg H. Development of blood-brain barrier tight junctions in the rat cortex. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 1996, 96: 229–240.

- [15] Bolz S, Farrell CL, Dietz K, Wolburg H. Subcellular distribution of glucose transporter (GLUT-1) during development of the blood-brain barrier in rats. Cell Tissue Res 1996, 284: 355–365.
- [16] Gonda I. Systemic delivery of drugs to humans via inhalation. J Aerosol Med 2006, 19: 47–53.
- [17] William Ewart. The use of creosoted oil for the expulsion of tracheal false membranes after tracheotomy; and of intranasal injections of oil in various affection. Br Med J 1898, 1: 1381–1383.
- [18] Wu S. Intranasal Delivery of Neural Stem Cells: A CNSspecific, Non-invasive cell-based therapy for experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Cell Immunol 2013, 4.
- [19] Ueno H, Mizuta M, Shiiya T, Tsuchimochi W, Noma K, Nakashima N, et al. Exploratory trial of intranasal administration of glucagon-like Peptide-1 in Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2014, 37: 2024– 2027.
- [20] Alvarez-Erviti L, Seow Y, Yin H, Betts C, Lakhal S, Wood MJ. Delivery of siRNA to the mouse brain by systemic injection of targeted exosomes. Nat Biotechnol 2011, 29: 341–345.
- [21] Sluijter JP, Verhage V, Deddens JC, van den Akker F, Doevendans PA. Microvesicles and exosomes for intracardiac communication. Cardiovasc Res 2014, 102: 302–311.
- [22] Johnstone R, Adam M, Hammond J, Orr L, Turbide C. Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes). J Biol Chem 1987, 262: 9412–9420.
- [23] Moore DB, Gillentine MA, Botezatu NM, Wilson KA, Benson AE, Langeland JA. Asynchronous evolutionary origins of Abeta and BACE1. Mol Biol Evol 2014, 31: 696–702.
- [24] Carman AJ, Mills JH, Krenz A, Kim DG, Bynoe MS. Adenosine receptor signaling modulates permeability of the blood-brain barrier. J Neurosci 2011, 31: 13272–13280.
- [25] Niewoehner J, Bohrmann B, Collin L, Urich E, Sade H, Maier P, et al. Increased brain penetration and potency of a therapeutic antibody using a monovalent molecular shuttle. Neuron 2014, 81: 49–60.
- [26] Matsunaga N, Okazaki F, Koyanagi S, Ohdo S. Chrono-drug delivery system based on the circadian rhythm of transferrin receptor. Nihon Rinsho 2013, 71: 2200–2205.
- [27] Yang Y, Zhang X, Wang X, Zhao X, Ren T, Wang F, et al. Enhanced delivery of artemisinin and its analogues to cancer cells by their adducts with human serum transferrin. Int J Pharm 2014, 467: 113–122.
- [28] Tortorella S, Karagiannis TC. Transferrin receptor-mediated endocytosis: a useful target for cancer therapy. J Membr Biol 2014, 247: 291–307.
- [29] Rempe R, Cramer S, Qiao R, Galla HJ. Strategies to

overcome the barrier: use of nanoparticles as carriers and modulators of barrier properties. Cell Tissue Res 2014, 355: 717–726.

- [30] Gao H, Pang Z, Jiang X. Targeted delivery of nanotherapeutics for major disorders of the central nervous system. Pharm Res 2013, 30: 2485–2498.
- [31] Kreuter J. Drug delivery to the central nervous system by polymeric nanoparticles: What do we know? Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2014, 71: 2–14.
- [32] Tan R, Niu M, Zhao J, Liu Y, Feng N. Preparation of vincristine sulfate-loaded poly (butylcyanoacrylate) nanoparticles modified with pluronic F127 and evaluation of their lymphatic tissue targeting. J Drug Target 2014, 22: 509–517.
- [33] Chung CY, Yang JT, Kuo YC. Polybutylcyanoacrylate nanoparticles for delivering hormone response elementconjugated neurotrophin-3 to the brain of intracerebral hemorrhagic rats. Biomaterials 2013, 34: 9717–9727.
- [34] Lin Y, Pan Y, Shi Y, Huang X, Jia N, Jiang JY. Delivery of large molecules via poly(butyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles into the injured rat brain. Nanotechnology 2012, 23: 165101.
- [35] Kuo YC, Chung CY. Transcytosis of CRM197-grafted polybutylcyanoacrylate nanoparticles for delivering zidovudine across human brain-microvascular endothelial cells. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 2012, 91: 242–249.
- [36] Huang JY, Lu YM, Wang H, Liu J, Liao MH, Hong LJ, et al. The effect of lipid nanoparticle PEGylation on neuroinflammatory response in mouse brain. Biomaterials 2013, 34: 7960–7970.
- [37] Thomsen LB, Linemann T, Pondman KM, Lichota J, Kim KS, Pieters RJ, et al. Uptake and transport of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles through human brain capillary endothelial cells. ACS Chem Neurosci 2013, 4: 1352–1360.
- [38] Liu Z, Gao X, Kang T, Jiang M, Miao D, Gu G, et al. B6 peptide-modified PEG-PLA nanoparticles for enhanced brain delivery of neuroprotective peptide. Bioconjug Chem 2013, 24: 997–1007.
- [39] Chen YC, Hsieh WY, Lee WF, Zeng DT. Effects of surface modification of PLGA-PEG-PLGA nanoparticles on loperamide delivery efficiency across the blood-brain barrier. J Biomater Appl 2013, 27: 909–922.
- [40] Liu X, An C, Jin P, Liu X, Wang L. Protective effects of cationic bovine serum albumin-conjugated PEGylated tanshinone IIA nanoparticles on cerebral ischemia. Biomaterials 2013, 34: 817–830.
- [41] Pinzon-Daza ML, Campia I, Kopecka J, Garzon R, Ghigo D, Riganti C. Nanoparticle- and liposome-carried drugs: new strategies for active targeting and drug delivery across bloodbrain barrier. Curr Drug Metab 2013, 14: 625–640.
- [42] Ding H, Sagar V, Agudelo M, Pilakka-Kanthikeel S, Atluri

VS, Raymond A, *et al.* Enhanced blood-brain barrier transmigration using a novel transferrin embedded fluorescent magneto-liposome nanoformulation. Nanotechnology 2014, 25: 055101.

- [43] Arnold RD, Mager DE, Slack JE, Straubinger RM. Effect of repetitive administration of Doxorubicin-containing liposomes on plasma pharmacokinetics and drug biodistribution in a rat brain tumor model. Clin Cancer Res 2005, 11: 8856–8865.
- [44] Artus C, Glacial F, Ganeshamoorthy K, Ziegler N, Godet M, Guilbert T, *et al.* The Wnt/planar cell polarity signaling pathway contributes to the integrity of tight junctions in brain endothelial cells. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2014, 34: 433– 440.
- [45] Rapoport SI. Effect of concentrated solutions on blood-brain barrier. Am J Physiol 1970, 219: 270–274.
- [46] Raymond JJ, Robertson DM, Dinsdale HB. Pharmacological modification of bradykinin induced breakdown of the bloodbrain barrier. Can J Neurol Sci 1986, 13: 214–220.
- [47] Hynynen K, Clement GT, McDannold N, Vykhodtseva N, King R, White PJ, et al. 500-element ultrasound phased array system for noninvasive focal surgery of the brain: a preliminary rabbit study with ex vivo human skulls. Magn Reson Med 2004, 52: 100–107.
- [48] Bartus RT, Elliott PJ, Dean RL, Hayward NJ, Nagle TL, Huff MR, et al. Controlled modulation of BBB permeability using the bradykinin agonist, RMP-7. Exp Neurol 1996, 142: 14–28.
- [49] Thomas HD, Lind MJ, Ford J, Bleehen N, Calvert AH, Boddy AV. Pharmacokinetics of carboplatin administered in combination with the bradykinin agonist Cereport (RMP-7) for the treatment of brain tumours. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 2000, 45: 284–290.
- [50] Chen H, Konofagou EE. The size of blood-brain barrier opening induced by focused ultrasound is dictated by the acoustic pressure. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2014, 34: 1197–1204.
- [51] Aryal M, Arvanitis CD, Alexander PM, McDannold N. Ultrasound-mediated blood-brain barrier disruption for targeted drug delivery in the central nervous system. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2014, 72: 94–109.
- [52] Cho EE, Drazic J, Ganguly M, Stefanovic B, Hynynen K. Twophoton fluorescence microscopy study of cerebrovascular dynamics in ultrasound-induced blood-brain barrier opening. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2011, 31: 1852–1862.
- [53] Fan CH, Ting CY, Lin HJ, Wang CH, Liu HL, Yen TC, et al. SPIO-conjugated, doxorubicin-loaded microbubbles for concurrent MRI and focused-ultrasound enhanced braintumor drug delivery. Biomaterials 2013, 34: 3706–3715.
- [54] Ting CY, Fan CH, Liu HL, Huang CY, Hsieh HY, Yen TC, et al. Concurrent blood-brain barrier opening and local drug delivery using drug-carrying microbubbles and focused

ultrasound for brain glioma treatment. Biomaterials 2012, 33: 704–712.

- [55] Wang F, Shi Y, Lu L, Liu L, Cai Y, Zheng H, et al. Targeted delivery of GDNF through the blood-brain barrier by MRIguided focused ultrasound. PLoS One 2012, 7: e52925.
- [56] Huang Q, Deng J, Wang F, Chen S, Liu Y, Wang Z, et al. Targeted gene delivery to the mouse brain by MRI-guided focused ultrasound-induced blood-brain barrier disruption. Exp Neurol 2012, 233: 350–356.
- [57] Fan CH, Ting CY, Liu HL, Huang CY, Hsieh HY, Yen TC, et al. Antiangiogenic-targeting drug-loaded microbubbles combined with focused ultrasound for glioma treatment. Biomaterials 2013, 34: 2142–2155.
- [58] Sheikov N, McDannold N, Vykhodtseva N, Jolesz F, Hynynen K. Cellular mechanisms of the blood-brain barrier opening induced by ultrasound in presence of microbubbles. Ultrasound Med Biol 2004, 30: 979–989.
- [59] Carstensen EL, Gracewski S, Dalecki D. The search for cavitation *in vivo*. Ultrasound Med Biol 2000, 26: 1377–1385.
- [60] Hou GY, Marquet F, Wang S, Konofagou EE. Multi-parametric monitoring and assessment of high-intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) boiling by harmonic motion imaging for focused ultrasound (HMIFU): an *ex vivo* feasibility study. Phys Med Biol 2014, 59: 1121–1145.
- [61] Figeac F, Lesault PF, Coz OL, Damy T, Souktani R, Trebeau C, et al. Nanotubular crosstalk with distressed cardiomyocytes stimulates the paracrine repair function of mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 2014, 32: 216–230..
- [62] Gerdes HH, Bukoreshtliev NV, Barroso JF. Tunneling nanotubes: a new route for the exchange of components between animal cells. FEBS Lett 2007, 581: 2194–2201.
- [63] Yasuda K, Khandare A, Burianovskyy L, Maruyama S, Zhang F, Nasjletti A, *et al.* Tunneling nanotubes mediate rescue of prematurely senescent endothelial cells by endothelial progenitors: exchange of lysosomal pool. Aging (Albany NY) 2011, 3: 597–608.
- [64] Lokar M, Kabaso D, Resnik N, Sepcic K, Kralj-Iglic V, Veranic P, et al. The role of cholesterol-sphingomyelin membrane nanodomains in the stability of intercellular membrane nanotubes. Int J Nanomed 2012, 7: 1891–1902.
- [65] Pasquier J, Guerrouahen BS, Al Thawadi H, Ghiabi P, Maleki M, Abu-Kaoud N, *et al.* Preferential transfer of mitochondria from endothelial to cancer cells through tunneling nanotubes modulates chemoresistance. J Transl Med 2013, 11: 94.
- [66] Tosi G, Vilella A, Chhabra R, Schmeisser MJ, Boeckers TM, Ruozi B, et al. Insight on the fate of CNS-targeted nanoparticles. Part II: Intercellular neuronal cell-to-cell transport. J Control Release 2014, 177: 96–107.
- [67] Bukoreshtliev NV, Wang X, Hodneland E, Gurke S, Barroso JF, Gerdes HH. Selective block of tunneling nanotube (TNT)

formation inhibits intercellular organelle transfer between PC12 cells. FEBS Lett 2009, 583: 1481–1488.

- [68] Callan-Jones A, Sorre B, Bassereau P. Curvature-driven lipid sorting in biomembranes. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2011, 3.
- [69] Rustom A, Saffrich R, Markovic I, Walther P, Gerdes HH. Nanotubular highways for intercellular organelle transport. Science 2004, 303: 1007–1010.
- [70] Sowinski S, Jolly C, Berninghausen O, Purbhoo MA, Chauveau A, Kohler K, et al. Membrane nanotubes physically connect T cells over long distances presenting a novel route for HIV-1 transmission. Nat Cell Biol 2008, 10: 211–219.
- [71] Tangl E. Ueber offene communicationen zwischen den Zellen

des Endosperms einiger Samen. Jahrb Wiss Botanik 1880, 12: 170–190.

- [72] Wang G, Shimada E, Koehler CM, Teitell MA. PNPASE and RNA trafficking into mitochondria. Biochim Biophys Acta 2012, 1819: 998–1007.
- [73] Wang G, Chen HW, Oktay Y, Zhang J, Allen EL, Smith GM, et al. PNPASE regulates RNA import into mitochondria. Cell 2010, 142: 456–467.
- [74] Dong HJ, Shang CZ, Peng DW, Xu J, Xu PX, Zhan L, et al. Curcumin attenuates ischemia-like injury induced IL-1beta elevation in brain microvascular endothelial cells via inhibiting MAPK pathways and nuclear factor-kappaB activation. Neurol Sci 2014, 35: 1387–1392.

·Method·

Preserving GABAergic interneurons in acute brain slices of mice using the N-methyl-*D*-glucamine-based artificial cerebrospinal fluid method

Geng Pan¹, Yue Li¹, Hong-Yan Geng¹, Jian-Ming Yang¹, Ke-Xin Li¹, Xiao-Ming Li^{1,2}

¹Institute of Neuroscience, Key Laboratory of Medical Neurobiology of the Ministry of Health, Zhejiang Province Key Laboratory of Neurobiology, School of Medicine, ²Soft Matter Research Center, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310058, China Corresponding author: Xiao-Ming Li. E-mail: lixm@zju.edu.cn

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

ABSTRACT

Defects in the function and development of GABAergic interneurons have been linked to psychiatric disorders, so preservation of these interneurons in brain slices is important for successful electrophysiological recording in various ex vivo methods. However, it is difficult to maintain the activity and morphology of neurons in slices from mice of >30 days old. Here we evaluated the N-methyl-D-glucamine (NMDG)based artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) method for the preservation of interneurons in slices from mice of up to ~6 months old and discussed the steps that may affect their quality during slicing. We found that the NMDG-aCSF method rescued more cells than sucrose-aCSF and successfully preserved different types of interneurons including parvalbumin- and somatostatin-positive interneurons. In addition, both the chemical and electrical synaptic signaling of interneurons were maintained. These results demonstrate that the NMDG-aCSF method is suitable for the preservation of interneurons, especially in studies of gap junctions.

Keywords: artificial cerebrospinal fluid; acute brain slice; electrophysiology; N-methyl-*D*-glucamine; parvalbumin; somatostatin

INTRODUCTION

GABAergic interneurons inhibit neuronal depolarization by

releasing y-aminobutyric acid (GABA). Dysfunction of these interneurons may be responsible for some psychiatric/ neurological disorders, such as schizophrenia, autism, and epilepsy, so their electrophysiological properties have been intensively studied. One of the major research methods is patch-clamp recording in brain slices in vitro. The efficiency of this method mainly relies on the quality of the slices. To obtain good-quality slices, Na⁺ in the artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF) was initially replaced with equimolar sucrose^[1]. Later, other Na⁺ substitutes were introduced, including N-methyl-*D*-glucamine (NMDG)^[2-4], glycerol^[5], Tris, and choline. However, apart from the NMDG and choline substitutes, they are only adequate for mice younger than ~30 days. Choline substitution in aCSF results in the morphological preservation of slices from mice >3 months old and up to years of age, but the electrophysiological properties of neurons in these slices are lost. In contrast, the NMDGbased aCSF method not only enables morphological preservation of brain slices of mice over a lifespan similar to the choline-based method, but also preserves the function of chemical synapses^[3,4]. The NMDG-aCSF method was initially described for studying glial cells in the spinal cord^[2]. Later, it was introduced for the preparation of brain slices. Recently, additional supplements such as N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) and glutathione ethyl-ester have been incorporated into the NMDG-aCSF method, resulting in the enhanced maintenance of slices *in vitro* for up to 12 h^[3,4,6].

To facilitate studies of GABAergic interneurons, in this study we attempted to preserve their cellular morphology and electrophysiological properties using the NMDG-
aCSF method. We evaluated the reproducibility of this method, focusing on its effect on parvalbumin (PV)- and somatostatin (SST)-positive interneurons, which account for ~70% of all interneurons.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

All animal experiments were approved and reviewed by the Animal Advisory Committee at Zhejiang University in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guidelines for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

Mice

The following mice were used throughout the experiments: GIN mice (#003718, The Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) expressing enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) in a group of SST interneurons under the control of the *Gad1* promoter, and G42 mice (#007677, The Jackson Laboratory) expressing eGFP in a subclass of PV-positive interneurons under the control of the *Gad1* promoter. A CCK-Cre-ER^{T2} (#012710, The Jackson Laboratory) mouse was crossed with an Ai9 mouse (#007909, The Jackson Laboratory) to produce mice expressing the fluorescent protein tdTomato under the control of the *Cck* promoter in cortical neurons (both interneurons and pyramidal neurons). These offspring are referred to as "CCK-TOM".

Preparation of Acute Brain Slices

Generally, for the sucrose aCSF method, mice were anesthetized by ether inhalation and then were perfused with ice-cold sucrose-aCSF containing (in mmol/L): 185 sucrose, 2.5 KCl, 25 *D*-glucose, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 0.5 CaCl₂, and 10 MgCl₂, pH 7.35 by NaOH or HCl. The brain was cut with a microtome (Leica VT1200S with vibrocheck, Nussloch, Germany) and slices (300 µm) were maintained in oxygenated standard recording aCSF at 34°C for 20 min and subsequently kept in standard recording aCSF at 22°C for at least 30 min until the experiment. The standard recording aCSF contained (in mmol/L): 124 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 13 *D*-glucose, 24 NaHCO₃, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 5 HEPES, 2 CaCl₂, and 2 MgSO₄, pH 7.35 by NaOH or HCl.

For the NMDG aCSF method, acute slices were prepared based on the description by Guoping Feng at MIT^[3,4]. Briefly, mice were deeply anesthetized by ether inhalation and then cardiovascular perfusion was performed using ice-cold NMDG aCSF consisting of (in mmol/L): 93 NMDG, 93 HCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 30 NaHCO₃, 25 *D*-glucose, 20 HEPES, 5 Na-ascorbate, 2 thiourea, 3 Na-pyruvate, 10 MgSO₄, and 0.5 CaCl₂, pH 7.35 with NMDG or HCl. The brain was removed and placed into NMDG aCSF (0–2°C) bubbled with 95% O₂/5% CO₂. Slices were cut followed by primary recovery in oxygenated NMDG aCSF at 34°C for 10–12 min and secondary recovery in oxygenated HEPES aCSF at 22°C for >60 min. The HEPES aCSF contained (in mmol/L): 92 NaCl, 30 NaHCO₃, 25 *D*-glucose, 2.5 KCl, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 20 HEPES, 5 Na-ascorbate, 2 thiourea, 3 Na-pyruvate, 10 MgSO₄, 0.5 CaCl₂, and 12 NAC, pH 7.35 by NaOH or HCl. Slices from the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, and midbrain were used for electrophysiological and imaging experiments. The osmolality of each aCSF was ~310 mOsm.

Electrophysiology

Individual slices were maintained in a recording chamber perfused with oxygenated standard recording aCSF (1-2 mL/min) throughout the experiment. Whole-cell paired patch-clamp recording was performed using an intracellular solution containing (in mmol/L): 110 K-gluconate, 40 KCl, 10 HEPES, 3 Mg-ATP, 0.5 Na2-GTP, and 0.2 EGTA, pH 7.25 with KOH or HCI. Signals were acquired using a MultiClamp 700B amplifier (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA) with a Digidata 1440A (Molecular Devices) controlled by Clampex 10.4. Signals were filtered at 2 kHz for voltage clamp and 3 kHz for current clamp, and digitized at 10 kHz. Electrodes were made from borosilicate glass (with filament, Sutter, Novato, CA) with a resistance of 3.5-4.5 MΩ. Whole-cell patch-clamp was formed after a gigaohm seal was achieved with series resistance <20 MΩ. Chemical synaptic events were evoked by alternate field stimulation (square-wave pulses of 100 mV, 1000 Hz, duration 1 ms, the stimulating electrode was >50 µm apart from the recording pipette) with a pencil-shaped concentric bipolar electrode (outer pole 125 µm, inner pole 25 µm, rounded tip, #CBARC75, FHC, Bowdoin, ME). With the same pipette solution as above, both the inhibitory and excitatory postsynaptic currents were inward. Cells were held at -70 mV to detect unitary postsynaptic currents or miniature postsynaptic currents. For electrical coupling, we simultaneously patched two eGFP-positive cells (<20 um apart). Cells were held under the current-clamp mode and resting membrane potential was maintained at -70 mV

with continuous current injection. Electrical coupling was evoked by 500 ms of hyperpolarizing current injection (-100 pA) into each cell alternately. The threshold for electrical coupling confirmation was 1% (ratio of the steady-state voltage deflection of coupling cell ΔV_2 and injected cell ΔV_1).

Imaging

During the electrophysiology experiments, neurons were identified with either a Zeiss Achroplan 10×/0.25 Ph1 lens or a Zeiss Achroplan IR 40×/0.80 W lens mounted on an upright Zeiss Axioskop 2 FS mot platform with a mercury lamp. Images were captured with either a DAGE-MTI IR-1000 Monochrome camera or a Zeiss LSM 5 Exciter system.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

To evaluate and compare the NMDG-aCSF method with other methods, we first examined morphological preservation. In NMDG-aCSF, cells in the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, and dorsal raphe nucleus of the midbrain displayed clear and plump cell bodies while in sucroseaCSF the cells swelled and died (Fig. 1A). In addition, confocal images clearly showed the morphology of different types of neurons in CCK-TOM, G42, and GIN mice (Fig. 1B and C). The improved morphological preservation using the NMDG aCSF method was most likely due to relief from oxidative stress. Such stress can induce edema^[7-9] and activate glutamate receptors resulting in acidosis^[10]. These events lead to irreversible membrane damage such as lipid peroxidation, while replenishing the endogenous antioxidants can relieve these processes. Regular antioxidants include sodium pyruvate^[11], sodium ascorbate^[7], thiourea^[12] and HEPES^[13]. However, in aging mice the effect is not strong enough to preserve the health of slices, so the very powerful endogenous antioxidant, glutathione, was introduced^[6,14]. This antioxidant rescues neurons from degeneration while simultaneously maintaining synaptic plasticity^[15]. As glutathione is not membrane-permeable, NAC is introduced. NAC is membrane-permeable and is converted into glutathione



Fig. 1. Morphological preservation of neurons in brain slices. (A) Direct comparison of neurons (2–3 months old) from the prefrontal cortex (PFC), hippocampus (HIPP) and dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN) using the NMDG and sucrose aCSF methods. More neurons swell and die when prepared with sucrose aCSF. (B, C) Confocal microscopic images of neurons from the PFC, hippocampus, and thalamus (TH) from 3 transgenic mice (3–6 months old). Neurons display clear, healthy, and branched projections. Scale bars, 20 µm.

in the cytosol, providing on-line de novo glutathione synthesis^[3,4,14]. As indicated by Jonathan Ting at the lab of Guoping Feng, NAC treatment is able to preserve the morphology and functionality of neurons for up to 12 h (www.brainslicemethods.com)^[3,4]. We also found that NAC stabilized cellular health and prolonged survival time. Although it has been suggested that NAC should be applied throughout the slice preparation process, limiting NAC to the second HEPES aCSF recovery step was sufficient to keep slices alive and healthy for at least ~6 h. Once slices were transferred to the recording chamber, they could stay alive for another 3-4 h. Another more effective but expensive alternative to NAC is glutathione ethyl-ester, which is a membrane-permeable glutathione that is able to directly replenish endogenous glutathione depletion. The explanation for the strong beneficial effects of NMDG on slices is not directly evident. Based on previous reports, NMDG is less membrane-permeable than Na⁺ and K^{+[16]}. Thus, replacement of either Na⁺ or K⁺ with extracellular NMDG hyperpolarizes the resting membrane potential^[17]. The hyperpolarized resting membrane potential can keep neurons in a more "silent" mode, which might explain the protective effect of NDMG aCSF.

Besides morphological preservation of neurons in slices with the NMDG aCSF method, we also investigated the preservation of electrophysiological properties. Neurons of different types (Fig. 2A) and at different locations (Fig. 2B) were able to generate regular firing patterns. In contrast to the choline aCSF preservation method, in which electrical activity is lost, neurons prepared with the NMDG aCSF method displayed normal Na⁺, Ca²⁺, and K⁺ currents (Fig. 2C). Moreover, we applied field stimulation to the Schaffer collaterals and detected postsynaptic currents in the CA1 region (Fig. 2D upper panel). Together with the miniature postsynaptic current recordings (Fig. 2D lower panel), these results demonstrated the presence of chemical coupling. Besides their chemical connections, we determined whether gap junctions were also preserved. We performed whole-cell patches on two SST interneurons simultaneously (see Material and Methods) and recorded electrical coupling (Fig. 2E). These results showed that electrical synapses are preserved by the NMDG aCSF method and extended the application of NMDG aCSF to the study of gap junctions in slices.

Besides the preservation method, to obtain goodquality brain slices, care must also be taken with the slicing operation. Vertical vibration of the blade, the horizontal amplitude, friction of the blade surface, cutting speed, and the blocking of the brain are all important factors contributing to the quality of slices^[18]. In our experiments, we used a Leica VT1200S with vibrocheck which minimizes the vertical vibration of the blade at a customized horizontal amplitude. Generally, razors with low friction are recommended. In the experiments described here, we used razors from Schick (Germany). There are also other options for blades, such as homemade glass, sapphire, or self-customized zirconium ceramic, but they are either difficult to produce or have a low cost-effectiveness. For coronal sections from the prefrontal cortex, we preferred to use a speed of 0.2 mm/s, a horizontal amplitude of 1-1.5 mm, and a 15° blade angle, producing good morphological and functional preservation of cells. For coronal slices from the midbrain, we preferred a speed of 0.07-0.08 mm/s due to the presence of highly myelinated fiber tracts. However, there are no universal settings for the configuration of a vibratome since they vary depending on the specific type of machine and the specific brain region. For example, Guoping Feng and colleagues prefer the VF-200 vibratome from Precisionary Instruments, which has a fixed horizontal amplitude of 2 mm and a 13° blade angle^[3,4]. Generally, it is suggested to use a large horizontal amplitude with the vertical vibration at its minimum value (0 mm is best, if possible)^[18]. As indicated by Jonathan Ting, if NMDG aCSF is applied during the cardiovascular perfusion, there is no need to worry about the slicing speed and the transfer of slices to the recovery chamber (www.brainslicemethods. com). However, there are still challenges. For example, it is unclear whether the NMDG-based aCSF method is applicable to slices from damaged brain tissue. In addition, the NMDG aCSF method has a limitation on the age of mice, as it is not suitable for mice younger than 30 days. For these mice, the sucrose aCSF or the Tris -based aCSF method is suggested.

Taken together, we showed that the improved NMDG aCSF method offers a better way to perform patch-clamp recordings on neurons compared with the traditional sucrose method. Our results further demonstrated that this method is suitable for studying gap junctions, providing



Fig. 2. Electrophysiological properties of neurons in brain slices. Neurons prepared with the NMDG aCSF method from (A) three transgenic mice (3–6 months old) and (B) at two locations (prefrontal cortex and midbrain) all displayed normal firing patterns. (C) Neurons expressed Na⁺, Ca²⁺, and K⁺ currents evoked by voltage ramp stimulation from -100 mV to +60 mV, indicating the preservation of these ion channels on the cell membrane. (D) Chemical synapse activity induced by field stimulation (upper panel): a neuron at CA1 was patched while Shaffer collaterals were stimulated by square-wave pulses (square-wave pulses of 100 mV, 1000 Hz, duration 1 ms, the stimulating electrode was >50 μm apart from the recording pipette); and by miniature postsynaptic currents (lower panel): a cell in the CA1 region was held at -70 mV and representative inward traces are shown in the dashed rectangle. (E) Electrical coupling between two somatostatin interneurons (<20 μm apart) in a slice from a mouse ~2 months old. The cells were held at -70 mV with current clamp. Hyperpolarization was generated in one cell (ΔV₁) while voltage deflection was recorded from the other cell (ΔV₂).

an additional method for comparative research studies. However, this work only focused on the presence of chemical and electrical coupling. Whether and how the NMDG aCSF method is able to regulate the chemical and/ or electrical coupling ratio remain to be determined.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Dr. Z.J. Huang (Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, NY) and Dr. X.H. Zhang (Beijing Normal University,

Beijing, China) for kindly providing the mouse lines, and Dr. S. van der Even, Dr. I. C. Bruce and Dr. C. Gu for critically reading the manuscript. This work was supported by grants from National Funds for Distinguished Young Scientists of China (81225007) and the Funds for Creative Research Groups of China (81221003).

Received date: 2014-07-23; Accepted date: 2014-09-20

REFERENCES

[1] Aghajanian GK, Rasmussen K. Intracellular studies in the

facial nucleus illustrating a simple new method for obtaining viable motoneurons in adult rat brain slices. Synapse 1989, 3: 331–338.

- [2] Nashmi R, Velumian AA, Chung I, Zhang L, Agrawal SK, Fehlings MG. Patch-clamp recordings from white matter glia in thin longitudinal slices of adult rat spinal cord. J Neurosci Methods 2002, 117: 159–166.
- [3] Peca J, Feliciano C, Ting JT, Wang W, Wells MF, Venkatraman TN, *et al.* Shank3 mutant mice display autisticlike behaviours and striatal dysfunction. Nature 2011, 472: 437–442.
- [4] Zhao S, Ting JT, Atallah HE, Qiu L, Tan J, Gloss B, et al. Cell type–specific channelrhodopsin-2 transgenic mice for optogenetic dissection of neural circuitry function. Nat Methods 2011, 8: 745–752.
- [5] Ye JH, Zhang J, Xiao C, Kong JQ. Patch-clamp studies in the CNS illustrate a simple new method for obtaining viable neurons in rat brain slices: glycerol replacement of NaCl protects CNS neurons. J Neurosci Methods 2006, 158: 251– 259.
- [6] Robillard JM, Gordon GR, Choi HB, Christie BR, MacVicar BA. Glutathione restores the mechanism of synaptic plasticity in aged mice to that of the adult. PLoS One 2011, 6: e20676.
- [7] Brahma B, Forman RE, Stewart EE, Nicholson C, Rice ME. Ascorbate inhibits edema in brain slices. J Neurochem 2000, 74: 1263–1270.
- [8] Espanol MT, Xu Y, Litt L, Chang LH, James TL, Weinstein PR, et al. Modulation of edema by dizocilpine, kynurenate, and NBQX in respiring brain slices after exposure to glutamate. Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien) 1994, 60: 58–61.
- [9] Werth JL, Park TS, Silbergeld DL, Rothman SM. Excitotoxic swelling occurs in oxygen and glucose deprived human

cortical slices. Brain Res 1998, 782: 248-254.

- [10] Chesler M, Chen JC, Kraig RP. Determination of extracellular bicarbonate and carbon dioxide concentrations in brain slices using carbonate and pH-selective microelectrodes. J Neurosci Methods 1994, 53: 129–136.
- [11] Desagher S, Glowinski J, Prémont J. Pyruvate protects neurons against hydrogen peroxide-induced toxicity. J Neurosci 1997, 17: 9060–9067.
- [12] Casalino E, Sblano C, Landriscina C. A possible mechanism for initiation of lipid peroxidation by ascorbate in rat liver microsomes. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1996, 28: 137–149.
- [13] MacGregor DG, Chesler M, Rice ME. HEPES prevents edema in rat brain slices. Neurosci Lett 2001, 303: 141–144.
- [14] Aoyama K, Suh SW, Hamby AM, Liu J, Chan WY, Chen Y, et al. Neuronal glutathione deficiency and age-dependent neurodegeneration in the EAAC1 deficient mouse. Nat Neurosci 2006, 9: 119–126.
- [15] Steullet P, Neijt HC, Cuénod M, Do KQ. Synaptic plasticity impairment and hypofunction of NMDA receptors induced by glutathione deficit: relevance to schizophrenia. Neuroscience 2006, 137: 807–819.
- [16] Lippiat JD, Standen NB, Davies NW. Block of cloned BK_{ca} channels (*rSlo*) expressed in HEK 293 cells by *N*-methyl Dglucamine. Pflugers Arch 1998, 436: 810–812.
- [17] Terasawa K, Nakajima T, lida H, lwasawa K, Oonuma H, Jo T, *et al.* Nonselective cation currents regulate membrane potential of rabbit coronary arterial cell: modulation by lysophosphatidylcholine. Circulation 2002, 106: 3111–3119.
- [18] Geiger JRP, Bischofberger J, Vida I, Fröbe U, Pfitzinger S, Weber HJ, *et al.* Patch-clamp recording in brain slices with improved slicer technology. Pflugers Arch 2002, 443: 491– 501.

·Letter to the Editor·

Dose-dependent regulation of oligodendrocyte specification by β-catenin signaling

Dear Editor,

Although various components of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway have been investigated, there are conflicting reports on the roles of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in oligodendrogenesis and differentiation. For instance, the Δ Exon3 mutation of β -catenin^[1-4], which stabilizes β -catenin by deletion of the phosphorylation site for the destruction complex, significantly inhibits the differentiation of oligodendrocytes, but knockout of β -catenin also delays it^[4]. In addition, overexpression of dominant-negative (dn) forms of *Tcf/ Lef* increases the number of oligodendrocyte progenitors (OLPs)^[3, 5], and knockout of *Tcf7/2* (also known as *Tcf4*) impairs myelin formation^[3, 6]. In contrast, another study showed that overexpression of dn*Tcf7/2* decreases the number of OLPs^[7].

Although some of these conflicts could be explained by the finding that Wnt/β-catenin signaling regulates oligodendrocyte development in a stage- and region-specific manner^[4, 8-10], its role in the differentiation of oligodendrocytes remains elusive. To address whether Wnt/β-catenin signaling regulates oligodendrocyte development in a dose-dependent manner, we generated mice with different muta-tions of β -catenin in early OLPs, β -catenin^{Δ Exon3/+}, β -catenin^{Δ Exon2-6/ Δ Exon2-6</sub>, and β -catenin^{Δ Exon3/ Δ Exon2-6}. Quantita-} tive reverse-transcription PCR showed that the dose of Wnt/ $\beta\text{-catenin}$ signaling in the compound $\beta\text{-catenin}^{\Delta\text{Exon3/}\Delta\text{Exon2-6}}$ mice was lower than that in β -catenin^{Δ Exon3/+} mice but higher than that in the WT (β -catenin^{+/+}) (Supplementary information, Fig. S1). For clarity, β -catenin^{Δ Exon2-6/ Δ Exon2-6</sub>,} β -catenin^{Δ Exon3/ Δ Exon2-6</sub>, and β -catenin^{Δ Exon3/+} mice are referred} to as Cat^{Low}, Cat^{High}, and Cat^{High+}, respectively. Consistent with previous work^[4], in situ hybridization showed that during oligodendrogenesis, Sox10- and Pdgfra-positive cells were not present in the spinal cord of Cat^{High+} mice at embryonic day 14.5 (E14.5) (Fig. 1A b and f). In contrast, excess Sox10- and Pdgfra-positive cells were present in Cat^{Low} mice (Fig. 1A c and g). Interestingly, compared with WT mice, fewer Sox10- and Pdgfra-positive cells were produced in the compound Cat^{High} mice (Fig. 1A d and h, and Ca). Together, these results suggested that at the early stage of oligodendrocyte development in the spinal cord, Wnt/ β -catenin signaling inhibits OLP specification of neural stem cells by a dose-dependent mechanism.

We next determined whether the number of OLPs returned to normal in the compound Cat^{High} mice. Although fewer *Sox10*-positive cells were observed in the white matter, both Cat^{Low} and Cat^{High} mice contained normal numbers of *Sox10*- and *Pdgfra*-positive cells in the gray matter of the spinal cord (Fig. 1B c, d, g, and h, and Cb). Considering that *Sox10* is expressed in both OLPs and differentiated OLs, and *Sox10*-positive cells in the white matter represent mature oligodendrocytes, this result indicates that the number of OLPs returns to normal in the Cat^{Low} and Cat^{High} mice in the perinatal stage. In contrast, there were still no detectable *Sox10*- and *Pdgfra*-positive OLP cells in the spinal cord of Cat^{High+} mice (Fig. 1B b and f), indicating that a higher level of β -catenin activity leads to a stronger inhibition of OLP generation.

To analyze β -catenin function in OLP differentiation, we assessed the differentiation of OLPs in compound β -catenin mutant mice in the perinatal stage. On postnatal day 0 (P0), expression of the mature OL markers Mbp and Plp was significantly reduced in Cat^{Low} mice compared to controls (Fig. 1B k and o, and Cc), consistent with the previous observation that β-catenin functions to promote OLP differentiation at late embryonic stages. However, expression of Mbp and Plp was almost completely inhibited in the spinal cord of Cat^{High+} and Cat^{High} mice (Fig. 1B j, n, l, and p, and Cc). These results demonstrated that full-length β-catenin cannot be replaced by β -catenin with the Δ Exon3 mutation, suggesting that a dose of β-catenin activity slightly higher than that in the WT inhibits OLP differentiation. Further studies are needed to test the possibilities that full-length β-catenin regulates OLP differentiation partially independent of Wnt signaling, and β -catenin with the Δ Exon3 mutation causes a dominant effect of other signal pathways.



Fig. 1. β-catenin regulates the specification and differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitors (OLPs). (A) Wnt/β-catenin signaling inhibits the specification of OLPs in a dose-dependent manner. Transverse sections of spinal cord at E14.5 from different β-catenin mutant mice subjected to *in situ* hybridization with *Sox10* (a–d) and *Pdgfra* (e–h) riboprobes as OLP markers. Cells positive for *Sox10* and *Pdgfra* were absent, increased, or decreased in the spinal cord from *Olig1^{Cre}*-mediated Cat^{High+}, Cat^{Low}, or Cat^{High+} mice, respectively. Scale bars, 100 µm. (B) β-catenin mutations impaire OLP differentiation. All mutants except Cat^{High+} contained normal numbers of cells positive for *Sox10* and *Pdgfra* at P0 (a–h). Expression of *Mbp* and *Plp* was reduced in Cat^{Low} mice and greatly inhibited in β-catenin^{High+} and β-catenin^{High+} mice (i–p). Scale bars, 100 µm. (C) Numbers of *Pdgfra*^{*} and *Plp*⁺ cells per section (mean ± standard deviation of three sections) in the spinal cord of different β-catenin mutant mice at E14.5 (a) and P0 (b and c) (^{*}P <0.05; ^{**}P <0.01; ^{**}P <0.001; ns, not significant; *t*-test).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the National Basic Research Development Program of China (2013CB531303, 2012CB910402), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (31101642, 31372150), the Science and Technology Key Project of Zhejiang Province, China (2011C13030), and the National Institutes of Health, USA (R01-NS37717).

Shuhui Sun¹, Wei Guo¹, Zunyi Zhang¹, Mengsheng Qiu^{1, 2}, Zhong-Min Dai¹

¹Institute of Developmental and Regenerative Biology, Key Laboratory of Organ Development and Regeneration of Zhejiang Province, College of Life Sciences, Hangzhou Normal University, Hangzhou 310029, China

²Department of Anatomical Sciences and Neurobiology, University of Louisville, Louisville, KY40292, USA

Corresponding authors: Mengsheng Qiu and Zhong-Min Dai. E-mail: m0qiu001@yahoo.com; zhongmindai@hznu.edu.cn

© Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2015

REFERENCES

- Fancy SP, Baranzini SE, Zhao C, Yuk DI, Irvine KA, Kaing S, et al. Dysregulation of the Wnt pathway inhibits timely myelination and remyelination in the mammalian CNS. Genes Dev 2009, 23: 1571–1585.
- [2] Feigenson K, Reid M, See J, Crenshaw EB, 3rd, Grinspan JB. Wht signaling is sufficient to perturb oligodendrocyte maturation. Mol Cell Neurosci 2009, 42: 255–265.
- [3] Ye F, Chen Y, Hoang T, Montgomery RL, Zhao XH, Bu H, et al. HDAC1 and HDAC2 regulate oligodendrocyte

differentiation by disrupting the beta-catenin-TCF interaction. Nat Neurosci 2009, 12: 829–838.

- [4] Dai ZM, Sun S, Wang C, Huang H, Hu X, Zhang Z, et al. Stage-specific regulation of oligodendrocyte development by Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. J Neurosci 2014, 34: 8467–8473.
- [5] Langseth AJ, Munji RN, Choe Y, Huynh T, Pozniak CD, Pleasure SJ. Whts influence the timing and efficiency of oligodendrocyte precursor cell generation in the telencephalon. J Neurosci 2010, 30: 13367–13372.
- [6] Fu H, Cai J, Clevers H, Fast E, Gray S, Greenberg R, et al. A genome-wide screen for spatially restricted expression patterns identifies transcription factors that regulate glial development. J Neurosci 2009, 29: 11399–11408.
- [7] Ortega F, Gascon S, Masserdotti G, Deshpande A, Simon C, Fischer J, et al. Oligodendrogliogenic and neurogenic adult subependymal zone neural stem cells constitute distinct lineages and exhibit differential responsiveness to Wnt signalling. Nat Cell Biol 2013, 15: 602–613.
- [8] Azim K, Fischer B, Hurtado-Chong A, Draganova K, Cantu C, Zemke M, et al. Persistent Wnt/beta-catenin signaling determines dorsalization of the postnatal subventricular zone and neural stem cell specification into oligodendrocytes and glutamatergic neurons. Stem Cells 2014, 32: 1301–1312.
- [9] Azim K, Rivera A, Raineteau O, Butt AM. GSK3beta regulates oligodendrogenesis in the dorsal microdomain of the subventricular zone via Wnt-beta-catenin signaling. Glia 2014, 62: 778–779.
- [10] Huang H, Zhao XF, Zheng K, Qiu M. Regulation of the timing of oligodendrocyte differentiation: mechanisms and perspectives. Neurosci Bull 2013, 29: 155–164.

Received date: 2014-10-23; Accepted date: 2015-01-28

(Supplementary material is available in the online version of this article at http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12264-014-1513-5.)

Neuroscience Bulletin Copyright Transfer Statement and Submission Form

We submit this type of article (\checkmark):		•Research Article •Research Highlight		•Report •Perspective		•Review •Letter to the Editor	•Method
Title of article:							
Words:	; Figures:	(Color figures:); Tal	oles:	•		

A signature below certifies compliance with the following statements

Copyright Transfer Statement: The copyright to this article is transferred to *Neuroscience Bulletin*, Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer (respective to owner if other than Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences, CAS and Springer and for U.S. government employees: to the extent transferable) effective if and when the article is accepted for publication. The author warrants that his/her contribution is original and that he/she has full power to make this grant. The author signs for and accepts responsibility for releasing this material on behalf of any and all co-authors. The copyright transfer covers the exclusive right and license to reproduce, publish, distribute and archive the article in all forms and media of expression now known or developed in the future, including reprints, translations, photographic reproductions, microform, electronic form (offline, online) or any other reproductions of similar nature.

An author may self-archive an author-created version of his/her article on his/her own website. He/she may also deposit this version on his/her institution's and funder's (funder designated) repository at the funder's request or as a result of a legal obligation, including his/her final version, provided it is not made publicly available until after 12 months of official publication. He/she may not use the publisher's PDF version which is posted on www.springerlink.com for the purpose of self-archiving or deposit. Furthermore, the author may only post his/ her version provided acknowledgement is given to the original source of publication and a link is inserted to the published article on Springer's website. The link must be accompanied by the following text: "The original publication is available at www.springerlink.com".

The author is requested to use the appropriate DOI for the article. Articles disseminated *via* www.springerlink. com are indexed, abstracted and referenced by many abstracting and information services, bibliographic networks, subscription agencies, library networks, and consortia.

After submission of this agreement signed by the corresponding author, changes of authorship or in the order of the authors listed will not be accepted by *Neuroscience Bulletin*, Shanghai Institutes for Biological Sciences of Chinese Academy of Sciences and Springer.

Authorship responsibilities

I/We confirm that:

(1) The work described has not been published before in any language or in any journal or media; that it is not under consideration for publication elsewhere; that its publication has been approved by all co-authors, if any, as well as (tacitly or

explicitly) by the responsible authorities at the institution where the work was carried out.

(2) We also give an assurance that the material will not be submitted for publication elsewhere until a decision has been made as to its acceptability for Neuroscience Bulletin in 2 months, then declare this statement becomes null and void.

(3) I am/We are responsible for obtaining permission for the use of any material in the manuscript that may be under copyright to my/our employer(s) or other party(ies).

(4) I have read the complete manuscript and accept responsibility for the content and completeness.

(5) I have made a significant contribution to this work and am familiar with the contents.

Author (1) signed:	Date:	Author (2) signed:	Date:
Author (3) signed:	Date:	Author (4) signed:	Date:
Author (5) signed:	Date:	Author (6) signed:	Date:
Author (7) signed:	Date:	Author (8) signed:	Date:
Author (9) signed:	Date:	Author (10) signed:	Date:
Corresponding author sign	ed: Date:		
Corresponding author add	ess:		
Tel:	E-mail:		

NEUROSCIENCE BULLETIN

Editor-in-Chief

Shumin Duan (Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China)

Consulting Editors

Yizhang Chen (Second Military Medical University, Shanghai, China) Muming Poo (Institute of Neuroscience, CAS, Shanghai, China) Larry R. Squire (University of California-San Diego, USA) Charles F. Stevens (The Salk Institute, San Diego, USA) Xiongli Yang (Fudan University, Shanghai, China)

Executive Associate Editor

Iain C. Bruce (Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China)

Associate Editors

Zhong Chen (Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China) Tianming Gao (South Medical University, Guangzhou, China) Shihui Han (Peking University, Beijing, China)

Cheng He (Second Military Medical University, Shanghai, China) Margaret S. Ho (Tongji University, Shanghai, China) Ru-Rong Ji (Duke University, Durham, USA) Tianzi Jiang (Institute of Automation, CAS, Beijing, China) Tao Li (West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China) Mengsheng Qiu (Hangzhou Normal University, Hangzhou, China) Fu-Dong Shi (St. Joseph's Hospital and Medical Center, Phoenix, USA) You Wan (Peking University, Beijing, China) Jian-Zhi Wang (Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China) Zhi-Ying Wu (Huashan Hospital, Shanghai Medical College, Fudan University, Shanghai, China) Tianle Xu (Shanghai Jiaotong University, Shanghai, China) Dai Zhang (Peking University, Beijing, China) Zhi-Jun Zhang (Southeast University, Nanjing, China) Chunjiu Zhong (Fudan University, Shanghai, China) Yimin Zou (University of California-San Diego, USA)

Editorial Board

Philippe Ascher (Pairs Diderot University, Paris, France)

- Ben A. Barres (Stanford University, San Francisco, USA) Guo-Qiang Bi (University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China)
- Ying-Shing Chan (The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China)
- Jun Chen (The Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, China)
- Sheng-Di Chen (Shanghai Jiaotong University, Shanghai, China)
- Yiping Du (Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China)

Ming Fan (Academy of Military Medicine, Beijing, China) Richard S. Frackowiak (University of Lausanne,

- Lausanne, Switzerland)
- Tamás F. Freund (Institute of Experimental Medicine of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Budapest, Hungary)
- Charles Gilbert (The Rockefeller University, New York, USA)
- Xiaosong Gu (Nantong Universtiy, Nantong, China)

Aike Guo (Institute of Neuroscience, CAS, Shanghai, China)

Philip G. Haydon (Tufts University, Boston, USA)

- Joe Herbert (University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK)
- Zhi-An Hu (Third Military Medical University, Chongqing, China)

Kazuhide Inoue (Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan) Yong-Hua Ji (Shanghai University, Shanghai, China)

Kai-Da Jiang (Shanghai Mental Health Center, Shanghai Jiaotong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China)

- Yu-Wu Jiang (Peking University First Hospital, Beijing, China)
- Helmut Kettenmann (Max-Delbrück Center for Molecular Medicine, Berlin, Germany)
- O.A. Krishtal (Bogomoletz Institute of Physiology, Kiev, Ukraine)
- Robert H. LaMotte (Yale University School of Medicine, New Haven, USA)
- Pierre Lavenex (University of Fribourg, Fribourg, Switzerland)

Juan Lerma (Instituto de Neurociencias de Alicante, Alicante, Spain)

Bao-Ming Li (Nanchang University, Nanchang, China)

Yun-Qing Li (The Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, China)

David J. Linden (Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA)

Stuart A. Lipton (Sanford-Burnham Medical Research Institute and University of California at San Diego, San Diego, USA)

Bai Lu (GlaxoSmithKline [China] Investment Co., Ltd., Shanghai, China)

Yi-Cheng Lu (Changzheng Hospital, Second Military Medical University, Shanghai, China)

Bridget Lumb (University of Bristol, Bristol, UK)

Jian-Hong Luo (Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China)

Zhen-Ge Luo (Institute of Neuroscience, CAS, Shanghai, China)

Lan Ma (Fudan University, Shanghai, China)

Robert C. Malenka (Stanford University, Stanford, USA)

Manuel S. Malmierca (Universidad de Salamanca, Salamanca, Spain)

John H.R. Maunsell (Harvard Medical School, Houston, USA)

Lin Mei (Georgia Regents University, Augusta, USA)

Earl K. Miller (Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, USA)

Enrico Mugnaini (Northwestern University, Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, USA)

Vladimir Parpura (University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, USA)

Bruce R. Ransom (University of Washington, Seattle, USA)

Yi Rao (Peking University, Beijing, China)

Ferdinando Rossi (Università di Torino, Torino, Italy)

Huai-Zhen Ruan (Third Military Medical University, Chongqing, China)

Tom E. Salt (University College London, London, UK)

Michael N. Shadlen (Columbia University, New York, USA) Morgan Sheng (Genentech, Inc., South San Francisco, USA) Sangram S. Sisodia (The University of Chicago, Chicago, USA) Peter Somogyi (University of Oxford, Oxford, UK) Feng-Yan Sun (Fudan University, Shanghai, China) Dick F. Swaab (Netherlands Institute for Neuroscience, Amsterdam, Netherlands) Keiji Tanaka (RIKEN Brain Science Institute, Tokyo, Japan) Alexej Verkhratsky (The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK) Steven R. Vincent (University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada) Jian-Jun Wang (Nanjing University, Nanjing, China) Wei Wang (Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China) Wei Wang (Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China) Xu-Chu Weng (Hangzhou Normal University, Hangzhou, China) William Wisden (Imperial College London, London, UK) Jun-Xia Xie (Qingdao University, Qingdao, China) Lin Xu (Kunming Institute of Zoology, CAS, Kunming, China) Albert Cheung Hoi Yu (Peking University, Beijing, China) Xu Zhang (Institute of Neuroscience, CAS, Shanghai, China) Yu-Qiu Zhang (Fudan University, Shanghai, China) Zhong-Xin Zhao (Changzheng Hospital, Second Military Medical University, Shanghai, China) Ping Zheng (Fudan University, Shanghai, China) Jiang-Ning Zhou (University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, China)

Joshua R. Sanes (Harvard University, Boston, USA)

Richard E. Zigmond (Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, USA)